
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
85th Board Meeting  
Wednesday, November 12, 2008 12:00 p.m. – 4:15 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (John Reynolds) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• September 3 meeting minutes   Action 


 


12:10 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 


 


12:15 p.m. President’s Report (John Reynolds) 
 


12:20 p.m. Draft 2009-2010 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2009 Budget (Margie Harris) Separate Document Information 
 


1:45 p.m. Break 
 


2:00 p.m. Draft 2009-2010 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2009 Budget continued 
 


2:30 p.m. Renewable Energy Program (John Reynolds) 2 
• Authorizing funds for Tioga Energy Inc.,  


City of Gresham solar photovoltaic project (R490)  Action 
   


3:00 p.m. Committee Reports  
 


• Finance/Compensation Committees (John Klosterman) 3 Information  
 


• Strategic Planning Committee (Rick Applegate) 4 Information 
  


• Audit Committee (Julie Hammond)  Information 
 


• Policy Committee (John Reynolds) 5 Information 
 


• Program Evaluation Committee (Debbie Kitchin) 6 Information 
 


3:45 p.m. Staff Report (Margie Harris) 7 Information 
• Feature presentation: Elaine Prause, Sr. Industrial 
   Sector Manager 
• Highlights 
• Update NW Natural in Washington state 


 


4:15 p.m. Adjourn 
  


The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
will be held Friday, December 19, 12:00 noon 


at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, 
Portland, Oregon 







Agenda  November 12, 2008 


   2 


 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• September 3 meeting minutes   


 
Separate 
Document Draft 2009-2010 Action Plan and 
 Draft 2010 Budget 
 
Tab 2 Renewable Energy Program 


• Authorizing funds for Tioga Energy Inc., City of Gresham solar photovoltaic project (R490) 
 
Tab 3 Finance Committee 


• Notes from October 27 meeting 
• Dashboard (provided quarterly) 
• Q3 Finance Report 
• August monthly financials and statement of commitments 
• September monthly financials and statement of commitments 
• Financial glossary 


 


Tab 4 Strategic Planning Committee 
• Summary of October 8 Risk Workshop 


 


Tab 5 Policy Committee  
• Notes from October 21 meeting 


 


Tab 6 Evaluation Committee 
• Notes from October 14 meeting 
• Economic Impacts 2007 Report and staff response 
• Trade Ally Survey and staff response 
• Evaluation glossary 


 


Tab 7 Staff report 
• Highlights 
• True-up 2008: Tracking estimate corrections and true-up of 2002-2007 savings and generation 


 
Tab 8 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes October 22 
• RAC notes September 17 
• RAC notes October 22 


 


 
 
  








 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 84th Meeting 
September 3, 2008 
 
Board members present: Rick Applegate, Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Julie Hammond, Al Jubitz, 
Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Caddy McKeown, Preston Michie, John Reynolds, John Savage, ex 
officio and Betty Merrill, ODOE special board advisor   
 
Board members absent:  Jason Eisdorfer, Vickie Liskey, Alan Meyer 
 
Staff attending:  Fred Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Jan 
Schaeffer, John Volkman, Peter West, Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending:  Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Larry Easterly, Oregon State University; Lori Koho, 
OPUC; Emily Moore, PECI; Lauren Shapton, PGE; Phil Welker, PECI 
 
 


Business Meeting 
President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 1:05 pm.  
 
He announced that Vickie Liskey has resigned from the board due to family needs. Vickie’s resignation is 
effective this meeting. John thanked Vickie for her welcome perspective and commitment of service to 
Energy Trust; she will be missed. 
 
June 13, 2008 
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the June 13, 2008, meeting.  
 


Moved by: Caddy McKeown Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 10  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 


Consent Agenda 
The consent agenda may be approved by a single motion, second and vote of the board.  
 
Resolution 484 amending contract 754 with Sockeye Creative, Inc. to increase payment and extend contract 
term. 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


2 


RESOLUTION 484 


AMEND CONTRACT 754 WITH SOCKEYE CREATIVE, INC. TO INCREASE PAYMENT 
AND EXTEND CONTRACT TERM  


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust has entered into a contract with Sockeye Creative for advertising, messaging, 
and web-related services, up to a total expenditure of $435,300;  


2. NW Natural is projecting record-setting 35-40% rate increases this fall, Cascade Natural Gas 
projects 15-20% rate increases and Avista natural gas anticipates 10-15% rate increases, all 
stemming from increases in commodity costs;  


3. In cooperation with NW Natural and Cascade Natural Gas, Energy Trust has established 
higher incentives for natural gas customers to help them manage their energy use over the 
2008-09 heating season;  


4. An enhanced advertising campaign, requiring additional expenditures of $165,000, would 
inform and motivate customers about Energy Trust programs and the limited time offers to 
access higher incentives, encouraging actions to be taken to better manage increasing energy 
costs;  


5. The additional campaign expenditures would increase the total for the contract to $600,300, 
exceeding the $500,000 threshold for executive director signature authority above which 
board approval is required;  


6. Energy Trust intends to continue its work with Sockeye Creative on additional advertising and 
website activities in 2009, the details of which will be developed as part of the 2009 budget and 
action plan process;  


7. As part of the budget and action plan review, Energy Trust staff will highlight for the board 
any changes or additions to the Sockeye Creative contract; 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., hereby: 


1. Authorizes the executive director to amend the Sockeye Creative contract to commit total 
expenditures of $600,300, including up to $165,000 for an enhanced media buy in connection 
with pending gas rate increases. 


2. Authorizes an extension of the Sockeye Creative contract term through December 31, 2009. 


3. Authorizes the executive director to sign future contract amendments consistent with a 
board-approved 2009 budget and two-year action plan.  


 
 


Adopted as part of the consent agenda on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. See 
vote record below Resolution 483.  


Moved by: Dan Enloe Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


3 


Resolution 483 amending resolution 480 approving funds for a solar project. Debbie Kitchin noted the 
involvement of an unnamed LLC and asked if we will do a background check before entering into a 
contract. Peter West said because PGE and US Bank are involved, he believes the LLC will have 
adequate financial backing. Debbie asked if PGE’s involvement constitutes a conflict of interest. Peter 
said no, it is the same as would be available to any other LLC.  
 
Betty Merrill asked how the RPS influences our incentive offer. Peter said we contribute all or a share of 
the above market costs. It is up to the OPUC to determine whether the utility could pay for the project 
out of a rate increase allowed through the RPS. Roger Hamilton said it would be interesting to have a 
briefing on above market costs and whether they are growing or not. Peter noted in solar our incentives 
have been reduced, and above market costs are dropping. He said our forecasts suggest this as well.  
 
Al Jubitz asked what could go wrong that would lead us to request repayment. Peter said repayment is 
triggered when a system underperforms. We seek repayment in proportion to the amount of 
underperformance. Dan Enloe asked about timing of payment, and whether the board will need to vote 
again to support payment related to the second stage of construction, which is contingent on approval 
of the federal Production Tax Credit. Peter said the funds will be held in escrow and PGE will have a 
certain timeframe to install stage II.  


 
RESOLUTION 483 


AMENDING RESOLUTION 480 
APPROVING FUNDS FOR A SOLAR PROJECT  


 
WHEREAS: 
 
a.   On June 13, 2008, the board approved Resolution 480 authorizing up to $3,405,000 in 


funding for at least a 3.5 megawatt PV project owned by MMA Renewable Ventures on 
multiple buildings owned by ProLogis. 


 


b.   ProLogis now wishes to have the project built and owned by an LLC formed by PGE.  


c. In all other respects, the terms of the project would be unchanged. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
amends Resolution 480 approving an agreement with an LLC formed by PGE and an 
investor, and consistent with the following basic terms included in previous resolutions:  


1. The LLC will deliver a project up to 3.5 MW. 


2. Energy Trust will provide a maximum of $3,405,000 for 3.5 MW. 


3. The funds provided by Energy Trust will be reduced on a proportional basis if the 
completed project is less than 3.5 MW. 


4. Green tags will be delivered to PGE and held in trust by PGE for the benefit of 
ratepayers for compliance with Renewable Energy Act obligations.  


 


Moved by: Dan Enloe Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 Adopted as part of the consent agenda on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


4 


 


President’s Report 
John Reynolds showed slides from the August 7 groundbreaking for the Oregon “solar highway” project. 
He noted the story in Tab 11 of the packet, numbered page 19. The project is located at the 
intersection of I-205 and I-5. Preston Michie asked if this can be replicated along highways due to 
concerns about danger from errant vehicles. John said he is more concerned about glare from the panels 
creating a hazard for traffic. Betty Merrill said federal transportation requirements are limiting.  
 


Energy Efficiency Program 
 
Resolution 486 authorizing a contract with PECI to manage the Business Energy Solutions-New Buildings 
Program. Steve Lacey provided background on the rebid of the New Buildings program. He noted the 
current contract with SAIC expires at the end of January. The request for proposals was released in 
June. We received two proposals. A review team with representatives from Energy Trust, Cascadia 
Green Building Council and Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance reviewed the proposals, interviewed 
both proposers.  PECI was unanimously selected, based on the strength of their proposal and interview. 
Steve said the first year budget is assumed to be $9.5 million, including delivery cost of about $3.1 
million and incentives of $6.3 million. We project 4.43 aMW and 469,000 annual therms in 2009 savings, 
at a best case cost of $2.31 million/aMW and $3.12/annual therm. To make the transition seamless, we 
will enter into a three month transition contract from SAIC to PECI for the period October-December 
2008. The three-year contract could be extended by up to two years.  
 
Dan asked what the margin was between the two competitors. Steve said the scores were close: 4.02 
compared to 3.76. PECI offered additional capabilities in program design and new measures. Al 
expressed concern that SAIC might leave the Portland market. Steve said there are other contracts 
SAIC might seek. He added that the PECI team includes Nexant, a national company that is new to this 
area.   
 


RESOLUTION 486 
AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH PECI TO MANAGE THE BUSINESS ENERGY 


SOLUTIONS-NEW BUILDINGS PROGRAM 
 
 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. The current Energy Trust contract with its New Buildings program management 
contractor terminates December 31, 2008. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, staff has 
conducted a fair and open procurement process to select a contractor to manage the 
program for the next 3-5 years.  


3. PECI has been selected through this process and proposed contract terms are in the 
process of being negotiated.  


4. Staff has assumed a total first-year PMC budget for 2009 of approximately $9,575,000, 
including a first-year delivery contract cost of about $3,131,000, incentives of 
$6,344,000, and potential performance compensation of $100,000.  







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


5 


5. Staff analysis projects the following program savings and fully-loaded costs in 2009: 
Electric Gas


Savings (Best case) 4.43 aMW 469,107 Therms
$/ Unit Savings (Best case) $2.31 million/aMW $3.12/Therm
Levelized Cost (Best case) $0.023/kWh $0.28/Therm  


6. The above numbers are based on assumptions. Actual savings and costs will be 
reviewed by the Energy Trust board as part of the annual budget and action plan 
decisions.  


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
authorizes: 


1. Subject to later board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings numbers in 
the annual budget process, a contract with PECI to manage the Business Energy 
Solutions - New Buildings Program from January 1, 2009, through December 31, 2011. 
Provided PECI meets certain established performance criteria in the final contract, the 
contract may be extended for up to an additional two years. 


2. First-year contract costs and savings goals will be included in the contract consistent 
with the board-approved 2009 budget and two-year action plan. Thereafter, the 
contract may be amended annually consistent with the board's approval of the annual 
budget and corresponding action plan decisions.  


3. The executive director is authorized to sign an initial contract and any contract 
amendments consistent with this resolution and board-approved annual budgets and 
corresponding action plans.  


4. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds among different 
categories within the program budget as long as such reallocation is consistent with the 
board-approved annual budget and action plan decisions.  


5. Before extending this contract beyond December 31, 2011, staff will report to the 
board on PECI's progress and staff's recommendation whether to extend the contract 
for up to two years. See Appendix II for extension criteria. Contract terms for the 
extension period would remain as approved in the most recent action plans, budgets 
and contract at the time of the extension. Absent board objection to extending the 
contract, the executive director is authorized to sign the contract extension.  


 
Moved by:  Preston Michie Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin  


 
Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 
 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Resolution 487 approving terms of four program delivery contracts for the Production Efficiency Program. Steve 
introduced Production Efficiency senior industrial sector manager, Elaine Prause, to provide background 
on the recompete for Production Efficiency Program Delivery Contractors. The contracts were due to 
expire at the end of the year. The request for proposals was released in spring. Seven proposals were 
received. Proposals were reviewed by a committee of internal Production Efficiency staff, Charlie Grist 
from Northwest Power and Conservation Council and Ken Canon, independent consultant and 
formerly of Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities. She reviewed spending and savings projections. 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


6 


Preston noted different expiration dates for the small industrial program contractor; Steve and Elaine 
explained that rebid schedules were not aligned because the small industrial track was started last year 
and staff wanted to execute a contract that would span more than one year. Staff will endeavor to 
realign the contracts during the next cycle.  
 


RESOLUTION 487 


APPROVE BASIC TERMS OF FOUR PROGRAM DELIVERY CONTRACTS FOR THE 
PRODUCTION EFFICIENCY PROGRAM 


 
WHEREAS: 


1. The current Energy Trust contracts with medium–to-large-sector Program Delivery 
Contractors (PDCs) for Production Efficiency terminate December 31, 2008. 


2. With assistance from a selection committee including outside parties, staff has 
conducted a fair and open competitive procurement process for contractors to serve 
the medium-to-large sector over the next 3-5 years. 


3. R.H.T Enterprises Incorporated DBA RHT Energy Solutions, Portland General Electric 
Company, Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc., Nexant, Inc., and HST&V, LLC DBA 
Strategic Energy Group have been selected through this process. 


4. The PDC contracts with RHT Energy Solutions, Portland General Electric, and 
Cascade Energy Engineering for the medium–to-large sector are anticipated to exceed 
$500,000 for 2009. 


5. Similarly, the current Energy Trust contract with Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. for 
the Small Industrial Initiative (initially signed by the executive director) is expected to 
exceed $500,000 for 2009. The term of that agreement is through December 31, 2010, 
with the potential for up to a two-year extension. 


6. In total, the 2009 budget for these four contracts is $13,700,000. This includes 
$10,700,000 in incentives and $3,000,000 in delivery expenses. The total Best Case 
savings for these four contracts are estimated at 71 million kWh or 8.10 aMW.  


7. Current budget and savings numbers for the program are based on projections. Actual 
savings and costs will be reviewed by Energy Trust board as a part of the 2009 annual 
budget and corresponding action plan decisions. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. Subject to board review of cost/benefit ratios and projected savings numbers in annual 
budget processes, the board authorizes contracts with RHT Energy Solutions, Portland 
General Electric, and Cascade Energy Engineering to deliver the Production Efficiency 
program to the medium-to-large sector from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 
2011. Provided each contractor meets performance criteria in the final contract, the 
contracts may be extended up to an additional two years. 


2. The term of the Small Industrial Initiative PDC agreement is from January 1, 2008 
through December 31, 2010, and may be extended up to an additional two years 
provided that the contractor meets certain established performance criteria.  







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


7 


3. All contract cost and savings goals will be included in each contract consistent with the 
board approved 2009 budget and corresponding action plan. Thereafter, each contract 
may be amended annually in accordance with subsequent board approved annual 
budgets and action plans.  


4. The executive director is authorized to sign the initial contracts for the medium to 
large sector PDCs and any contract amendments to those contracts, during the term, 
provided such contracts are consistent with this resolution and board-approved 
budgets and action plans. 


5. The executive director is also authorized to sign any contract amendments to the 
Small Industrial Initiative PDC contract, during the term, provided such contract is 
consistent with this resolution and board-approved budgets and action plans. 


6. To maximize program savings and benefits, staff may reallocate funds among 
categories within the program budget as long as such reallocation is consistent with the 
board-approved annual budget and action plan decisions. 


7. Before executing the two-year extensions to any of these contracts beyond the initial 
term, staff will report to the board on the contractor’s progress and staff’s 
recommendation whether to extend the contract for up to an additional two years. 
Extension criteria appears in Appendix II. Contract terms for the extension period 
would remain as approved in the most recent budget, action plan, and contract at the 
time of the extension. Absent board objection to extending a contract, the executive 
director is authorized to sign the contract extensions. 


 


Moved by: Roger Hamilton Seconded by: Preston Michie 


Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 
APPENDIX I 
Energy Trust of Oregon followed a comprehensive competitive Request-for-Proposal (RFP) process.  
 
Program Delivery Contractor (Medium-Large industrial) Re-bid: (RFP issued May 12, 2008) 
 
Eight organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFP but only seven submitted a proposal. A 
review team consisting of four Energy Trust staff, one member of the NW Power and Conservation Council and a 
former director of Industrial Customers of Northwest Utilities considered, evaluated and numerically scored the 
proposal on three overall major factors:  
 


1. Proposal strength (40%) – Including such factors as ability to achieve a large volume of cost-effective 
energy savings; expanding program offerings; marketing outreach approach; and quality control. 


2. Management & Team strength (30%) – Including such factors as proposed management, program design, 
implementation and operations team members; coordination with existing programs; marketing and 
outreach; incentive processing; customer service; and technical knowledge. 


3. Price proposal (30%) – Including overall budget; total program delivery and staffing costs; incentive 
amounts; budget management; and overall specificity and measurability of costs compared to tasks. 


 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


8 


Five proposals moved forward to the next round of review where new entities or those with proposals for new 
assignments were asked to present their strengths. Based on this review the following contractors were selected 
to deliver program services as listed. 
 
Cascade Energy Engineering will provide general PDC services in northern Pacific Power territory including 
Portland, Hood River, Astoria, and Pendleton. They will also take on two industry specific PDC roles, pulp and 
paper and food processing. Staff engineers have deep local experience in each of these markets and will be able to 
deliver a comprehensive efficient approach to meeting their efficiency needs. They also plan to work closely with 
relevant industry associations for each of these markets. 
 
Nexant, new to the Production Efficiency program, will take on the role of general PDC for the 
Bend/Redmond/Warm Springs region as well as deliver a 1 year focused approach to High Tech. The scope of the 
High Tech focus will be to act as PDC as well as to formulate an overall strategy to analyze our role with these 
high tech organizations. This activity is meant to provide long-term benefits to the program. After one year, we’ll 
evaluate if this effort and make the decision on how to proceed. Two initial exceptions to the new High Tech 
territory will be Intel and Hewlett Packard which will continue to work with existing PDCs who have established 
relationships. 
 
Portland General Electric Customer Technical Services will continue to provide program delivery services for 
industrial sites within Portland General Electric service territory excluding pulp and paper and food processing 
sites which Cascade Energy Engineering will assist and excluding large High Tech which Nexant will cover.  
 
RHT Energy Solutions, Inc will continue to deliver the program in Southern Oregon including Medford, Klamath 
Falls, Roseburg, Corvallis, and Albany excluding food processing sites in the Albany region where Cascade Energy 
Engineering will fill that role. 
 
Strategic Energy Group is another new addition to the PDC team. They will provide continuous energy 
improvement (CEI) services focused mainly on the PGE service territory through a two-year pilot effort. The 
industrial sector of NEEA is currently developing CEI through working with food processing and pulp and paper 
facilities only. This pilot will focus on all other types of facilities with the main goal of integrating energy 
management into manufacturing and facility management. 
 
Three of the PDC contracts will exceed $500,000 and require board approval.  
 
Program Delivery Contractor (Small industrial) Competitive Process: (RFP issued August 31, 2007) 
 
Four organizations submitted intent to respond forms for the program RFP and all parties also submitted a 
proposal. A review team consisting of four Energy Trust staff and one member of the NW Energy Efficiency 
Alliance reviewed and scored the proposals on the same three overall major factors with variations on focus with 
each category for small industrial:  
 


4. Proposal strength (40%) – Including such factors as ability to achieve a large volume of cost-effective 
energy savings; expanding program offerings; enrollment of trade allies; incentive calculation tool 
development; marketing outreach approach; and quality control. 


5. Management & Team strength (30%) – Including such factors as proposed management, program design, 
implementation and operations team members; coordination with existing programs; marketing and 
outreach; incentive processing; tool creation experience; customer service; and technical knowledge. 


6. Price proposal (30%) – Including overall budget; total program delivery and staffing costs; incentive 
amounts; budget management; and overall specificity and measurability of costs compared to tasks. 


 
The top three respondents were invited to participate in an interview to provide further information about their 
strategies and capabilities. Based on this review Cascade Energy Engineering was selected to deliver the Small 
Industrial Initiative. 
 
Cascade Energy Engineering’s proposal included a strong trade ally delivery approach which is new to the industrial 
program but believed to be the most effective means to reaching the small industrial market. Over the years of 
working with Cascade as a medium to large industrial PDC and ATAC for the program, they have used their 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


9 


technical expertise to develop simplified analysis tools for relatively small scale projects to increase their cost 
effectiveness. These skills are expected to fit well with the new strategy for penetrating this small industrial 
market. 
 
APPENDIX II 
Contract Extension Metrics 
 


1. Cross program and territory referrals   
a. Problems don’t arise 
b. Appreciable savings being realized in referred programs 
c. Procedure for working well with other programs and PDCs that will facilitate smooth referral 


process 
2. Project pipeline  


a. Based on goals and available funding, balancing next year’s savings and budget targets 
3. Innovation 


a. Proposing new measures  
b. New delivery approaches (reaching focused market sectors and/or customers) 


4. Teamwork 
a. How well PDC staff works with Energy Trust staff (flexibility and responsiveness) 


5. Satisfactory execution of contract statement of work deliverables  
a. Program savings 
b. Budget management 
c. Data management 
d. Customer services 
e. Marketing 
f. Quality control 


 
APPENDIX III 
Energy Trust’s Production Efficiency program is managed in-house by Energy Trust staff yet delivered to 
participants mainly through the use of contractors. In addition to the four contracts listed in Resolution 487, there 
are other components of the program with contracting and incentive costs and savings which all together make up 
the industrial Production Efficiency program.  
 
The following table is a preliminary estimate of the costs and savings attributable to each component of the 
program within the 2009 budget. These numbers will be further refined through the budgeting process and 
presented to the board in December 2008 for final approval. These numbers are presented here for informational 
purposes only to help give the full picture of the program components. Preliminary total program cost, which 
includes Energy Trust costs, the PDC contracts and other program efforts, is estimated to be approximately $19 
million. The projected total savings is estimated to be 10.5 aMW (92 million kilowatt hours) at an annual cost of 
$0.21/kWh and levelized to $0.027/kWh. 
 


Program Delivery 
Contractor 


2009 Contract 
Amount 


2009 Incentive 
Estimate 


2009 kWh 
Estimate 


RHT Energy Solutions $            905,310 $            2,845,108 18,967,386 


Portland General 
Electric, Customer 
Technical Services $            903,186 $            3,254,522 21,696,814 


Cascade Energy 
Engineering (Medium to 
Large) $            615,258 $            3,053,400 21,810,000 


Cascade Energy 
Engineering (Small) $            626,824 $            1,530,000 8,500,000 







Discussion Minutes                                                                                                                September 3, 2008 


10 


Nexant* $            375,000 $               750,000 5,000,000 


TA Lighting Contractor* $            250,000 $               810,000 6,750,000 


Strategic Energy Group* $            450,000 $               300,000 4,500,000 


Green Motors* $                     - $               250,000 1,500,000 


Non PDC managed 
projects* $                     - $               850,000 2,833,333 


Energy Trust other 
expenses* $         1,300,000 $                        - - 


TOTAL $         5,425,578 $          13,643,030 91,557,533 


* indicates these are placeholder best estimate values at this point in time which will be 
further refined 


 
 


Resolution 485 authorizing waiver of funding cap for an Oregon State University combined heat and power 
(OSU CHP) project. Steve Lacey provided background on this project, which has been in the works 
for a number of years. OSU representatives initially brought the project to the board in 2005 during 
the strategic planning retreat. The $2.23 incentive recommended by staff exceeds the New Buildings 
program cap and therefore requires board approval. Steve noted that CHP projects simultaneously 
produce electric and thermal (heat) energy from a single fuel. OSU’s natural gas fueled CHP plant 
will provide central heat and generate electricity for the OSU campus. Based on ODOE’s extensive 
energy analysis, we are confident the project will save 28 million kWh of electricity per year. The 
project is very cost effective at a levelized cost of $0.007/kWh.  
 
Preston noted the project has transmission and distribution benefits and potential peak capacity load 
reduction. He thinks we should accentuate these benefits in decision documents.  
 
Larry Easterly, OSU project manager for the project, came forward. He noted the plant will provide 
approximately half of the campus’ electric load. Roger asked why it took so long to get the project 
completed, and why there are not more such projects elsewhere in Oregon. Larry said the 
university system is looking into other potential applications, including on the U of O campus. The 
university will save about a half million in annual energy bills from this OSU project. Dan Enloe asked 
what the fuel is (it is natural gas) and asked if our policies would allow supporting a CHP project 
that burns coal. Steve thought the policy is silent as to fuel type but a coal burning project would 
probably not be able to secure an air quality permit.  
 
Debbie noted the OSU request was for $3.5 million from Energy Trust, while we are offering $2.3 
million, and asked how the gap will be covered. Larry said F bonds would be used. Al asked if the 
plant could be used for emergency power for the local hospital, other facilities or the community at 
large. Larry said the plant allows providing emergency service to the university, freeing up power for 
the remainder of the community.  
 
Margie noted the project will also receive funding from The Climate Trust. This is the second 
collaboration between Energy Trust and The Climate Trust. The first such collaboration was the 
Blue Heron project.  







Discussion Minutes                                      September 3, 2008  


 11


RESOLUTION 485 
WAIVE THE NEW BUILDING INCENTIVE CAP FOR AN OSU CHP PROJECT 


 
 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. Combined heat and power (CHP) systems simultaneously produce electrical and 
useful thermal energy from a single fuel. CHP projects can be a considerable source 
of efficiency, reduce greenhouse gases and defer investment in transmission and 
distribution lines. 


2. OSU has been planning a CHP plant to serve campus needs for about 7-8 years. The 
project is expected to meet State Energy Efficiency Design (SEED) program 
requirements, exceed the Oregon building code by 20 percent or more, and save 28 
million kWh of electricity per year. 


3. Energy Trust analysis shows that: 
• Power from the proposed project will be used on site;  
• At an incentive of $0.08 per kWh, the project is cost-effective; 
• assuming savings of 28 million kWh per year, a total incentive payment of $2.23 


million is warranted; 
• The project would save energy at a very attractive cost: $700,000 per average 


megawatt, and a levelized cost of $0.007/kWh; and 
• Project savings are expected to persist beyond 20 years. 


 
It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 


authorizes: 
 


1. An incentive payment to OSU of $2.23 million from the 2009 New Buildings 
program budget for the proposed CHP plant; and 


2. The executive director to negotiate and sign an agreement consistent with the 
terms and assumptions of this resolution.  


 


 Moved by: Caddie McKeown Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


 


 Vote:  In favor: 10 Abstained 0 


  Opposed: 0 
 


Adopted on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
John Savage left the meeting. 
 
PECI contract extension for Home Energy Solutions-New Homes and Products program. Residential sector 
manager Kendall Youngblood briefed the board on the decision to extend the New Homes and 
Products program contract through December 2009. This action is part of the current contract 
provision whereby the program management contract may be extended for an additional year 







Discussion Minutes                        September 3, 2008 
 


12 


contingent on the PMC meeting predetermined milestones and criteria, which have been met.  The 
board gives the executive director authorization to extend the contract given no objection by the 
board.  She noted their stellar performance in terms of cross program referrals, building the project 
pipeline, innovation, teamwork and satisfactory execution of deliverables. Dan Enloe asked if adding 
the New Buildings program stretches PECI’s capacity. Steve noted the New Buildings work will be 
done by a completely separate team from the one working on the New Homes program.  
 
Phil Welker, PECI executive director, came forward. He explained the way his 27-year-old nonprofit 
company is organized. It is one of the largest implementers on the west coast. Margie Harris noted 
she had the pleasure of having helped create PECI when she worked for the City of Portland 27 
years ago. She noted how fast PECI has grown – 100 new staff added last year. The board expressed 
no objections to extending the New Homes and Products program contract with PECI through 
December 2009.  
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
Resolution 488 authorizing funds for the Stahlbush Island Farms biopower project. Thad Roth, biomass 
program manager, presented information about this resolution asking the board to authorize up to 
$800 million for the Stahlbush Farms biopower project located across the Willamette River from 
Corvallis. The project would use an anaerobic digester to create methane gas from farm waste to 
fuel a 1.6 MW generator. The effluent from the project would be applied as fertilizer for the farm’s 
organic acreage. The project would sell output to Pacific Power and use the waste heat to offset the 
farm’s natural gas for process drying. Thad explained Energy Trust’s green tag policy requires Energy 
Trust either to own green tags in proportion to its contribution to the amount of above-market 
costs that Energy Trust paid (78%) or match the green tag market price if it is projected to be 
higher. We forecast the value of the tags to be a real, levelized $11.29, which translates to about 
6,000 green tags that the Energy Trust would retain. The 6,000 tags is less than a 78% share, and 
represents the annual number of tags that Energy Trust’s incentive would buy at our forecasted 
market price.  
 
Al Jubitz asked about the forecasting methodology; Peter described it. He noted this is the clearest 
presentation we have made to the board applying the new green tag policy, which allows for 
forecast of future green tag value. Preston Michie noted our incentive represents about 12% of the 
project cost, and said he supports the project. Our policy allows us to negotiate with the developer 
between the two ways of defining Energy Trust’s share of green tags. Peter noted the policy allowed 
us to work out a deal that is advantageous to the farm, to us and the ratepayers.  
 
 


RESOLUTION  488 
APPROVING FUNDS FOR THE STAHLBUSH FARMS BIOPOWER PROJECT 


 
WHEREAS: 


 


1. Stahlbush Island Farms, a family-owned farm, proposes to use an anaerobic 
digester to create methane gas from farm residuals to fuel a generator with a 
name-plate, maximum capacity of 1.6 MW, expected to generate 1.3 aMW 
annually.  


2. The project would sell its output to Pacific Power under standard QF terms, 
generate waste heat to meet the digester’s thermal load, and offset the farm’s 







Discussion Minutes  September 3, 2008 


13 


natural gas for process drying, apply effluent from the digester to land to expand 
the farm’s organic acreage, and offset about 4,327 tons of CO2 per year. 


3. Energy Trust analysis shows: 
• The project’s above-market costs are about $1.067 million 
• The applicant seeks an incentive of $827,000, which would cost Energy Trust about 


$636,000 per aMW. In comparison, the Rough & Ready biomass project cost $1.48 
million/aMW, and the Columbia Boulevard biogas project cost $241,000/aMW 


4. Green tags:  
• The Energy Trust green tag policy requires Energy Trust either to take ownership 


of green tags in proportion to its contribution to above-market costs (which would 
be 78% of the tags), or match the green tag market price if it is projected to be 
higher.  


• A 78% share of green tags translates to $7.54 per tag, levelized. Energy Trust’s low 
market forecast shows green tags at $11.29, levelized. Taking ownership of 6,000 
green tags would meet the future market value of the tags consistent with the 
green tag policy.    
 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, 
Inc. authorizes: 


1. An incentive payment to Stahlbush Island Farms of $827,000 from the 2008 
Biopower program budget for the proposed project; and 


2. Energy Trust shall take ownership of 6,000 of the project’s green tags annually; 


3. The executive director to negotiate and sign an agreement consistent with the 
terms of this resolution.  


 


 Moved by: Preston Michie Seconded by: Rick Applegate 


 


 Vote: In favor: 10 Abstained 0 


  Opposed: 0 
 
Adopted on September 3, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 
Break 
 
The board took at 20 minute break at 3:05 pm. 
 
Preston Michie left the meeting. 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Finance and Compensation Committees. John Klosterman said the compensation committee met in 
executive session with the board today. They identified some work items to be completed by the end of 
the year. The finance committee reviewed the second quarter report and raised several questions 
related to this. They also reviewed the status of the preliminary internal controls evaluation project.  







Discussion Minutes  September 3, 2008 


14 


Strategic Planning Committee. Rick Applegate noted the board expects to adopt a new strategic plan next 
spring. He said Nancy Klass is seeking to establish dates for two workshops this fall, one on innovation 
and risk management and the other on SmartGrid and demand management He noted staff had drafted a 
new vision statement, mission statement and goal areas, along with draft interim goals for 2013. The 
materials drew from discussion at the June board strategic plan work session. Margie then  asked for 
comments, either now or by email.  
 
Debbie applauded reference to reduced energy use in the new draft vision statement, implying lifestyle 
and behavior changes, Rick echoed her comments. Julie thought the references in the vision statement 
to types of clean energy may be limited. John Reynolds worried that eliminating references to 
renewables and efficiency might make it possible to misconstrue our vision to include clean coal. Julie 
was concerned that the word “reduce” connotes sacrifice. John Klosterman thought reducing waste 
should be stressed. Julie was more comfortable with references to waste and conservation than to 
“reduce.”  
 
Margie asked for comments on the draft new goal areas, which are non-quantifiable, in contrast to 
current goals. Roger suggested adding reference to sustainability. Al suggested strengthening the 
reference to using less and living more sustainably. Roger and Rick suggested politicians do not embrace 
language about cutting back.  
 
Lori Koho suggested referring to ratepayer resources not to Energy Trust resources, to make clear 
where the money came from. Rick recalled during the retreat we discussed the aspect of our work 
aimed at lowering the overall cost of energy. Long term, if we need to build more plants the cost of 
energy will go up. Betty noted ratepayers will have received their largest bills of the year in January just 
as the legislative session begins, and we can expect this to influence legislators.  
 
Margie and John Volkman were glad to receive the board’s comments and will incorporate them into 
revised versions of these statements for further consideration by the strategic planning committee and 
full board. Such revisions will be included as part of the final draft strategic plan for future board 
consideration. 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond reported that the audit committee met and reviewed the status of the 
internal controls evaluation. She added that the committee is looking for new members. The committee 
is getting ready to start the management audit process. They will gather feedback from the internal 
controls study, staff and the board on areas to focus on. Management audits are required by the OPUC 
every five years.  
 
Policy Committee. Jason Eisdorfer was not present. John Reynolds explained that he has a new position 
with BPA and had thought he may need to resign from the board and therefore elected not to attend 
the board meeting until this was formally resolved. Margie stated that in an email from Jason, he was 
hopeful that because we are a non-stakeholder board, he may be able to stay. John noted Vickie Liskey 
was to have been with us today for her last board meeting but her mother became gravely ill and in fact 
had passed away this morning. Vickie did not travel to Portland.  
 
Margie reviewed highlights of the policy committee report. She commented on proposed natural gas 
utility rate increases, bonus incentives and the fall advertising campaign, which will feature cobranded 
print ads with logos of all our participating utilities. Responding to a question from Julie, she reviewed 
many ways in which Energy Trust has been preparing to meet additional demand this heating season. 
Margie expressed concern about whether there will be enough contractor resources to serve the 
growing demand.  







Discussion Minutes  September 3, 2008 


15 


Margie noted the work of the regional Northwest Energy Efficiency Team effort, led by BPA.  
 
Program Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin noted the packet includes summaries of the Home Energy 
Solutions and Production Efficiency program evaluations. She said some of the issues raised include 
treatment of free riders and spillover. Phil Degens said the team has agreed on an approach to 
considering free riders and spillover that can work across all programs.  
 
Staff Report 
 
Kendall Youngblood provided a special feature presentation of the New Homes and Products program. 
She noted the refrigerator recycling program. Over 500 units have been scheduled for pickup. 
Homeowners get $30 for the free removal. We have processed over 450 efficient new fridges. The 
program has processed over 13,000 $100 clothes washer incentives this year, a 12% increase over this 
time last year. We’ve sold over half a million CFLs. The Change a Light fundraiser has sold 822 bulbs 
through 11 organizations, raising $1,600 for them. Kendall provided statistics on green certified homes – 
they sold for $27 more per square foot than traditional homes, made up 13% of all new homes sole in 
July (36 compared to 238), average cost was $61,155 more than average homes, and green homes were 
on the market for 17 days less than traditional homes.  
 
Kendall then showed a chart of new home starts nationally and in Oregon. We’re projecting 7,800 
homes next year, compared to earlier projections of 16,000 homes. She introduced the new Energy 
Performance Score certificate. The certificate is tied to software called RemRate. Program staff uses it 
to model new homes based on building plans, and then later performs two inspections – one before 
drywall goes up and the other a blower door test after completion. The certificate also includes a 
carbon rating, which is useful to mortgage and insurance providers who give discounts for low-carbon 
properties. Going forward, every new home will be modeled and actual savings calculated by RemRate 
will be used rather than deemed savings from meeting ENERGY STAR. We will pay for savings, $50 per 
index point plus bonus at milestones.  
 
Margie mentioned highlights from the second quarter report, which shows increases in savings and 
generation compared to the same time in 2007. She covered highlights from the staff report.  
 
Margie then reviewed the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance strategic plan. Margie serves on the 
board. Four major strategic issues have been identified for further consideration, including adopting a 
“fuel-blind” mission inclusive of all forms of energy, including but not limited to electricity and natural 
gas. Dan Enloe suggested that “fuel blind” opens the door to clean coal and nuclear. Several others made 
the point that the reference is in the context of being fuel-blind to efficiency and end use, not 
generation. She suggested board members review the summary report and she welcomes any comments 
received. The final draft plan will be published mid September and a final plan will be presented for 
adoption by the Alliance board on October 29. Margie noted the Alliance has been responsible for 15% 
of Energy Trust savings, mostly through compact fluorescent light bulb sales. We have a big stake in how 
they continue to perform. She will send the plan to board members and seek their comments.  
 


Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 5:10 pm. 







Discussion Minutes  September 3, 2008 


16 


 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, November 12, 2008, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth 
Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon. The focus will be on the draft 2009 budget and 2009-2010 draft 
action plan. 








 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
Board Decision 
Authorizing Funds for the Tioga Energy Inc., City of 
Gresham Photovoltaic Project 
November 12, 2008 


Summary 


Authorize up to $571,000 for the above-market costs of a 420 kW solar photovoltaic array for the City 
of Gresham Waste Water Treatment Plant.  


Background 
• The City of Gresham and Tioga Energy, Inc. propose to form a limited liability company (Tioga 


Solar VI, LLC) to develop a 420 kW ground-mount (nameplate capacity) solar photovoltaic array 
for the Gresham Waste Water Treatment Plant. The project is scheduled to be completed 
before the end of 2009.  


• The plant currently gets about half its electricity from an Energy Trust biogas project. With an 
additional eight percent of the facility’s electric needs served by the proposed solar project, 
almost sixty percent of the facility demand will be served by Energy Trust renewable energy 
projects. 


• Tioga Energy, Inc., will bring outside lenders and/or investors into the LLC (the lender/investors 
will likely take title to the project as security). The City would buy the project’s power. The 
project will be interconnected to Portland General Electric to supplement the project’s output 
or take any power the waste water plant doesn’t need.  


• Total project costs are projected to be $2,727,009. Staff estimates the above-market cost of the 
project to be $839,292.  


• We propose to pay Tioga a custom incentive of up to $570,761 for 420 kW, $1.36 per watt. 
This is significantly less than the $1.75 watt standard incentive for government projects in PGE 
service area. The proposed payment is 68% of the full above-market costs. 


• The incentive payment would be paid into escrow and disbursed over the first five years of 
commercial operation, based on project output.  


• It is likely that the City of Gresham will exercise an option to purchase the system from the LLC 
after seven years of operation.  


• The Energy Trust green tag policy allows Energy Trust to take ownership of green tags at least 
in proportion to its contribution to above-market costs, or match the projected green tag 
market price if the market price is higher than the value offered by the Energy Trust.  


• For this project, Energy Trust will retain the green tags for years 3 to 20, or 90% of the total 
green tags. This project was proposed under the custom incentive track for the solar program 
for 2008, which started with a pre-defined ownership for years 3 to 20.   


• Per the green tag policy the Energy Trust could take less than 90% of green tags to match the 
68% of the above-market costs we are funding. However, the system owner accepted the 
program’s standard share.   







Tioga Energy Inc., City of Gresham Solar Photovoltaic Project                         November 12, 2008 


2 


 


 
Discussion 


• The project would be one of the largest photovoltaic systems in Oregon, and one of the first 
public-private ventures in solar development.  


• The incentive per watt is significantly lower than our standard offer for government 
photovoltaic projects, and would help demonstrate the potential for reducing incentive rates 
with larger scale of projects.   


• Waste water treatment plants with large areas of open land and large onsite energy usage are 
promising sites for photovoltaic ground mount projects because they are ground-mounted and 
have lower project first cost per installed capacity. We therefore welcome the opportunity to 
develop this large-scale example.  


Recommendation 
Staff recommends the Board authorize up to $571,000 for the Tioga project by approving resolution 
#490. 


RESOLUTION 490 


AUTHORIZING FUNDS FOR THE TIOGA ENERGY INC, CITY OF 
GRESHAM SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC PROJECT 


WHEREAS: 
 


1. Tioga Energy, Inc. proposes a 420 kW (nameplate capacity) ground-
mount solar photovoltaic array for the Gresham Waste Water 
Treatment Plant, to be completed no later that August 2009. 


2. Total project costs are projected to be $2,727,009. Staff estimates the 
above-market costs at $839,292. 


3. At 420 kW and as incentive of $1.36 per watt, the project is significantly 
less costly than Energy Trust’s standard offer for government 
photovoltaic projects. 


4. The project would be one of the largest photovoltaic projects in Oregon, 
at a per-watt cost that is significantly lower than Energy Trust’s standard 
offer for government photovoltaic projects. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


The board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.: 


1. Authorizes up to $571,000 to offset the above-market costs of the Tioga 
Energy, Inc. – City of Gresham photovoltaic project. 


2. The executive director is authorized to enter into contracts consistent 
with this resolution. 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 








 
 
Finance Committee Notes 
October 27, 2008 
 
The finance committee met at 3:40 pm on October 27, 2008, with John Klosterman, treasurer; Debbie 
Kitchin, secretary; Dan Enloe, board member, John Reynolds, board chair, Margie Harris, executive 
director, Sue Sample, chief financial officer, and Pati Presnail, controller in attendance 
 
Preliminary Draft 2009-2010 Action Plan and Budget 
Margie presented the preliminary draft budget presentation to the committee. The budget and action 
plan are similar to that of the current year with the major exception and unknown being the impact of 
the economy. John K. wanted to be sure that the assumptions used in the budget preparation are clearly 
identified so that any variations can be easily documented. The Board will see much of the same 
presentation in finalized form on November 12, 2008. 
 
An important question for efficiency, both electric and gas, and renewable energy is whether the amount 
of projected revenues is sufficient to meet future demand. Another question involves the mechanism to 
be used to meet the potential additional revenue requirements. 
 
Margie described the budgets for both renewable energy and energy efficiency and the opportunities and 
challenges ahead.  
 
Work continues at the state level to assist the Energy Trust in obtaining its goals via policy efforts and 
leveraging the work of others in the field. 
 
The OPUC has established performance measures for 2009 which recognize the additional costs 
necessary to be more aggressive in obtaining more elusive savings opportunities. 
 
The committee acknowledged Pati and her capabilities in organizing and preparing the budget 
documents more effectively each year. 
 
September 30, 2008 Financial Statements 
Sue outlined the major items of interest in the September financial statements, particularly as highlighted 
in the dashboard. While we continue to be underspent, we are currently projecting to come in very 
close to our best case/stretch electric goal by year end and to exceed both our gas and renewable 
energy generation goals. Renewable incentives and professional services are the most consistent areas of 
shortfall. It is expected that many costs in those areas will be deferred and are included in the 2009 
budget. 
 
The committee acknowledged that many of the variance comments identified economic factors as the 
source of the underspending and the potential impact continuation of that trend might have on our 
results. 
 
Additional Comments 
Dan expressed a concern that we manage our cash flow so as to take advantage of pricing offered by 
vendors hungry to close deals before year end. He also expressed concern about our leveraging our 
cash balances to provide reserves for local banks rather than utilize our current conservative investment 
approach. 
 
Next Meeting 
The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for December 1, 2008 at 3:30 pm. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 4:40 pm. 








commitments made in year for future years  ($millions)
2008 2009


BioPower 7.0$               8.3$               
Open Solicitation 7.9                 5.5$               
Solar PV 2.3                 -$              
Utility scale 2.9                 -$              
Wind 0.1                 -$              
PROJECTS 20.3$             13.8$             


Master agreement - n/a


TOTAL 20.3$             13.8$             


Renewable Energy Programs


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Quarterly Dashboard-Third Quarter 2008 (UNAUDITED)


March 2002-Sept 2008 Progress Toward 2012 Goals


193.4


8.1


95.3


Series2,  106.6 


Series2,  12.9 


Series2,  54.7 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1000000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


300 
aMW


21 
Million 
Thms


150 
aMW


Third Quarter YTD 2008 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2008 Annual Goals


15.1


1.33


31.5


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1000000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


26.7 
aMW


1.7 
Million
Annual 
Therms


114.9 
aMW


Public Purpose Revenue and expenses - total company
Sept 2008 YTD Budget Comparison (in Millions)


57.2
66.0


58.5


41.8


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


$60


$70


$80


Revenue Expense


Budget Actual


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2008


Actual spending+commitments as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted budget


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2009


Commitments-to-date as % of annual draft budget
cumulative for the year


0%


20%


40%


60%


80%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Commitments Uncommitted projection


Efficiency spending - electric and gas 
Sept 2008 YTD (in Millions)


38.2


8.5


28.4


8.4


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


Efficiency Electric Efficiency gas


Budget Actual


Renewables spending (electric)
Sept 2008 YTD (in Millions)


19.3


5.0


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


Renewables


Budget Actual


Cash Balance Forecast - 
Total cash and Free cash


Jul 2006-Dec 2009 


$0.0
$10.0
$20.0
$30.0
$40.0
$50.0
$60.0
$70.0
$80.0
$90.0


Jul
06


Oct
06


Jan
07


Apr
07


Jul
07


Oct
07


Jan
08


Apr
08


Jul
08


Oct
08


Jan
09


Apr
09


Jul
09


Oct
09


Jan
10


less escrow &
less reserve








 
Finance Report 
Q3 2008 
 
Review Q3 2008 year-to-date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 


Total assets increased $3.5 million from June 2008 to September 2008. The most significant change 
is a $3.4 million increase in cash. This increase is primarily due to having higher revenues compared 
to expenses in Q3. Also, accounts payable increased by $.7 million during this time frame. 


 
Income Statements 


• Public purpose revenues year to date varied only 2% from budgeted amounts. In the analysis 
that follows, PGE and PacifiCorp funds resulting from SB 838 are included with the balance of 
their energy efficiency revenues. 


• The variances for both gas utility’s revenues are continuing to grow. 
• Q3 2008 year to date expenses were approximately 63% of budget.  The major variances are 


described below. 
 
 Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
PGE


Energy Efficiency 905,637                     -                            905,637$                          4.1%
Renewable Energy -                            (276,936)                    (276,936)                           (4.5%)


PacifiCorp
Energy Efficiency -                            (36,528)                      (36,528)                             (0.2%)
Renewable Energy -                            (86,627)                      (86,627)                             (2.3%)


NW Natural 703,161                     -                            703,161                            9.7%
Cascade 73,205                       -                            73,205                              10.5%
Total 1,682,003$               (400,091)$                1,281,912$                     2.2%  


 
Interest income is approximately 5% lower than budget, reflecting the decline in interest rates 
experienced in 2008.  
 


Expenses 
Overall Expenses: below budget by $24.2 million (37% under budget) 


 
Program Management, Delivery & Marketing (7% of expense variance)                


Prog Mgmt, Deliv & Mktng Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Commercial -                            (652,648)                    (652,648)                           (12%)
Industrial -                            (215,981)                    (215,981)                           (7%)
Residential -$                          (794,715)$                  (794,715)$                         (9%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            -                            -                                   0%
Open Solicitation -                            (45,000)                      (45,000)                             (100%)
Solar 16,826                       -                            16,826                              57%
Utility Scale -                            -                            -                                   0%
Wind -                            (20,122)                      (20,122)                             (38%)


Total 16,826$                   (1,728,466)$             (1,711,640)$                    (10%)  
 
 







Finance Report  September 30, 2008 


 2 


 
Incentives (80% of expense variance) 


Incentives Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Commercial -                            (1,899,311)                 (1,899,311)                        (28%)
Industrial -                            (3,718,712)                 (3,718,712)                        (63%)
Residential -$                          (529,085)$                  (529,085)$                         (6%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            (615,890)                    (615,890)                           (63%)
Open Solicitation -                            (3,108,025)                 (3,108,025)                        (95%)
Solar -                            (1,738,628)                 (1,738,628)                        (47%)
Utility Scale -                            (2,818,720)                 (2,818,720)                        (86%)
Wind -                            (4,826,805)                 (4,826,805)                        (99%)


Total -$                         (19,255,176)$           (19,255,176)$                  (52%)  
• Commercial – Incentives are under budget due to several large projects being postponed indefinitely or cancelled as 


the properties have either changed ownership or have slowed construction opportunities in response to the current 
economic situation. This trend will continue through year-end. Marketing outreach activities are still underway, but 
new building construction has not been as active as originally expected. 


• Industrial – While delivery costs remain under budget through the third quarter, that variance will likely be 
eliminated with the costs for transitioning to new PDCs and closing out projects. Projects continue to slide but PDCs 
are still planning to close projects in Q4 to get very close to our savings goal. Projects have been delayed for various 
reasons. One $400k project is held up for permitting reasons, 2 large projects are held up awaiting BETC approvals, 
one $250k project moved into 2009 due to market conditions. PDCs are checking in with participants regularly to 
ensure that we get projects closed out this year. 


• Biopower –Documentation for two large incentive payments totaling over $500 thousand which were expected to 
be paid earlier this year is not completed and will be queued for payment in October. A number of program 
development activities originally anticipated were not executed as originally planned and will be carried over into 
2009. 


• Open Solicitation –Several large projects and corresponding incentive payments have been delayed into late this 
year and early next year. They were originally expected to be completed earlier in 2008.  Among those projects are 
the East Portland Community Center, ProLogis and the Portland Habilitation Center.  


• Solar – In general, commercial PV activity relative to budget has been delayed due to the Pacific Power/Honeywell 
case before the PUC, and the uncertainty/downturn in the financial markets.  We anticipate a more rapid payout in 
the last quarter of the year.  With the extension of the 30% investment tax credit, some projects will be delayed into 
2009, now that the urgency to complete by end of 2008 is past. Residential PV activity relative to budget has been 
slower than anticipated due to the industry’s focus on pursuing commercial projects, the slowdown in the economy 
and speculation about the potential for an increased federal tax credit. With the removal of the $2,000 cap on the 
federal tax credit for residential projects, it is expected that several projects will be delayed until 2009.  


• Utility Scale – Pacific Power is now regularly billing us for the committed incentives for the GoodNoe Hills 94 
MWE wind project.  The project start was delayed much later than forecast as was the payment of incentives.   The 
underpaid funds in 2008 will be paid in 2009. 


• Wind – Several large projects have been withdrawn and will not go forward. As such, the board authorized $2.5 
million of those funds to be made available for the Solar program. For community wind, an indefinite delay has 
occurred on a project for which major payments were anticipated in 2008. Two projects have decided not to go 
forward after all. The lack of availability of turbines has kept projects from going forward. The slow down in project 
activity decreased the need for professional services. 2008 was an industry development year for the small wind 
program, focused on educating and marketing to community members and contractors. Money was included in the 
2008 budget for project incentives, but with a new program for a nearly undeveloped industry few projects are being 
completed in 2008 with an anticipated increase in 2009. 


 
Professional Services (9% of expense variance) 
Professional Services Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Marketing -                            (581,733)                    (581,733)                           28%
Evaluation & Planning -$                          (574,808)$                  (574,808)$                         28%
Renewables -                            (307,709)                    (307,709)                           15%
Energy Efficiency -                            (269,925)                    (269,925)                           13%
Information Technology -                            (142,080)                    (142,080)                           7%
Administrative -                            (127,033)                    (127,033)                           6%
Shared Office Costs -                            (75,000)                      (75,000)                             4%
Total -$                         (2,078,289)$             (2,078,289)$                    100%  







Finance Report  September 30, 2008 


 3 


 
• Marketing – The main explanation is that most costs for the fall campaign (creative, professional services and media 


buys) and website usability improvements will not come through until the fourth quarter .  
• Evaluation & Planning –Evaluation spending continues to be somewhat lumpy and unpredictable. Several evaluation 


projects are coming in later in the year, including billing analysis, building efficiency, new buildings, and the heat pump 
pilot. And several evaluations were scaled back or done internally. 


• Renewables – The delays/abandonment of projects has decreased the current need for anticipated professional 
services. Precise timing of individual payments is difficult to predict, but most work is still expected to be completed. 


• Energy Efficiency – The variances are scattered throughout the programs and all items of significant amounts 
continue to reflect timing differences. 


• Information Technology – Primarily due to turnover of staff, the RFP for evaluation and potential replacement of 
our financial, project management and contact management systems has been delayed until 2009. The corresponding 
professional service costs are also being postponed. 


• Administrative – Several of the projects planned for 2008 have been postponed to 2009. Among the projects are 
the development and pre-implementation of new financial and contracting systems, coaching services, and external 
legal services which were budgeted but not required.  


 
By Division -Total Expenses 
By Division Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Energy Efficiency


Electric -$                          (9,813,952)$               (9,813,952)$                      40%
Gas -                            (23,259)                      (23,259)                             0%


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            (921,536)                    (921,536)                           4%
Open Solicitation -                            (3,499,818)                 (3,499,818)                        14%
Solar -                            (1,901,851)                 (1,901,851)                        8%
Utility Scale -                            (2,918,182)                 (2,918,182)                        12%
Wind -                            (5,156,312)                 (5,156,312)                        21%


Total -$                         (24,234,910)$           (24,234,910)$                  100%  
 


Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 
• 5.2% actual, budgeted at 7.1%; performance measure is 11.0% 
• Last year Q3 2007 was 5.7%. Last quarter’s rate was 5.1%. 








AUG JUL DEC Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 57,481,550 54,860,112 40,358,008 2,621,438 17,123,542
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,870,277 11,003,539 8,504,055 (133,262) 2,366,222
  Investments* 9,746,072 10,763,755 12,636,975 (1,017,684) (2,890,904)
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 1,038,779 1,035,027 3,592,594 3,751 (2,553,815)
  Receivables 30,691 14,599 62,208 16,091 (31,518)
  Prepaid Expenses 102,220 115,090 77,175 (12,870) 25,045
  Advances to Vendors 386,809 669,077 922,974 (282,267) (536,165)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 79,656,398 78,461,200 66,153,990 1,195,198 13,502,408


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 54,160 39,307 -                     14,853 54,160
  Computer Hardware and Software 910,855 904,408 885,669 6,447 25,186
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                     -                     
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 41,323 41,323 -                     -                     


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,119,680 1,098,380 1,040,334 21,300 79,346
  Less Depreciation (959,305) (953,080) (905,274) (6,225) (54,031)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 160,376 145,301 135,061 15,075 25,315


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 26,000 -                     -                     
  Deferred Compensation Asset 79,720 76,083 49,684 3,637 30,036


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 105,720 102,083 75,684 3,637 30,036


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 79,922,494 78,708,584 66,364,735 1,213,910 13,557,759


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,115,195 3,127,576 6,236,442 (12,381) (3,121,247)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 296,180 313,621 275,553 (17,442) 20,627


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,411,375 3,441,198 6,511,995 (29,823) (3,100,620)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 152,362 154,746 171,430 (2,384) (19,068)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 79,720 76,083 49,684 3,637 30,036
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 6,387 7,386 12,386 (999) (5,999)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 238,469 238,215 233,501 254 4,968


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,649,844 3,679,413 6,745,496 (29,569) (3,095,652)


Net Assets
  Current Yr Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 16,782,921 15,409,932 10,542,502 1,372,989 6,240,419
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 11,909,056 12,038,566 12,096,649 (129,510) (187,593)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 47,580,673 47,580,673 36,980,089 -                     10,600,584


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 76,272,650 75,029,171 59,619,239 1,243,479 16,653,410


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 79,922,494 78,708,584 66,364,735 1,213,910 13,557,759


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
*Although these funds are not escrowed, they are committed via the budget process for approved programs.


BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


August 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







 January February March April May June July August Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$      3,757,295$      2,894,504$      2,755,250$      1,822,278$      400,998$         184,811$         1,243,479$      16,653,411$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752               6,753               6,753               6,752               6,932               6,932               6,932               6,225               54,030              
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)             (2,384)             (2,383)             (2,384)             (2,383)             (2,384)             (2,384)             (2,384)             (19,068)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041               4,357               (1,178)             (8,085)             1,568               (534)                9,846               (1,774)             6,241                
Other Receivables 42,200             (4,645)             2,094               50                   (22)                  (434)                351                 (14,318)            25,276              
Advances to Vendors 282,109           278,827           (517,346)          137,275           293,128           (397,822)          177,726           282,267           536,165            
Other Assets 16,618             4,373               17,949             (28,724)            (75,367)            5,382               (4,543)             9,233               (55,079)             
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879           (184,085)          (726,125)          1,104,414        (1,084,865)       126,274           369,058           408,184           168,734            
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)       (335,765)          -                  -                  -                  -                  494,769           (450,089)          (3,226,333)        
A/P - Professional Services 10,199             2,242               14,854             (9,175)             2,876               3,506               (2,905)             11,318             32,915              
A/P - Operations (61,703)            (43,861)            43,275             (46,831)            (8,887)             (22,469)            25,707             18,206             (96,562)             
Payroll and related accruals 26,392             11,599             (960)                7,903               8,379               19,774             (8,621)             (13,804)            50,662              
Other liabilities (5,000)             -                  (999)                (5,999)               


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,916,445        963,637           134,223           1,250,748        1,495,545        14,124,392        


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (12,292)            -                  -                  (39,307)            (6,447)             (21,300)            (79,346)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)            -                  -                  (39,307)            (6,447)             -                  -                  (21,300)            (79,346)             


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632       66,216,992       69,711,698       71,443,134       75,320,272       76,277,462       76,411,685       77,662,433       65,091,632        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        957,190           134,223           1,250,748        1,474,245        14,045,046        


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$     69,711,698$     71,443,134$     75,320,272$     76,277,462$     76,411,685$     77,662,433$     79,136,678$     79,136,678$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,508,323        7,337,337        7,345,672        6,757,067        6,405,186        5,641,637        5,564,566        6,452,848        6,544,317        6,368,528        6,442,375        7,385,147        


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           167,751           138,724           134,653           125,749           148,676           136,366 83,234            103,546           98,349            93,496            


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        7,513,423        6,895,791        6,539,840        5,767,386        5,713,241        6,589,214        6,627,551        6,472,074        6,540,724        7,478,643        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,914,937        406,287           2,482,857        2,042,506        1,221,592        1,296,152        2,165,431        1,820,642        1,849,478        2,605,431        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        1,987,756        1,790,004        2,124,174        2,551,985        2,162,431        2,897,347        4,298,157        6,640,155        6,821,015        6,016,446        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           449,836           441,158           425,719           423,613           450,140           425,796           631,364           510,779           510,779           951,705           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           384,226           254,251           365,759           498,150           536,950           367,672           (74,780)           378,990           633,588           597,260           


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           45,232            126,953           184,141           116,908           91,380            128,002           271,716           164,365           159,223           154,025           


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        5,781,987        3,018,653        5,582,650        5,633,162        4,462,493        5,114,969        7,291,887        9,514,930        9,974,082        10,324,868      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        957,190           134,223           1,250,748        1,474,245        (664,336)          (3,042,856)       (3,433,358)       (2,846,225)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      78,472,342      75,429,486      71,996,128      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      78,472,342      75,429,486      71,996,128      69,149,903      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,926,919      10,709,634      10,725,699      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (255,950)          (152,667)          (1,234,250)       -                     (475,000)          


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            31,176            19,514            25,386            19,988            25,874            23,156            17,864            16,965            16,064            15,732            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,926,919      10,709,634      10,725,699      10,266,431      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Forecast 2008-F-05 Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


9,265,509     10,245,437   9,611,995     8,529,049     8,035,734     7,139,340     6,825,889     7,054,454     7,026,790         6,861,097     6,975,127        8,048,930       


87,141         84,458         87,013         89,376         92,051         89,152         84,399         83,950         83,260             81,486         79,335            73,216           


9,352,650     10,329,895   9,699,008     8,618,425     8,127,786     7,228,492     6,910,288     7,138,404     7,110,049         6,942,583     7,054,462        8,122,147       


3,293,362     2,635,050     2,479,263     1,721,914     1,797,626     2,535,472     1,797,626     1,849,178     2,566,258         1,849,178     2,154,603        2,871,683       


9,889,329     2,902,952     4,434,928     3,897,482     3,170,860     9,144,567     4,446,888     4,010,584     4,177,428         5,229,513     5,033,518        10,689,162     


541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604           541,604       541,604          541,604          


597,810       2,020,289     545,318       505,318       505,318       501,773       495,173       499,173       508,363           508,363       522,913          516,140          


476,669       170,957       160,509       162,489       153,108       148,787       149,988       146,052       162,113           167,886       155,553          155,302          


14,798,775   8,270,852     8,161,622     6,828,807     6,168,517     12,872,204   7,431,281     7,046,592     7,955,766         8,296,545     8,408,192        14,773,890     


(5,446,125)    2,059,043     1,537,386     1,789,618     1,959,269     (5,643,712)    (520,993)      91,811         (845,717)          (1,353,963)    (1,353,730)       (6,651,743)      


69,149,903   63,703,778   65,762,821   67,300,206   69,089,824   71,049,093   65,405,382   64,884,389   64,976,200       64,130,483   62,776,520      61,422,791     


63,703,778   65,762,821   67,300,206   69,089,824   71,049,093   65,405,382   64,884,389   64,976,200   64,130,483       62,776,520   61,422,791      54,771,047     


10,266,431   9,046,655     9,060,225     9,073,815     7,852,250     7,864,029     7,875,825     7,778,306     7,789,974         7,801,659     7,704,029        7,715,585       


(1,234,250)    -                  -                  (1,234,250)    -                  -                  (109,250)      -                  -                     (109,250)      -                    (125,000)         


14,474         13,570         13,590         12,685         11,778         11,796         11,732         11,667         11,685             11,621         11,556            11,480           


9,046,655     9,060,225     9,073,815     7,852,250     7,864,029     7,875,825     7,778,306     7,789,974     7,801,659         7,704,029     7,715,585        7,602,065       


Forecast 2009-F-03







August YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,700,207 2,759,933 (59,726) 23,770,095 23,912,852 (142,757)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,677,354 1,890,816 (213,461) 14,451,143 14,644,696 (193,553)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 322,633 265,667 56,966 7,657,376 6,985,065 672,311


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 24,911 32,186 (7,275) 745,369 676,655 68,713


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 838 1,071,338 550,462 520,877 1,494,343 550,462 943,881


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 838 656,405 677,797 (21,392) 3,894,790 3,694,984 199,806
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 6,452,848 6,176,860 275,989 52,013,115 50,464,713 1,548,402


Revenue from Investments 138,140 128,674 9,465 1,279,361 1,366,646 (87,285)
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,590,988 6,305,534 285,454 53,292,476 51,831,359 1,461,117
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,971,286 2,140,675 169,389 13,742,050 15,382,920 1,640,871


Incentives 2,447,258 5,328,811 2,881,553 15,623,891 31,804,071 16,180,180


Salaries and Related Expenses 411,992 510,779 98,786 3,477,257 4,086,228 608,971


Professional Services 378,990 630,088 251,098 2,971,618 4,730,288 1,758,669


Supplies 3,192 4,075 883 29,192 42,100 12,908


Telephone 3,949 4,725 776 33,068 37,800 4,732


Postage and Shipping Expenses 876 5,496 4,620 11,358 43,967 32,608


Occupancy Expenses 28,425 28,691 266 120,234 228,386 108,152


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 18,835 37,739 18,904 135,974 218,957 82,983


Call Center 11,706 14,188 2,481 96,569 129,696 33,127


Printing and Publications 17,826 16,785 (1,041) 108,558 134,283 25,726


Travel 11,776 14,112 2,336 77,369 118,899 41,530


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 30,612 30,663 51 132,116 212,550 80,434


Insurance 6,024 8,000 1,976 41,258 64,000 22,742


Miscellaneous Expenses (111) 217 328 1,212 1,733 521


Dues, Licenses and Fees 4,874 5,247 373 37,342 50,367 13,025
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 5,347,509 8,780,289 3,432,780 36,639,066 57,286,246 20,647,180
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXP 1,243,479 (2,474,755) 3,718,234 16,653,410 (5,454,887) 22,108,297
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 26,826,778 2,539,162 29,365,940 0 29,365,940
Payroll and Related Expenses 802,644 564,650 1,367,294 771,856 217,883 989,739 2,357,033
Outsourced Services 1,547,259 540,515 2,087,774 154,646 247,723 402,369 2,490,143
Planning and Evaluation 576,169 129,913 706,082 9,250 853 10,103 716,185
Customer Service Management 335,122 38,760 373,882 0 373,882


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 30,087,972 3,813,000 33,900,972 935,752 466,459 1,402,211 35,303,183


Program Support Costs


Supplies 6,019 4,443 10,462 5,576 2,191 7,767 18,229
Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,483 1,378 2,861 2,723 3,305 6,028 8,889
Telephone 4,301 2,357 6,658 2,244 296 2,540 9,198
Printing and Publications 51,121 11,771 62,892 2,089 32,147 34,236 97,128
Occupancy Expenses 25,805 19,368 45,173 23,511 7,570 31,081 76,254
Insurance 8,855 6,646 15,501 8,067 2,598 10,665 26,166
Equipment 3,762 9,066 12,828 3,318 1,088 4,406 17,234
Travel 30,711 16,407 47,118 14,373 3,499 17,872 64,990
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 33,807 10,182 43,989 47,923 6,051 53,974 97,963
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 0 0
Depreciation & Amortization 1,774                       6,715                       8,489 1,616 520 2,136 10,625
Dues, Licenses and Fees 26,218                      827                          27,045 6,408 2,738 9,146 36,191
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,173                       7                              1,180 14 3 17 1,197
IT Services 597,531                    98,644                      696,175 119,390 56,254 175,644 871,819


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 792,560 187,811 980,371 237,252 118,260 355,512 1,335,883


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 30,880,532 4,000,811 34,881,343 1,173,002 584,720 1,757,723 36,639,066


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.3%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2008







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $19,937,101 $14,996,650 $7,657,376 $745,369 $43,336,495 $5,327,337 $3,349,283 $8,676,620 $52,013,115
Revenue from Investments 1,279,361 1,279,361


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 19,937,101 14,996,650 7,657,376 745,369 -                43,336,495 5,327,337 3,349,283 8,676,620 1,279,361 53,292,476


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 927,994 490,434 488,582 51,637 4,039 1,962,687 299,752 264,898 564,650 -                  2,527,337
  Program Delivery 5,946,207 3,472,188 1,530,450 187,636 16,645 11,153,126 35,898 36,133 72,031 -                  11,225,157
  Incentives 5,898,247 3,527,696 3,536,718 164,112 29,986 13,156,759 1,107,965 1,359,166 2,467,131 -                  15,623,890
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 670,605 349,935 312,077 18,188 1,115 1,351,920 84,333 79,161 163,494 -                  1,515,414
  Program Marketing/Outreach 907,476 395,295 358,637 41,672 3,732 1,706,812 61,030 56,757 117,787 -                  1,824,599
  Program Legal Services 211 109 149 10 1 480 6,898 43 6,941 -                  7,421
  Program Quality Assurance 35,951 15,974 32,141 1,432 21 85,519 522 4,068 4,590 -                  90,109
  Outsourced  Services 178,250 93,802 58,453 4,960 85 335,550 256,678 120,936 377,614 -                  713,164
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 126,314 60,694 140,971 6,832 310 335,121 21,167 17,593 38,760 -                  373,881
  IT Services 275,263 145,217 164,368 11,415 1,267 597,530 50,889 47,755 98,644 -                  696,174
  Other Program Expenses 90,473 50,759 50,567 3,012 217 195,028 51,716 37,453 89,169 -                  284,197


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 15,056,992 8,602,103 6,673,114 490,905 57,418 30,880,532 1,976,847 2,023,964 4,000,811 -                34,881,343      


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 506,342 289,275 224,406 16,508 1,931 1,038,462 66,478 68,063 134,541 -                  1,173,002
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 252,402 144,198 111,862 8,229 962 517,654 33,138 33,928 67,066 -                  584,720


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- -----------------------
Total Administrative Costs 758,744 433,473 336,268 24,737 2,893 1,556,116 99,616 101,991 201,607 -                1,757,723


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 15,815,736 9,035,576 7,009,382 515,643 60,312 32,436,648 2,076,464 2,125,954 4,202,418 -                36,639,066


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ----------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 4,121,365 5,961,074 647,994 229,726 (60,312) 10,899,847 3,250,873 1,223,329 4,474,202 1,279,361 16,653,410


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4) 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,994 446,188 189,069 15,777,585 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,239
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 21,020,445 (308,672) 8,060,988 675,914 128,757 29,577,432 27,348,385 15,121,183 42,469,568 4,225,649 76,272,650


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2008
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $2,920,261 $1,054,858 3,975,119 $1,266,488 $66,094 1,332,582 5,307,701 6,462,987            1,155,286            
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,483,828 1,107,976 3,591,804 594,963 31,862 626,825 4,218,629 5,280,677            1,062,048            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 575,800 434,376 1,010,176 -                        1,010,176 1,050,888            40,712                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Commercial 5,979,889      2,597,210     8,577,099       1,861,451     97,956     -           1,959,407         10,536,506    12,794,552    2,258,046      


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 2,324,625 2,043,920 4,368,545 52,507 4,066 56,573 4,425,118 7,984,719            3,559,601            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 339,767 256,315 596,082 -                        596,082 646,140              50,058                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Industrial 2,664,392      2,300,235     4,964,627       52,507          4,066       -           56,573              5,021,200      8,630,859      3,609,659      


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 2,684,114 1,238,016 3,922,130 3,976,524 159,983 4,136,507 8,058,637 9,591,780            1,533,143            
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 4,158,674 2,652,174 6,810,848 1,118,900 253,638 60,312 1,432,850 8,243,698 8,542,330            298,632              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 328,667 247,941 576,608 -                        576,608 714,400              137,792              


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Residential 7,171,455      4,138,131     11,309,586     5,095,424     413,621   60,312     5,569,357         16,878,943    18,848,510    1,969,567      


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 15,815,736    9,035,576     24,851,312     7,009,382     515,643   60,312     7,585,337         32,436,648    40,273,921    7,837,272      
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 201,495 513,109 714,604 -                        714,604 1,547,317            832,713              
Open Solicitation 215,736 211,500 427,236 -                        427,236 3,067,693            2,640,457            
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,362,033 1,132,093 2,494,126 -                        2,494,126 3,930,721            1,436,595            
Utility Scale Projects 22,795 178,326 201,121 -                        201,121 3,062,857            2,861,736            
Wind 274,405 90,926 365,331 -                        365,331 5,403,736            5,038,405            


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 2,076,464      2,125,954     4,202,418       -                -           -           -                    4,202,418      17,012,324    12,809,906    
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 17,892,200    11,161,530   29,053,730     7,009,382     515,643   60,312     7,585,337         36,639,066    57,286,246    20,647,180    


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Two Months and Year to Date Ended August 31, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QTD QTRLY QUARTER YTD QTD QTRLY QUARTER YTD
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $29,113 $81,647 $52,534 $141,596 $237,992 $96,396 $69,526 $102,255 $32,729 $247,723 $272,680 $24,957


Legal Services 834 10,125 9,291 13,050 27,000 13,950 1,875 1,875 5,000 5,000


Salaries and Related Expenses 181,620 315,715 134,095 771,856 841,907 70,051 58,109 91,566 33,457 217,883 244,176 26,292


Supplies 14 1,425 1,411 1,163 3,800 2,637 176 300 124 770 800 30


Telephone 121 300 179 1,325 800 (525)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 675 675 1,403 1,800 397 5,113 5,113 2,880 13,633 10,754


Noncapitalized Equipment (4,830) 12,000 16,830 1,200 1,200 300 300 20 800 780


Printing and Publications 27 125 98 224 333 109 9,171 12,313 3,142 31,547 32,833 1,287


Travel 4,434 11,475 7,041 14,373 30,600 16,227 828 1,850 1,022 3,499 4,933 1,434


Conference, Training & Mtngs 20,347 31,187 10,840 47,923 83,167 35,244 3,310 3,625 316 6,051 9,667 3,615


Miscellaneous Expenses 5 25 20 5 67 62


Dues, Licenses and Fees 264 1,179 915 6,164 6,533 369 1,028 1,250 222 2,660 3,333 674


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 17,685 28,575 10,890 45,282 76,000 30,718 6,254 10,052 3,798 14,581 26,735 12,154


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 29,085 72,060 42,975 119,390 167,312 47,923 13,704 33,954 20,249 56,254 78,835 22,580


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 2,324 4,987 2,663 9,250 13,058 3,808 214 460 246 853 1,205 351
-------------------- -------------------- --------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 281,043 571,501 290,459 1,173,002 1,491,569 318,566 162,320 264,912 102,591 584,720 694,629 109,909
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 2nd  Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-002







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


$60


$70


January February March April May June July August


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Mar
ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Marc


h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-
$5


$10
$15
$20
$25
$30
$35


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Marc
h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 9/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon
Contract Status Summary 9/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs
through: 8/31/2008 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


August 2008


Administration
Administration Total: 4,221,494 1,565,575 2,655,919


Communications & Outreach
Communications Total: 1,635,144 801,805 833,339


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency
Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/200919,090,000 11,962,535 7,127,465


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. Energy Star Homes & Products 1/1/08 12/31/20086,519,071 3,965,117 2,553,954
Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/20105,225,120 2,607,284 2,617,836
Science Applications International
Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/20083,175,500 1,352,821 1,822,679


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/20102,410,128 1,530,868 879,260
Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008890,000 586,755 303,245
RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008882,200 578,438 303,762
Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/2010650,000 371,029 278,971
Resource Actions Programs LivingWise program kits 6/15/08 02/28/2009498,105 0 498,105
Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process


Eval
10/11/07 06/30/2009355,000 302,536 52,464


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment
Fund


1/1/07 12/31/2008300,000 300,000 0


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 06/30/2009290,000 191,521 98,479
Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/2008261,586 104,142 157,444
Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/2008247,751 137,313 110,438
Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact


Evaluation
8/6/07 08/31/2008240,000 239,977 23


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008215,000 136,909 78,091
PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 08/15/2010137,500 60,228 77,272
Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 04/30/2009123,000 65,835 57,165
South Stephens Appliance Roseburg LIR - refrigs. 3/1/08 12/01/200899,750 0 99,750
Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/200890,000 50,582 39,418
J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/200880,000 53,390 26,610
PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 03/31/200977,300 54,084 23,216
Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 09/30/200857,000 11,084 45,916
Weyerhaeuser Paper Company Albany CHP feasibilty study 3/20/08 03/19/200950,000 0 50,000
New Buildings Institute Oregon Core Performance Prjct 2/26/08 09/30/200848,400 13,516 34,884
Corvallis Environmental Center Corvallis initiative consult. 3/1/08 03/01/200944,300 23,600 20,700
Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/200832,000 28,765 3,235
Blue Line Innovations, Inc. Blue Line energy monitors 1/1/08 12/31/200831,578 26,612 4,966
Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 01/31/200930,000 4,400 25,600
Seattle City Light MOA Lighting Design Lab 6/1/08 12/31/200830,000 0 30,000
Umpqua Community Action
Network


Roseburg LIR - monitoring 3/1/08 12/01/200828,000 0 28,000


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/200820,000 5,425 14,575
Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/200815,400 5,052 10,348
City of Portland Office of Sust 2008 OSD Sponsorship 3/20/08 03/20/200915,000 15,000 0
Ecos Consulting Assess OR comm. window


market
5/13/08 10/15/200815,000 0 15,000


Geavista Group, Inc. New Homes QA 7/1/08 06/30/200914,400 1,225 13,175
Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/200811,800 2,400 9,400
Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 01/30/200910,000 1,507 8,493
American Council for and Energy
Efficient Economy


Emerging/underuntilized tech. 3/20/08 03/31/200910,000 0 10,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/200810,000 10,263 -263
Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship


agreement
1/2/08 01/01/200910,000 10,000 0


Northwest Power & Conservation
Council


OSU Industrial Motor Assess. 7/10/08 09/30/20086,020 6,020 0


Mike Fenske PE Consulting 2/1/08 02/28/20095,000 2,800 2,200







R00407 9/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon
Contract Status Summary 9/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs
through: 8/31/2008 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


August 2008


Energy Efficiency Total: 42,350,909 24,819,032 17,531,877
Joint Programs


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 09/30/200893,150 66,246 26,904
Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/200892,767 37,297 55,470
Research Into Action, Inc. Res. Awareness Survey 4/1/08 12/31/200870,000 24,987 45,013
Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/200868,440 27,889 40,552
HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/200857,550 41,523 16,027
Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 03/31/200951,830 14,759 37,071
Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 04/30/200945,325 45,325 0
ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/200842,500 39,325 3,175
Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/200839,000 29,319 9,681
Luxurious Plumbing and Heating,
Inc.


Solar  services 5/1/08 04/30/200925,000 3,240 21,760


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis 2007 2/15/08 12/15/200824,000 15,958 8,042
The Cadmus Group Inc. Billing Anal. Process Review 9/1/08 01/30/200920,000 0 20,000
Stellar Processes, Inc. billing analysis evaluation 9/1/08 01/30/200915,000 0 15,000
Salesgenie.com Inc. Sales Genie Online 7/7/08 05/31/20096,000 0 6,000
Dethman & Associates SER Pilot evaluation 9/1/08 01/10/20095,000 0 5,000


Joint Programs Total: 655,562 345,868 309,694
Renewable Energy Program


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 07/21/20261,685,088 255,950 1,429,138
Alder Solar LLC HAbilitation Center PV 1/18/08 12/31/20281,236,750 0 1,236,750
Swalley Irrigation District Swalley irrigation hydro proj. 5/15/08 05/15/2028895,609 0 895,609
City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 02/17/2025475,000 0 475,000
University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 02/21/2009386,266 362,516 23,750
City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP


Biopower
2/24/06 05/31/2028362,000 0 362,000


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services 4/1/08 03/31/2010148,832 55,726 93,106
Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE New Markets Study 3/19/08 08/31/2008125,000 33,582 91,419
David Barenberg dba Barenberg &
Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 09/30/200899,672 94,926 4,746


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 06/14/200999,600 47,832 51,768
CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/200887,700 74,261 13,439
Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/200885,150 81,774 3,376
Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/01/202679,815 40,507 39,308
Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer Installation 4/15/08 10/30/200871,751 19,535 52,216
BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 03/31/200971,500 22,812 48,688
Stephen F. Anderson Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/200843,000 22,997 20,003
Stephen F. Anderson RETAA 3/15/07 03/31/200941,688 32,672 9,016
Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 08/31/200840,500 33,725 6,775
Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 6 (2009) 7/1/08 06/30/200939,543 39,543 0
Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 07/31/200937,000 16,350 20,650
Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 05/25/202732,500 0 32,500
Coquille Indian Tribe Coquille Tribe biomass study 1/22/07 12/31/200830,000 0 30,000
Tualatin Valley Water District Hydro Turbine Study 2/12/08 10/31/200830,000 0 30,000
Earth by Design, Inc. LA Anaerobic Digester 7/3/08 11/15/200830,000 29,000 1,000
Eastern Oregon Power & Light Co. Rock Creek hydro study 5/9/08 12/31/200830,000 0 30,000
Clean Water Services Small wind technical assist. 8/22/08 07/31/200930,000 0 30,000
Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/200828,200 23,828 4,373
CIty of Gresham hydro study City of Gresham 5/30/08 11/30/200824,946 0 24,946
Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 01/31/202424,125 0 24,125
David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 05/31/202823,863 11,932 11,932
Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/200822,845 9,460 13,385
Hood River County School District Small wind demo project 6/25/08 06/25/202322,600 0 22,600
Solar Energy Association of
Oregon


Americorp position OR Solar 5/20/08 05/31/200922,500 22,500 0







R00407 9/19/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon
Contract Status Summary 9/19/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs
through: 8/31/2008 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


August 2008


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/200816,900 10,622 6,278
HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 06/30/200916,619 13,833 2,786
3EStrategies primary partner sponsorship 3/21/08 12/31/200815,000 0 15,000
ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/200815,000 4,984 10,016
Wallowa Resources Community
Solutions, Inc.


Wallowa Comm. bio CHP 4/9/08 08/31/200815,000 0 15,000


Northwest SEED Wind program outreach 8/22/08 12/31/200815,000 15,000 0
Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/200814,500 2,726 11,775
Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/01/202013,150 2,170 10,981
Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RETAA 6/7/07 05/31/200913,100 4,166 8,934
Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/200813,000 10,753 2,247
Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 05/31/200913,000 0 13,000
Mayfield Solar Design, LLC RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/200812,700 10,915 1,785
Wallowa Resources Community
Solutions, Inc.


Micro-Hydroelectric Generation 7/18/08 10/31/200812,500 0 12,500


David Bugni & Associates RE services 4/15/08 04/14/20098,000 341 7,659
Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 09/30/20086,590 996 5,595
Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 08/31/20096,300 4,550 1,750
Crystal Springs Water District Crystal Springs Water study 3/18/08 09/30/20085,000 0 5,000
Oregon Economic & Community
Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund
MOU


10/4/06 10/31/20085,000 0 5,000


Wallowa Resources Community
Solutions Inc. - Spaur Ranch


Spaur Ranch micro-hydro 6/2/08 10/30/20085,000 0 5,000


CIty of Pendleton Pendleton microhydro study 7/22/08 10/31/20084,000 0 4,000
Wallowa Resources Community
Solutions Inc


Harker Ranch  microhydro
study


6/30/08 11/30/20083,000 0 3,000


Renewable Energy Total: 6,691,402 1,412,481 5,278,921
55,554,511 28,944,762 26,609,750Grand Totals:








The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
September 30, 2008


(Unaudited)


SEP AUG DEC Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 58,434,910 57,481,550 40,358,008 953,360 18,076,902
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 10,579,336 10,870,277 8,504,055 (290,942) 2,075,281
  Investments* 9,765,072 9,746,072 12,636,975 19,000 (2,871,904)
  Restricted Investments (Escrow Funds) 1,042,422 1,038,779 3,592,594 3,643 (2,550,172)
  Receivables 26,968 30,691 62,208 (3,723) (35,240)
  Prepaid Expenses 123,135 102,220 77,175 20,915 45,960
  Advances to Vendors 954,338 386,809 922,974 567,529 31,364


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
   Total Current Assets 80,926,181 79,656,398 66,153,990 1,269,783 14,772,191


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 54,160 54,160 -                     -                     54,160
  Computer Hardware and Software 910,855 910,855 885,669 -                     25,186
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                     -                     
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 41,323 41,323 -                     -                     


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,119,680 1,119,680 1,040,334 -                    79,346
  Less Depreciation (964,930) (959,305) (905,274) (5,626) (59,657)


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 154,750 160,376 135,061 (5,626) 19,689


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 26,000 -                     -                     
  Deferred Compensation Asset 83,357 79,720 49,684 3,637 33,673


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Other Assets 109,357 105,720 75,684 3,637 33,673


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Assets 81,190,288 79,922,494 66,364,735 1,267,794 14,825,552


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 2,952,211 3,115,195 6,236,442 (162,984) (3,284,231)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 302,328 296,180 275,553 6,149 26,775


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,254,539 3,411,375 6,511,995 (156,836) (3,257,456)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 149,979 152,362 171,430 (2,384) (21,452)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 83,357 79,720 49,684 3,637 33,673
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 3,175 6,387 12,386 (3,212) (9,211)


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 236,511 238,469 233,501 (1,959) 3,010


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,491,050 3,649,844 6,745,496 (158,794) (3,254,446)


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Ne 18,496,807 16,782,921 10,542,502 1,713,886 7,954,306
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow 11,621,758 11,909,056 12,096,649 (287,298) (474,891)
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beg of Yr 47,580,673 47,580,673 36,980,089 -                     10,600,584


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Net Assets 77,699,238 76,272,650 59,619,239 1,426,588 18,079,999


------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 81,190,288 79,922,494 66,364,735 1,267,794 14,825,552


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
*Although these funds are not escrowed, they are committed via the budget process for approved programs.


BS-Acct-YTD-001







 January February March April May June July August September Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$     3,757,295$     2,894,504$     2,755,250$     1,822,278$     400,998$        184,811$        1,243,479$     1,426,588$     18,079,999$      


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752             6,753             6,753             6,752             6,932             6,932             6,932             6,225             5,626             59,656              
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)            (2,384)            (2,383)            (2,384)            (2,383)            (2,384)            (2,384)            (2,384)            (2,384)            (21,451)             


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041             4,357             (1,178)            (8,085)            1,568             (534)               9,846             (1,774)            (2,299)            3,942                
Other Receivables 42,200            (4,645)            2,094             50                  (22)                 (434)               351                (14,318)          6,022             31,298              
Advances to Vendors 282,109          278,827          (517,346)         137,275          293,128          (397,822)         177,726          282,267          (567,529)         (31,364)             
Other Assets 16,618            4,373             17,949            (28,724)          (75,367)          5,382             (4,543)            9,233             (24,552)          (79,631)             
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879          (184,085)         (726,125)         1,104,414       (1,084,865)      126,274          369,058          408,184          (212,819)         (44,085)             
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)      (335,765)         -                 -                 -                 -                 494,769          (450,089)         (44,680)          (3,271,013)        
A/P - Professional Services 10,199            2,242             14,854            (9,175)            2,876             3,506             (2,905)            11,318            (14,870)          18,045              
A/P - Operations (61,703)          (43,861)          43,275            (46,831)          (8,887)            (22,469)          25,707            18,206            109,385          12,822              
Payroll and related accruals 26,392            11,599            (960)               7,903             8,379             19,774            (8,621)            (13,804)          9,785             60,447              
Other liabilities (5,000)            -                 (999)               (3,212)            (9,211)               


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652       3,494,706       1,731,436       3,916,445       963,637          134,223          1,250,748       1,495,545       685,062          14,809,454        


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (12,292)          -                 -                 (39,307)          (6,447)            (21,300)          (79,346)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)          -                 -                 (39,307)          (6,447)            -                 -                 (21,300)          -                 (79,346)             


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632     66,216,992     69,711,698     71,443,134     75,320,272     76,277,462     76,411,685     77,662,433     79,136,678     65,091,632        


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360       3,494,706       1,731,436       3,877,138       957,190          134,223          1,250,748       1,474,245       685,062          14,730,108        


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$   69,711,698$   71,443,134$   75,320,272$   76,277,462$   76,411,685$   77,662,433$   79,136,678$   79,821,740$   79,821,740$      


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 


Forecasts, 2009 Budget


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,508,323        7,337,337        7,345,672        6,757,067        6,405,186        5,641,637        5,564,566        6,452,848        6,444,493        6,388,377        6,473,023        7,248,577        


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           167,751           138,724           134,653           125,749           148,676           136,366 129,536           117,458           113,020           108,303           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        7,513,423        6,895,791        6,539,840        5,767,386        5,713,241        6,589,214        6,574,029        6,505,835        6,586,043        7,356,880        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,914,937        406,287           2,482,857        2,042,506        1,221,592        1,296,152        2,847,443        1,749,424        1,732,448        2,505,500        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        1,987,756        1,790,004        2,124,174        2,551,985        2,162,431        2,897,347        2,250,179        6,751,622        6,913,244        6,736,655        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           449,836           441,158           425,719           423,613           450,140           425,796           458,436           438,957           438,957           440,274           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           384,226           254,251           365,759           498,150           536,950           367,672           328,839           378,990           313,969           874,881           


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           45,232            126,953           184,141           116,908           91,380            128,002           4,071              102,066           166,832           166,832           


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        5,781,987        3,018,653        5,582,650        5,633,162        4,462,493        5,114,969        5,888,968        9,421,059        9,565,450        10,724,141      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        957,190           134,223           1,250,748        1,474,245        685,062           (2,915,223)       (2,979,407)       (3,367,260)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      76,906,517      73,927,109      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      76,277,462      76,411,685      77,662,433      79,136,678      79,821,740      76,906,517      73,927,109      70,559,849      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      10,404,014      10,419,620      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (255,950)          (152,667)          (308,363)          (1,234,250)       -                     (475,000)          


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            31,176            19,514            25,386            19,988            25,874            23,156            21,065            16,507            15,606            15,273            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      11,992,705      12,012,693      12,038,566      11,909,056      11,621,758      10,404,014      10,419,620      9,959,894        


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual Forecast 2008-F-06







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals, 2008 


Forecasts, 2009 Budget


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


9,078,915     10,018,305   9,414,257     8,372,782     7,904,754     7,065,318     6,764,583     7,004,526     6,924,924         6,833,568     6,922,302        7,948,140       


102,733       101,884       105,059       106,230       106,262       103,730       99,709         96,475         92,786             84,056         74,280            62,768           


9,181,648     10,120,189   9,519,316     8,479,012     8,011,016     7,169,048     6,864,292     7,101,001     7,017,710         6,917,625     6,996,582        8,010,908       


1,732,448     2,437,164     2,814,383     2,017,978     2,092,667     2,847,568     2,110,416     2,223,920     3,066,973         2,231,269     2,459,912        3,303,901       


10,126,654   3,174,273     3,910,278     4,620,465     4,604,830     5,854,837     5,419,971     5,228,668     5,221,404         11,583,974   6,849,979        13,966,700     


542,334       558,264       560,506       569,877       569,877       570,360       570,360       570,360       570,360           570,360       570,360          570,360          


874,881       874,881       965,955       866,255       952,480       881,049       881,099       977,024       873,265           873,315       958,940          847,432          


170,941       237,817       187,382       190,932       178,851       179,286       183,153       171,586       187,584           180,473       194,342          180,524          


13,447,258   7,282,398     8,438,504     8,265,507     8,398,705     10,333,100   9,164,998     9,171,558     9,919,586         15,439,392   11,033,533      18,868,917     


(4,265,610)    2,837,791     1,080,811     213,505       (387,689)      (3,164,052)    (2,300,707)    (2,070,557)    (2,901,877)       (8,521,767)    (4,036,951)       (10,858,010)    


70,559,849   66,294,239   69,132,030   70,212,842   70,426,347   70,038,657   66,874,605   64,573,899   62,503,342       59,601,465   51,079,698      47,042,747     


66,294,239   69,132,030   70,212,842   70,426,347   70,038,657   66,874,605   64,573,899   62,503,342   59,601,465       51,079,698   47,042,747      36,184,737     


9,959,894     8,739,658     8,752,767     8,765,896     7,543,870     7,555,185     7,566,518     7,468,536     7,479,739         7,490,958     7,392,863        7,403,952       


(1,234,250)    -                  -                  (1,234,250)    -                  -                  (109,250)      -                  -                     (109,250)      -                    (125,000)         


14,014         13,109         13,129         12,223         11,316         11,333         11,268         11,203         11,220             11,155         11,089            11,012           


8,739,658     8,752,767     8,765,896     7,543,870     7,555,185     7,566,518     7,468,536     7,479,739     7,490,958         7,392,863     7,403,952        7,289,964       


Forecast 2009-B-01







September YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,717,132 2,848,433 (131,301) 26,487,227 26,761,285 (274,057)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,667,071 1,853,309 (186,238) 16,118,214 16,498,005 (379,791)


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 270,567 239,717 30,850 7,927,943 7,224,782 703,161


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 28,330 23,838 4,492 773,699 700,494 73,205


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 838 1,095,102 1,136,226 (41,124) 2,589,445 1,686,688 902,758


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 838 666,290 609,460 56,830 4,561,080 4,304,444 256,636
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 6,444,493 6,710,983 (266,490) 58,457,609 57,175,697 1,281,912


Revenue from Investments 131,835 124,777 7,058 1,411,196 1,491,423 (80,227)
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,576,328 6,835,761 (259,432) 59,868,805 58,667,120 1,201,685
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 2,069,905 2,140,675 70,770 15,811,955 17,523,595 1,711,640


Incentives 2,205,499 5,280,495 3,074,996 17,829,389 37,084,565 19,255,176


Salaries and Related Expenses 468,221 510,779 42,558 3,945,478 4,597,007 651,529


Professional Services 313,969 633,588 319,619 3,285,587 5,363,876 2,078,289


Supplies 3,250 4,075 825 32,442 46,175 13,733


Telephone 6,086 4,725 (1,361) 39,154 42,525 3,371


Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,079 5,496 1,416 15,438 49,463 34,025


Occupancy Expenses 17,979 28,691 10,712 138,213 257,077 118,864


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 8,233 42,164 33,931 144,208 261,121 116,913


Call Center 12,028 14,259 2,231 108,597 143,955 35,358


Printing and Publications 11,853 16,785 4,933 120,410 151,069 30,659


Travel 9,871 14,112 4,242 87,240 133,012 45,772


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 11,171 28,163 16,991 143,287 240,713 97,425


Insurance 6,322 8,000 1,678 47,580 72,000 24,420


Miscellaneous Expenses 716 217 (499) 1,928 1,950 22


Dues, Licenses and Fees 558 5,247 4,689 37,900 55,614 17,714
------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 5,149,740 8,737,470 3,587,730 41,788,806 66,023,716 24,234,910
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 1,426,588 (1,901,710) 3,328,298 18,079,999 (7,356,596) 25,436,595
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


IS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2008
(Unaudited)







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 30,556,020 3,085,324 33,641,344 0 33,641,344
Payroll and Related Expenses 908,275 638,797 1,547,072 868,394 250,248 1,118,642 2,665,714
Outsourced Services 1,721,857 588,488 2,310,345 168,550 271,811 440,361 2,750,706
Planning and Evaluation 660,363 148,897 809,260 10,601 978 11,579 820,839
Customer Service Management 379,707 44,734 424,441 0 424,441


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 34,226,222 4,506,240 38,732,462 1,047,545 523,037 1,570,582 40,303,044


Program Support Costs


Supplies 6,647 4,893 11,540 6,198 2,628 8,826 20,366
Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,348 1,564 5,912 3,250 3,381 6,631 12,543
Telephone 5,091 3,346 8,437 2,904 525 3,429 11,866
Printing and Publications 59,207 13,838 73,045 2,162 33,207 35,369 108,414
Occupancy Expenses 29,792 22,328 52,120 26,580 8,782 35,362 87,482
Insurance 10,256 7,687 17,943 9,150 3,023 12,173 30,116
Equipment 3,982 10,019 14,001 3,445 1,158 4,603 18,604
Travel 34,404 18,623 53,027 16,604 4,207 20,811 73,838
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 34,163 11,392 45,555 54,155 7,314 61,469 107,024
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 0 0
Depreciation & Amortization 2,004                       7,558                       9,562 1,788 591 2,379 11,941
Dues, Licenses and Fees 26,694                      828                          27,522 6,404 2,822 9,226 36,748
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,537                       129                          1,666 84 26 110 1,776
IT Services 661,425                    109,193                    770,618 132,156 62,270 194,426 965,044


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 879,550 211,398 1,090,948 264,880 129,934 394,814 1,485,762


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 35,105,772 4,717,638 39,823,410 1,312,425 652,971 1,965,396 41,788,806


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 5.2%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2008







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $23,152,822 $16,943,213 $7,927,943 $773,699 48,797,677 $5,923,850 $3,736,081 9,659,931 $58,457,609
Revenue from Investments 0 0 1,411,196 $1,411,196


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 23,152,822 16,943,213 7,927,943 773,699 0 48,797,677 5,923,850 3,736,081 9,659,931 1,411,196 59,868,805


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,059,067 559,463 544,545 58,399 4,566 2,226,040 343,500 295,297 638,797 -             2,864,837
  Program Delivery 6,891,027 3,981,449 1,764,137 216,732 19,176 12,872,521 38,763 41,066 79,829 -             12,952,350
  Incentives 6,660,902 4,074,294 3,861,407 194,809 32,481 14,823,893 1,248,873 1,756,622 3,005,495 -             17,829,388
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 729,783 383,500 323,903 20,508 1,231 1,458,925 96,801 85,678 182,479 -             1,641,404
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,060,547 463,053 425,657 47,357 4,086 2,000,700 77,182 71,758 148,940 -             2,149,640
  Program Legal Services 213 110 146 10 1 480 6,898 43 6,941 -             7,421
  Program Quality Assurance 41,643 18,531 36,046 1,732 35 97,987 522 4,068 4,590 -             102,577
  Outsourced  Services 190,237 101,428 67,514 6,692 94 365,966 271,220 123,215 394,435 -             760,401
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 146,551 68,335 156,806 7,685 331 379,707 24,391 20,343 44,734 -             424,441
  IT Services 307,407 161,784 177,982 12,882 1,374 661,427 57,893 51,299 109,192 -             770,619
  Other Program Expenses 101,385 56,981 56,063 3,463 234 218,126 59,457 42,749 102,206 -             320,332


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 17,188,762 9,868,927 7,414,206 570,268 63,608 35,105,772 2,225,499 2,492,139 4,717,638 -            39,823,410


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 566,477 325,241 244,343 18,794 2,096 1,156,951 73,343 82,131 155,474 -             1,312,425
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 281,839 161,817 121,568 9,350 1,043 575,618 36,491 40,862 77,353 -             652,971


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
Total Administrative Costs 848,316 487,058 365,911 28,144 3,139 1,732,569 109,834 122,993 232,827 -            1,965,396


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 18,037,078 10,355,985 7,780,118 598,413 66,748 36,838,341 2,335,333 2,615,132 4,950,465 -            41,788,806


------------------ ------------------ -------------------- -------------- ------------- ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 5,115,744 6,587,228 147,825 175,286 (66,748) 11,959,336 3,588,517 1,120,949 4,709,466 1,411,196 18,079,999


========== ========== =========== ======= ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ============
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4) 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,994 446,188 189,069 15,777,585 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,239
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========== ========== =========== ======= ======= ========== ========= ========= ========= ========= ============
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 22,014,824 317,482 7,560,819 621,474 122,321 30,636,921 27,686,029 15,018,803 42,704,832 4,357,484 77,699,238


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2008
(Unaudited)







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $3,428,456 $1,222,413 4,650,869 $1,379,910 $76,481 1,456,391 6,107,260 7,634,174               1,526,914            
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 2,658,287 1,238,670 3,896,957 634,249 50,773 685,022 4,581,979 6,240,894               1,658,915            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 655,487 494,492 1,149,979 -                        1,149,979 1,183,382               33,403                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Commercial 6,742,230      2,955,575     9,697,805       2,014,159     127,254   -           2,141,413         11,839,218    15,058,450       3,219,232      


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 2,671,268 2,414,396 5,085,664 64,570 4,058 68,628 5,154,292 9,442,385               4,288,093            
Market Transformation (NEEA) 386,163 291,315 677,478 -                        677,478 721,345                  43,867                


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Industrial 3,057,431      2,705,711     5,763,142       64,570          4,058       -           68,628              5,831,770      10,163,730       4,331,960      


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 3,158,284 1,401,406 4,559,690 4,456,105 181,057 4,637,162 9,196,852 10,978,242             1,781,390            
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 4,705,339 3,011,309 7,716,648 1,245,284 286,044 66,748 1,598,076 9,314,724 9,677,714               362,990              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 373,794 281,984 655,778 -                        655,778 797,415                  141,637              


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Residential 8,237,417      4,694,699     12,932,116     5,701,389     467,101   66,748     6,235,238         19,167,354    21,453,371       2,286,017      


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 18,037,078    10,355,985   28,393,063     7,780,118     598,413   66,748     8,445,279         36,838,341    46,675,551       9,837,209      
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 209,742 529,424 739,166 -                        739,166 1,660,702               921,536              
Open Solicitation 301,112 206,571 507,683 -                        507,683 4,007,501               3,499,818            
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,515,137 1,263,720 2,778,857 -                        2,778,857 4,680,708               1,901,851            
Utility Scale Projects 22,234 505,906 528,140 -                        528,140 3,446,322               2,918,182            
Wind 287,108 109,511 396,619 -                        396,619                5,552,931 5,156,312            


------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 2,335,333      2,615,132     4,950,465       -                -           -           -                    4,950,465      19,348,164       14,397,699    
------------------------------- ------------------------------- --------------------------------- ------------------------------ ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------------- -------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 20,372,411    12,971,117   33,343,528     7,780,118     598,413   66,748     8,445,279         41,788,806    66,023,716       24,234,910    


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Nine Months Ending September 30, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended September 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $42,537 $81,647 $39,110 $155,020 $265,208 $110,188 $93,614 $102,255 $8,641 $271,811 $306,765 $34,954


Legal Services 1,314 10,125 8,811 13,530 30,375 16,845 1,875 1,875 5,625 5,625


Salaries and Related Expenses 278,155 315,715 37,560 868,391 947,145 78,754 90,474 91,566 1,092 250,249 274,698 24,449


Supplies 186 1,425 1,239 1,336 4,275 2,939 428 300 (128) 1,022 900 (122)


Telephone 527 300 (227) 1,731 900 (831) 138 (138) 138 (138)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 331 675 344 1,734 2,025 291 5,113 5,113 2,880 15,338 12,458


Noncapitalized Equipment (4,830) 12,000 16,830 13,200 13,200 300 300 20 900 880


Printing and Publications 27 125 98 224 375 151 10,191 12,313 2,122 32,567 36,938 4,371


Travel 6,663 11,475 4,812 16,602 34,425 17,823 1,535 1,850 315 4,206 5,550 1,344


Conference, Training & Mtngs 26,579 31,187 4,608 54,155 93,562 39,408 4,572 3,625 (947) 7,314 10,875 3,561


Miscellaneous Expenses 5 25 20 5 75 70


Dues, Licenses and Fees 264 1,179 915 6,164 6,926 762 1,111 1,250 139 2,743 3,750 1,007


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 23,180 28,575 5,395 50,776 85,525 34,749 8,450 10,052 1,602 16,776 30,085 13,309


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 41,852 72,060 30,209 132,156 191,210 59,054 19,720 33,954 14,234 62,270 90,095 27,825


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 3,676 4,987 1,312 10,601 14,719 4,118 339 460 121 978 1,358 380
------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- ----------------------- ------------------- ------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 420,465 571,501 151,036 1,312,425 1,689,946 377,521 230,571 264,912 34,340 652,971 782,876 129,905
========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============ ========== ========== ============


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


$60


$70


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Marc
h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry


Marc
h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Marc


h


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-
$5


$10
$15
$20
$25
$30
$35
$40


Jan
ua


ry
Fe


br
ua


ry
Mar


ch


Apr
il


May


Jun
e


Jul
y


Aug
us


t
Se


pt
em


be
r


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 10/16/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 10/16/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/2008 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


September 2008


Administration


Administration Total:  4,224,563  1,604,796  2,619,767


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  1,883,595  904,527  979,069


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/09 19,090,000  12,244,802  6,845,198


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. Energy Star Homes & Products 1/1/08 12/31/08 6,519,071  4,535,212  1,983,859


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 5,225,120  3,051,354  2,173,766


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/08 3,175,500  1,563,060  1,612,440


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/10 2,410,128  1,818,731  591,397


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 890,000  657,274  232,726


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 882,200  645,625  236,575


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/10 650,000  408,131  241,869


Resource Actions Programs LivingWise program kits 6/15/08 2/28/09 498,105  15,000  483,105


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


80+ computer power supply 


prog


8/1/08 12/31/09 386,236  0  386,236


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 6/30/09 355,000  302,536  52,464


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/08 300,000  300,000  0


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 6/30/09 290,000  191,521  98,479


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/08 261,586  104,142  157,444


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/08 247,751  157,722  90,029


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/08 215,000  155,296  59,704


NEXANT, INC. High tech pilot & pdc trans. 11/1/08 12/31/08 143,000  0  143,000


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 8/15/10 137,500  60,228  77,272


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 4/30/09 123,000  65,835  57,165


South Stephens Appliance Roseburg LIR - refrigs. 3/1/08 12/1/08 99,750  0  99,750


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 90,000  50,582  39,418


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/08 80,000  61,513  18,488


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 3/31/09 77,300  57,541  19,759


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 9/30/09 57,000  13,615  43,385


Weyerhaeuser Paper Company Albany CHP feasibilty study 3/20/08 3/19/09 50,000  0  50,000


New Buildings Institute Oregon Core Performance Prjct 2/26/08 11/30/08 48,400  23,374  25,026


Corvallis Environmental Center Corvallis initiative consult. 3/1/08 3/1/09 44,300  27,872  16,428


HST&V, LLC CEI pilot & PDC Transition 10/3/08 12/31/08 40,000  0  40,000


Portland General Electric PDC Transition agreement 10/1/08 12/31/08 35,000  0  35,000


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/08 32,000  30,330  1,670


Blue Line Innovations, Inc. Blue Line energy monitors 1/1/08 12/31/08 31,578  26,822  4,756


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 30,000  0  30,000


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 1/31/09 30,000  4,400  25,600


Seattle City Light MOA Lighting Design Lab 6/1/08 12/31/08 30,000  30,000  0


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Roseburg LIR - monitoring 3/1/08 12/1/08 28,000  5,930  22,070


KEMA Incorporated Billing Analysis Methodology 9/1/08 1/31/09 20,000  0  20,000


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/08 20,000  5,425  14,575


Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/08 15,400  5,052  10,348


City of Portland Office of Sust 2008 OSD Sponsorship 3/20/08 3/20/09 15,000  15,000  0


Ecos Consulting Assess OR comm. window 


market


5/13/08 10/15/08 15,000  0  15,000


NW Natural Washington study 4/18/08 2/15/09 15,000  3,693  11,307


Geavista Group, Inc. New Homes QA 7/1/08 6/30/09 14,400  3,305  11,095


United States Department of 


Agriculture


Save Water/Save Energy 9/18/08 3/1/09 14,000  0  14,000


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/08 11,800  2,400  9,400







R00407 10/16/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 10/16/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/2008 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


September 2008


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 1/30/09 10,000  1,507  8,493


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


Emerging/underuntilized tech. 3/20/08 3/31/09 10,000  0  10,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/08 10,000  10,508 -508


Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship 


agreement


1/2/08 1/1/09 10,000  10,000  0


NW Natural Apogee data agreement 5/1/08 4/30/09 7,200  7,200  0


Northwest Power & Conservation 


Council


OSU Industrial Motor Assess. 7/10/08 9/30/08 6,020  6,020  0


Mike Fenske PE Consulting 2/1/08 2/28/09 5,000  2,800  2,200


Energy Efficiency Total:  42,801,345  26,681,358  16,119,987


Joint Programs


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 9/30/08 93,150  66,246  26,904


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/08 92,767  37,297  55,470


Research Into Action, Inc. Res. Awareness Survey 4/1/08 12/31/08 70,000  24,987  45,013


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 68,440  28,739  39,702


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/08 63,300  45,140  18,160


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 3/31/09 51,830  14,759  37,071


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 4/30/09 45,325  45,325  0


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/08 42,500  39,325  3,175


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/08 39,000  33,850  5,150


Luxurious Plumbing and Heating, 


Inc.


Solar  services 5/1/08 4/30/09 25,000  3,240  21,760


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis 2007 2/15/08 12/15/08 24,000  21,628  2,372


The Cadmus Group Inc. Billing Anal. Process Review 9/1/08 1/30/09 20,000  0  20,000


Demand Research, LLC Billing analysis & methodology 9/1/08 1/30/09 20,000  14,768  5,232


Stellar Processes, Inc. billing analysis evaluation 9/1/08 1/30/09 15,000  0  15,000


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC Planning services 9/15/08 9/14/09 7,000  0  7,000


Salesgenie.com Inc. Sales Genie Online 7/7/08 5/31/09 6,000  0  6,000


Dethman & Associates SER Pilot evaluation 9/1/08 1/10/09 5,000  0  5,000


Joint Programs Total:  688,312  375,304  313,008


Renewable Energy Program


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 7/21/26 1,685,088  255,950  1,429,138


Alder Solar LLC HAbilitation Center PV 1/18/08 12/31/28 1,236,750  0  1,236,750


Swalley Irrigation District Swalley irrigation hydro proj. 5/15/08 5/15/28 895,609  0  895,609


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 2/17/25 475,000  0  475,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 2/21/09 386,266  362,516  23,750


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 5/31/28 362,000  0  362,000


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services 4/1/08 3/31/10 148,832  55,726  93,106


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE New Markets Study 3/19/08 3/15/09 125,000  33,582  91,419


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 6/14/09 99,600  47,832  51,768


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/08 87,700  74,261  13,439


Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/08 85,150  81,774  3,376


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/1/26 79,815  77,390  2,425


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer Installation 4/15/08 10/30/08 71,751  31,488  40,263


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 3/31/09 71,500  22,812  48,688


Stephen F. Anderson RETAA 3/15/07 3/31/09 44,088  32,672  11,416


Stephen F. Anderson Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/08 42,130  22,997  19,133


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 6 (2009) 7/1/08 6/30/09 39,543  39,543  0


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 7/31/09 37,000  16,350  20,650


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


RE Consultant 9/1/08 8/31/09 36,000  5,813  30,188


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 5/25/27 32,500  0  32,500


Coquille Indian Tribe Coquille Tribe biomass study 1/22/07 12/31/08 30,000  0  30,000


Tualatin Valley Water District Hydro Turbine Study 2/12/08 10/31/08 30,000  0  30,000







R00407 10/16/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary 10/16/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 9/30/2008 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


September 2008


Earth by Design, Inc. LA Anaerobic Digester 7/3/08 11/15/08 30,000  29,000  1,000


Eastern Oregon Power & Light Co. Rock Creek hydro study 5/9/08 12/31/08 30,000  0  30,000


Clean Water Services Small wind technical assist. 8/22/08 7/31/09 30,000  616  29,384


City of Salem Willow Lake H2O Fac. bio study 8/12/08 1/31/09 30,000  0  30,000


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/09 28,200  23,828  4,373


CIty of Gresham hydro study City of Gresham 5/30/08 11/30/08 24,946  0  24,946


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 1/31/24 24,125  0  24,125


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 5/31/28 23,863  11,932  11,932


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/08 22,845  9,460  13,385


Hood River County School District Small wind demo project 6/25/08 6/25/23 22,600  0  22,600


Solar Energy Association of 


Oregon


Americorp position OR Solar 5/20/08 5/31/09 22,500  22,500  0


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/08 16,900  10,622  6,278


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 6/30/09 16,619  13,833  2,786


3EStrategies primary partner sponsorship 3/21/08 12/31/08 15,000  0  15,000


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/08 15,000  4,984  10,016


Northwest SEED Wind program outreach 8/22/08 12/31/08 15,000  15,000  0


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/08 14,500  2,726  11,775


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/1/20 13,150  2,170  10,981


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RETAA 6/7/07 5/31/09 13,100  4,166  8,934


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/08 13,000  10,753  2,247


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 5/31/09 13,000  2,416  10,585


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/08 12,700  10,915  1,785


Wallowa Resources Community 


Solutions, Inc.


Micro-Hydroelectric Generation 7/18/08 10/31/08 12,500  0  12,500


David Bugni & Associates RE services 4/15/08 4/14/09 8,000  341  7,659


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 9/30/09 6,590  1,665  4,925


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 8/31/09 6,300  4,750  1,550


Crystal Springs Water District Crystal Springs Water study 3/18/08 9/30/08 5,000  0  5,000


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/08 5,000  0  5,000


Wallowa Resources Community 


Solutions Inc. - Spaur Ranch


Spaur Ranch micro-hydro 6/2/08 10/30/08 5,000  0  5,000


CIty of Pendleton Pendleton microhydro study 7/22/08 10/31/08 4,000  0  4,000


Wallowa Resources Community 


Solutions Inc


Harker Ranch  microhydro 


study


6/30/08 10/31/08 3,000  0  3,000


Renewable Energy Total:  6,603,760  1,342,380  5,261,380


 56,201,575  30,908,365  25,293,210Grand Totals:








 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated February 11, 2008 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


 Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.)General Communications and 
Outreach   
• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 


and general public awareness.  
• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 


charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


Ø Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
Ø Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, Travel, 
Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 


energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
 


Workshop on Innovation and Risk Management 
October 8, 2008 


 
Attending: John Reynolds, Jason Eisdorfer, Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman, Betty Merrill and 
Caddy McKeown (by telephone).   
 
Ed Sheets facilitated the meeting. He reviewed the workshop agenda and then asked Margie 
Harris to address the purpose of the workshop. 
 
Purpose of the workshop (Margie Harris) 
Margie welcomed the board members and thanked Pete Catching, Fred Gordon, John Volkman, 
Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey and Peter West for organizing the workshop. The workshop is a 
follow-up to the June strategic planning retreat. A second workshop on potential roles related 
to smart grid and demand response is scheduled for early 2009.  
 
Margie said her remarks have three purposes: (1) set the stage for today's discussion; (2) discuss 
other activities that provide context for what we are doing; and (3) describe outcomes we hope 
for from today’s discussion. 
 
Setting the stage: Many in our field are posing the same question: "How do we get more energy 
efficiency and renewable energy as soon as possible?" This is a different question than the one 
we have asked in the past. In the past, the question has been “How do we get as much energy 
efficiency and renewable energy as we can for limited funds?” We have been constrained by 
funding, and to some extent by skepticism that energy efficiency and renewable energy are real 
resources when compared to traditional generation. Now we are less constrained by funding, 
largely because energy efficiency and renewable energy are seen as essential to achieving urgent 
policy goals that require us to throttle back on traditional generation – to reduce reliance on 
fossil fuel, and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  
 
Utilities have limited resource options. Coal has high emissions; carbon capture and storage 
technology is still in development; hydropower is mostly developed; nuclear faces regulatory 
obstacles; and gas faces cost, storage and distribution issues.   
 
The cost of energy efficiency is so low compared to alternatives that utilities can save money 
while achieving societal goals. For this reason, people want as much of it as fast as possible, and 
they are prepared to invest what it takes to get it. They just want to know how much we could 
do and how fast we could do it if funding were not a constraint. The importance of renewable 
energy is evidenced by renewable portfolio standard laws and renewable energy tax incentives 
meant to offset its comparatively high development cost. 
 
Last week’s bail-out bill illustrates how this interest in growing clean energy to shrink reliance 
on fossil fuels is playing out. The bill has $10.9 billion in renewable energy tax incentives, $3.5 
billion in incentives for energy conservation and efficiency, and $2.6 billion for clean fuels and 
vehicles. These incentives are partly offset by $17 billion raised by freezing deductions for oil 
and gas producers and increasing an Oil Spill tax. 
 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 2


The question for Energy Trust is how to respond to this burst of interest in clean energy, and 
the urgent needs that underlie it. Should we do more of what we are already doing, certainly 
doing it better but staying with the same basic investments? Should we branch into new 
investments that could bring bigger returns? How should we evaluate the risks in seeking these 
bigger returns? In the case of renewable energy, how do we best develop 20 megawatt and 
smaller projects? Do we branch into more or different areas, or focus in fewer areas?  
 
We have given much thought to how we can do more of what we are doing, and do it better. 
We are, and we have many improvements under way, e.g.: 
 


• Gaining a greater understanding of our markets through more research 
• Investing in more sophisticated understanding of consumer behavior and attitudes 


toward energy efficiency, renewable energy, climate change 
• Making it easier for people to invest in energy efficiency and RE by simplifying the 


website and developing online forms 
• Removing barriers by providing new loan options, like the arrangement we have just 


completed with Umpqua Bank, and on-bill financing.  
• Exploring renewable energy options, via a study by Summit Blue consulting. 
 


Today we want to talk about what there may be beyond that. What should we be considering 
that will position us for bigger advances, the next generation of clean energy, the long-term 
challenges?  
 
The background material we sent you last week identified some of the approaches we see. I 
won’t take you through those because Fred and Peter will. But those are a starting point. 
Reactions to those ideas are welcome, but if you have others, we need them in the discussion.  
 
Related activities: Work by other groups may influence what we ultimately pursue. The NW 
Energy Efficiency Task Force (see http://www.nwcouncil.org/energy/neet/Default.asp), the NW 
Alliance (see http://www.nwalliance.org/participate/reviewanddrafts.aspx), Governor 
Kulongowski’s efficiency and renewable energy working groups, various state, multi-state, 
regional and national bodies working on climate change plans and legislation. The NW Alliance 
expects to adopt a strategic plan the end of October. The NW Energy Efficiency Task Force is 
scheduled to adopt recommendations in early January, 2009. The Oregon legislature will begin 
work this winter and we may see energy legislation late spring or early summer. And, of course, 
the upcoming elections will result in a new Administration in Washington, DC. Any and all of 
these things could affect our thinking about the concepts we discuss today and we will keep you 
apprised of these developments.  
 
Outcomes: Today we are going to explore new options. We don’t need decisions today, but 
hope to get a sense of your interest and/or disinterest in various areas. With that, staff can 
come back to you early next year with fleshed-out analysis of the options in which you are most 
interested.  
 
This is an exciting time! At the NW Energy Efficiency Task Force meeting last week, Ralph 
Cavanagh emphasized the importance of investment in research and development, and argued 
that if we do not experience some degree of failure, we will never learn what works best, and 
what the next generation of efficiency will be. John Savage agreed, saying we should expect to 
spend more, take greater risks, and accept that there will be some “dry holes.” We need to do 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 3


this to move forward, to gain insights and experience, to learn, to develop products and future 
markets. 
 
We have an able facilitator in Ed Sheets, we are glad for his help. Let’s dig in. 
 
Energy efficiency program innovation and risk (Fred Gordon) 
Energy Trust puts its resources into many types of innovation now, and it all requires close 
attention: 


 
• accelerating marketing 
• developing niche approaches to markets (e.g., auto repair, near-low income) 
• streamlining processes (e.g., online forms) 
• selectively raising incentives 
• reexamining avoided costs, e.g., hedge value, carbon, line losses, transmission and 


distribution cost deferral, the 10% cost advantage for conservation, etc. 
• leveraging, leveraging, leveraging, alliances, alliances and alliances. 
 


Today, we are not asking the board to pick projects. Rather, we are discussing types of 
innovation, using projects as examples, and asking where Energy Trust should focus its efforts.  
 
Over the past year, we have asked ourselves how energy efficiency grows and how much there 
may be. We evaluated NW Power Council supply curves over the past 26 years and drew 
several lessons, which are in a paper from Energy Trust at the ACEEE summer study this year 
and buttressed by another paper that David Goldstein wrote for the same conference: 
 


• Supply curves tell us how much we can get from what we already know how to do;  
• In general, past supply curves understated what was actually achieved;  
• We can’t determine from paper studies how much will be available in the future; we 


expect there to be more, and likely significantly more savings, but can find out how 
much only by promoting better products and programs measuring savings; and this can 
only happen if we take chances, albeit managed chances.  


 
Going forward, we see five types of potential innovation: 
 


1. Pay High Incentives: National Grid, for example, pays 70% of the cost of small 
commercial retrofit projects. We have room to pay a lot more for savings while still 
passing the cost-effectiveness test. We do not consider this a real innovation, but a tool 
we use now in cases where there is no better way to get important savings. We are 
inclined to keep it that way, at least until we test some of the alternative ways to 
accelerate markets, such as targeted marketing, and find out if lower-cost approaches 
like on-bill or local improvement district financing come through from the legislature 
and utilities. Modest incentives help build sophisticated businesses that know how to 
invest in efficiency and know how to sell it, rather than relying entirely on subsidies to 
drive sales and justify investments. However, we acknowledge that high incentives can 
get things done when time and alternatives are short. 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 4


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Jason said we should be clear about what problem we are trying to solve before using 
this alternative. Fred said that high incentives can be useful where time is a paramount 
consideration.  


♦ Betty said ODOE is considering different incentives for different situations. Higher 
incentives would be reserved for situations where there is significant potential payoff 
that can only be realized by paying higher freight.  


♦ Debbie said this is a tool you can use if evaluation data show it would address a key 
barrier, but it doesn’t make sense as a broad strategy. 


♦ John Reynolds said that if we are able to persuade people that conservation is a wise 
investment, we won’t need this option. 


♦ John Klosterman agreed that this is a niche strategy; he would not want to pay more 
than needed to “tip” things, except in exceptional cases. Fred observed that tipping is 
a better way to encourage efficiency because it helps build market incentives and 
avoid having them hinge on Energy Trust subsidies. 


 
2. Invest in deeper, long-term strategies to change the way businesses invest in efficiency. 


For example, the NW Alliance’s work with hospital chains, industrial clusters, property 
managers, design firms, and developers to help them develop business plans and 
organizational changes to fund efficiency, manage for and track profits from it. Or the 
coordinated Oregon, California and Washington effort to find ways to achieve zero net 
energy commercial buildings by 2030. Both cases require working intensively with 
industry and building sectors to identify ways to incorporate energy efficiency in their 
business strategies. These efforts involve risk because precise outcomes are hard to 
predict, and in the case of zero net energy, most of the savings may not be acquired for 
10 or 15 years. 


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Jason observed that it will be impossible to achieve climate goals if businesses don’t 
invest in efficiencies with longer paybacks than 12-to-16 months. 


♦ Margie observed that few people can invest in all efficiency opportunities at once. 
Decisions are made incrementally, over time, and as finances warrant. For this reason, 
building long-term relationships with businesses is essential. 


♦ Debbie commented that zero net energy should be in our mix, but would not want to 
make a disproportionate investment in it. It would be helpful if our strategic plan 
described an approach to investing in it over a period of years. 


♦ John Reynolds noted that zero-net has a lot of support nationally, from the AIA and 
municipalities, and one of the beauties of the idea is that it anticipates incremental 
investments. Features can be added to buildings as they become affordable, as long as 
the building is designed to accommodate them. 


♦ Betty said that current OPUC performance measures would make it hard to 
undertake measures with uncertain, long-term results, particularly where later 
increments of investment are more difficult and expensive, which is often the case. 


♦ Jason agreed that the OPUC needs to be supportive of such things if we are to 
undertake them. He also supported Debbie’s notion of balancing these things with 
other investments, and looking at a long-term pattern. 


♦ Fred noted that the OPUC has been a leader in this area, and has asked Energy Trust 
for ideas on how to adjust performance measures to address this issue. 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 5


♦ John Klosterman said that businesses will naturally focus on cost-drivers. Unless 
energy and efficiency are in that category, it will be hard to get their attention. He 
thinks this is a difficult prospect and is cool to the idea. 


 
3. Research, development and demonstration. There is potential to increase savings by 


testing new technology, e.g., ductless heat pumps for homes, integrated design, and 
direct/indirect evaporative cooling. The first two examples are commercial or near-
commercial technologies whose application in this region is untested. The last example 
works technically and could lead to big savings by eliminating the need for compressors 
in cooling, but would require years of testing and refinement to create a competitive 
product. A subgroup of the NW Energy Efficiency Task Force is looking at a regional 
approach for this kind of development and testing. If that is unsuccessful, Energy Trust 
could undertake this type of activity in some cases, and we could “pass the hat” among 
other entities to fund other initiatives ad hoc. However, this would be slow and labor-
intensive. 


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Jason said this is an area that gives him most concern. How would we choose what to 
invest in? Do we have the expertise to make these judgments? How could Energy 
Trust make a difference in this area? Why Energy Trust and not California or federal 
entities? If a technology is far enough along to fit into another area in which we are 
engaged, e.g., zero-net buildings, investing in R, D & D may make sense, but otherwise 
this area is a concern. 


♦ Caddy agreed, and is also concerned whether R, D & D is within our mandate. 
♦ John Reynolds observed that ideas like integrated design could have big impacts. 


Oregon is a prime spot for exploring ideas like evaporative cooling.  
♦ Betty said these sound more like demonstration projects than research. 
♦ Fred agreed, and observed that if Energy Trust were involved in this area, it would 


need a portfolio of projects in order to diversify risk. The chance of failing in any 
given project would be high. 


♦ Jason said if we want to explore this, we would need a clear set of criteria to help 
decide when we get engaged, how far upstream we focus, etc. Fred said the NW Task 
Force has developed a description of what stages are ripe for ratepayer-funded 
research, and what type of criteria might apply. He will share them with the board. 


♦ Ed summarized the conversation: we need to see how R, D & D funding would fit into 
Energy Trust’s larger portfolio, but the board is reluctant to invest in things that are 
too far from commercial availability. John Reynolds said that is fair, but we should also 
not be too focused on what is available now, we need also to have our eyes on a 
longer horizon. 


♦ Margie asked if Energy Trust might want to take initiative to seek out manufacturers 
and developers to become engaged in a certain type of efficiency innovation, rather 
than waiting for them to come to us. Debbie said we would need criteria to decide.  


♦ John Reynolds suggested we might have an open solicitations program for efficiency. 
Debbie said others are already doing that. 


 
4. Changing how people think about energy use. There is potential to increase energy 


efficiency and conservation by helping people become more aware of their energy use, 
its costs, and its impact on the environment. For example: a marketing campaign linking 
efficiency and lessened climate change; investing in feedback devices (e.g., Blueline 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 6


monitors) to save energy and change consciousness; K-12 education programs that 
focus on tangible actions.  


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Caddy said she is quite interested in this area and would like to see Energy Trust 
expand its involvement.  


♦ Jason said that energy conservation, not just efficiency, will play a key role in meeting 
climate objectives and it will take a change in consciousness.  


♦ Betty said Energy Trust should work closely with the Department of Energy on this 
so we don’t duplicate efforts. 


♦ Margie said we are headed toward doing a lot more market research to understand 
how our customers think, how markets are segmented, and how we can reach them 
more effectively. This work requires investment. Is the board supportive? 


♦ Debbie asked if marketing isn’t more a utility function? She could see Energy Trust 
participating with utilities in it, but is it an Energy Trust role? 


♦ Betty said that ODOE is currently overwhelmed with interest in energy tax credits, a 
64% increase on applications. 250 applications in one day. If you invest too much in 
advertising, you have to be sure you can accommodate the interest. 


♦ Margie said our current marketing is very broad. We leverage the utilities work, but it 
is relatively limited. The kind of research we would like to do would help us to 
become a lot more sophisticated.  


♦ John Reynolds said market research would allow us to better gauge incentive levels 
and shape programs. He would be less enthused about paying a lot for advertising. 


♦ Caddy agreed with John. We are dealing with many different audiences; what works 
in Portland won’t necessarily work in Coos Bay.  


♦ Debbie’s concern is how much Energy Trust should do compared to others. 
♦ Fred said the kind of research we have in mind would represent a big increase in 


sophistication-there is no evaluated experience with marketing efficiency by linking it 
to climate change mitigation.   


♦ Jason said he supports the idea of more market research. 
 


5. Using public purpose funds to leverage other funds. The objective is to overcome “first-
cost” barriers – participants who cannot come up with the initial cost of investing in 
efficiency – but do it without paying much higher incentives. For example, we have just 
reached agreement with Umpqua Bank to offer attractive rates for efficiency loans. 
Energy Trust could guarantee loans to help near-low income participants. It could create 
a guarantee pool to reduce utilities’ risk in on-bill financing for efficiency improvements. 
If the legislature approves local improvement district financing for efficiency projects, we 
could offer technical assistance to local government to pursue such ventures. 


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Jason observed that CUB, Energy Trust and others have been trying to overcome 
financing obstacles for a long time. Some of the financing alternatives that appear to 
be headed toward the legislature could change this picture significantly. So, one 
question is timing. We may not be in a position to make a good judgment until the 
legislative session concludes.  


♦ Debbie supports these ideas, but wonders how they are different from what we are 
already doing.  







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 7


♦ Fred said these things would put more money and credibility at risk, and would 
probably require us to hire expertise we don’t have now. Energy Trust’s FTE and 
management capability for complex new areas may be a bigger constraint than funds. 


♦ Margie observed that this is a much broader strategy than the project- or measure-
specific focus of current programs. Financing devices could have wider impacts. 


♦ Debbie is concerned about legal, regulatory and other issues in these ideas. 
♦ Betty said that these strategies are keys to penetrating efficiency markets more deeply 


and effectively, helping people and firms to undertake more efficiency measures than 
they otherwise could. 


♦ Fred acknowledged Debbie’s concern -- these strategies are fraught with complexity 
that must be managed, but if we are successful they appear to be the best ways we 
can think of to accelerate efficiency from existing technologies. 


♦ Steve Weiss observed that Salem Electric has been engaged in on-bill financing for 25 
years. This is a well-worn path, not an area where legalities are untested. 


♦ Debbie acknowledged this, and said the question is what is Energy Trust’s role? 
♦ Steve and Fred reiterated that it may be too early to make judgments until the 


legislative session ends, but this is a highly significant set of issues. 
♦ Don Jones said that on-bill financing was one of Pacific’s first offerings. They have 


found that it works only because the utility can disconnect power if the bill is not 
paid. Otherwise, these are unsecured loans that lenders consider too risky. Pacific is 
exploring the idea, but Energy Trust may need to share the risk to make it happen. 


 
Ed asked if there are other opportunities that haven’t been discussed.  


• Steve Weiss suggested that Energy Trust consider initiatives like the Hood River 
project, where we go into a community to generate high levels of penetration. 


• Jason said that if we are about to dive into Smart Grid and smart meters, we might 
shape programs to support that. Fred said Smart Grid is a diverse subject that we plan 
to engage at a workshop in early 2009. 


 
Break  
 
Ed noted that the first part of the agenda had generated more discussion than anticipated, and 
we are behind schedule. He suggested moving into the renewable energy discussion and then 
discuss criteria for evaluating potential innovations.  
 
Renewable energy program innovation and risk (Peter West) 
The renewable program develops new renewable resources that otherwise would not occur. 
We do it by addressing market barriers, working with customers on projects, and funding costs 
that can not be recovered by revenues, credits and other benefits. 
 
We focus on the dominant resource types and proven technologies: wind, solar and biomass. 
The Open Solicitation Program is a modest outlet for new technologies and approaches. We 
take a portfolio approach, with a balance of customer types, applications and technologies. We 
play a role in furthering distributed generation located off the grid. 
 
Senate Bill 838 directed us to support smaller projects, 20 megawatts and less. Projects of this 
scale require more support sooner in the process. Development takes longer, and there is a 
higher rate of fall-out, i.e., projects that don’t achieve operation. 
 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 8


We try to expand market support for these smaller projects. We do so by funding studies, 
assistance & assessments, we facilitate new financing approaches, and we work with 
municipalities to develop projects. 
 
We are also developing niche approaches for hydropower, small wind and small geothermal. 
We are testing ways to penetrate hard-to-reach markets more deeply, dairy and waste water 
treatment plants. 
Overall, we approach risk management consistent with the approach we take with energy 
efficiency. We try to balance our portfolio with large, medium and small projects, we look for a 
variety of resource types, and a mixture of mature and newer technologies. We focus on 
commercial technologies, but we define that broadly. Projects don’t have to be in Oregon, the 
technology doesn’t have to be used extensively, and we make limited investment in near-
commercial and emerging technologies. We are more conservative than efficiency in that we 
require projects to repay our incentives if the project doesn’t perform.  
 
We asked a consultant, Summit Blue, to study our programs in light of existing and emerging 
opportunities. Here are the options they described: 
 
Expanding our current role. We see several areas where we could expand:  
 


(1) More project facilitation, e.g., providing studies of environmental impacts or 
interconnection, financial modeling, or matching sponsors with developers and 
financiers. It helps keep the project pipeline full and speeds project development, 
but it also requires staff time, costs more, and therefore involves greater “dry-hole” 
risk.  


  
(2) Fund more demonstrations of close-to-market technologies, which help ensure an 


emerging supply of innovation and fill holes in the market, but are riskier. 
 


(3) Lock in program budgets, so that if a budget isn’t expended in one year, it would 
carry over into the next. This would limit our flexibility to move funds around to 
meet demand, but it could provide more stability for sectors (e.g., solar). This 
option would be more feasible if we ran fewer programs. 


 
Revisit existing policies. We could revise current policies to make it easier for projects  to be 
developed: 
 


(1) We could revise our green tag policy to allow project developers or owners to buy 
our green tags later at a fixed price. Or allow customers like municipalities to own a 
higher percentage of green tags and retire them to their own account, thus allowing 
them to take more credit for “green” energy development. These approaches 
would mean bigger incentives for projects, but could contribute fewer green tags 
toward renewable portfolio requirements and expose ratepayers to risk of paying 
for green tags twice. 


 
(2) We could reduce repayment requirements in funding agreements. This would make 


it easier for new firms to enter the market and bring the renewable program more 
in line with efficiency programs. It also could entail more risk of funding projects 
that don’t produce energy as anticipated. 


 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 9


New roles. We could become involved in: 
 


(1) Pre-construction financing. This would primarily benefit small hydro and large solar 
projects. It would entail more risk and could tie up a lot of our funds. However, we 
could adopt limits and do it in combination with lenders, via loan guarantees. 


 
(2) Equity investing: we could put our money into projects earlier (now, we pay only 


when the project is in commercial operation) and take an ownership position. This 
can fill a hole in the market for small projects and facilitate third-party financing. We 
would still be limited to paying the above-market increment of project costs, but we 
could be repaid from project revenues.  


 
(3) Insuring fuel supply. This is primarily an issue in biopower and geothermal projects, 


where a guarantee would help with lenders and financers are concerned about long-
term fuel supply, and could lower project costs. However, it would be costly unless 
limited, and increase our dry-hole risk. 


 
(4) Purchasing equipment. Equipment is the biggest obstacle to community wind 


projects. By purchasing a supply of turbines we could speed development, but we 
probably cannot absorb the cost. However, we could buy solar panels to secure 
volume discounts. 


 
(5) Creating model programs for customer-owned utilities. We have been asked for 


this kind of service. 
 
Current funding and staff are spread thin, and so expansion in one area is likely to mean 
contraction in another, absent more funding. So, the question to ask about the above 
possibilities is whether any of them is interesting enough to justify re-ordering our priorities? Or 
do we need to focus more narrowly rather than more broadly, and eliminate some of the things 
we do now? 
 
 Discussion:  


♦ Debbie asked why we should incur more risk to encourage projects, if we don’t have 
enough funding and staff to do what we are doing now? What problem are we trying 
to solve? Peter said we may need to make it easier for projects so that we can 
maintain existing demand. The market is already pushing us to take greater risk. 
However, there is a danger that if we do too much, Energy Trust will drive the 
market rather than allowing the market to develop. But if we don’t take enough risk, 
we won’t fuel innovation. 


♦ John Klosterman said it may make more sense to have fewer programs, at least for 
the time being unless and until we have more funds. 


♦ Peter said that if he were picking programs, he would pick wind, solar and biomass.  
♦ John Reynolds said that eliminating programs would be particularly painful because 


Oregon has so many different resources that lend themselves to renewable energy. 
♦ Caddy asked why there was no mention of wave energy projects. Peter said we had 


commissioned a study and we and the Oregon Wave Energy Trust had agreed that 
the technology is not mature enough to warrant Energy Trust involvement. 


♦ Margie said she hates to turn away projects for lack of resources, which is already 
happening in PacifiCorp territory. However, under the OPUC grant agreement, we 
can’t lobby the legislature for more funds. 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 10


♦ John Klosterman asked if there are reasons we shouldn’t take these opportunities to 
do something more or different. Peter said there is the danger of Energy Trust 
programs eclipsing the market.  


♦ John Klosterman asked where Peter thought the best opportunities were. Peter said 
equity investment; guaranteeing pre-construction loans, primarily those extended by 
the State Energy Loan Program; and buying low-cost equipment like solar panels. 


♦ Debbie said in deciding whether to do these things, she would want to know that 
they are addressing specific barriers. We can then do pilot programs to see if we can 
address a barrier with these techniques. But start with the barriers. 


♦ Peter said all these options would address barriers – except perhaps revising the 
green tag policy, which may be a red herring. But staff could rank the barriers and 
match them with particular strategies. 


♦ Lori Koho said she is hearing two different kinds of barriers in this discussion: (1) 
market barriers; and (2) barriers to participation in Energy Trust programs. The 
distinction should be borne in mind. 


♦ John Reynolds asked if we can satisfy OPUC performance measures with projects that 
generate electricity but for which Energy Trust doesn’t own the green tags? Peter said 
the law (SB 1149 and 838) are silent. Lori said she interprets the law to at least 
strongly imply that we must own the green tags. Peter said that could work, but may 
require different performance measures. Fred added that it could also require us to 
forego opportunities to build markets and new technologies with longer-term time 
horizons. 


♦ Ed said he thought he heard John Reynolds ask for a prioritized set of opportunities 
to explore. John Reynolds said yes, he is interested not just in risk but opportunity. 


♦ Peter said he would do that, and he also thinks the board needs to explore 
alternatives to repayment requirements. John Reynolds suggested we might be able to 
impose more requirements in boom times and ease them during busts. 


♦ Debbie said she has concerns about tying up money in multi-year budgets. It may be 
OK where there is reliable demand, as in solar. Caddy and John Klosterman said they 
are comfortable exploring multi-year budgets. 


 
Criteria for evaluating opportunities   
Ed asked if the board would like to move on to discuss criteria with which to evaluate 
opportunities. In Attachment 3, staff listed several criteria as starting points:  
 


• Size of potential return 
• How soon? 
• Likelihood of success 
• Likelihood of creating a market 
• Manageability: 


♦ Can we envision and measure success well enough to gauge progress? 
♦ Would accountabilities, expectations or permissions need to change? 
♦ Would new management systems be needed? 


 
 Discussion:  


♦ Debbie said she likes the idea of criteria, and would also consider whether the whole 
portfolio is appropriately balanced and diverse. Betty agreed with the need for 
balance and diversity. 


♦ Jason said it would be nice to think that we can also drop activities that aren’t paying 
off, not just adding. Resources will always be scarce. 







Workshop on Innovation and Risk  October 8, 2008 


 11


♦ Other criteria: 
• staff expertise and core competence are additional element of manageability 


(Debbie and Betty); 
• geographic distribution, given that our funding utilities have different service 


territories (Betty) 
• whether others are or should take the lead (Debbie)  
• impact on core programs (Margie) 


♦ For John Reynolds, “how soon” is the least urgent criterion. It is a factor, but not a 
driver. Betty said that there is a lot of pressure for more/sooner in policy discussions. 
Fred said there are conflicting signals about this -- there are different strategies for 
getting larger savings and generation in the long run versus the short run, and 
sometimes policymakers seem to equate one with the other. 


♦ John Klosterman would like to see part of the budget reserved for innovation but 
board attendance at the workshop was too limited to come to a conclusion about it. 
He would like to see a list of prioritized and weighted criteria  


♦ John Reynolds said given how hard it was to schedule this workshop, and how limited 
the turnout, we should look for a date now for the SmartGrid/Demand Response 
workshop.  


♦ John Klosterman said he couldn’t tell if there are other big issues staff would like the 
board to address. Is there anything unspoken? Are there any sacred cows? 


♦ Fred said if we are hearing that the board is more open to taking earlier and greater 
financial risks on projects than in the past, we will have slain a sacred cow. 


♦ Margie said financing is the biggest obstacle. We can be more assertive there and in 
market research. We also need to think about how we approach conservation – 
doing less, not just being more efficient – behavior change, and workforce training. 


 
Next steps: Margie said the board will see some of the concepts discussed today addressed in 
the budget and action plan, and in a draft strategic plan in early 2009. And we will discuss Smart 
Grid/Demand Response in early 2009. What we do will also be affected by the legislature and 
other processes, as events unfold, and we can expect the landscape to continue to shift. 








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
October 21, 2008, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Rick Applegate (by telephone), Jason Eisdorfer, Roger Hamilton (by telephone), John 
Reynolds, Margie Harris, Fred Gordon, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, Kacia Brockman and John 
Volkman 
 
1. Preliminary budget outlook. Margie provided the committee with highlights of the preliminary 
2009 budget and 2009-2010 action plan. The 2009 budget anticipates using carryover to ramp up energy 
efficiency programs to save as much energy as resources and market conditions allow, and to use up 
renewable energy carryover over 2009-2010. This would be consistent with utility integrated resource 
plans and, staff believes, OPUC priorities. There is a fair chance that the economic downturn will 
dampen program opportunities, in which case we would not save or generate as much as we hope and 
would not use up the carryover in 2009. If we are able to use the full budget, we will need either to 
seek more efficiency funds to maintain efficiency programs at the same level in 2010, or ramp 2010 
programs down. The preliminary budget will show both scenarios.  
 
The new levelized cost performance measure (see next item) will allow Energy Trust more leeway to 
achieve savings goals, given the expectation that efficiency savings will be more expensive as we exhaust 
cheaper savings. If Energy Trust does need more funding for 2010, there will be an opportunity to seek 
more rate funding in August, 2009. 
 
2. Developments associated with upcoming legislature. Jason reported that the Governor’s office 
has asked for help on ideas for increasing public purpose funding. A legislator is exploring the idea of 
transferring some Energy Trust funds to utilities to help with a particular solar venture. Yet another 
legislator is working with a small group aiming to aggregate public and private funding for clean energy, 
and has asked for Energy Trust help.   
 
3. Gresham-Tioga commercial solar project. Staff is completing negotiations for a 420 kilowatt 
government-sponsored solar photovoltaic facility to be developed by Tioga Solar, LLC, and installed on 
the roof of a building owned by the City of Gresham. The LLC members are Tioga Power (which is 
bringing in outside investors) and the City of Gresham, which will buy the facility’s power. Energy Trust 
would pay $570,761 into escrow and, if the facility is in commercial operation within 12 months, pay it 
to the LLC in installments over the first five years of commercial operation, based on project 
production. The incentive is comparable to what we pay for commercial solar. Incentives would be 
reduced if production falls below expected production. Board action is required because the incentive is 
greater than $500,000. Negotiations are still underway, and if we tie things up this week, the project will 
go to the board at the November meeting. The committee asked how much of the building’s needs the 
project will supply, and for more information on the building’s location and configuration. The 
committee supports the project. 
 
4. OPUC performance measures. Earlier today, the OPUC adopted performance measures for 
2008 and 2009 that were developed in consultation with Energy Trust staff: for electric efficiency 
programs, a 3-year rolling average of 31 aMW (2007 was 20 aMW) and levelized cost of 3.5 cents (2007 
was 2 cents). Staff thinks Energy Trust can meet these numbers (e.g., best-case projection for the 2009 
budget is 43 aMW). The new measures will require us to change the way we plan. E.g., the increase to 
31 aMW means that our “conservative case” projections (75% of best case) could be lower than the 
performance measure. The gas levelized cost is still a bit low. The performance measures also require us 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 2


to report on SB 838 money and savings incrementally. Margie will send a copy of the measures to the 
board. 
 
4. Information transfer issues. At the last policy committee meeting, staff briefed the committee on 
draft proposals to streamline how we obtain and share information on utility customers and Energy 
Trust participants (see Attachments 1 & 2): 


• Change the OPUC administrative rule to (a) eliminate the opt-out and opt-in processes that 
utilities are now supposed to go through before giving us customer information; and (b) allow 
Energy Trust to do direct outreach, (not including residential telemarketing), and  


• Change Energy Trust policy to allow it to share our information more freely with the utilities.  
 
Since the committee last discussed this, we have talked to utilities, OPUC staff and ICNU, and are trying 
to schedule meetings with others:  


• The utilities generally do not object to eliminating the opt-in/out-out procedures if their 
customers don’t raise significant objections.  


• ICNU thought this would not be an important matter to its members (large energy users). 
• PGE wants to use Energy Trust information to pursue its own energy efficiency and renewable 


energy ideas. We include language in the proposal (Attachment 2, section 6) allowing this as long 
as it is “coordinated” with Energy Trust.  


• PacifiCorp wants to be satisfied that commercially-sensitive information is protected. We think 
our system does this, evidenced by six years of experience without significant issues. 


• PacifiCorp wants us to coordinate our customer outreach with them, recognizing that they 
would have no veto.  


• PGE and PacifiCorp were concerned about being restricted from using Energy Trust information 
to evaluate Energy Trust programs. They would like to use this information in customer 
satisfaction surveys like those by JD Power. The committee is leery about this. 


• The OPUC rule encompasses only “electric companies.” In order to join in the process, NW 
Natural would need to be addressed either in the rule or by amendment of the OPUC order 
approving the settlement agreement from which NW Natural funding stems. 


 
Next steps are to review these proposals with CAC on October 22, meet with a few remaining parties, 
and then meet with the OPUC staff to discuss rulemaking. Board action to amend the Energy Trust 
policy would not be required until the OPUC is prepared to act, we hope in December. The committee 
encouraged meetings with CUB (scheduled for Oct. 27) and AOI. 
 
5. Office space. In April, staff briefed the committee on office space options if, as seems likely, 
Energy Trust needs more space in the next 1-2 years. Staff is working with a broker on existing buildings 
(new buildings in the downtown core are likely too costly). Staff has also been exploring an option called 
the Living Building Initiative. The discussions began in spring 2008, with several groups interested in 
building or refurbishing space jointly. The discussions are now focused on the concept of a model 
“green” building with zero-net energy. Each group would own the space it occupies and there would be 
shared space for events and meetings. The developer Gerding/Edlin is participating and a non-profit 
group has been organized to pursue the project. There are two leading sites, one near the PSU campus 
and one in Old Town near the Chinatown gate. Between now and January, the Initiative plans to select a 
site, negotiate an MOU with the developer, complete preliminary drawings, identify occupant 
requirements, start raising funds, organize a development structure and develop a pro-forma of costs. 
No financial commitment has been required to participate so far, but Energy Trust may need to commit 
funds as soon as January 2009, if it wants to continue participating. If the policy committee is supportive 
at this point, staff would expect to come back late this year with cost and other information. If a long-
term financial commitment is required, the full board would need to approve and the OPUC would have 
to be given notice, with 45 days in which to object. The committee sees value in developing a zero-net 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 3


energy building, both for the learning value and for the example it could set. More information is needed 
to make a judgment, and staff should scrub the cost projections. We also need to be aware that there 
could be political effects. Roger said that we need to balance the non-quantifiable value of such a building 
versus the cost, but also view the economics from a long-term perspective.  
 
6. Status reports: 
 
 a.   CAC membership. The committee approved Paul Case, nominated by the Oregon 
Remodelers’ Association upon the retirement of Paul Olsen, and Holly Meyer, nominated by NW 
Natural upon the departure of Steve Bicker. 
 
 b. NEET. Last June, the Northwest Energy Efficiency Task Force (NEET) asked six technical 
workgroups to identify ways to create, market, deliver and measure energy efficiency. Last week, the 
workgroups submitted recommendations: 


• Invest in getting data to help identify new efficiency technologies, costs and how much 
energy they would save.   


• Focus research and development on technologies and solutions at the end-user level, take a 
longer-term view, and build more coordination in the region.  


• Identify high-impact initiatives for business, homeowners and vulnerable customers. Include 
devices that can plug into electrical outlets to manage loads; efficiency opportunities in new-
home construction and commercial data centers; greater enforcement of codes and 
standards and improved educational and behavior programs. 


• Develop a regional marketing effort to advance energy-efficiency and enhance utility efforts, 
including partnerships with state/local government, private-sector businesses and industries.  


• Build the energy efficiency workforce of the future.  
• Promote policies, incentives and regulations that are easy to navigate, encourage customer 


involvement and innovation and minimize costs to individuals, the environment and utilities.  
 


Margie noted that NEET is not of one mind about including gas and electric efficiency. She is encouraging 
the group to distinguish among regional, state and local responsibilities in making recommendations. The 
hope is that the process will generate a handful of initiatives that can be implemented regionally. NEET 
expects to issue a report on Jan. 9, 2009. See http://www.nwcouncil.org/energy/neet/Default.asp.  
 
  b. Avista. We plan to end our services to Avista customers effective 2009, at Avista’s 
request. Staff endorses the idea because the program has been so narrowly focused that it is not 
possible to achieve the economies of scale that are possible when a range of programs is offered. In 
addition, the cost of savings has been high because of the slump in the housing market. Providing 
services for such a small number of customers is costly. Margie will debrief this with Avista and maintain 
our cordial relationship. 
 
 c. NW Natural in Washington: A stipulation was filed earlier today endorsing the idea of 
proceeding with NW Natural’s proposal to have Energy Trust deliver programs in Clark County, 
Washington. The stipulation proposes an 18-month pilot program, which could be extended if results 
are satisfactory. The proposal will be reviewed by the Washington UTC in mid-November. After that, 
NW Natural and Energy Trust would scope an implementation study in consultation with a Washington 
advisory group. If the board and NW Natural agree to proceed with implementation based on this 
study, Energy Trust would likely begin delivering services in fall, 2009. 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 4


 
 d. Increasing production efficiency incentive cap. Staff is proposing to change the 
production efficiency incentive level. The change would allow multiple incentives at a given site up to a 
total of $1 million per year. Payments of more than $500,000 per incentive application would still 
require board approval, so there would be no policy change. Staff will brief the CAC on Oct. 22. 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 5


Attachment 1: OAR 860-038-0540, Consumer Information 
 


(1) Subject to Commission approval, an electric company shall determine the proprietary consumer 
information that will be made available to its competitive operations, ESSs, affiliates and aggregators. An 
electric company shall file and maintain a tariff with the Commission that specifies the types of 
information, along with the prices, terms, conditions, and consent procedures associated with the 
transfer of such information to the entities described in this section. The provisions of section (1) do 
not apply to information transferred pursuant to section (2) of this rule. 


(2) An electric company shall transfer to the entity that administers the conservation and renewable 
public purpose funds described in ORS 757.612(3)(b)(A) and (B), hereinafter known as the 
Administrator, proprietary consumer information for electric company consumer consumers.  


(a) At a minimum, electric companies shall transfer, if available: consumer name; service address 
(including apartment/unit/suite number); mailing address; building type (e.g. multifamily) and 
business type (e.g. SIC code); rate code; 18 months of the most recent historical usage data 
provided on a per-month basis (energy and demand); meter number and other point-of-delivery 
identification numbers; rate schedule for each consumer; whether consumer qualifies for low-
income programs (if known); whether consumer is applying self-direct credits against its energy 
efficiency and/or renewable public purpose charge during each billing period; information about 
any energy efficiency program participation and type of space heat used by consumer to the 
extent that such information is available in the electric company's records; and updates for all of 
the usage data and revisions to the underlying database information on a periodic basis under 
subsection (3)(d) of this rule. For unmetered accounts (e.g. street lights, cell towers, phone 
booths, and  electric utility service buildings etc.), electric companies shall transfer contracted 
kilowatt-hour consumption rather than actual billed consumption.  


(b) An electric company shall not transfer social security numbers, billing and payment history, 
credit information, tax identification numbers, driver license numbers, life support information, 
or any medical information.  


(3) The manner by which such information is transferred shall be governed by an Information Transfer 
Agreement, which is executed and maintained by an electric company and the Administrator. An 
Information Transfer Agreement shall specify: 


(a) The necessary database format and information that will be transferred; 


(b) The billing period, payment arrangements, and estimations of incremental costs incurred by 
an electric company for the transfer of the information; 


(c) Timelines for an electric company to notify consumers and transfer information to the 
Administrator; 


(d) Timelines for an electric company to provide updates to the Administrator for all of the 
usage data and revisions to the underlying database information; 


(e) Acknowledge the Administrator’s obligations to protect proprietary consumer in accordance 
with the Administrator’s policy or policies adopted pursuant to Section 7, below A general non-
disclosure statement as well as a specific non-disclosure agreement that each Administrator 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 6


employee and contractor employee shall sign prior to having access to consumer information, 
including proprietary consumer information. 


(f) That the proprietary consumer information will be used by the Administrator to implement, 
administer, and evaluate energy efficiency and renewable energy programs and will not be used 
for telemarketing or direct mailings to residential consumers; the Administrator shall regularly 
apprise electric companies of these activities; 


(g) That the release of proprietary consumer information by the Administrator for any other 
purpose or to any other party who has not signed an agreement to treat such information 
confidentially pursuant to Section 7(b), below, shall not be made without consent of the 
consumer; and 


(h) Provisions for modification of the Information Transfer Agreement. If the Administrator and 
an electric company cannot agree on the terms and conditions of an Information Transfer 
Agreement, the Commission shall set the terms and conditions based upon input from the 
Administrator and electric company. 


(35) If the Administrator notifies an electric company that the proprietary information supplied by an 
electric company is insufficient, incomplete, or not usable, the Administrator and electric company will 
attempt to resolve the issue and if necessary, modify the Information Transfer Agreement. If the 
Administrator and electric company cannot resolve the issue, the electric company and the 
Administrator shall promptly seek Commission resolution of the dispute. An electric company shall, at a 
minimum, transfer the following proprietary consumer information to the Administrator: consumer 
name, service address, 18 months of the most recent historical usage data provided on a per month 
basis, point of delivery identification number, and rate schedule for each consumer. An electric company 
shall also provide information about any energy efficiency program participation and type of space heat 
used by consumer to the extent that such information is available in the electric company's records. An 
electric company shall not provide social security numbers, billing and payment history, credit 
information, tax identification numbers, driver license numbers, life support information, or any medical 
information. An electric company shall also provide the Administrator with updates for all of the usage 
data and revisions to the underlying database information on a periodic basis subject to subsection (2)(d) 
of this rule. [moved to section 2]. 


(4) An electric company shall provide consumers whose demand is less than 1MW an opportunity to 
opt-out of the information transfer. An electric company shall notify the consumers of the opt-out 
option by direct mail, company newsletter, or other acceptable communication as set forth in the 
Information Transfer Agreement. The notification shall at a minimum: 


(a) Identify and explain the role of the Administrator; 


(b) Identify the type of proprietary consumer information to be transferred by an electric 
company; and 


(c) Describe the nature and use of the proprietary consumer information by the Administrator. 


(5) An electric company shall notify in writing consumers whose demand is 1MW or greater (over 1MW 
consumer) to provide an opportunity to opt-in to the information transfer. Consumers shall be 
considered an over 1 MW consumer pursuant to criteria established by an electric company through its 
billing process. The notice provided by an electric shall comply with the requirement of section (4) of 
this rule. For consumers without a usage history, demand may be estimated by an electric company for 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 7


the purpose of this provision and those consumers projected to meet the 1MW or greater demand shall 
be included. Consumers having multiple accounts may have their accounts treated as a group for the 
purpose of this rule and may include or exclude all accounts through one notification process. If the 
over 1MW consumer does not opt-in to the information transfer, all accounts shall be excluded from 
the information sharing process. The transfer of proprietary consumer information shall be in 
accordance with section (2) of this rule and the Information Transfer Agreement. An electric company 
shall also provide periodic opt-in notification for the over 1MW consumers either as a part of a 
standard consumer contact discussion or in writing pursuant to the timelines agreed upon in the 
Information Transfer Agreement and set forth in subsection (2)(c) of this rule. 


(6) When an electric company has provided proprietary consumer information to the Administrator in 
accordance with this rule, an electric company shall not be charged with at-fault complaints filed with 
Commission's Consumer Services Division with respect to the provision of proprietary consumer 
information if the Commission finds that the electric company did not violate its tariff, Oregon 
Administrative Rules, Oregon Revised Statutes, or a Commission Order. 


(7)  Before an electric company provides the Administrator with proprietary consumer information 
pursuant to this rule, the Administrator shall: 
 


(a) Develop and adopt in an open process a policy or policies ensuring that the confidentiality of 
the proprietary consumer information it receives from electric companies is protected;  
 
(b) Agree to require its employees and contractors to agree to specific non-disclosure 
requirements in order to gain access to proprietary consumer information; and 
 
(c) Establish a process by which consumers may require the Administrator not to use the 
proprietary consumer information to make unsolicited contact with the consumer. 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 8


Attachment 2: Policy on Information Submitted by 
Utilities, Program Participants, Contractors and 
Bidders 
 
History 


Source Date Action/Notes Next Review Date 
Policy Committee 5/24/04 Review and 


discussion 
8/24/04 


Policy Committee 8/24/04 Reviewed for 
board action 


9/9/04 


Board 9/9/04 Action postponed 
pending further 


review and 
discussion  


9/21/04 


Board 7/6/05 Approved (R345) 7/08 
Board 5/9/07 Amended (R438) 5/2010 


 
 
Purpose: Energy Trust and its contractors acquire information from utilities, program participants and others. This 
document establishes Energy Trust policy on collection, use and disclosure of information about program 
participants. This policy also addresses confidentiality of contracts and bid information. The policy does not apply 
to information that is in the public domain. 
 


1. Energy Trust will inform participants the public of this policy.  
 


Participants in Energy Trust will inform the publicprograms will be advised of the contents of this policy 
by appropriate means (e.g., providing summaries or references oin Energy Trust program application 
forms, posting the policy on the Energy Trust web site, and oral communicationsand making it 
available on request),. Energy Trust and its contractors will offer participants a copy of this policy. 


 
A2. Participant Information covered by this policy. Utilities provide Energy Trust with 


information about their energy consumers pursuant to rules of the Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (see OAR 860-038-0540). Energy Trust and its contractors also acquire information 
directly from participants in Energy Trust programs. Insofar as information from either source refers 
to program participants or utility customers by name, address, or other personally identifiable 
characteristics, it is Definition of Participant Information: “Participant Information” under this policy. 
means information obtained from program participants that refers specifically to the participant by 
name, address, or other personally identifiable characteristics.  


 
B3. Protecting Participant Information generally.  


 
A. Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors will use Participant Information only 


for Energy Trust purposes.  
 
B. Energy Trust will protect the confidentiality of all Participant Information by requiring all 


Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors to agree to specific non-disclosure 
requirements in order to gain access to Participant Information.  


 
C. Contractors who receive Participant Information from Energy Trust may not: 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 9


a. Disclose such information to any other party unless required by law or the other party 
has by contract or other written agreement agreed to protect such information 
consistent with this policy; or 


b. Use such information for any purpose other than implementation of Energy Trust 
programs. 


Energy Trust employees, contractors and sub-contractors will use Participant Information 
only for Energy Trust purposes. Contractors who receive Participant Information 
from Energy Trust may not disclose it to any other party unless required by law or 
the other party has by contract or other written agreement agreed to protect such 
information consistent with this Energy Trust policy. Contractors will consult with 
their Energy Trust contract manager when in doubt. 


 
4. Collaborative analysis. Energy Trust analyzes Participant Information and aggregates it with other 


information to plan, evaluate and report on Energy Trust programs. If consistent with section 3 and 
if the shared data do not reveal Participant Information, Energy Trust may share such aggregated 
information with other analysts, recognizing that some of these analysts work for organizations with 
their own information disclosure policies and requirements. 


 
5. Using Participant Information in marketing.  
 


 A. Before using Participant Information in case studies, brochures, press releases, 
advertisements, marketing or other publicity material, Energy Trust and/or its contractors will 
obtain participant approval.  


 
B. Energy Trust will not conduct telemarketing to residential participants or customers, but 


may use Participant Information for other outreach or marketing activities relating to 
Energy Trust programs. Energy Trust will establish a process by which participants and 
customers may opt-out of such marketing and outreach and ensure that Energy Trust or 
its contractors do not use Participant Information to make unsolicited contact with a 
participant or customer. 


 
 
 
6. Information provided to utilities. Energy Trust will share Participant Information with utilities: 


(a) as part of coordinated energy efficiency or renewable energy activities; (b) if such Information is 
limited to the particular utility’s customers; and (c) involves the particular utility’s product or 
service. Energy Trust will not share one utility customer’s energy use with another utility. Utilities 
may use such information in connection with routine customer service surveys, but not otherwise 
to evaluate Energy Trust programs. 


 
7. Participant Information provided to government entities 


 
A.  Energy Trust will treat residential program Participant Information as confidential. Energy 


Trust may report individual residential Participant Information if it does not identify the 
participant by name, address, telephone or other information that would allow 
identification of the individual. 


 
B.  For non-residential programs, Energy Trust may include the following information in 


reports to the Bonneville Power Administration, the legislature, the Oregon Public Utility 
Commission (“OPUC”) and other state agencies as necessary to meet Energy Trust 
responsibilities: 


 







Policy Committee notes  October 21, 2008 


 10


§ participant name 
§ city or county of business  
§ Energy Trust services or incentive payments provided to the participant, or  
§ energy saved or generated as a result of Energy Trust services or incentives. 
 


C.  Before providing Participant Information other than information listed in section 3.E(2)6.B, 
Energy Trust will obtain participant approval. 


 
8. Contracts 
 


A. Except for contracts that concern personnel matters, contracts to which Energy Trust is a party 
will not be treated as confidential. For purposes of this policy “contract” does not mean 
program application materials. 


 
B. If a contract specifically identifies as confidential sensitive business records or financial or 


commercial information that is not customarily provided to business competitors, Energy Trust 
will treat such information as confidential. However, Energy Trust may disclose all other 
information in the contract. 


 
C. Subject to litigation or other legal disclosure and/or audit requirements, Energy Trust will not 


disclose information marked as confidential and submitted in response to requests for proposals 
or other solicitations. However, the fact that a company submitted a bid will not be considered 
confidential. 


 
9. Audit 
 


Energy Trust will afford auditors full access to Participant Information for purposes of audit. 
 
10. Resolving issues 
 


In the event the OPUC requests from Energy Trust information that a participant has reasonably 
designated as Confidential Information, Energy Trust will follow the procedure specified in section 
3.c of the Grant Agreement between Energy Trust and the OPUC (available at 
http://www.energytrust.org/Pages/about/who_we_are/puc_funding_agreement.PDF). 


 
 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2008 Files\08 11 12\Final\Eval Notes  Oct 14  2008.doc 


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
October 14, 2008 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 
The evaluation committee met on October 14, 2008 with Debbie Kitchen, chair; Alan Meyer, 
board member; Dan Enloe, board member, attended by phone for the first two agenda items; 
Philipp Degens, evaluation manager; Sarah Castor, market research & evaluation analyst; Brien 
Sipe, evaluation analyst.  Paul Berkowitz, CSG, attended for the heat pump pilot tune-up 
evaluation and Spencer Moersfelder, Energy Trust business sector manager, attended for the 
NBE evaluation.  The meeting began at 10:05am with a brief overview of the meeting’s agenda. 
 
Topics covered: 


• Heat pump tune-up pilot impact evaluation 
• 2006 NBE process and impact evaluation draft report 
• 2008 Solar market evaluation 


 
Heat pump tune-up pilot impact evaluation 
Conducted by Stellar Processes 
 
Phil covered the findings from the draft report of the pilot’s impact evaluation.  The program 
aimed to provide incentives for a number of heat pump tune-up measures.   
 
Primary findings from the study consisted of: 


• Oversubscription problems due to utility publicity resulted in problems for the 
program’s implementation team. 


o Resulted in 317 sites participating, compared to the 200 planned. 
• The primary energy saving measure (temperature control cutouts, which prevent 


resistance heat from activating when outside temp is above 40 degrees) was already 
present at 25% of the sites in the study. 


• Of the remaining sites, only 18% had a cutout installed. 
o Tracking data did not indicate if the cutouts were tested for operability. 


• Savings were not apparent for any combination of sites. 
o Comparison group was not ideally matched (consumption was much higher than 


participant group), but showed a 2% reduction in consumption in the study 
period compared to the 1% reduction by the participant group. 


• Phil and Paul discussed the issues stemming from the pilot and they may be resolved in a 
subsequent redesign of the program. 


o Contractors may be reluctant to install the cutouts, fearing ‘call-backs’ from 
customers dissatisfied with the ‘cold-blow’ resulting from lower temperature air 
coming from the heat pump  unaided by resistance heat. 


o Smaller cohort of participants, with a single measure (cutout) and QC work to 
follow much more quickly (to verify cutouts are installed and functional). 


o Pilot is expected to be re-designed in Q1 of 2009, with goals of treating 150 
homes and more closely controlling publicity. 


 







Evaluation Committee Report  October 14, 2008 


 2 


2006 NBE process and impact evaluation 
Conducted by ADM Associates 
 
Phil covered the primary findings from the evaluation draft report.  The impact study period was 
from January 2006 – December 2006, with site visits and customer surveys conducted from Q4 
2007 – Q2 2008.  The lag in the survey and visits facilitated an adequate period of time to 
accrue billing data for use in building simulations of energy savings. 
 
Major findings from the impact portion: 
 


• Electric realization rates: 
o Building simulations were used to ascertain realization rates 
o Electric realization rates ranged from 94%-104% with the exception of HVAC 


and motors 
§ Electric HVAC’s RR was 138% while motors was 56% 


• Overestimated run times are likely behind the low motor RR 
o The average realization rates in 2005 was 104% 


• Gas realization rates 
o Gas rates ranged from 97%-119%, with the high end representing HVAC 


systems 
§ The small number of measures also means there is a large variance 


within the realization rate of each measure 
• Spencer expressed interest in seeing realization rates by prescriptive and custom tracks, 


to evaluate how accurate current engineering calculations are. 
• Net to Gross Analysis 


o Electric free ridership: 
§ Custom controls 6% 
§ HVAC   28% 
§ Lighting   54% 
§ Other   42% 


o Gas free ridership: 
§ HVAC   51% 
§ Other   27% 


o Spencer expressed concern with the high free rider numbers – noting that the 
evaluation primarily focused on large buildings which may be vying for LEED 
certifications and biasing the free rider estimate higher. 


o Phil noted that Energy Trust is currently developing a market transformation 
model for Super T-8 lighting, and that the high free ridership reported was to be 
expected. 


o There was some discussion on focusing more on the Gross saving in reporting 
and using the free rider numbers to trigger program changes and redesign. 
Debbie and Alan indicated this sounds like an interesting direction to move in.  
Phil will take it up with Fred. 


o Other changes likely to occur in future program years: 
§ NEMA premium motors may soon become standard, and will be 


eliminated from the prescriptive measure list 
§ Incentives for major remodels have been brought in line with the 


existing buildings program, while new building incentives have been kept 
low. 







Evaluation Committee Report  October 14, 2008 


 3 


§ Spencer noted that Bonneville uses high incentives for new buildings 
with the idea being that once missed, new buildings will not be in the 
retrofit market for some time. 


 
• Spillover 


o Many respondents indicated that they installed measures without incentives 
o 17% at same facility 
o 14% at other facilities 
o Phil indicates that currently there is not a way to quantify the spillover effects in 


the same manner as free ridership. 
§ NEEA is currently attempting to develop a methodology to quantify 


spillover effects which could potentially be utilized by Energy Trust 
programs. 


 
NBE participant survey highlights 


• Participants expressed high levels of satisfaction with the program. 
• 50% of those that received the BETC indicated it was difficult to achieve the 10% better 


than code requirement. 
• Among owners surveyed, a majority indicated that they did not believe increased 


efficiency correlated with increased rents, and 40% did not feel projects increased 
buildings’ attractiveness to tenants. 


• Over two thirds had  some type of commissioning performed  
• Over half of the participants indicated they would install additional efficient equipment 


without incentives while 100% said they would participate in the program again. 
• Building owners from outside Oregon tended to have larger projects. 


 
Major findings from the process evaluation 


• Study focused on perceptions of market actors (qualitative in nature). 
• Program satisfaction mirrored the participant survey 
• One complaint was the paperwork burden: 


o Spencer indicated that currently the Oregon DOE does not accept prescriptive 
savings analysis for its tax credits.  On the custom side, it was suggested that 
Energy Trust could align savings calculations with DOE’s to streamline the tax 
credit/incentive application process. 


• One recommendation was to merge the LEED and ENERGY STAR tracks into the 
custom track. 


• Importance of incentives varied with sector, with immediacy of funding pronounced in 
government projects. 


o Most work fell outside the private sector, with the largest participant groups 
being government, non-profits, and schools. 


o Spencer indicated the challenge of finding the appropriate level of management 
in corporate structures to move projects through the program. 


• Staff highlighted the importance of working with chains at the national level. 
o One difficulty is the writing of specs, since many high efficiency specs written for 


the national level fail to meet Oregon’s building code. 
• Energy Trust staff are active at the local level to write specs for fee-bate/re-bate 


programs for new construction. 
o Debbie raised concerns about the fairness of systems that may penalize building 


owners with tenants who are high users (e.g., data centers). 







Evaluation Committee Report  October 14, 2008 


 4 


o Phil indicated that Energy Trust will be active in the use of the new commercial 
building stock assessment data to  provide input into the use of the ENERGY 
STAR rating system. 


 
 
Evaluation’s take on the findings 


• The evaluation would benefit from more analysis of the data. 
o Free rider rates across program size. 


• Aggressively increasing goals may be inappropriate given economic downturn. 
o Debbie mentioned that 2009 may have plenty of work come in due to 


developer/construction pipelines, but subsequent program years may not be 
able to meet. 


• Free rider estimates will have an immediate and significant effect on the program. 
• Will request additional analysis from the contractor for the next draft of the report. 


 
 
 
Solar market assessment – 2007 
Prepared by Sarah Castor 
 
Sarah Castor presented the findings from an assessment of global, national, and local trends in 
the solar PV market. 
 
Highlights from the study were: 
 


• Installed capacity 
o Global installed capacity increased 62% in 2007. 
o Commercial installations have become the main driver in the US. 
o Current worldwide capacity is approximately 3,500 MW. 


• Manufacturing 
o Worldwide, manufacturing output increased 56%. 
o US output increased 74%, and currently accounts for 50% of thin film 


production. 
• High prices continue to be the stumbling block for wider spread adoption 


o Module prices have leveled off since 2006, which saw a steady price increase 
due to a shortage of polysilicon. 
§ Several new polysilicon manufacturing plants have come online in the 


US, Germany, and China but supply continues to be tight. 
o The DOE’s solar program has optimistic goals for public/private partnerships 


aimed at achieving utility scale cost competitiveness for 2015.  These costs may 
be achieved but prices are unlikely to fall due to increasing demand and 
constrained supply. 


o Given that many countries are investing in utility scale PV projects, additional 
capacity will continue to be purchased at prices far above cost competitive rates 
in much of the US. 


• Technologies have not changed much since the 2006 solar market assessment 
conducted by Energy Trust. 







Evaluation Committee Report  October 14, 2008 


 5 


o Thin films still offer promise of low costs/prices and ease of manufacturing.  
However, differences in efficiency levels of lab and line manufactured cells 
remains large. 


 
Oregon PV manufacturing market 


• Several new and planned facilities are aiming to be producing near capacity in Oregon 
within the next two years. 


• Capacities range from 25 MW to 500 MW, with a total of over 700 MW, representing 
an increase in current world capacity of around 20%. 


 
Outlook 


• Extension of PTC for solar will help to keep demand stimulated and encourage 
continued domestic R&D, and help maintain local infrastructure and expertise. 


• Oregon’s small installation market will continue to be unable to influence price. 
• Green light greater Portland is preparing to issue a report on Oregon’s competitive 


advantage with regard to PV manufacturing. 
• Large growth in output and capacity is expected but solar is expanding from a very small 


base. 
 
 
Next meeting is scheduled for November 19th or November 21st from 10am-1pm 
 
Meeting adjourned at 12:50pm 
 
 
 








 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Economic Impacts 
From Energy Trust 
of Oregon 2007 
Program Activities  
  
Final Report 


 
 
 
 
 


888 SW Fifth Avenue, Suite 1460 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


503-222-6060 


August 12, 2008 







   


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements 
This report was prepared by ECONorthwest’s Portland office for Energy Trust of Oregon. Dr. 
Stephen Grover was the ECONorthwest project manager for the analysis. Alec Josephson was 
the lead analyst and a major contributor to this report. Questions regarding the report should be 
directed to Dr. Grover at grover@portland.econw.com or by phoning the Portland office at (503) 
222-6060.  







 


Table of Contents 
1. Introduction and Summary.......................................................................................................1 


2. Energy Trust 2007 Program Activities.....................................................................................2 


A. 2007 Expenditures ..................................................................................................................2 


B. 2007 Energy Savings and Generation.....................................................................................3 


3. Analysis Methods .....................................................................................................................4 


4. Gross Economic Impacts..........................................................................................................6 


A. Energy Trust Spending Impacts .............................................................................................7 


5. Net Economic Impacts .............................................................................................................8 


6. Energy Savings-Related Economic Impacts Over Time..........................................................9 


A. 2007 Program Year.................................................................................................................9 


B. Across All Program Years, 2002 Through 2007 ..................................................................13 







ETO: 2007 Economic Impacts  Page 1 ECONorthwest 


1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 
ECONorthwest was asked by Energy Trust of Oregon (“Energy Trust”) to estimate the economic 
impacts of its energy efficiency and renewable energy programs in 2007 on the Oregon 
economy. These impacts include changes in output, wages, business income, and employment in 
Oregon that resulted from 2007 program spending and activities. Energy Trust programs 
generate energy efficiency gains (i.e., energy savings) that continue beyond each program year. 
As a result, ECONorthwest also analyzed the economic impacts from the current and previous 
program years that accumulate in the future. 


For this analysis, all impacts were compared against a Base Case spending scenario, which 
assumes that funds that were paid to Energy Trust are returned and spent by Oregon ratepayers in 
the Oregon service territories of Portland General Electric (PGE), PacifiCorp, Northwest Natural, 
Cascade Natural Gas, and Avista. The difference in economic impacts between Energy Trust 
spending and the Base Case scenario is referred to as net impacts. 1 Unless otherwise stated, the 
results in this report reflect net impacts.  


In 2007, Energy Trust spending totaled $56.5 million. Most of this spending went towards 
program implementation, with $44.1 million for energy efficiency and $9.9 million for 
renewable energy programs, and $2.5 in administrative and program support costs. In 2007, 
Energy Trust offered incentives through their renewable energy program that proved critical for 
the construction of two large wind farms. These impacts are analyzed and reported separately. 


Energy efficient equipment and renewable energy installations—not including the wind farms—
saved Oregonians 35.5 average megawatts (aMW) of electricity (308,641 MWh annually) and 
2.3 million therms. The spending and energy savings associated with these programs had the 
following net economic impacts on the Oregon economy in 2007: 


• An increase of $63.2 million in output 
• An increase of $16.5 million in wages and $2.7 million in income to small business 


owners 
• 390 new full- and part-time jobs 


Energy Trust’s renewable energy program included $7.125 million in incentives for two wind 
farms—the Biglow Canyon wind farm in Sherman County, Oregon ($6.0 million in incentives); 
and the Goodnoe Hills wind farm in Goldendale, Washington ($1.125 million in incentives).2 
The net economic impacts associated with these wind farm projects include: 


• The Biglow Canyon wind farm went on line in December 2007. Construction and 
operation of the Biglow Canyon wind farm is associated with $56.3 million in output, 


                                                
1 For example, if an impact of 5 new jobs is reported, this means that spending on Energy Trust programs resulted in 
5 more jobs relative to what would have occurred had the money been returned and spent by Oregon ratepayers in 
the utility service territories. 
2 The incentives for Goodnoe Hills were committed in 2007, but will not be paid until 2008.  







ETO: 2007 Impacts  2 ECONorthwest 


$18.3 million in wages, $4.7 million in business income, and 460 full- and part-time 
jobs for the Oregon economy in 2007. 


• Scheduled to be on line in 2008, construction of the Goodnoe Hills wind farm 
generated an increase of $15.7 million in output, $5.9 million in wages, $1.3 million 
in business income, and 126 full- and part-time jobs for the Washington economy in 
2007. 


The remainder of this report documents the analysis that was completed to develop these 
economic impact estimates. 


2.  ENERGY TRUST 2007 PROGRAM ACTIVITIES  


A. 2007 EXPENDITURES  
For this analysis, budget information provided by Energy Trust was aggregated into several 
general categories to facilitate economic impact modeling for similar areas of spending. Table 1 
shows the general areas of spending for Energy Trust and reflects actual expenditures for 2007. 
As shown at the bottom of the table, total spending by Energy Trust in 2007 was $56.5 million. 
This represents an 18 percent increase from the previous program year. 


As a general rule, spending on program incentives goes directly to equipment purchases and 
labor for installation. Common measures that receive incentives include high efficiency lighting 
(compact fluorescents and T-8’s), high efficiency HVAC systems, home weatherization, high 
efficiency industrial motors, and variable speed fan drives for commercial applications. In 2007, 
program expenditures3 for energy efficiency measures totaled $44.1 million (a $0.9 million or 
2.1 percent increase). Program expenditures for renewable resources totaled $9.9 million (a $7.5 
million or 313 percent increase). It’s important to note that most of this increase is attributed to 
$7.125 million in incentives for two utility wind farms. According to utility management and the 
Oregon Public Utilities Commission, these incentives were critical for the wind farm projects to 
proceed.  


Table 1: 2007 Energy Trust Program Spending ($ millions) 


Spending Category Total 
Program 
Expenses 


Total 
Support 


Costs 


Total 


Energy Efficiency Programs $44.1  $44.1 


Renewable Programs $9.9  $9.9 


Other Admin & Program Support  $2.5 $2.5 


Total $54.0 $2.5 $56.5 


Source: Energy Trust of Oregon 


                                                
3 Program expenditures are based on incentives and allocated support costs. 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  3 ECONorthwest 


B. 2007 ENERGY SAVINGS AND GENERATION 
Table 2 shows the total energy saved by Energy Trust programs in 2007. A total of 35.5 average 
megawatts were saved as a direct result of Energy Trust program activities in 2007. This includes 
energy savings for both residential and commercial programs. It also includes energy generated 
by renewable energy installations that were completed or substantially initiated in 2007, with the 
exception of the Biglow Canyon and the Goodnoe Hills wind farms. (A separate, more detailed 
discussion of these wind farms follows Table 2.) Excluding the two wind farms, the amount of 
energy generated by the renewable energy program in 2007 was quite small. However, it is 
included in Table 2 because energy savings and renewable generation are essentially identical 
from a customer standpoint in terms of economic effects, i.e., they both reduce energy bills.  


Table 2: 2007 Net Energy Savings  


Program Sector Annual kWh 
Saved 


Average MW 
Saved (aMW) 


Annual Therms 
Saved 


Residential Sector Programs 113,311,147 12.9 1,108,175 


Commercial/Industrial Sector 
Programs 


197,578,291 22.6 1,140,053 


Total Energy Saved 310,889,438 35.5 2,248,228 


Source: Energy Trust of Oregon 


Similar to previous program years, the commercial/industrial sector generated the most energy 
savings in 2007. In addition, there was a slight change in the mix of energy savings from the 
previous program year, with slightly more energy savings from the commercial/industrial sector 
(63.6 percent of total energy savings in 2007 vs. 62.0 percent in 2006) and less from the 
residential sector (36.4 percent in 2007 vs. 38.0 percent in 2006). 


The efficiency gains shown in Table 2 result in a loss of revenue to Oregon utilities due to lost 
power sales, and this loss of revenue has been accounted for in this analysis.4 If the utility sector 
had similar economic impact multipliers as other sectors in Oregon’s economy, then the energy 
cost savings in other sectors would roughly cancel out the loss of revenue in the utility sector. 
For Oregon utilities, much of the spending impact flows outside the state, as PacifiCorp is owned 
by an out-of-state company, and both PacifiCorp and PGE have shareholders that are widely 
distributed throughout the country. Consequently, some of the revenue loss (and the resulting 
losses in employment and economic activity) is incurred outside of Oregon. 


There is an additional long-term benefit from the efficiency gains, as they delay the need for 
building new power generation. Power generated from new sources will almost certainly be more 
expensive than existing power resources due to increased costs of capital and issues associated 
with siting new power plants. In this sense, efficiency gains can be viewed as a means for 
                                                
4 For this analysis, it was assumed that utilities did not sell saved power on the spot market, as estimates of the amount of power 
sold due to energy efficiency are generally unavailable. If utilities can sell conserved power on the market due to the efficiency 
programs, then there is an additional benefit in the form of increased revenues to the utility sector. As this was not included in 
this analysis, the results discussed here represent a lower bound for potential utility sector benefits. 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  4 ECONorthwest 


prolonging the use of lower-cost resources and delaying the need for switching to higher cost 
power supplied by new generation. By enabling the efficient use of lower cost resources, these 
programs help the entire Oregon economy run more efficiently. This benefit was not explicitly 
modeled for this analysis because it is directly addressed in the Energy Trust’s benefit/cost 
analysis. It is nevertheless an important issue and is one of the primary tenets underlying 
conservation and demand-side management programs. 


The energy savings shown in Table 2 do not include the energy generated at the Biglow Canyon 
and Goodnoe Hills wind farms. In order to make the current study results consistent with 
previous studies and as transparent as possible, we have decided to report the energy savings 
(and economic impacts) associated with these wind farm projects separately. Our impact 
estimates for these two projects assumes that they would not have been built without Energy 
Trust incentives. The key project parameters include: 


• Biglow Canyon. In a collaborative effort, Energy Trust committed $6.0 million to PGE’s 
Biglow Canyon wind farm. Total project costs were $260 million. Phase I went on line in 
December 2007 and consists of 76 wind turbines with installed capacity of 125 MW. 
Energy Trust estimates that Biglow Canyon will generate approximately 409.7 million 
kWh annually. PGE acknowledges that this project would not have been undertaken 
without Energy Trust incentives. As such, the construction and operation of the wind 
farm will be attributed to Energy Trust program performance in 2007. 


• Goodnoe Hills. Energy Trust’s collaborative efforts to expand renewable energy 
resources extend beyond Oregon. In 2007, Energy Trust also committed $1.125 million 
in incentives to help fund Pacific Power’s 94 MW Goodnoe Hills wind farm in 
Goldendale, Washington. As with Biglow, it is assumed here that this project would not 
have been built without Energy Trust incentives. Goodnoe Hills was under construction 
during the 2007 program year and is scheduled to come on line in 2008. Construction 
impacts will be attributed to Energy Trust program performance in 2007 and reported 
separately. Generation will be reported in the 2008 program year. 


3. ANALYSIS METHODS 
Estimating the economic impacts attributable to Energy Trust programs is a complex process, as 
spending by Energy Trust—and subsequent changes in spending by program participants—
unfold over a lengthy period of time. From this perspective, therefore, the most appropriate 
analytical framework for estimating the economic impacts is to classify them into the following 
categories: 


• Short-term economic impacts associated with changes in business activity as a direct 
result of changes in spending by Energy Trust programs and participants. 


• Long-term economic impacts associated with the subsequent changes in factor costs and 
optimal use of resources. 


This analysis estimates the short-term economic impacts of Energy Trust program activities 
during the 2007 program year. The short-term economic impacts are those attributed to 
additional dollars accruing to Oregon households and businesses as a result of these programs. 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  5 ECONorthwest 


The economic modeling framework that best measures these short-term economic impacts is 
called input-output modeling. Input-output models provide an empirical representation of the 
economy and its inter-sectoral relationships, enabling the user to trace the effects (economic 
impacts) of a change in the demand for commodities (goods and services). Because input-output 
models generally are not available for state and regional economies, special data techniques have 
been developed to estimate the necessary empirical relationships from a combination of national 
technological relationships and county-level measures of economic activity. This modeling 
framework, called IMPLAN (for IMpact Analysis for PLANning), is the technique that 
ECONorthwest has applied to the estimation of impacts.5 


Input-output analysis employs specific terminology to identify the different types of economic 
impacts that result from economic activities. Expenditures made through Energy Trust programs 
affect the Oregon economy directly, through the purchases of goods and services in this state, 
and indirectly, as those purchases, in turn, generate purchases of intermediate goods and services 
from other, related sectors of the economy. In addition, the direct and indirect increases in 
employment and income enhance overall economy purchasing power, thereby inducing further 
consumption- and investment- driven stimulus. This cycle continues until the spending 
eventually leaks out of the local economy as a result of taxes, savings, or purchases of non-
locally produced goods and services or “imports.” 


The IMPLAN model reports the following economic impacts: 


• Total Industrial Output (Output) is the value of production by industries for a specified 
period of time. Output can be also thought of as the value of sales including reductions or 
increases in business inventories. 


• Employee Compensation (Wages) includes workers’ wages and salaries, as well as other 
benefits such as health and life insurance, and retirement payments, and non-cash 
compensation. 


• Proprietary Income (Business Income) represents the payments received by small-
business owners or self-employed workers. Business income would include, for example, 
income received by private business owners, doctors, accountants, lawyers, etc. 


• Job impacts include both full and part time employment. 


Within this modeling framework, the following terms are used to classify impacts: 


• Gross Impacts reflect the economic impacts with no adjustment made for impacts that 
might have occurred in the Base Case scenario.  


                                                
5 IMPLAN was developed by the Forest Service of the US Department of Agriculture in cooperation with the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency and the Bureau of Land Management of the US Department of the Interior 
to assist federal agencies in their land and resource management planning. Applications of IMPLAN by the US 
Government, public agencies and private firms span a wide range of projects, from broad, resource management 
strategies to individual projects, such as proposals for developing ski areas, coal mines, and transportation facilities, 
and harvesting timber or other resources.  







ETO: 2007 Impacts  6 ECONorthwest 


• Net Impacts are the effects of Energy Trust program expenditures that have been adjusted 
to reflect the Base Case scenario. That is, net impacts are those impacts over and above 
what would have occurred in the Base Case scenario. 


The following types of activities form the basis of this impact analysis: 


• Program operations spending as Energy Trust purchases labor and materials to carry 
out its energy efficiency and renewable energy programs. 


• Measure spending by participants in Energy Trust programs. 
• Reductions in energy consumption and the associated lower operating costs to 


businesses and increase in household disposable income. 
• Reductions in utility revenues as households and businesses consume less electricity. 


4. GROSS ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
The gross economic impacts attributed to the 2007 Energy Trust programs are based on the 
program costs, including administration costs and incentives issued by Energy Trust, and the 
measure spending and energy savings of program participants. Measure spending by program 
participants consists of expenditures on energy efficiency equipment such as appliances and 
furnaces/boilers, heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems, lighting 
modifications, and also industrial processing equipment.  


ECONorthwest received detailed measure spending data from Energy Trust, and this spending 
data was then mapped to over 20 different IMPLAN sectors. Energy Trust also supplied detailed 
energy savings estimates, broken out by fuel type (electricity, natural gas) for program 
participants. For residences, lower energy costs will increase Oregon households’ disposable 
income. Therefore, the estimated energy cost savings were input into a consumption function 
representing the spending pattern of a middle-income household in Oregon, which mapped the 
spending to over 500 IMPLAN sectors.6  


Energy savings for commercial/industrial participants were first mapped to industry sector using 
North American Industrial Classification System (“NAICS”) codes, and then cross-referenced to 
181 different business sectors in the IMPLAN model.7 From an input-output perspective, energy 
savings will indirectly affect Oregon businesses by lowering their production costs. To estimate 
the economic impacts associated with these lower energy costs, ECONorthwest used an 
elasticity-based approach to measure the change in output. That is, this approach assumes that 


                                                
6 This consumption function was modified to exclude spending on electricity. 
7 In 2006, energy savings were allocated to 100 different industry sectors. The significant increase in the number of 
benefiting industry sectors (up over 80 percent) suggests that Energy Trust commercial/industrial sector involvement 
is expanding.   







ETO: 2007 Impacts  7 ECONorthwest 


lower energy costs increase the competitiveness of Oregon businesses, allowing them to decrease 
price, and increase output.8 


Lastly, the energy savings for households and businesses translate into lower revenues to 
utilities, refiners, and other providers of energy services. ECONorthwest used estimated energy 
savings, by fuel type, to reduce revenues to utilities, refiners and other providers of energy 
services.  


A. ENERGY TRUST SPENDING IMPACTS 
The gross economic impacts of Energy Trust programs—excluding the Biglow Canyon and 
Goodnoe Hills wind farms—for 2007 are shown in Table 3. Spending related to Energy Trust 
programs increased economic output by $127.1 million in 2007, which includes an increase of 
$36.9 million in wages and $5.4 million in business income within Oregon. This activity also 
created 1,030 jobs in Oregon. Table 3 reports gross impacts that do not take into consideration 
alternative uses of Energy Trust and participant spending related to these programs. These net 
impacts are addressed in the next section.  


Table 3: 2007 Energy Trust Gross Impacts 


Impact Type 2007 
Output $127,054,800 


Wages       $36,845,000 


 Business Income $5,378,700 


 Jobs 1,030 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


ECONorthwest used project data provided by Energy Trust to model the economic impacts 
associated with the Biglow Canyon and Goodnoe Hills wind farms. Biglow Canyon went on line 
in December 2007, so the impacts for that Oregon wind farm are based on Oregon-based 
construction spending (estimated to be 10 percent of total project costs) and operations (adjusted 
using the 50 percent implementation adjustment). Goodnoe Hills was under construction during 
the 2007 program year, so only construction impacts are included for that Washington wind 
farm. Construction impacts are based on Washington-based construction spending (estimated to 
be 10 percent of total project costs.) 


The gross economic impacts attributed to construction and operation of the Biglow Canyon wind 
farm, and construction of the Goodnoe Hills wind farm are shown in Table 4.  


                                                
8 Because we do not have price elasticity of demand coefficients for each of the 181 business sectors (and their 
commodities) that benefited from reduced energy costs, ECONorthwest assumed that the price elasticity of demand 
for each industry’s output was -1.0, i.e., unitary elastic. A 1 percent decrease in costs would, therefore, translate into 
a 1 percent decrease in price and a 1 percent increase in output. 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  8 ECONorthwest 


Table 4: Biglow Canyon and Goodnoe Hills Gross Economic Impacts in 2007 


Impact Type Biglow Canyon 
(Oregon) 


Goodnoe Hills 
(Washington) 


Output $63,107,200 $15,725,900 


Wages $20,469,000       $5,915,400 


 Business Income $5,012,500 $1,261,800 


 Jobs 530 139 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


5. NET ECONOMIC IMPACTS 
All of the economic impacts reported in this section of the report are net impacts and reflect 
economic benefits over and above what would have occurred had Energy Trust programs not 
existed. To calculate net impacts, the economic impacts of the Base Case scenario are estimated 
first, which assumes that the money that is currently spent on Energy Trust programs is instead 
allocated to utility ratepayers. The economic impacts resulting from the Base Case scenario are 
then subtracted from the gross impacts discussed in the previous section to determine net 
impacts.   


Table 5 shows the net economic impacts attributed to Energy Trust programs in 2007. The net 
economic impacts are positive and (by design) are significantly less than the gross economic 
impacts reported previously. The gross economic impacts include the assumption that revenues 
to utilities and other providers of energy services decline as a result of the energy savings by 
households and businesses. To this, we have now included the Base Case spending scenario that 
assumes that all Energy Trust funds are instead spent by ratepayers of the utilities according to 
the spending patterns of a typical Oregon household.  


For 2007, Energy Trust programs—again, excluding Biglow Canyon and Goodnoe Hills—had a 
net effect of increasing Oregon’s economic output by $63.2 million relative to the Base Case 
scenario. This includes an increase of $16.5 million in wages and $2.7 million in business 
income within Oregon. Energy Trust programs also had a positive net impact on employment in 
Oregon, with 390 jobs created in 2007. This reflects jobs over and above what would have been 
created in the Base Case scenario. 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  9 ECONorthwest 


Table 5: 2007 Net Economic Impacts 
Impact Type 2007 Impacts 


Output $63,170,200 


Wages $16,469,400 


Business Income $2,721,700 


Jobs 390 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


The net economic impacts attributed to construction and operation of the Biglow Canyon wind 
farm, and construction of the Goodnoe Hills wind farm are shown in Table 6. Energy Trust 
provided $6.0 and $1.125 million in incentives, respectively, for Biglow Canyon and Goodnoe 
Hills. These incentives were critical for both projects to proceed, and leveraged significant 
spending on the part of utilities. (On a net basis, it is assumed that these incentives would have 
been returned to ratepayers.) As a result, the difference between net and gross impacts for the 
wind power projects is relatively smaller than for Energy Trust programs as a whole. 


Table 6: Biglow Canyon and Goodnoe Hills Net Economic Impacts in 2007 


Impact Type Biglow Canyon 
(Oregon) 


Goodnoe Hills 
(Washington) 


Output $56,336,400 $15,725,900 


Wages $18,308,400       $5,915,400 


 Business Income $4,731,100 $1,261,800 


 Jobs 460 126 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


6. ENERGY SAVINGS-RELATED ECONOMIC IMPACTS OVER TIME 
For many projects, the installations occur in the same year that the equipment and program costs 
are incurred. The energy savings from these measures, however, extend into future years as most 
measures have expected useful lives of eight to 16 years (or more). The cost savings from these 
measures for homes and businesses also extend into future years (with some degradation as 
equipment ages) after the initial purchase. These cost savings continue to benefit the economy, as 
households spend less on electricity and more on other consumer products and businesses are 
able to produce goods and services more efficiently. As a consequence, the net effects from the 
first year when the equipment and program spending occur only capture a fraction of the overall 
benefit of these programs. 


A. 2007 PROGRAM YEAR 
Table 7 shows the annualized gross economic impacts due to energy cost savings from energy 
efficiency measures installed in 2007 (i.e., they do not account for new generation from 
renewable sources). These estimates were calculated using the input-output model to estimate the 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  10 ECONorthwest 


economic impacts of reduced energy costs while setting all other costs (i.e., equipment purchases 
and program implementation costs) equal to zero. To truly isolate the impact of the energy cost 
savings, we also assumed that there were no lost utility revenues resulting from the measures 
installed and that utilities would be able to sell the unused power to other customers. This 
provides an estimate of energy efficiency benefits based solely on the reduced energy costs to the 
economy and excludes any additional benefits due to the spending on these programs and 
measures.  


To be consistent with previous impact reports, the energy savings impacts shown in Table 7 are 
reported on an annualized basis, i.e., they describe the economic impacts from energy savings for 
measures that were installed in 2007 and operated for an entire year. In the first program year, 
energy savings develop as energy efficiency measures are installed, and installation occurs over 
the course of the year. ECONorthwest does not have data on when each individual installation 
was completed. Thus, we have assumed that installations occur evenly throughout the year and 
have used a 50 percent implementation adjustment factor for energy savings in the first program 
year. (The economic impacts shown earlier in this report are based on energy savings that have 
been adjusted using this implementation adjustment factor.) 


As shown in Table 7, on an annualized basis, 35.5 aMW of energy savings from energy 
efficiency will increase economic output by $30.9 million, which includes an increase of $9.2 
million in wages and $1.2 million in business income. This increase in economic activity will 
generate 255 jobs. 


Table 7: Annualized Economic Impacts Due to 2007 Energy Savings Alone 
Economic Impact 


Measure 
Impact Due to 


2007 Savings Only 
Output $30,882,110 


Wages $9,223,602 


Business Income $1,240,688 


Jobs 255 


Source: ECONorthwest 


The following figures illustrate how the effects of energy efficiency accumulate in the future, 
assuming that energy cost savings in future years continue at the annualized level observed in 
2007. These figures highlight the fact that the incremental benefit of any single year is only a 
fraction of the cumulative effect of efficiency gains achieved in prior years. It should also be 
noted that 2007 does not include impacts from renewable energy projects. When the effects of 
the larger renewable energy projects are included, the cumulative impacts will be significantly 
greater than what is shown here using only the energy savings generated by Energy Trust 
efficiency program activities. 


Figure 1 shows the cumulative energy savings resulting from Energy Trust energy efficiency 
program activities in 2007. This exhibit assumes that the 35.5 aMW in annual energy savings 
achieved in 2007 is achieved in future years. Given that the average measure life for equipment 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  11 ECONorthwest 


covered by Energy Trust programs is over 10 years, the potential for sustained cumulative 
energy savings benefits is quite large. 


Figure 1: Cumulative Energy Savings Over Time 


 


In 2007, Energy Trust’s program activities included installation of energy efficiency measures 
that would yield an estimated 35.5 million aMW of energy savings annually. As shown in Figure 
1, these energy savings have been adjusted in the first program year and then cumulate each year 
thereafter. By 2011, Energy Trust’s 2007 energy efficiency program will have generated 
approximately 160 aMW of energy savings over the five year time period. 


Figure 2 illustrates a similar cumulative effect for the economic output impacts that result from 
energy cost savings. In 2007, economic output in Oregon increased an additional $15.4 million 
based on the energy cost savings achieved in 2007. If these energy cost impacts are annualized 
and this trend continues in subsequent years, the cumulative benefits expand over time. By the 
end of 2011, Oregon’s economic output will have increased by $139.0 million due solely to 
efficiency gains made over the past five years.  







ETO: 2007 Impacts  12 ECONorthwest 


Figure 2: Cumulative Output Effects Based on 2007 Energy Savings 


 


Figure 3 illustrates the potential cumulative impact of energy cost savings on employment in 
Oregon. When energy cost savings persist over time, businesses are able to direct spending away 
from energy costs to other factors of production. By lowering their costs, businesses are able to 
increase output. Similarly, less residential spending on energy also contributes to increased 
employment as spending shifts to other goods and services in sectors that have a greater impact 
on the Oregon economy. 


As shown in Table 7 and Figure 3, on an annualized basis, Oregon employment increased by 255 
jobs based on the energy cost savings achieved in the 2007 program year. If these energy cost 
savings can be sustained over time, then the employment impacts should persist as well, at least 
in the short term. By the end of 2011, the costs savings attributed to Energy Trust’s energy 
efficiency program in 2007 will have generated 1,148 person-years of employment in Oregon 
over the five-year period.  







ETO: 2007 Impacts  13 ECONorthwest 


Figure 3: Cumulative Employment Impacts Based on 2007 Energy Savings 


 


B. ACROSS ALL PROGRAM YEARS, 2002 THROUGH 2007 
As just shown, the cost savings and economic impacts from the 2007 program year will persist 
and cumulate over time. In similar fashion, the energy savings and economic impacts across 
program years will also persist and grow over time. ECONorthwest calculated the cumulative net 
impacts across Energy Trust’s six program years, from 2002 through 2007. These results are 
shown in Table 8. 


Table 8: Cumulative Impacts From Energy Savings Across Program Years, 2002 
Through 2007 


Year Output Wages Business 
Income 


Jobs 


2002 $14,063,800 $4,316,000 $793,700 140 


2003 $59,355,500 $18,215,500 $3,349,700 590 


2004 $96,344,000 $29,573,300 $5,340,900 950 


2005 $109,355,600 $33,580,900 $5,857,800 1,090 


2006 $126,383,600 $39,326,900 $6,533,700 1,260 


2007 $151,601,800 $47,451,300 $7,541,800 1,490 


Source: ECONorthwest. 


The methodology employed here is similar to that for the 2007 program year. We assume that 
installation occurs evenly and that 50 percent of the total “annualized” energy savings are 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  14 ECONorthwest 


realized in the initial program year; subsequent years include the full amount of energy savings 
attributed to the initial program year. For example, ECONorthwest previously estimated that 
Energy Trust’s 2002 and 2003 energy efficiency programs would generate, on an annualized 
basis, 280 and 620 jobs, respectively. As shown in Figure 4, one-half of the 280 annualized job 
impacts are reported for the 2002 program year. In 2003, the cumulative job impacts (590 jobs) 
are based on the annualized job impacts from 2002 (280 jobs, of which 140 occurred in the prior 
year) plus one-half of the annualized job impacts in 2003 (310 jobs). Following this approach, 
ECONorthwest estimates that the energy savings associated with Energy Trust’s energy 
efficiency programs have sustained approximately 1,490 jobs in Oregon over the 2002 through 
2007 time period. 


Figure 4: Cumulative Job Impacts From Energy Savings Across Program Years, 
2002 Through 2007 


 


Figure 5 reports the cumulative output impacts from Energy Trust program activities from 2002 
through 2007.  


 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  15 ECONorthwest 


Figure 5: Cumulative Output Impacts From Energy Savings Across Program 
Years, 2002 Through 2007 (dollars in millions) 


 


Although the methodology used to calculate cost savings and economic impacts across program 
years is similar to that used for any given program year, the results are not directly comparable 
and should be interpreted carefully. For a given program year, the cumulative impacts are the 
impacts that have occurred over time, i.e., the energy savings and economic impacts generated in 
a program year will continue in years to come. The cumulative impacts across program years are 
the total impacts occurring at that time, i.e., the energy savings and economic impacts generated 
in subsequent program years are added to the energy savings and economic impacts generated in 
previous years.  


In addition, there are other economic factors that could cause the economic impacts to decline 
over time in which case the economic impacts reported above would be overstated.  


Given the static nature of input-output modeling, in general, and the IMPLAN model used in this 
analysis, cumulative impacts do not take into account changes in production and business 
processes that Oregon businesses make in anticipation of future higher energy prices and/or 
increased market pressure from international competition to increase production efficiency. To 
the extent that Oregon businesses are already adjusting in anticipation of higher costs and/or 
tougher competition, then cumulative impacts presented here are overstated as the overall market 
would become more efficient due to factors outside Energy Trust influence. 


The cumulative numbers also rely on the critical assumption that each dollar saved will translate 
into a dollar of increased economic output for those businesses adopting conservation measures. 
This assumption is a simplifying assumption made in absence of better information specific to 







ETO: 2007 Impacts  16 ECONorthwest 


Oregon's economy. This assumption is reasonable in the short run, but in the long run it is likely 
that a dollar of energy savings will translate to less than a dollar of increased economic output 
(as reflected in the current economic variables for Oregon used in IMPLAN) as the overall 
market adopts more efficient production practices in anticipation of increased competition and 
higher energy costs. Consequently, the cumulative impacts shown here represent an upper 
bound. Despite these caveats, the ongoing and cumulative effect of conservation due to Energy 
Trust activities is nevertheless a significant net benefit to Oregon’s economy. 


 








 
 
 
MEMO 
 
 


Date: September 29, 2008 
  To: Board of Directors 


From: Philipp Degens,  Evaluation Manager  
Matt Braman, Planner/Analyst 


Subject: Staff Response to the 2007 Economic Impact Study 
 
Energy Trust staff views that the results of this study provide information that will primarily 
be used to support policy decisions at the state and regional level.  
 
The report includes the cumulative employment impacts that have been generated by 
Energy Trust over time. As these numbers are generated from an average statewide 
multiplier and not expected to fluctuate much on a year to year basis, the Evaluation 
Committee recommended that the study be update on a biennial basis.  
 
The findings are based on a well known input-output model that is frequently used to 
estimated state and regional economic impacts. We are in agreement that the impacts from 
the utility scale wind projects be treated separately, as they are one time in nature and are 
no longer part of the Energy Trust’s scope of work. 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 


www.energytrust.org 








2008  


Energy Trust  


Trade Ally Survey 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by 
Sarah Castor, Philipp Degens & Brien Sipe 
October 29, 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Executive Summary 
 
This report summarizes the results of the 2008 Energy Trust of Oregon Trade Ally Survey. Originally 
conceived as a feedback tool for the Communications department about various offerings for trade allies 
it has since expanded. Now in its fourth year, the survey is still focused on feedback but now includes a 
program/measure specific market research component. The rationale for collecting self-reported data 
from the trade allies about their specific markets is two-fold. First, any change in the proportion of various 
efficient technologies that are being installed by trade allies can be analyzed. Second, the Trade Ally 
survey can be compared to evaluations and program reports to corroborate the results. 
 
The 20081 Trade Ally Survey was sent via email to 616 trade allies when it was launched on May 6, 2008. 
The survey was closed June 7, 2008 with 104 complete surveys yielding a response rate of 17%. Survey 
respondents accounted for 11% of total incentives paid in 2006. Additionally, respondents accounted for 
16% of incentives affiliated with the 616 trade allies who were contacted for the survey.  


Key Findings & Recommendations 
 
General Trade Ally Findings 
Of those responding, 73 reported themselves as mainly working in the Residential program, 15 in 
Commercial, 6 in Industrial, 9 in Solar PV and Solar Thermal, and 1 respondent categorized themselves 
as “other”. Since the respondent who selected “other” was not asked follow-up questions about specific 
programs and measures, they have been dropped from the analysis. There were no respondents who 
worked mainly with “wind, hydro, or other renewables”.  
 


Table 2.1 Survey respondents by program 
 Count 


Residential 73 


Commercial 15 


Industrial 6 


Solar 9 


 
The four programs are analyzed separately. 
 
Specific measures reported on, with number of respondents in parentheses: 


Commercial 
• Lighting (8) 


 
Residential 


• Gas Furnace (24) 
• Heat Pump (10) 
• Windows (12) 
• New Site-Built Homes (11) 


 
General Program Demographics & ODOE tax credits 
Seventy percent of trade allies indicated that they have been working with the agency for more than two 
years. Almost one third (32 percent) received a majority of their revenue from projects involving Energy 


                                                   
 
1 To clarify confusion with the nomenclature, the ‘2008 report’ covers the 2007 program year. 







Trust incentives. The proportion of work done in Clark County, Washington was low, with 81percent of 
trade allies drawing less than a quarter of their revenue from that area. 
 
Despite most trade allies working with Energy Trust for several years, a notable portion were not 
completely familiar with Oregon Department of Energy tax credits.  Residential trade allies were the least 
familiar, with 42 percent only having heard of the tax credits or not knowing how to answer the question. 
This has been an issue in past trade ally surveys. 
 
Recommendation 


• Energy Trust should seek to provide trade allies with training on the tax credits and tools to help 
them promote the BETC and RETC to customers.  


 
 
Marketing, networking, rewards, and training feedback 
Trade allies were asked to rate their interest in various Communication related questions on a 1 to 5 
scale. 1 indicated ‘no interest’ while a 5 indicated ‘very interested’. The following figures represent the 
percentage of trade allies who responded that they were ‘interested’ (4) or ‘very interested’ (5) in various 
Energy Trust communication offerings. 
 


Marketing: 
• Cooperative advertising support………………………………...54% 
• Ad calling attention to Energy Trust programs………………... 48% 
• One-on-one marketing consulting provided by Energy Trust.. 37% 
• Marketing workshops……………………………………………. 39% 
• Marketing to boost Energy Trust brand recognition………….. 47% 


 
Networking Opportunities: 


• Networking within your specialty/trade………….……………... 37% 
• Networking within your program (across trade)………………. 39% 
• Networking within your region…………………....……............. 40% 


 
Rewards: 


• Scholarships to energy conferences………….……................. 40% 
• Publicity through press releases……………...…………………51% 
• Trade Ally of the month…….................................................... 32% 
• Case studies of trade allies…………………………….............. 32% 
• Award ceremonies……………………………………………….. 20% 


 
Training: 


• General training on Energy Trust programs……………………63% 
• Technical training on energy efficiency…………………………42% 
• Technical training on program measures and compliance….. 38% 
• Small business management…………………………………… 15% 


 
Recommendation 


• Trade allies were primarily interested in more training on Energy Trust programs. Rather than a 
comprehensive training that might cover most of the programs and aspects trade allies are 
already familiar with, Energy Trust might consider having a Question and Answer session, or 
making such a session part of a trade ally roundtable. 


 
 
Insider Newsletter 
Trade allies generally find the newsletter helpful, with a large majority reporting it was ‘somewhat’ helpful. 
However, 45 percent of trade allies were not fully aware of the newsletter. 
 







Recommendation 
• In the future, more specific survey questions should be employed to elicit feedback about vendor 


expectations of the newsletter. Open-ended comments suggested more informative articles 
covering problems trade allies encounter and related solutions, as well as progress updates on 
Energy Trust program goals. 


 
 
Energy Trust Website 
Most respondents visit the trade ally webpages occasionally, usually to download forms and view 
incentives. When asked for suggestions for changes to the website, most respondents requested 
improved navigation to find information more easily. The majority of trade allies were interested in online 
forms. 
 
Recommendation  


• When making website improvements consider giving priority to improving navigation, putting 
forms on one page, and enabling online form submission. 


 
 
Efficiency Program Satisfaction 
High levels of satisfaction were reported across all categories from trade allies.  
 
Percent expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 


• Overall satisfaction…………………..………….…………......... 78% 
• Interactions with staff……………...…………………………….. 73% 
• Response times……................................................................67% 
• Requests for information……………………………..................74% 
• Requests for help on forms……………………………………... 75% 


 
 
Renewable Program Satisfaction 
Renewable contractors indicated high levels of satisfaction across all categories, with the exception of 
paperwork approval and responsiveness to inquiries.  
 
Percent expressing ‘Satisfied’ or ‘Very satisfied’ responses for: 


• Overall satisfaction…………………..………….……………….. 78% 
• Turnaround time for paperwork approval.……………………...66% 
• Responsiveness of staff to inquiries ....................................... 66% 
• Quality of Energy Trust inspectors...………………................100% 
• Quality of your relationship with inspectors…….……………. 100% 


 
 
Commercial Trade Ally Findings and Recommendations 
Commercial respondents primarily installed lighting (8). 


 
Commercial lighting technology installations (weighted by firm size) 
Percent of fixtures installed: 


• Premium T8 – 40% 
• T5 – 39% 
• T8 – 20% 


 
 
Recommendation 


• Apart from occupancy sensors, relatively few projects involved the installation of lighting controls. 
Energy Trust may want to promote lighting controls more aggressively.   


 







 
Industrial Trade Ally findings 
Only 6 industrial trade allies responded to the survey; they reported a variety of primary measures 
installed.   
 
Recommendation  


• Low response rate among industrial vendors has been a consistent feature of trade ally surveys 
since 2005. For subsequent surveys, Energy Trust should explore ways to improve the response 
rate among vendors in this program, as it represents a substantial portion of the agency’s overall 
budget.  


 
 
Residential Trade Ally Findings and Recommendations 
The majority of residential respondents installed gas furnaces (24). This was followed by windows, heat 
pumps, insulation and site-built homes. 
 
Gas furnace installations in existing homes 


• 95% or more efficient – 43% 
• 90-94% efficient – 37% 
• 80-89% efficient – 20% 
 


Heat pump installations 
• HSPF 9.5 or more – 10% 
• HSPF 9.0-9.4 – 28% 
• HSPF 8.5-8.9 – 47%  
• HSPF 8.2-8.4 – 9% 
• HSPF code – 6% 


 
Window installations 


• 0.30 U value or less – 39% 
• 0.31-0.32 U value – 34% 
• 0.33-0.34 U value – 20% 
• 0.35 U value – 7% 


 
New homes 


• ENERGY STAR – 91% 
• Earth Advantage – 74% 
• ENERGY STAR and Earth Advantage – 66% 


 
Recommendation 


• The markets for gas furnaces and heat pumps have been dramatically transformed, and Energy 
Trust should consider adjusting its incentives for these measures. 


 
 
Solar Trade Ally Findings and Recommendations 
Most responding solar trade allies installed both photovoltaic and water heating systems in 2007.  Most of 
their revenue came from residential, rather than commercial, projects. All firms saw an increase in 
inquiries about solar electric systems compared to 2006, and were able to pursue almost all qualified 
leads. 
 
 
Recommendation 


• Among the programs, solar trade allies were the most interested in networking opportunities; 
Energy Trust should explore opportunities to introduce solar trade allies to other professionals in 
the field. 








 1 


 
 
 


MEMO 
 
 


Date: September 30, 2008 
  To: Management Team 


From: Tom Beverly, Trade Ally Network Manager 
Phil Degens, Evaluations Manager 


Subject: Staff Response to Trade Ally Survey Recommendations 
 
Each year, we survey our trade allies to obtain feedback about their interactions with our 
programs, and what we can do to improve their overall experience in working with Energy 
Trust. We also use the survey responses to feed into our budgeting process and determine 
what types of training or program enhancements we can provide to add value to being an 
Energy Trust trade ally. 
 
The surveys are not intended to be a statistically accurate sample of our trade allies, but 
rather are meant to be a helpful feedback mechanism. More statistically accurate samples 
are obtained through our formal program evaluations. 
 
The trade ally survey was fielded in May 2008, and asked trade allies to consider activities in 
2007 when they responded. The evaluations team offered the following recommendations in 
italics, based on the survey responses. Staff response follows each recommendation. Some of 
the actions have already been implemented, and others are in-process or will be put in place 
in 2009. 
 
Recommendation 1: Energy Trust should seek to provide trade allies with training on the tax 
credits and tools to help them promote the BETC and RETC to customers. 
 
We will solicit participation from the Oregon Department of Energy to provide breakout 
sessions covering tax credits at the Trade Ally roundtables in November and during the first 
quarter of 2009. We also will place links to tax credit information on our Web site where 
appropriate. Web site updates are underway. We will discuss tax credit outreach at the 
Oct. 30 ODOE coordination meetings and share the results of the trade ally survey with 
appropriate ODOE staff members. 
 
Recommendation 2: Trade allies were primarily interested in more training on Energy Trust 
programs. Rather than a comprehensive training that might cover most of the programs and 
aspects trade allies are already familiar with, Energy Trust might consider having a Question and 
Answer session, or making such a session part of a trade ally roundtable. 
 
We will include more question and answer periods in upcoming trade ally roundtables. We 
implemented a new meeting format with breakout sessions at the Portland roundtable 


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 97204 


 


Telephone: 1-866-368-7878 
Facsimile: 503-543-6862 
energytrust.org 







 2 


meetings on September 11 and 12. The breakouts included a discussion of our planning 
process. This particular session wasn’t well attended, although attendees claimed the 
discussion was helpful. We will increase the amount of open discussion time at the 
roundtable meetings in November and in 2009 to allow more questions about Energy Trust 
programs. We have also implemented program orientation meetings for trade allies joining 
the New Buildings and Home Energy Solutions program. 
 
Recommendation 3: In the future, more specific survey questions should be employed to elicit 
feedback about vendor expectations of the newsletter. Open-ended comments suggested more 
informative articles covering problems trade allies encounter and related solutions, as well as 
progress updates on Energy Trust program goals. 
 
We will review the questions for the next annual survey and design them to obtain more 
specific feedback about our e-newsletter, Insider, and our communications with trade allies. 
We also will implement new columns in each issue, starting in January 2009, to address 
technical issues and common trade ally concerns. Each program will have a designated 
technical person to provide a feature story on a rotating basis. 
 
Recommendation 4: When making website improvements consider giving priority to improving 
navigation, putting forms on one page, and enabling online form submission. 
 
Web site improvements are underway as a part of our usability study. The trade ally pages 
are included in the plan to improve navigation, content, and overall value of our Web site. 
Our plans include simplified access to forms, trade ally bulletin boards, access to program 
training videos, and improved technical information. Online form submission will be 
implemented by Energy Star Products, and rolled out to other programs throughout 2009. 
 
Recommendation 5: Apart from occupancy sensors, relatively few projects involved the 
installation of lighting controls. Energy Trust may want to promote lighting controls more 
aggressively. 
 
We will share this information with commercial sector management so they can consider 
changes in 2009.  
 
Recommendation 6: Low response rate among industrial vendors has been a consistent feature 
of trade ally surveys since 2005. For subsequent surveys, Energy Trust should explore ways to 
improve the response rate among vendors in this program, as it represents a substantial portion of 
the agency’s overall budget. 
 
When we announce the next survey, we will target small groups of trade allies who 
previously have responded in low numbers. Individual letters or phone calls will help 
improve the response rate for the next survey. 
 
Recommendation 7: The markets for gas furnaces and heat pumps have been dramatically 
transformed, and Energy Trust should consider adjusting its incentives for these measures. 
 
This recommendation will be shared with residential sector management to determine new 
incentive levels and measures prior to the scheduled incentive updates in March 2009.  
 







 3 


Recommendation 8: Among the programs, solar trade allies were the most interested in 
networking opportunities; Energy Trust should explore opportunities to introduce solar trade allies to 
other professionals in the field. 
 
Solar trade allies are being included in the roundtable sessions, and there is active 
participation from program staff members to draw more solar trade allies to meetings. The 
roundtables are a great vehicle for networking among the trades since trade allies from all of 
our programs are represented. We will continue offering breakout sessions to draw solar 
trade allies to these sessions. 








 


  


Appendix


B: Glossary 


This glossary is based primarily on three evaluation-
related reference documents: 


1. 	2007 IPMVP 


2. 	2004 California Evaluation Framework 


3. 	2006 DOE EERE Guide for Managing General Pro
gram Evaluation Studies 


In some cases, the defi nitions presented here differ 
slightly from the reference documents. This is due to dis
crepancies across documents and author interpretations. 


Additionality: A criterion that says avoided emis
sions should only be recognized for project activities or 
programs that would not have “happened anyway.” 
While there is general agreement that additionality is 
important, its meaning and application remain open to 
interpretation. 


Adjustments: For M&V analyses, factors that modify 
baseline energy or demand values to account for in
dependent variable values (conditions) in the reporting 
period. 


Allowances:  Allowances represent the amount of 
a pollutant that a source is permitted to emit during 
a specifi ed time in the future under a cap and trade 
program.. Allowances are often confused with credits 
earned in the context of project-based or offset pro
grams, in which sources trade with other facilities to 
attain compliance with a conventional regulatory re
quirement. Cap and trade program basics are discussed 
at the following EPA Web site: <http://www.epa.gov/ 
airmarkets/cap-trade/index.html>. 


Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) model. A type of 
regression model also referred to as a “fi xed effects” 
model. 


Assessment boundary: The boundary within which 
all the primary effects and signifi cant secondary effects 
associated with a project are evaluated. 


Baseline: Conditions, including energy consump
tion and related emissions, that would have occurred 
without implementation of the subject project or pro
gram. Baseline conditions are sometimes referred to as 
“business-as-usual” conditions. Baselines are defi ned as 
either project-specifi c baselines or performance stan
dard baselines. 


Baseline period:  The period of time selected as rep
resentative of facility operations before the energy 
effi ciency activity takes place. 


Bias:  The extent to which a measurement or a sampling 
or analytic method systematically underestimates or 
overestimates a value. 


California Measurement Advisory Council (CALMAC): 
An informal committee made up of representatives of 
the California utilities, state agencies, and other inter
ested parties. CALMAC provides a forum for the devel
opment, implementation, presentation, discussion, and 
review of regional and statewide market assessment 
and evaluation studies for California energy effi ciency 
programs conducted by member organizations. 


Co-benefi ts:  The impacts of an energy effi ciency pro
gram other than energy and demand savings. 


Coincident demand:  The metered demand of a device, 
circuit, or building that occurs at the same time as the 
peak demand of a utility’s system load or at the same 
time as some other peak of interest, such as building or 
facility peak demand. This should be expressed so as to 
indicate the peak of interest (e.g., “demand coincident 
with the utility system peak”) Diversity factor is defi ned 
as the ratio of the sum of the demands of a group of 


National Action Plan for Energy Effi ciency	 Appendix B-1 







  


 


 


 
 
 


 
 


 
 
 


 
 


 
 
 
 


users to their coincident maximum demand. Therefore, 
diversity factors are always equal to one or greater. 


Comparison group:  A group of consumers who did 
not participate in the evaluated program during the 
program year and who share as many characteristics as 
possible with the participant group. 


Conditional Savings Analysis (CSA): A type of analy
sis in which change in consumption modeled using re
gression analysis against presence or absence of energy 
effi ciency measures. 


Confi dence: An indication of how close a value is to 
the true value of the quantity in question. Confi dence is 
the likelihood that the evaluation has captured the true 
impacts of the program within a certain range of values 
(i.e., precision). 


Cost-effectiveness:  An indicator of the relative perfor
mance or economic attractiveness of any energy ef
fi ciency investment or practice. In the energy effi ciency 
fi eld, the present value of the estimated benefi ts pro
duced by an energy effi ciency program is compared to 
the estimated total costs to determine if the proposed 
investment or measure is desirable from a variety of per
spectives (e.g., whether the estimated benefi ts exceed 
the estimated costs from a societal perspective). 


Database for Energy-Efficient Resources (DEER): 
A California database designed to provide well-docu
mented estimates of energy and peak demand savings 
values, measure costs, and effective useful life. 


Deemed savings: An estimate of an energy savings or 
energy-demand savings outcome (gross savings) for a 
single unit of an installed energy effi ciency measure that 
(a) has been developed from data sources and analytical 
methods that are widely considered acceptable for the 
measure and purpose and (b) is applicable to the situa
tion being evaluated. 


Demand:  The time rate of energy fl ow. Demand usually 
refers to electric power measured in kW (equals kWh/h) 
but can also refer to natural gas, usually as Btu/hr, kBtu/ 
hr, therms/day, etc. 


Direct emissions:  Direct emissions are changes in emis
sions at the site (controlled by the project sponsor or 
owner) where the project takes place. Direct emissions 
are the source of avoided emissions for thermal energy 
effi ciency measures (e.g., avoided emissions from burn
ing natural gas in a water heater). 


Effective useful life: An estimate of the median num
ber of years that the effi ciency measures installed under 
a program are still in place and operable. 


Energy effi ciency:  The use of less energy to provide the 
same or an improved level of service to the energy con
sumer in an economically efficient way; or using less ener
gy to perform the same function. “Energy conservation” is 
a term that has also been used, but it has the connotation 
of doing without a service in order to save energy rather 
than using less energy to perform the same function. 


Energy effi ciency measure: Installation of equipment, 
subsystems or systems, or modifi cation of equipment, 
subsystems, systems, or operations on the customer 
side of the meter, for the purpose of reducing energy 
and/or demand (and, hence, energy and/or demand 
costs) at a comparable level of service. 


Engineering model: Engineering equations used to 
calculate energy usage and savings. These models are 
usually based on a quantitative description of physical 
processes that transform delivered energy into useful 
work such as heat, lighting, or motor drive. In practice, 
these models may be reduced to simple equations in 
spreadsheets that calculate energy usage or savings as a 
function of measurable attributes of customers, facilities, 
or equipment (e.g., lighting use = watts × hours of use). 


Error:  Deviation of measurements from the true value. 


Evaluation: The performance of studies and activities 
aimed at determining the effects of a program; any of 
a wide range of assessment activities associated with 
understanding or documenting program performance, 
assessing program or program-related markets and mar
ket operations; any of a wide range of evaluative efforts 
including assessing program-induced changes in energy 
effi ciency markets, levels of demand or energy savings, 
and program cost-effectiveness. 


Appendix B-2 Model Energy Effi ciency Program Impact Evaluation Guide 







 


 
 


 
 


Ex ante savings estimate:  Forecasted savings used 
for program and portfolio planning purposes. (From the 
Latin for “beforehand.”) 


Ex post evaluation estimated savings: Savings esti
mates reported by an evaluator after the energy impact 
evaluation has been completed. (From the Latin for 
“from something done afterward.”) 


Free driver:  A non-participant who has adopted a par
ticular effi ciency measure or practice as a result of the 
evaluated program. 


Free rider:  A program participant who would have 
implemented the program measure or practice in the 
absence of the program. Free riders can be total, partial, 
or deferred. 


Gross savings: The change in energy consumption 
and/or demand that results directly from program-
related actions taken by participants in an effi ciency 
program, regardless of why they participated. 


Impact evaluation:  An evaluation of the program-specif
ic, directly induced changes (e.g., energy and/or demand 
usage) attributable to an energy effi ciency program. 


Independent variables:  The factors that affect en
ergy use and demand, but cannot be controlled (e.g., 
weather or occupancy). 


Indirect emissions: Changes in emissions that occur 
at the emissions source (e.g., the power plant). Indirect 
emissions are the source of avoided emissions for elec
tric energy effi ciency measures. 


Interactive factors: Applicable to IPMVP Options A 
and B; changes in energy use or demand occurring be
yond the measurement boundary of the M&V analysis. 


Leakage: In the context of avoided emissions, emis
sions changes resulting from a project or program not 
captured by the primary effect (typically the small, unin
tended emissions consequences). Sometimes used inter
changeably with “secondary effects,” although leakage 
is a more “global” issue whereas secondary, interactive 
effects tend to be considered within the facility where a 
project takes place. 


Load shapes:  Representations such as graphs, tables, 
and databases that describe energy consumption rates 
as a function of another variable such as time or out
door air temperature. 


Market effect evaluation: An evaluation of the 
change in the structure or functioning of a market, or 
the behavior of participants in a market, that results 
from one or more program efforts. Typically the resul
tant market or behavior change leads to an increase in 
the adoption of energy-effi cient products, services, or 
practices. 


Market transformation:  A reduction in market barri
ers resulting from a market intervention, as evidenced 
by a set of market effects, that lasts after the interven
tion has been withdrawn, reduced, or changed. 


Measurement:  A procedure for assigning a number to 
an observed object or event. 


Measurement and verifi cation (M&V): Data col
lection, monitoring, and analysis associated with the 
calculation of gross energy and demand savings from 
individual sites or projects. M&V can be a subset of 
program impact evaluation. 


Measurement boundary: The boundary of the 
analysis for determining direct energy and/or demand 
savings. 


Metering: The collection of energy consumption data 
over time through the use of meters. These meters may 
collect information with respect to an end-use, a circuit, 
a piece of equipment, or a whole building (or facility). 
Short-term metering generally refers to data collection 
for no more than a few weeks. End-use metering refers 
specifi cally to separate data collection for one or more 
end-uses in a facility, such as lighting, air condition
ing or refrigeration. Spot metering is an instantaneous 
measurement (rather than over time) to determine an 
energy consumption rate. 


Monitoring:  Gathering of relevant measurement data, 
including but not limited to energy consumption data, 
over time to evaluate equipment or system performance, 
e.g., chiller electric demand, inlet evaporator temperature 


National Action Plan for Energy Effi ciency Appendix B-3 







 
 
 


 
 


 
 


and fl ow, outlet evaporator temperature, condenser inlet 
temperature, and ambient dry-bulb temperature and 
relative humidity or wet-bulb temperature, for use in 
developing a chiller performance map (e.g., kW/ton vs. 
cooling load and vs. condenser inlet temperature). 


Net savings: The total change in load that is attribut
able to an energy effi ciency program. This change in 
load may include, implicitly or explicitly, the effects of 
free drivers, free riders, energy effi ciency standards, 
changes in the level of energy service, and other causes 
of changes in energy consumption or demand. 


Net-to-gross ratio (NTGR):  A factor representing net 
program savings divided by gross program savings that 
is applied to gross program impacts to convert them 
into net program load impacts. 


Non-participant: Any consumer who was eligible but 
did not participate in the subject effi ciency program, 
in a given program year. Each evaluation plan should 
provide a defi nition of a non-participant as it applies to 
a specifi c evaluation. 


Normalized annual consumption (NAC) analysis: A 
regression-based method that analyzes monthly energy 
consumption data. 


Participant:  A consumer that received a service of
fered through the subject effi ciency program, in a given 
program year. The term “service” is used in this defi ni
tion to suggest that the service can be a wide variety 
of services, including fi nancial rebates, technical assis
tance, product installations, training, energy effi ciency 
information or other services, items, or conditions. Each 
evaluation plan should defi ne “participant” as it applies 
to the specifi c evaluation. 


Peak demand:  The maximum level of metered demand 
during a specifi ed period, such as a billing month or a 
peak demand period. 


Persistence study:  A study to assess changes in program 
impacts over time (including retention and degradation). 


Portfolio:  Either (a) a collection of similar programs 
addressing the same market (e.g., a portfolio of 
residential programs), technology (e.g., motor effi ciency 


programs), or mechanisms (e.g., loan programs) or (b) 
the set of all programs conducted by one organization, 
such as a utility (and which could include programs that 
cover multiple markets, technologies, etc.). 


Potential studies: Studies conducted to assess market 
baselines and savings potentials for different technolo
gies and customer markets. Potential is typically defi ned 
in terms of technical potential, market potential, and 
economic potential. 


Precision:  The indication of the closeness of agreement 
among repeated measurements of the same physical 
quantity. 


Primary effects:  Effects that the project or program 
are intended to achieve. For effi ciency programs, this is 
primarily a reduction in energy use per unit of output. 


Process evaluation: A systematic assessment of an en
ergy effi ciency program for the purposes of document
ing program operations at the time of the examination, 
and identifying and recommending improvements to 
increase the program’s effi ciency or effectiveness for 
acquiring energy resources while maintaining high levels 
of participant satisfaction. 


Program:  A group of projects, with similar charac
teristics and installed in similar applications. Examples 
could include a utility program to install energy-effi cient 
lighting in commercial buildings, a developer’s program 
to build a subdivision of homes that have photovoltaic 
systems, or a state residential energy effi ciency code 
program. 


Project: An activity or course of action involving one or 
multiple energy effi ciency measures, at a single facility 
or site. 


Rebound effect: A change in energy-using behavior 
that yields an increased level of service and occurs as a 
result of taking an energy effi ciency action. 


Regression analysis:  Analysis of the relationship 
between a dependent variable (response variable) to 
specifi ed independent variables (explanatory variables). 
The mathematical model of their relationship is the 
regression equation. 


Appendix B-4 Model Energy Effi ciency Program Impact Evaluation Guide 







Reliability: Refers to the likelihood that the observa
tions can be replicated. 


Reporting period: The time following implementation 
of an energy effi ciency activity during which savings are 
to be determined. 


Resource acquisition program:  Programs designed 
to directly achieve energy and or demand savings, and 
possibly avoided emissions 


Retrofi t isolation:  The savings measurement approach 
defi ned in IPMVP Options A and B, and ASHRAE Guide
line 14, that determines energy or demand savings 
through the use of meters to isolate the energy fl ows 
for the system(s) under consideration. 


Rigor:  The level of expected confi dence and precision. 
The higher the level of rigor, the more confi dent one is 
that the results of the evaluation are both accurate and 
precise. 


Secondary effects:  Unintended impacts of the project 
or program such as rebound effect (e.g., increasing en
ergy use as it becomes more effi cient and less costly to 


use), activity shifting (e.g., when generation resources 
move to another location), and market leakage (e.g., 
emission changes due to changes in supply or demand 
of commercial markets). These secondary effects can be 
positive or negative. 


Spillover: Reductions in energy consumption and/or 
demand caused by the presence of the energy effi ciency 
program, beyond the program-related gross savings of 
the participants. There can be participant and/or non
participant spillover. 


Statistically adjusted engineering (SAE) models: A 
category of statistical analysis models that incorporate 
the engineering estimate of savings as a dependent 
variable. 


Stipulated values: See “deemed savings.” 


Takeback effect:  See “rebound effect.” 


Uncertainty:  The range or interval of doubt surround
ing a measured or calculated value within which the 
true value is expected to fall within some degree of 
confi dence. 


National Action Plan for Energy Effi ciency Appendix B-5 





		epa evaluation_guide 111.pdf

		epa evaluation_guide 112.pdf

		epa evaluation_guide 113.pdf

		epa evaluation_guide 114.pdf

		epa evaluation_guide 115.pdf










 


 


 


Staff Report 
November 12, 2008 


This report from Margie Harris is on behalf of all staff and spans the period August 11, 2008, through 
October 24, 2008. Items not otherwise addressed in this board packet are described here. 


General 
• Margie arranged meetings for Board president John Reynolds to meet Dave Van’t Hof of 


Governor Kulongoski’s office; Claire Fulenwider of the NW Energy Efficiency Alliance and Pat 
Egan of Pacific Power. 


• Margie participated and spoke at the Governor’s Energy Summit on August 27th.  
• Energy Efficiency staff and Margie attended and in many cases, presented, at the American 


Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ACEEE) summer study conference, bringing new 
learning back to Energy Trust. 


• The strategic planning committee of the NW Energy Efficiency Alliance completed its outreach 
on the final draft strategic plan and brought it forward for Board consideration in late October. 
The board acted by indicating that the plan was sufficient to set direction for the organization 
and continued its work on both the business plan and funding options for 2010. 


• Along with other energy representatives from throughout the state, Margie participated in a 
meeting with members of a Thailand delegation visiting Oregon to learn about our history, 
policies, programs and accomplishments. 


• Participated in PGE’s Business Appreciation luncheon, recognizing small companies who made a 
pledge to reduce their energy use. 


• Energy Trust will begin providing energy efficiency services to NW Natural commercial and 
industrial customers on Schedules 3, 31, and 32, representing firm and interruptible customers. 
Under a stipulated agreement with NW Natural, OPUC, and the Northwest Industrial Gas 
Users; details of the funding mechanism, budget and goals are being worked out at this time 


• The interim, 18-month Public Purpose Funding report to the Oregon Legislature is in final draft 
form for staff review; the report is being compiled by EcoNorthwest, the same firm selected for 
the prior bi-annual report. 


• Phase I of the Energy Trust “Solutions” advertising campaign was launched in September and 
runs through mid-November. The media buy includes print, radio, and online ads, and an update 
to Energy Trust’s OPB sponsorship (radio/TV). Where appropriate, ads are cobranded with our 
utility partners.  


• Energy Trust is well represented on the Northwest Energy Efficiency Task Force, aimed at 
ramping up efficiency’s share of the power supply. Margie serves on the executive committee 
and numerous Energy Trust staff are participating in working groups and subcommittees.  


Program Planning and Evaluation 


General 
• Completed documentation and reporting for the 2008 true-up of prior years’ savings and 


generation based on evaluations and other new information. The summary report enclosed in 
this packet shows that changes to savings and generation were small. 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 2 of 9 


• Completed the study of the economic impacts of Energy Trust’s 2007 programs, enclosed in this 
packet. 


• OPUC performance measures for 2008 and 2009 were approved and are included as an 
attachment to the Action Plan in the budget binder. 


• Cost effectiveness analyses were completed for turndown of residential water heaters. Home 
reviewers who have performed turndowns will now claim savings. 


Commercial and Industrial 
• In cooperation with NEEA, started an analysis of how Northwest buildings perform using the 


ENERGY STAR portfolio manager benchmarking tool. One Legislative concept from the 
Governor’s Energy Efficiency working group would require "benchmarking" or disclosure of 
energy usage at the time a building is sold. 


• Initiated design of a three-state coordinated initiative to accelerate achievement of zero net 
energy new commercial buildings in Oregon, Washington, and California. Utility regulators, 
program providers, engineers, architects and others from all three states will meet on 
November 3 to identify key areas of coordination and organize toward a January meeting to 
charter the group. 


• Cost effectiveness analyses were completed for: 
- Various grocer measures including anti-sweat (condensation) for coolers, heater 


controls, night covers, and evaporator fan motor controls 
- Commercial clothes washer incentives and savings for multi-family and laundromats 
- Green motor rewind measures 
- Sprinkler irrigation measures 
- Revised ice machine measures, adding a tiered incentive structure to stay ahead of 


forthcoming code change 


NW Alliance Evaluations 
• Market progress evaluation reports were completed for the following programs in the last 3 


months and are available on the NW Alliance website (www.nwalliance.org): 
- Long term monitoring and tracking report on 2007 activities 
- ENERGY STAR Homes Northwest Program Evaluation Report #5 
- Baseline characteristics of the 2002-2004 nonresidential sector: Idaho, Montana, 


Oregon, and Washington 


Efficiency Programs 


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® New Homes 
• Developing Trade Ally category and training for architects and designers. 
• Strengthening the Energy Performance Score process for late fall implementation. 
• Increasing rate of manufactured home incentives claimed – up 25% from 2007.  


Home Energy Solutions—ENERGY STAR® Products 
• Processing record numbers of clothes washer applications. 
• Uptake on the refrigerator recycling initiative slower than hoped. 
• Working with IT to roll out web-based form for clothes washers and refrigerators. 


Home Energy Solutions—Existing Homes 
• Launched gas promotion September 1, bundling measures and providing an additional $100 for 


every weatherization measure over the first plus an additional $50 on furnaces.  







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 3 of 9 


• Logged 3,353 inbound calls in September 2008 compared to 2,000 calls in September 2007.  
• Committed 95% of multifamily program budget for 2008 projects.  


Business Energy Solutions—New Buildings  
• Transitioning program delivery from SAIC to PECI. Effective November 1, 2008, PECI will 


assume responsibilities for all outreach and recruiting activities, while SAIC will focus on closing 
out 2008 projects. 


Business Energy Solutions—Existing Buildings 
• Launched a grocery initiative targeting small and large grocery stores. 
• Recognized Lyn Schmidt, who was named Oregon Lodging Association Industry Partner of the 


Year. 
• Collaborating closely with PGE on their "Make a Pledge" campaign for commercial customers. 
• Will launch municipality target initiative in October and November. 


Business Energy Solutions—Production Efficiency 
• Released new prescriptive measures for irrigation equipment and compressed air systems. 
•  Added two new Program Delivery Contractors: Nexant and Strategic Energy Group. Nexant 


will deliver program services to Deschutes, Jefferson, and Crook counties as well as head a High 
Tech Strategy pilot in 2009. Strategic Energy Group will deliver a 2-year pilot focusing on 
continuous improvement for energy management. 


• Began collaboration effort with Oregon Manufacturing Extension Partnership to integrate energy 
efficiency with lean manufacturing assessments delivered through Oregon Manufacturing 
Extension Partnership (OMEP).  


Renewable Energy 


Open Solicitation 
• Provided funding for a feasibility study examining a geothermal electric project on the Klamath 


Falls campus of Oregon Institute of Technology and three hydro feasibility studies on ranches in 
Eastern Oregon. 


• Began an assessment of the non-stream hydropower resources available in the PGE and Pacific 
Power service territories. 


• Helped coordinate a media event celebrating the construction of the 1.1 MW PGE/ProLogis 
solar project. 


• Made presentations at the Northwest Hydropower Association workshop on small hydro and a 
tribal energy conference in Eugene. 


• Attended international conference of the Geothermal Resources Council. 


Wind 
• Paid an incentive for a 1.8 kW demonstration small wind system at Hood River Valley High 


School.  
• Paid an incentive for a 5 kW residential small wind system in Independence. 
• Signed a contract for a 7.2 kW building integrated wind turbine project in Portland. 
• Received application for 800 kW community wind project near Hermiston. 
• Installed a tall tower anemometer in Sherman County. 
• Completed wind resource reports for the tall tower in Sherman County and the short tower 


anemometers in Sherman and Clatsop counties. 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 4 of 9 


• Held a small wind seminar in Hood River (35 attendees). 
• Presented at full-day wind workshops given by NW SEED in Hood River, Moro, Pendleton, and 


Baker City. 


Biopower 
• Approved co-funding of feasibility studies for City of Salem and Medford Wastewater Treatment 


plants to evaluate opportunities to increase generation capacity and evaluate alternative 
generation technologies. 


• Approved co-funding for a feasibility study with Lane County to evaluate opportunities to add 
economic value to rye grass straw through renewable energy or fuel production. ETO funding 
will focus on anaerobic digestion as the energy conversion process. 


• Received a final application for incentive funding of a landfill gas-to-energy project at the Douglas 
County Landfill. 


• Toured the cogeneration facility at Rough & Ready Lumber mill in Cave Junction and met with 
mill owners. Plant staff is integrating the new power production process into the mill operation 
and expects to be at full production by the end of the year. 


• Attended the annual Biocycle Conference in Madison, Wisconsin focused on anaerobic digestion 
of organic waste streams. 


Solar 
• Oversaw progress toward launch of Green Street Lending, an alliance between Energy Trust 


and Umpqua Bank to co-promote loans for energy efficiency and solar energy systems available 
to Energy Trust residential homeowners and small business participants. 


• Participated in the Renewable Energy Working Group to develop a legislative concept for new 
funding for solar electric systems paid as a production-based incentive. 


• Attended Solar Power 2008 photovoltaic conference in San Diego and presented Energy Trust’s 
solar program to the Interstate Renewable Energy Council.  


• Recommended that the Oregon Plumbing Board adopt a national standard for residential solar 
water heaters to allow higher efficiency systems in Oregon; received unanimous support. 


• Reviewed above market cost of several projects proposed to PGE through its RFP for new 
renewable generation. 


Communication, Marketing and Outreach 


Call Center/Customer Service 
•      Held fall marketing plan training for both CSG and Energy Trust call centers. 
• Provided Umpqua Bank information and training for both call centers.  
• Trained Umpqua Bank business relationship managers on Energy Trust programs.  







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 5 of 9 


500


1000


1500


2000


2500


3000


3500


4000


Calls 3839 1718 2259 1476 1485 2260 3267 3729 2189 2597 2118 2136 2309 2273 2426 2844 2697 3730


Apr 
07


May 
07


Jun 
07


Jul 07
Aug 
07


Sep 
07


Oct 
07


Nov 
07


Dec 
07


Jan 
08


Feb 
08


Mar 
08


Apr 
08


May 
08


Jun 
08


Jul 08
Aug 
08


Sep 
08


Call Volume


0


20000


40000


60000


80000


100000


120000


140000


160000


180000


200000


Visits 73259 82837 78527 68417 84039 71316 92252 110872 109708 76926 72026 55529 66031


WebTrends 101947 135549 93384 151570 179007 172679 117601 107462 87393 97866


Sep 07 Oct 07 Nov 07 Dec 07 Jan 08 Feb 08 Mar 08 Apr 08 May 08 Jun 08 Jul 08 Aug 08 Sep 08


Web Site Visits


 
Call Volumes through 09/2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Website 


• Posted three new Web pages for the fall campaign: see www.energytrust.org/solutions, 
www.energytrust.org/commercial, and www.energytrust.org/solutions/for_homes.php  


• Replaced Open Solicitation with three new sections: Hydroelectricity, Geothermal and Grants & 
Proposals, go to the Renewables landing page to see the new photo boxes that will take you to 
each of these sections.  


• Posted our first video, on Home Performance with ENERGY STAR Educational Video on our 
HPwES Web page in the Home Energy Solutions section of the Web site.  


• Posted a page for renters with low-cost tips for increasing the energy efficiency of their homes 
and a link to a flyer to download and give to their landlord; see www.energytrust.org/renters.  


• Posted a new tool for Business Energy Solutions customers to help them weigh the costs and 
benefits of proposed energy efficiency measures; try it out!  


 
Web Visits through 09/2008 
 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 6 of 9 


 


Trade Ally Initiative 
• Completed renewal for Existing Buildings trade allies. 
• Met with possible vendor for online training services for trade allies. 
• Coordinated attendance at trade ally meetings to learn about new Umpqua Bank loan products. 
• Provided training materials for Umpqua Bank staff to use at trade ally meetings. 
• Met with Blue Mountain Homebuilders’ Association in Baker City to discuss cooperation on 


training and outreach to potential trade allies. 
• Updated trade ally roundtable meetings based on trade ally requests for breakout sessions and 


new format. 
  


Community Energy 
• Met monthly with Corvallis Energy Challenge steering committee. 
• Hosted three three-hour workshops by Solar Oregon—one each on solar electric, solar 


thermal and passive solar design—that drew 103, 85 and 45 attendees, the largest ever turnouts 
for these workshops (Sept. 8, Oct. 4, Oct. 18). 


• Hosted a talk by Dick Wanderscheid, City of Ashland utility director, on community energy 
independence (Oct. 6). 


• Staffed exhibit at third Corvallis Sustainability Action Plan Town Hall (Oct. 7). 
• Hosted two workshops by Dave Hutchins, manager of Energy Trust/CSG’s Home Performance 


with ENERGY STAR, on winterizing your home (Oct. 24, 25). 
• Since March 1, 678 home energy reviews have been completed, compared to 134 in the same 


period in 2007; 44 business walkthroughs have been completed (not offered in 2007).  


Events, Speaking Engagements and Sponsorships 
• Spoke at Douglas County Tour of Solar Homes, League of Oregon Cities conference, and 


Douglas County Alternative Energy Forum.  


Creative Products 
• Created 83 new and resized advertisements: 18 commercial, 35 residential, 7 renewables and 23 


general.  
• Produced Spanish versions of fact sheets representing Existing Buildings and Home Energy 


Solutions programs.  
• Produced brochures representing municipalities for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency 


programs and Commercial Solar Now.  
• Produced fact sheets representing Open Solicitation, Existing Buildings and Small Wind 


programs.  
• Produced case studies representing New Buildings, Production Efficiency and Small Wind 


programs.  
• Produced and released 2 newsletters: Synergy (general, monthly) and Pit Stop (internal, 


monthly).  
• Oversaw development of two Energy Saver Kits—one directed to Pacific Power customers, 


mailed to over 8,000 people throughout the state and one directed to schools as an exercise for 
sixth graders to be mailed to 10,000 schools throughout the state.  


Public Relations, News Releases and Media Events 
• Finalized PR plan for fall/winter “Solutions” campaign and residential programs. 
• Distributed a release to announce Energy Trust’s new fall incentives to media statewide (9/18). 
• Distributed release to announce first Green Building Fund scholarship award winner (9/29). 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 7 of 9 


• Distributed a release with tips to save energy this fall; sent in two parts to avoid news traffic 
around economy and VP debate (10/2 and 10/6). 


• Joined with Pacific Power on a release to offer free Energy Saver Kits to coastal residents. 
(9/12). 


• Joined with NW Natural on a release to provide tips to save as energy costs rise and promote 
media opportunity to see a Home Energy Review and talk with an expert. (9/29). 


• Joined with Umpqua Bank on a release to announce GreenStreet Lending (10/7).  
• Developed and sent a letter about refrigerator recycling to Oregon Home magazine in response 


to editor’s column about her old refrigerator. 
• Identified expert media contacts (both general and technical) from Energy Trust and CSG; 


conducted a half day media training with opportunities for practice interviews.  
• Pitched media to secure contributing expert opportunities. 
• Coordinated interviews with four Clear Channel radio stations of Energy Trust expert Shawn 


O’Neill (CSG-Home Energy Reviewer) as part of the fall ad buy. Interviews took place with 
KEX, K103, KPOJ and KQOL (aired week of 9/22). 


• Coordinated KGW TV news story of Energy Trust expert, Shawn O’Neill, conducting a Home 
Energy Review and provided weatherization tips at a staff member’s house; reporter went live 
outside home and story aired at both 5:00 and 6:00 evening news hours for a total coverage 
value of $5,457 based on ad value, or $16,371 publicity value. 


• Wrote and submitted “energy corner” articles for the Main Ingredient, the Oregon Restaurant 
Association’s monthly magazine. 


• Wrote and submitted energy story to Oregon Lodging Association newsletter.  


Operations, Contracts, Human Resources, Finance and Information 
Technology 


Finance 
• Prepared the 18-month public purpose charge financial report for the legislature.  
• Completed the draft budget and projection for 2009/2010.  
• Completed the forecast through year-end 2008.  
• Participated in internal control interviews and validated internal control documentation.  
• Developed plan and began implementing internal control improvements recommended in the 


review.  
• Selected an outsource solution for tracking contractor insurance certificates.  
• Developed business requirements for 1099 reporting in the new data mart.  
• Developed business requirements for streamlined corrections to incentive payments. 
• Developed requirements and reviewed solutions for new payroll and timekeeping service 


providers.  
• Developed new financial report formats for program managers.  
• Began planning for the 2008 external financial audit.  


Human Resources and Office Management 
• Participated in Living Building Initiative steering committee, a consortium of non-profit 


organizations considering shared office space and interested in advancing the zero net energy 
buildings. 


• The Tompkins Group completed a comprehensive salary and benefits survey for current Energy 
Trust staff positions. 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 8 of 9 


• Accepted the resignation of Teresa Scott, Lead Business Systems Analyst; Teresa accepted a 
position working for a software company in Beaverton.  


• Hired Max Mizejewski as an intern in the legal department; Max has a law degree from 
University of California Berkeley and most recently worked for HDR Engineering.  


• Provided facilitation and meeting management staff training as a follow up request from the 
employee survey.  


• Provided a brown-bag training through our Employee Assistance Program provider on managing 
stress.  


• Recruited for a renewable energy business program manager.  
• Recruited for senior technical business systems analyst.  


Legal and Contracts 
• Drafted transition contracts for the New Buildings program management contractor.  
• Presented at Oregon State Bar Municipal Sustainability Projects continuing legal education 


conference. 


Information Technology 
• Submitted the 2009 and 2010 budgets and resource needs. 
• Developed the 2008 4th quarter forecast. 
• Developed a plan for accomplishing the 18 IT-focused recommendations from the Rasmussen 


assessment over the next 10 months. 
• Engaged a contractor to organize and develop necessary IT policies over the next 6 to 9 


months. 
• Revised the senior business analysis lead position to an analyst position, a change that will delay 


the schedule for the data warehouse initiatives by two to three months; the IT manager will 
assume the team management responsibilities formerly assigned to this position.  


• Delayed the initiation of the IT enterprise resource plan to 2009 because of staff transitions and 
subsequent workload increases for existing staff. 


• Fast track team: 
- Fielded two FastTrack builds with user interface improvements and bug fixes 
- Developed integration for the green motor rewind program 
- Designed an import template for home energy saver kits 
- Worked with the Energy Efficiency group on an approach to provide consolidated data 


from all utilities to the Apogee tool 
• Web forms project: 


- Posted the refrigerator and clothes washer form and received 100 applications via the 
web 


- Developing an electronic method of capturing receipt images, to be deployed within the 
next 2 months 


• Business systems team: 
- Completed a total of 183 help desk tickets, including 27 data imports and 54 report 


requests 
- Transitioned the quarterly report process to the business systems team 


• Data warehouse project: 
- Completed the design of the 1099 data mart; determined that a data mart structure may 


not support immediate turnaround of data corrections and therefore reverted to 
modifying last year’s reports to meet a short-term request 


- Completed document retention business requirements and report design 
• Infrastructure team: 







Staff Report November 12, 2008 


Page 9 of 9 


- Installed a new server to host the Stata software for planning and evaluation group; 
server will be virtualized to support other applications 


- Worked with our support vendor to move the Great Plains accounting and associated 
systems to a new server 


- Setup a feedback mechanism from the Track IT work order system 
 
 


 
 








 


 


 
 
Board Briefing 
True Up 2008:   Tracking Estimate Corrections and True 
Up of 2002-2007 Savings and Generation 
November 12, 2008 


Introduction 
This report presents the 2008 adjustments to reports of Energy Trust-funded energy savings and renewable 
energy generation for the calendar years 2002-2007. The True Up analysis, which occurs annually, reports 
the best available current energy savings and generation figures for Energy Trust-funded programs.  
 
This report summarizes what Energy Trust knows as of January 31, 2008, about 2002-2007 savings. 
Energy Trust staff are still evaluating 2002 through 2007 savings for some programs, and it is expected that 
there will be further refinements to 2002-2007 next year.1 


Summary  


The 2008 True Up resulted in a 1.5% increase in electric savings, to 159.4 average megawatts, and 2.1% 
increase in natural gas savings to 6.7 million annual therms. This resulted in modestly significant changes to 
the Business Energy Solutions Existing Buildings, Business Energy Solutions New Buildings, and Business 
Energy Solutions Production Efficiency programs. Changes were less than in prior years for two reasons: 
first, Energy Trust already adjusted performance numbers in a prior True Up; and second, the impact 
evaluations for some programs (Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes and Multifamily Home Energy 
Savings) will be completed in 2008, and so are not incorporated in this True Up. 


Background 
Working Savings/Generation are the estimates of savings that are practical for data entry by program 
personnel as they are approving individual projects. These savings are based on estimates of the typical 
savings or generation for prescriptive measures, and are based on site-specific engineering calculations for 
custom measures. Prior years’ True Up adjustments may be incorporated into estimates of working savings 
and generation for prescriptive measures, but transmission and distribution line loss savings are not 
included. In addition, there are no adjustments for free riders (customers who would have installed the 
measures without the program) or spillover (customers who are influenced by the program but did not 
take the incentive). These issues are addressed in developing reportable savings. 


                                                   
1 Savings for most programs are evaluated and finalized through 2005. However, the Energy Trust is still working to 
evaluate the multifamily retrofit program starting in 2003. This has awaited improved procedures to access and link 
utility bills with individual apartment units, one of the most difficult tasks in evaluation. Additionally, NEEA savings are 
subject to five year retrospective reviews, which are useful in looking at programs that attempt to change markets. 
Such a review is scheduled for 2008 and may look as far back as 2002. 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


2 


Reportable Savings/Generation are the estimates of savings that will be used for public reporting of 
Energy Trust results. This includes transmission and delivery loss savings, market effects (free riders and 
spillover), True Up adjustments (as described below), and any other corrections required to the original 
working values. These values are updated annually based on new information described through the “True 
Up” process. 
 
The True Up adjusts Working Savings/Generation estimates in different programs for different reasons. 
These fall into the following categories: 


 
1. Corrections. Occasionally, through the Energy Trust’s routine quality assurance processes, 


transaction errors are discovered in the database, which require corrections. Individual transaction 
errors (e.g. typos that affect savings) are usually corrected immediately, and generic transaction 
errors (e.g. wrong deemed savings value for a measure) are easiest to fix once per year during the 
True Up.  


 
2. New Data. Projections are updated based upon improved measure simulations and new data on 


measure performance.  
 


3. Anticipated Evaluation Results. Experience shows that evaluated estimates of savings and generation 
are often lower than reportable estimates. Reportable estimates are often based on typical savings 
for prescriptive measures or “as installed” engineering analysis for custom measures. Impact 
evaluation uses energy use data and/or improved data on post-installation operation to improve on 
reportable estimates. However, impact evaluations cannot be completed until well after programs 
finish a year’s activity, because of the need to utilize post-installation energy use data. Based on 
Board direction in the July, 2004 retreat, staff is attempting to anticipate these effects in reporting 
savings for programs where there is not yet an evaluation available. These adjustments are based on 
the results of evaluations for the same program in prior years, where available. For programs that 
have no prior evaluation, results for similar programs elsewhere are used.  


 
4. Evaluations. When finalized, evaluations provide the most reliable representation of realized savings, 


and can replace the refined projections based on #2 and #3. Evaluation results may change Energy 
Trust savings estimates for a single year or all prior years. It depends on what other evaluations 
have already been performed for prior years and whether results seem applicable to prior years 
(similar measures, participants, and circumstances). 


  
5. Un-Served Utility. This is a routine, end-of year adjustment which is of modest impact. Some 


measures in Fast Track claim savings, but documentation was not yet adequate to support the 
savings, or could not be claimed by the Trust. This proved to be a problem especially for some 
savings which are in service utilities where Energy Trust activities are not funded. For example, this 
occurs when a measure saves gas and electricity, and the gas utility is an Energy Trust funder (e.g., 
Northwest Natural) and the electric utility is not an Energy Trust funder (e.g., Columbia PUD). The 
Energy Trust would only claim the electric savings in this case if Columbia PUD was not claiming 
the savings. In some cases this was simply a question of clarifying documentation in time for the 
True Up. The Energy Trust may claim these savings if the documentation is shown to be in order.  


Results  
Across the years 2002-2007, the 2008 True Up resulted in a 1.5% increase in electric savings to 159.4 
Average Megawatts, and 2.1% increase in natural gas savings to 6.7 million annual therms. Adjustments to 
2007 were incorporated in the 2007 annual report, so this summary does not modify the 2007 reported 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


3 


results, only prior years. In 2008, the True Up incorporated modestly significant changes to the following 
programs: 
 


1. New Evaluation Results 
a. Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings 
b. Business Energy Solutions – New Buildings 
c. Business Energy Solutions – Production Efficiency  
d. Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes and Multifamily 


2. New Data 
a. Home Energy Solutions 
b. Multifamily Home Energy Solutions  


3. Corrections 
None resulted in significant changes. 


 
Overall, changes were less than in prior years because the Energy Trust had performed evaluations for 
many programs by the prior True Up. The first impact evaluation for Multifamily Home Energy Solutions 
and the second impact for the Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes will be completed in 2008, so 
these programs did not yet impact this True Up. 
 
To summarize, for 2007 electric savings for all programs combined, there were net changes of .10% 
increase due to corrections and un-served utilities, .12% increase due to new data, 3.9% increase due to 
anticipated evaluation factors, and no change due to evaluations2. There were no changes to the 
Transmission and Distribution line-loss estimates in the 2008 True Up. For 2007 gas savings for all 
programs combined, there were net changes of .12% increase due to corrections and un-served utilities, 
.90% increase due to new data, 1.6% increase due to anticipated evaluation factors, and no change due to 
evaluations3. 
 
Table 10 summarizes the revisions for the years 2002-2007 by sector. Tables’ 11A-F shows the revisions to 
each sector by year. Appendix A provides revisions by program and year. Discussion of changes follows 
immediately below. 


New evaluation results  
Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Evaluation  
Evaluations of 2004 and 2005 were completed for this program in 20074. The results of the 2008 True Up 
incorporate the results of these evaluations as evaluation factors for 2004-5 and anticipated evaluation 
factors for 2006-85. The evaluation factors6 from the 2004 and 2005 evaluations were each applied to their 
respective years. The savings weighted average of the 2004 and 2005 BE evaluations were then used as the 
anticipated evaluation factor for the years 2006-2008. Table 1 summarizes which evaluations have been 
applied to each program year. Tables 2A and 2B show in detail the various components of the 2004 and 
2005 evaluations for gas and electric. Finally, the old and new evaluation factors are shown in the Table 3 
along with the impact on each year.  


                                                   
2 Evaluations were completed for prior years and used to modify the 2007 anticipated evaluation factor. 
3 Evaluations were completed for prior years and used to modify the 2007 anticipated evaluation factor. 
4 These evaluations were based on site visits and site metering. 
5 2003 was adjusted with the results of the 2003 evaluation in the 2007 True Up. 
6 The evaluation factor consists of an engineering factor and market effects factor. The market effects factor is made 
up of free riders and spillover. 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


4 


Table 1: BE Evaluations 


Program Year Source 
Type of 
adjustment Notes 


BE 2003 2003 Evaluation  
Evaluation  
factor Finalized in 2007 True Up 


BE 2004 2004 Evaluation  
Evaluation  
factor   


BE 2005 2005 evaluation 
Evaluation  
factor   


BE 2006 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


BE 2007 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


BE 2008 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


Energy Trust will use the 
average of the 2004 and 
2005 evaluations as the 
anticipated evaluation factor 
for all years not yet 
evaluated for gas end 
electric.  


 
 
Table 2A: 2004 and 2005 BE Evaluation Factors - Electric 


Electric 
Program Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio (market effects) RPT ADJ Factor 


Business Energy 
Solutions - Existing 
Buildings 


Engineering 
adjustment Free-riders 


Participant 
spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


2004 EV 99% 84% 1% 4% 87% 
2005 EV 104% 80% 1% 4% 88% 


Average         87% 
 
 
Table 2B: 2004 and 2005 BE Evaluation Factors - Gas 


Gas 
Program Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio (market effects) RPT ADJ Factor 


Business Energy 
Solutions - Existing 
Buildings 


Engineering 
adjustment Free-riders 


Participant 
spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


2004 EV 96% 65% 1% 4% 65% 
2005 EV 75% 95% 1% 4% 75% 


Average         74% 
 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


5 


Table 3: 2004 and 2005 BE Evaluation Impacts 


Program Year 


Old 
Eval 
Factor - 
Electric 


New 
Eval 
Factor- 
Electric 


Annual 
Change 
(kWh) Saved 


Old Value-
gas 


New Eval 
Factor- 
Gas 


Annual Change 
(therms) Saved 


BE 2003 0.83 0.83  NC  0.67 0.67  NC  
BE 2004 0.83 0.87   1,708,861  0.67 0.65    (1,719) 
BE 2005 0.83 0.88   2,496,946  0.67 0.75    34,392  
BE 2006 0.83 0.87   1,452,406  0.67 0.74    69,536  
BE 2007 0.83 0.87   1,169,352  0.67 0.74    36,553  
BE 2008 N/A 0.87  NC  N/A 0.74  NC  


    Total   6,827,565  Total  138,762 
 
Business Energy Solutions – New Buildings 
Evaluations of 2004 and 2005 were completed for this program in 2007. The results of the 2008 True Up 
incorporate the results of these evaluations into program years 2004 – 2008. The evaluation factors from 
the 2004 and 2005 evaluations were each applied to their respective years. The savings weighted average of 
the 2004 and 2005 BE evaluations were then used as the anticipated electric evaluation factor for the years 
2006-2008. Due to the limited amount of activity in the gas program in these years, Energy Trust will not 
change the anticipated gas evaluation for 2006-2008; this factor will remain at .70. Table 4 summarizes 
which evaluations have been applied to each program year. Tables 5A and 5B show in detail the various 
components of the 2004 and 2005 evaluations for gas and electric that makes up the evaluation factor. 
Finally, the old and new evaluation factors are shown in Table 6 along with the impact on each year.  
 
Table 4: NBE Evaluations 


Program Year Source 
Type of 
adjustment Notes 


NBE 2004 2004 Evaluation  
Evaluation 
factor  This program started in 2004 


NBE 2005 2005 Evaluation 
Evaluation 
factor   


NBE 2006 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


NBE 2007 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


NBE 2008 
2004 and 2005 
evaluations 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


The average of the 2004 and 2005 evaluations 
for the anticipated electric evaluation factor is 
used. Due to the limited amount of activity in the 
gas program during these years we will not 
adjust the anticipated gas evaluation factor based 
on the 2004 and 2005 evaluations. 


 
Table 5A: 2004 and 2005 NBE Evaluation Factors - Electric 


Electric 
Program Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio RPT ADJ F 


NBE 
Engineering 
adjustment Free-riders 


Participant 
spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


2004 108% 69% 5% 4% 81% 
2005 104% 69% 5% 4% 78% 


Average         79% 
 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


6 


Table 5B: 2004 and 2005 NBE Evaluation Factors - Gas 
Gas 


Program Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio RPT ADJ F 


NBE 
Engineering 
adjustment Free-riders 


Participant 
spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


2004 101% 69% 5% 4% 78% 
2005 42% 69% 5% 4% 33% 


Average         46% 
 
 
Table 6: 2004 and 2005 NBE Evaluation Impacts 


Program Year 


Old 
Eval 
Factor - 
Electric 


New 
Eval 
Factor- 
Electric 


Annual 
Change 
(kWh) 
Saved 


Old Value-
gas 


New Eval 
Factor- 
Gas 


Annual Change 
(therms) Saved 


NBE 2004 0.7 0.81        83,275  0.7 0.78     2,676  
NBE 2005 0.7 0.78      736,481  0.7 0.33   (46,329) 
NBE 2006 0.7 0.79   2,257,669  0.7 0.70  NC  
NBE 2007 0.7 0.79   2,581,032  0.7 0.70  NC  
NBE 2008 N/A 0.79  NC  N/A 0.74  NC  


    Total   5,658,457  Total     43,653 
 
Business Energy Solutions – Production Efficiency 
An evaluation of the years 2003-2005 was completed for this program in 2007. In addition, a draft of the 
2006 evaluation was available at the time of the 2008 True Up. The 2008 True Up incorporates the results 
of both these evaluations into program years 2003–2008.  
 
Energy Trust applied the results of the 2003-2005 evaluation to program years 2003-2005. This evaluation 
did not separate out results by year; 2003-2005 were evaluated together. However, mega and non-mega 
projects were evaluated separately7. Energy Trust included the results of the mega projects in the 
evaluation factors that were used for 2003-2005.  
 
At the time of the 2007 True Up, a draft of the 2006 evaluation was available. In an effort to use the best 
available information, planning and evaluation staff decided to apply the results of the draft 2006 evaluation 
to the 2006 True Up. In addition, these draft results were also used as the anticipated evaluation factor for 
2007 and 2008. Energy Trust staff believed that program activity and design in 2006 were more reflective of 
the last few years of program activity8.  
 
Table 7 summarizes which evaluations have been applied to each program year. Table 8A and 8B show in 
detail the various components of the 2003-2005 and 2006 evaluations, respectively. Finally, the old and new 
evaluation factors are shown in the Table 9 along with the impact on each year.  
 


                                                   
7 Mega Projects are very large projects which receive particular attention in evaluations  
8 2003-2005 were startup years where the program offered higher incentives and screening was less comprehensive. 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


7 


Table 7: PE Evaluations 


Program Year Source 
Type of 
adjustment Notes 


PE 2003 
2003-2005 PE 
Evaluation  


Evaluation 
factor 


PE 2004 
2003-2005 PE 
Evaluation  


Evaluation 
factor 


PE 2005 
2003-2005 PE 
Evaluation  


Evaluation 
factor 


For each year, Energy Trust used the average of all 
projects types (mega and non-mega) and all years as 
the evaluation factor. 


PE 2006 
2006 PE 
Evaluation 


Evaluation 
factor 


This evaluation was a draft at the time of the 2007 
True Up. 


PE 2007 
2006 PE 
Evaluation* 


Anticipated 
Eval factor   


PE 2008 
2006 PE 
Evaluation* 


Anticipated 
Eval factor 


PE will use the BE Gas anticipated Evaluation factor 
for 2008. 


 
Table 8A: 2003-2005 PE Evaluation Factors - Electric 


2003-2005 PE Evaluation 


  Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio (market effects) 
RPT Multiplier for 
FT 


Project type 
Engineering 
adjustment Free riders 


Participant 
spillover 


Program 
Spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


Mega Projects 92.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0% 
                       


0.92  
Non-Mega Projects 93.4% 17.9% 1.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.79 
Total All Projects 92.8% 8.2% 1.0% 1.0%   0.87 


 
Table 8B: 2006 PE Evaluation Factors - Electric 


Draft 2006 PE evaluation  


  Realization Rate Net-To-Gross-Ratio (market effects) 
RPT Multiplier for 
FT 


Project type 
Engineering 
adjustment Free riders  


Participant 
spillover 


Program 
Spillover 


Non-
Participant 
Spillover Evaluation Factor 


Total All Projects 101.6% 8.0% 1.0% 1.0% 0% 96% 
 
Table 9: 2003-2005 and draft 2006 Draft PE Evaluation Impacts 


Program Year 


Old 
Eval 
Factor - 
Electric 


New 
Eval 
Factor- 
Electric 


Annual 
Change 
(kWh) Saved 


Old Eval 
Factor -gas 


New Eval 
Factor- 
Gas 


Annual 
Change 
(therms) 
Saved 


PE 2003 0.9 0.87 -11965 N/A N/A        NC 


PE 2004 0.9 0.87  (2,571,115) N/A N/A  NC  
PE 2005 0.9 0.87  (5,391,252) N/A N/A  NC  
PE 2006 0.9 0.96   4,120,423  N/A N/A  NC  
PE 2007 0.9 0.96   8,185,209  N/A N/A  NC  
PE 2008 N/A 0.96  NC  N/A 0.74  NC  


    Total   4,331,330 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


8 


Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes Evaluation 
No changes were made to this program in the 2008 True Up. The draft evaluation of this program for the 
years 2005-06 came in later than expected and the results were not robust enough to use at the time of 
the True Up.  


New Data   
Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) 
Since 2005, NEEA made several enhancements to improve the consistency and reliability of their tracking 
systems, completed several evaluations, and began a long-term monitoring process that periodically reports 
on specific programs. These enhancements have significantly improved both the historical assessment of 
energy savings and the projection of expected savings. NEEA is making greater efforts to accurately 
measure net market effects, including consideration of baseline activity (energy savings that would occur in 
the absence of NEEA programs) and the impacts of utility incentive programs.  
 
For 2007, Energy Trust made changes to methods to estimate current and future year impacts to align 
better with NEEA’s projection of program impacts. The impacts reported for 2006 and 2007 reflect this 
improved methodology, but precede NEEA’s final reporting on their annual savings, which happens after the 
True Up process is completed. Therefore, reconciliation of NEEA final savings will occur in the following 
year (e.g., 2006 and 2007 savings will be reconciled in the 2009 True Up).  
 
Rounding of Transmission and Distribution Line Loss Savings Estimates  
No changes were made to transmission and distribution line loss savings in this True Up. Line loss 
estimates remain at 10% for residential and commercial programs and 6% for industrial programs. 


Results Summary – 2008 True Up Impacts by Sector by Year  
In the following tables, the difference between “old reportable” and “new reportable” is the updates 
provided in the 2008 True Up from prior reportable estimates. In the following tables, Annual kWh and 
Annual Therms indicate that the measure saves or generates one kWh or therm for each year of its life. An 
Average Megawatt means that loads are reduced by an average of one Megawatt during each year of the 
measure’s life. In the summary table, zero change may not mean there were no corrections, only that the 
corrections may not be significant enough to show due to rounding. 
 
 
TABLE 10:  SUMMARY FOR 2002 - 2007 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable % Change 


  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Elec. Efficiency 157.4 159.4 1.54% 
  Residential 56.5 56.6 0.13% 
  Commercial 38.9 40.4 3.70% 
  Industrial 61.9 62.4 0.80% 
Renewables 63.8 63.8 0.00% 
  Gas- Million Annual Therms  
Gas Efficiency 6.6 6.7 2.13% 
  Residential 3.7 3.7 1.22% 
  Commercial 2.9 3.0 3.29% 


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


9 


TABLE 11A:  2007 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Conservative 
Goal 


% of Goal 
Achieved 


  Electric- Average Megawatts     
Elec. Efficiency 33.78 35.23 4.31% 24.60 143% 
  Residential 12.74 12.81 0.50% 8.90 144% 
  Commercial 5.69 6.14 8.03% 4.60 134% 
  Industrial 15.35 16.28 6.09% 11.10 147% 
Renewables 46.93 46.93 0.00% 114.9 41% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 2.19 2.25 2.74% 2.419 93% 
  Residential 1.085 1.108 2.15% 1.45 77% 
  Commercial 1.100 1.137 3.32% 0.97 117% 


 
 
TABLE 11B:  2006 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Conservative 
Goal 


% of Goal 
Achieved 


  Electric- Average Megawatts     
Elec. Efficiency 25.49 26.38 3.50% 16.15 163% 
  Residential 10.00 10.01 0.11% 6.38 157% 
  Commercial 6.57 6.98 6.27% 3.68 190% 
  Industrial 8.93 9.40 5.27% 6.09 154% 
Renewables 1.99 1.99 0.00% 32.98 6% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 2.29 2.39 3.96% 2.557 93% 
  Residential 1.030 1.051 2.07% 1.124 94% 
  Commercial 1.265 1.334 5.50% 1.433 93% 


 
 
TABLE 11C:  2005 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Conservative 
Goal 


% of Goal 
Achieved 


  Electric- Average Megawatts     
Elec. Efficiency 40.04 39.79 -0.61% 32 124% 
  Residential 11.64 11.64 0.01% 5.6 208% 
  Commercial 7.87 8.24 4.69% 6 137% 
  Industrial 20.54 19.92 -3.00% 20.2 99% 
Renewables 0.46 0.46 0.00% 26.6 2% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 1.31 1.29 -0.87% 1.3 100% 
  Residential 0.86 0.86 0.06% 0.9 95% 
  Commercial 0.45 0.44 -2.65% 0.4 110% 


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


10 


TABLE 11D:  2004 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


% of Goal 
Achieved 


 Electric- Average Megawatts     
Elec. Efficiency 27 26.91 -0.33% 30 90% 
  Residential 9.69 9.69 0.00% 4 242% 
  Commercial 7.18 7.38 2.85% 6.4 115% 
  Industrial 10.13 9.83 -2.90% 19 52% 
Renewables 0.09 0.09 0.00% 22 0.40% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms    
Gas Efficiency 0.66 0.66 0.15% 2.3 29% 
  Residential 0.58 0.58 0.00% 0.9 65% 
  Commercial 0.07 0.08 1.28% 1.4 5% 


 
 
TABLE 11E: 2003 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


% of Goal 
Achieved 


  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Elec. Efficiency 16.06 16.06 -0.01% 33 49% 
  Residential 6.73 6.73 0.00% 7.5 90% 
  Commercial 5.76 5.76 0.00% 13 44% 
  Industrial 3.57 3.57 -0.04% 13 27% 
Renewables 14.29 14.29 0.00% 18 79% 


  Gas- Million Annual Therms      
Gas Efficiency 0.15 0.15 0.00%  None    
  Residential 0.15 0.15 0.00%  None    
  Commercial 0.0024 0.0024 0.00%  None    


 
 
TABLE 11F: 2002 SUMMARY 


  
Old 
Reportable 


New 
Reportable 


% 
Change 


Action Plan 
Projection 


  Electric- Average Megawatts 
Elec. Efficiency 15.04 15.04 0.00% None 
  Residential  5.72 5.72 0.00% None 
  Commercial  5.89 5.89 0.00% None 
  Industrial 3.43 3.43 0.00% None 
Renewables 0.002 0.002 0.00% None 


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


 


Efficiency


GLED Green LED Traffic Lights Pilot Program 1,631,982 1,631,982 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NCI 6,676,750 6,676,750 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


REST Restaurant Pilot Program 33,000 33,000 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTE Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 39,238,169 39,238,166 -3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTN Utility Transition - Commercial New 3,997,452 3,997,452 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Commercial 51,577,353 51,577,350 -3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 4,304,670 4,304,670 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTI Utility Transition - Industrial Process 25,759,290 25,759,290 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 30,063,960 30,063,960 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


MOB Mobile Home Duct Sealing Pilot Program 561,836 561,834 -2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 41,635,950 41,635,950 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTR Utility Transition - Residential 7,903,091 7,903,091 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Residential 50,100,877 50,100,875 -2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Efficiency 131,742,190 131,742,185 -5 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


OP Open Solicitation 21,500 21,500 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 21,500 21,500 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 21,500 21,500 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


131,763,690 131,763,685 -5 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
15.04 15.04 0.00 0.00%


Renewables


2,002 kWh


          aMW


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted 
Savings/Generation


 (annual kWh)


Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


2002


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


Efficiency


BE Existing Buildings 9,190,338 9,190,336 -2 0.00% 2,423 2,423 0 0.00%
BTO Operations and Maintenance 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
GLED Green LED Traffic Lights Pilot Program 75,115 75,115 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
LED LED Traffic Signal Program 933,381 933,381 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NCI 9,303,024 9,303,024 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


REST Restaurant Pilot Program 264,001 264,000 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SELP Small Scale Energy Loan Pilot Program 242,839 242,838 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTE Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 24,317,618 24,317,616 -2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTN Utility Transition - Commercial New 6,115,770 6,115,768 -2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Commercial 50,442,086 50,442,078 -8 0.00% 2,423 2,423 0 0.00%


NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 816,948 816,948 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
PEF Production Efficiency 398,842 386,877 -11,965 -3.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTI Utility Transition - Industrial Process 30,096,038 30,096,039 1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 31,311,828 31,299,864 -11,964 -0.04% 0 0 0 0.00%


DYS Double Your Savings 1,214,205 1,214,206 1 0.00% 13,593 13,593 0 0.00%
HES Existing Single Family 4,057,568 4,057,567 -1 0.00% 134,810 134,810 0 0.00%
MHS Existing Multifamily 2,587,839 2,587,839 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
MOB Mobile Home Duct Sealing Pilot Program 19,751 19,750 -1 -0.01% 0 0 0 0.00%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 49,004,520 49,004,520 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTR Utility Transition - Residential 2,085,397 2,085,396 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Residential 58,969,280 58,969,278 -2 0.00% 148,403 148,403 0 0.00%


Efficiency 140,723,194 140,711,220 -11,974 -0.01% 150,826 150,826 0 0.00%


OP Open Solicitation 124,777 124,777 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
REN Utility Scale 124,830,000 124,830,000 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLE Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 251,294 251,294 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 125,206,071 125,206,071 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 125,206,071 125,206,071 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


265,929,265 265,917,291 -11,974 0.00% 150,826 150,826 0 0.00%
30.36 30.36 0.00 0.00%


Renewables


2,003 kWh


          aMW


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


2003
Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


Efficiency


BE Existing Buildings 34,264,475 35,973,336 1,708,861 4.99% 46,683 44,964 -1,719 -3.68%
BTO Operations and Maintenance 1,136,674 1,136,674 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
LED LED Traffic Signal Program 2,943,875 2,943,875 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NBE New Buildings 520,457 603,732 83,275 16.00% 22,296 24,972 2,676 12.00%
NCI 10,019,136 10,019,136 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


SLWC Solar Water Heating - Commercial 19,635 19,635 0 0.00% 5,777 5,777 0 0.00%
UTE Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 11,608,324 11,608,322 -2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTN Utility Transition - Commercial New 2,363,550 2,363,549 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Commercial 62,876,126 64,668,259 1,792,133 2.85% 74,756 75,713 956 1.28%


NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 720,996 720,996 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
PEF Production Efficiency 85,627,125 83,056,009 -2,571,116 -3.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTI Utility Transition - Industrial Process 2,358,808 2,358,808 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 88,706,929 86,135,813 -2,571,116 -2.90% 0 0 0 0.00%


EHP Products 2,971,433 2,971,431 -2 0.00% 27,963 27,963 0 0.00%
ENH New Homes 5,378 5,378 0 0.00% 2,230 2,230 0 0.00%
HES Existing Single Family 4,646,922 4,646,922 0 0.00% 523,348 523,348 0 0.00%
MHS Existing Multifamily 8,776,472 8,776,466 -6 0.00% 23,269 23,269 0 0.00%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 68,097,180 68,097,180 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SHO SHOW 19,402 19,401 -1 -0.01% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLWR Solar Water Heating - Residential 52,738 52,737 -1 0.00% 5,223 5,223 0 0.00%
UTR Utility Transition - Residential 329,319 329,318 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Residential 84,898,844 84,898,833 -11 0.00% 582,033 582,033 0 0.00%


Efficiency 236,481,899 235,702,905 -778,994 -0.33% 656,790 657,746 956 0.15%


OP Open Solicitation 266,960 266,960 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLE Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 518,681 518,677 -4 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 785,641 785,637 -4 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 785,641 785,637 -4 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


237,267,540 236,488,542 -778,998 -0.33% 656,790 657,746 956 0.15%
27.09 27.00 -0.09 -0.33%


Renewables


2,004 kWh


          aMW


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


2004
Unadjusted 


Savings/Generation
 (annual kWh)


Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


Efficiency


BE Existing Buildings 50,092,262 52,589,208 2,496,946 4.98% 366,453 400,845 34,392 9.39%
BTO Operations and Maintenance 723,338 723,338 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
LED LED Traffic Signal Program 2,821,605 2,821,605 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NBE New Buildings 6,567,849 7,304,329 736,480 11.21% 80,078 33,749 -46,329 -57.85%
NCI 8,669,414 8,669,411 -3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


SLWC Solar Water Heating - Commercial 35,189 35,189 0 0.00% 3,874 3,874 0 0.00%


Commercial 68,909,657 72,143,080 3,233,423 4.69% 450,405 438,469 -11,936 -2.65%


IR Irrigation 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 257,795 257,795 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
PEF Production Efficiency 179,646,588 174,255,336 -5,391,252 -3.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 179,904,383 174,513,131 -5,391,252 -3.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


EHP Products 15,649,218 15,650,504 1,286 0.01% 108,834 108,859 25 0.02%
EMH New Manufactured Homes 35,841 35,841 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
ENH New Homes 1,016,264 1,014,586 -1,678 -0.17% 92,076 91,990 -86 -0.09%
HES Existing Single Family 3,533,985 3,546,403 12,418 0.35% 572,828 573,442 614 0.11%
MHS Existing Multifamily 14,149,228 14,149,224 -4 0.00% 66,572 66,572 0 0.00%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 67,213,910 67,213,910 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SHO SHOW 185,313 185,310 -3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLWR Solar Water Heating - Residential 146,618 146,615 -3 0.00% 14,810 14,810 0 0.00%


Residential 101,930,377 101,942,393 12,016 0.01% 855,120 855,672 553 0.06%


Efficiency 350,744,417 348,598,604 -2,145,813 -0.61% 1,305,525 1,294,141 -11,383 -0.87%


BIO Biopower 3,556,300 3,556,300 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
OP Open Solicitation 12,746 12,746 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLE Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 484,247 484,246 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SMW Wind 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 4,053,293 4,053,292 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 4,053,293 4,053,292 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


354,797,710 352,651,896 -2,145,814 -0.60% 1,305,525 1,294,141 -11,383 -0.87%
40.50 40.26 -0.24 -0.60%


Renewables


2,005 kWh


          aMW


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


2005
Unadjusted 


Savings/Generation
 (annual kWh)


Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


Efficiency


 







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


Efficiency


BE Existing Buildings 28,640,762 30,094,264 1,453,502 5.07% 615,526 685,062 69,536 11.30%
BTO Operations and Maintenance 1,642,624 1,642,624 0 0.00% 40,179 40,179 0 0.00%
NBE New Buildings 17,474,640 19,624,341 2,149,701 12.30% 604,742 604,742 0 0.00%
NCI 9,753,471 9,753,468 -3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


SELP Small Scale Energy Loan Pilot Program -1 0 1 -100.00% 0
SLB Existing Buildings Solar WH 0 0 0 0.00% 4,190 4,190 0 0.00%
SLWC Solar Water Heating - Commercial -1 0 1 -100.00% 0


Commercial 57,511,495 61,114,697 3,603,202 6.27% 1,264,636 1,334,172 69,536 5.50%


IR Irrigation 53,710 53,710 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 9,466,283 9,466,283 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
PEF Production Efficiency 68,673,423 72,793,848 4,120,425 6.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 78,193,416 82,313,841 4,120,425 5.27% 0 0 0 0.00%


EHP Products 23,778,873 23,781,599 2,726 0.01% 152,427 152,499 72 0.05%
EMH New Manufactured Homes 1,165,381 1,166,176 795 0.07% 3,277 3,277 0 0.00%
ENH New Homes 3,201,767 3,200,116 -1,651 -0.05% 233,417 233,222 -195 -0.08%
HES Existing Single Family 5,571,580 5,960,461 388,881 6.98% 560,676 585,090 24,413 4.35%
HPF 7,494 7,494 0 0.00% 2,596 2,596 0 0.00%


MHS Existing Multifamily 8,850,488 8,551,943 -298,545 -3.37% 50,797 47,807 -2,990 -5.89%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 44,543,636 44,543,636 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SHO SHOW 243,406 243,405 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLF New Homes Solar WH 0 0 0 0.00% 322 322 0 0.00%
SLH Existing Homes Solar WH 229,790 229,785 -5 0.00% 26,448 26,448 0 0.00%
SLWR Solar Water Heating - Residential 34 34 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Residential 87,592,449 87,684,649 92,200 0.11% 1,029,959 1,051,260 21,301 2.07%


Efficiency 223,297,360 231,113,187 7,815,827 3.50% 2,294,595 2,385,432 90,837 3.96%


BIO Biopower 16,714,080 16,714,080 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
OP Open Solicitation 49,641 49,641 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLE Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 700,220 700,219 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SMW Wind 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 17,463,941 17,463,940 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 17,463,941 17,463,940 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


240,761,301 248,577,127 7,815,826 3.25% 2,294,595 2,385,432 90,837 3.96%
27.48 28.38 0.89 3.25%


2006
Unadjusted 


Savings/Generation
 (annual kWh)


Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


Efficiency


Existing Single Family Home Performance 
with ES


Renewables


2,006 kWh


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


          aMW  







True Up 2008  November 12, 2008 


 


Efficiency


BE Existing Buildings 24,165,381 25,477,161 1,311,780 5.43% 349,868 386,421 36,553 10.45%
BTO Operations and Maintenance 2,995,144 2,995,144 0 0.00% 207,604 207,604 0 0.00%
NBE New Buildings 19,966,792 22,655,792 2,689,000 13.47% 537,601 537,601 0 0.00%
NCI 2,642,763 2,642,763 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


REST Restaurant Pilot Program 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SELP Small Scale Energy Loan Pilot Program 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLB Existing Buildings Solar WH 58,073 58,073 0 0.00% 4,806 4,806 0 0.00%
SLN New Buildings Solar WH 0 0 0 0.00% 519 519 0 0.00%
SLWC Solar Water Heating - Commercial 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTE Utility Transition - Commercial Existing 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTN Utility Transition - Commercial New 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Commercial 49,828,153 53,828,933 4,000,780 8.03% 1,100,398 1,136,951 36,553 3.32%


IR Irrigation 214,060 214,060 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NIP NEEA Industrial Market Transformation 11,431,747 11,431,747 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
PEF Production Efficiency 122,778,289 130,963,498 8,185,209 6.67% 2,809 3,102 293 10.45%
UTI Utility Transition - Industrial Process 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Industrial 134,424,096 142,609,305 8,185,209 6.09% 2,809 3,102 293 10.45%


DYS Double Your Savings 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
EHP Products 37,737,914 38,044,407 306,493 0.81% 53,850 53,799 -50 -0.09%
EMH New Manufactured Homes 682,894 682,894 0 0.00% 4,901 4,901 0 0.00%
ENH New Homes 1,344,302 1,345,042 740 0.06% 277,622 277,731 109 0.04%
HES Existing Single Family 9,946,651 10,214,829 268,178 2.70% 672,403 696,487 24,084 3.58%
HPF 26,133 26,134 1 0.00% 15,367 15,239 -129 -0.84%


LIR Low Income Refrigerator Pilot 250,774 250,774 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
MHS Existing Multifamily 7,554,017 7,601,088 47,071 0.62% 29,681 29,165 -517 -1.74%
MOB Mobile Home Duct Sealing Pilot Program 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NEX Home Energy Analyzer (NEXUS) 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
NR NEEA Residential Market Transformation 52,785,439 52,785,439 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SHO SHOW 355,595 355,595 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLF New Homes Solar WH 98,837 98,837 0 0.00% 156 156 0 0.00%
SLH Existing Homes Solar WH 283,786 283,786 0 0.00% 30,031 30,031 0 0.00%
SLWR Solar Water Heating - Residential 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
UTR Utility Transition - Residential 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
XMH Existing Manufactured Homes 574,334 514,147 -60,187 -10.48% 874 665 -208 -23.84%


Residential 111,640,676 112,202,972 562,296 0.50% 1,084,886 1,108,175 23,289 2.15%


Efficiency 295,892,925 308,641,210 12,748,285 4.31% 2,188,092 2,248,228 60,136 2.75%


BIO Biopower 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
OP Open Solicitation 49,500 49,500 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
REN Utility Scale 409,741,992 409,741,992 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SLE Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 1,289,234 1,289,233 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%
SMW Wind 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 411,080,726 411,080,725 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


Renewables 411,080,726 411,080,725 -1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%


706,973,651 719,721,935 12,748,284 1.80% 2,188,092 2,248,228 60,136 2.75%
80.70 82.16 1.46 1.80%


2007
Unadjusted 


Savings/Generation
 (annual kWh)


Adjusted 
Savings/


Generation 
(annual kWh)


Change
(annual kWh)


Change
(%)


Unadjusted
Savings/


Generation
(annual therm)


Adjusted
Savings/


Generation 
(annual therm)


Change
(annual
therm)


Change
(%)


Commercial


NEEA Commercial Market Transformation


Industrial


Residential


Existing Single Family Home Performance 
with ES


Renewables


2,007 kWh
          aMW  








 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting October 22, 2008 
 
Attending from the Council:   
Andrea Jacob, Portland OSD 
Carollyn Farrar, NW Natural 
Jeff Bissonnette, Fair and Clean Energy Coalition 
Ann Grim, ODOE 
Paul Case, Oregon Remodelers Association 
Kathie Bernard, Cascade Natural Gas (participating by telephone) 
Kari Greer, Pacific Power  
Mat Northway, EWEB 
Michael Early, ICNU 
Lauren Shapton, PGE  
Steve Weiss, Northwest Energy Coalition 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
Dan Enloe, board of directors (participating by telephone) 
Diane Ferington 
Fred Gordon 
Steve Lacey 
Elaine Prause 
Sue Meyer Sample 
John Reynolds, board of directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Greg Stiles 
 
Others attending; 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE, 
Alecia Dodd, CSG 
Mark Hughey, Green Energy Management 
Emily Moore, PECI 
Bill Welch, EWEB 
 
 


1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions. He welcomed Paul Case, who replaces Paul Olsen 
as a representative of the Oregon Remodelers Association. He noted Hollie Meyer of NW Natural will be replacing 
Steve Bicker. 
 


2. Preview 2009 Energy Trust budget 
Steve Lacey noted that revenues may be insufficient to meet future demand and retain market momentum – across 
the board, in efficiency gas and electric and in renewable energy. We can continue with carryover funds in 2009 but 
will need more funding in 2010 to continue the momentum created in 2009. He noted we are discontinuing work 
with Avista, due to impact of the economic slowdown on housing starts and the reduced savings resulting (we 
currently support only new homes and products for Avista). He noted we are collaborating with Umpqua Bank in 







CAC Notes – October 22, 2008     


 2


offering an energy loan for homeowners doing efficiency and solar. We expect future savings and generation to be 
harder to acquire and therefore more costly.  
 
Our forecast for year end ’08 is 33.8 aMW, well within our range of 26.7-35.6 aMW. We forecast exceeding the 
stretch (best case) gas goal of 2.3 million annual therms by saving 2.5 million annual therms. Renewable energy 
programs expect to achieve 34.8 aMW in new generation, a dramatic increase over prior years and well over its 
stretch (best case) goal. Steve noted he is testing new terminology for best case goal (“stretch goal”), in light of the 
challenge explaining how we can exceed our best case goal.  
 
He reviewed the 2009 efficiency emphases: 


• Greater penetration within existing markets, emphasizing commercial sector (involves more marketing 
and outreach; and customer focus) 


• Introduce more new efficient gas and electric technologies 
• Complete integration of renewable and efficiency program delivery 
• Continue capacity building to capture expanded opportunities 
• Expanding trade ally network 
• Collaborate and leverage initiatives regionally 


 
He covered efficiency action plan budget themes: 


• More marketing and outreach to existing small businesses and new commercial construction 
• Pursue zero net energy new commercial building design 
• Focus outreach to small industrial electric and gas customers 
• Add near low-income residential initiative (60-80% median income) 
• Explore behavior change strategies (Blueline energy monitors, Living Wise kits, Energy Performance 


Score) 
 


Asked how we will identify near-low income eligible households, Diane said we are exploring different approaches. 
She welcomes advice. She noted the loan products will play a role. She said we will need income information to 
make sure they are eligible for our program and not for the low-income programs. Asked how these folks will be 
able to participate with no discretionary budget to offer, she said we might solicit matching funds from corporations 
looking for a tax write off.  
 
Steve continued on areas of emphasis in 2009: 


• Existing Homes – expand Home Performance with ENERGY STAR 
• New Homes and Products – promote high performance home construction and specialty CFL uptake, 


increase refrigerator recycling 
• Existing Buildings – concentrate on food service, lodging, office, health care, add laundries, data centers; 


integrate solar 
• New Buildings – expand small-medium design-build participation, expand ENERGY STAR for buildings, 


design net zero energy pilot 
• Production Efficiency – increase outreach to small-mid sized industrial customers 


 
He reviewed 2009 stretch goals compared to 2008 plan. NEEA savings go down, largely because the CFL market is 
transforming and we will obtain fewer savings there. He noted the Existing Buildings budget in ’09 will show the 
largest increase compared to other programs. He reviewed electric budget and savings totals for the remaining 
programs. He did the same on the gas side where savings will rise to 3 million therms. 
 
Steve showed electric efficiency spending from 2004 through 2010. Because we expect to spend down all carryover 
funds in ’09, in 2010 we either request more funds through the SB-838 utility incremental funding process where 
utilities increase rates to garner more savings or we reduce spending. The conversation with the OPUC, utilities and 







CAC Notes – October 22, 2008     


 3


Energy Trust about increased rates would begin in August. We would need $20 million more. Steve showed 
projected savings in ’10, which differ by about 16 aMW depending on whether we are able to get additional funds. 
Fred noted the economic downturn could impact our ability to achieve the stretch goal in ’09. He also noted the 
utility IRPs incorporate efficiency.   
 
Steve noted the ’09 budget increases the commercial sector proportion of the spending mix, which has historically 
been the lowest between the other two sectors, industrial and residential. In 2010, with more funds, the 
percentages would stay roughly constant.  
 
Steve reviewed 2009 gas efficiency spending and savings. The Energy Trust will be in the same situation with gas 
expenditures in 2009 where we plan to spend down the remaining carryover leaving a $6 million shortfall in 2010 if 
additional revenues are not forthcoming.  The same check-in process with the OPUC will be conducted in August.  
This check-in allows enough time to see what impact the economy is having on program expenditures and the need 
for additional revenues. 
 
He showed a chart depicting carryover balances from 2001 through 2010, showing negative balances in 2009-10. 
 
He noted themes for management and general spending: 


• Continue process improvement and customer focus 
• Simplify participation, including automating on-line forms 
• Continue pursuing IT improvements – staffing; RFP for study of our systems for contact management, 


project tracking, contracting, and accounting 
• Management audit (required every 5 years by OPUC) 
• Communications/marketing will emphasize cross-program, customer-focused efforts; and website/e-


communications improvements, including new staff position 
• We will stay well within the legislative stretch goal of 9% of spending on management and general  


 
He asked for general comments. Paul Case said our requirement for paper forms seems old fashioned. He can’t even 
scan them and send them in electronically. Steve said we will pursue this.  
 
Steve Weiss asked how flexible Energy Trust can be in shifting funds among programs. This may be necessary in a 
constrained economy. Steve said we have flexibility within programs and would seek approval to shift funds within 
sectors. Fred said we didn’t attempt to predict the impact of the economic downturn in developing the budget, 
unsure of our ability to predict the impact with any accuracy.   
 
Steve said the board will discuss the draft budget Nov. 12 and come back to CAC Dec. 3 for final comments.  
 


3. Utility customer information transfer 
John Volkman said we have a proposal to amend the OPUC administrative rule and Energy Trust policy on sharing 
consumer/participant information between electric utilities and Energy Trust. We are seeking feedback. The current 
rules restrict how Energy Trust and utilities can share data about customers or those who have participated in 
Energy Trust programs. Fred noted we use data on customer energy use in delivering services and evaluating 
program results.  
 
Fred and John noted we’re considering electric data sharing presently but would hope to make the same changes to 
our data sharing agreements with the gas utilities.  
 
John explained reasons to change the administrative rule: 


• Supplemental efficiency funds (SB-838) cannot benefit large customers; to comply we need their names and 
preferably their usage but under current rules, utilities cannot provide names without the business’ consent 







CAC Notes – October 22, 2008     


 4


• We would like strategically to reach utility customers who pay into the public purpose fund but receive no 
benefit and need customer usage history to find those unserved utility customers 


• We would like to more effectively evaluate programs 
 


Our proposed changes: 
• Provide consistency across all utilities by eliminating the opt-in (large customers) and opt-out (smaller 


customers) processes 
• Energy Trust would provide consumers ways not to receive communications from Energy Trust 
• Energy Trust would be able to contact customers who don’t tell us they want to avoid further 


communications from Energy Trust 
• However, Energy Trust would not do telemarketing to residential customers 
• Energy Trust would share its information with utilities if it is coordinated and facilitates energy efficiency or 


renewable energy programs. Energy Trust would not share one utility customer’s energy use with another 
utility. 


• Utilities would not use Energy Trust information to monitor and evaluate Energy Trust programs, but may 
use it for routine customer service surveys, like those done by JD Power. 


 
Dan Enloe commented the information could be subpoened. Steve Weiss noted the utilities have the information 
and could be subpoened too.  Steve Lacey noted that the OPUC would hold the Energy Trust to the same standard 
as utilities in keeping consumer information secure.   
 
Lauren asked whether utilities would need to share information from customers who have opted out of receiving 
PGE information. She said PGE would want to know any time Energy Trust would use the data to contact a 
customer.  
 
John said we expect to ask the OPUC to initiate a rulemaking process that engages the public and stakeholders that 
we hope would conclude by the end of the first quarter of 2009. 
 
Michael Early said the rule as proposed goes beyond meeting the need for identifying customers not required to pay 
838 rates. He said the point of the original rule is to keep data confidential and expects large customers to be 
concerned about distributing those data more widely than is the case now.  
 
Steve Weiss asked how much of a problem this is —are there enough small customers opting out that it has 
become a real issue for us, or is it truly worth addressing the opt-out issue? Is the real concern larger customers? 
   
Steve said that currently about 3% of small customers opt out and as many as 20-30% of large customers do not opt 
in. Steve noted that the opt-out option was initially created due to Energy Trust lacking the operational history to 
demonstrate the ability to secure data and customers hadn’t heard of us as of yet. Times have changed and these 
procedures don’t suit our needs anymore. Energy Trust has demonstrated it is responsible and safe with consumer 
information 
 
Michael Early noted that customers may not understand and bear hard feelings. Steve Weiss noted that customers 
don’t want to be bothered repeatedly with the opt-out/opt-in requirements. 
 
Jeff Bissonnette asked what an internal policy would look like to demonstrate what we are doing with the data. 
 
John noted that we have a policy now that we could share. He suggested that we could have another meeting to go 
through it and discuss concerns. 
 







CAC Notes – October 22, 2008     


 5


Carollyn Farrar expressed concern that if we are contacting customers more, how would we make sure we are 
working with utilities to keep consistent messaging and contact with customers. For utilities it is about wanting to 
protect relationships with customers. 
 
Steve responded that it wouldn’t look much different than now, if anything our relationships have been getting 
stronger with the utilities and we want to continue to develop that. 
 
Utilities noted the need to know what is going on. Carollyn noted an instance in which an ETO letter caused 
customer dissatisfaction with NWN. Lauren noted the need to have one contact for coordination, so we don’t have 
too many people contacting customers.  
 
Paul Case wanted to know if any proposals regarding this would go through the Energy Trust board before the 
OPUC. John replied that we have discussed it with the board policy committee. Steve noted that we have 
communicated with various stakeholders about this. We would create a policy and included would be specific 
descriptions of how we will treat the data and keep it safe. 
 


4. Production Efficiency incentive cap  
 
Presently Production Efficiency has an incentive cap of $500,000 per site per year. Program staff would like to 
increase it to $1,000,000 per site per year, but maintain a $500,000 per project cap. The reasoning for this is that 
currently projects get rejected or delayed if one site wants to do multiple projects in one year that exceed the cap, 
and we may be losing savings. It is not a common problem but it is something that has been run into. Steve noted 
that this program budget has significantly increased from the time this program rule was initiated and we will have 
ample money to ensure that not one project will be taking a majority of the program incentive dollars, which was 
the initial reason of the cap. 
 
Dan Enloe noted that this is a good idea while we have lots of carryover for the next year and a half, but that once 
that runs out things might look differently with the current state of the economy. 
 
Steve pointed out that even with our balanced budget scenario there will be ample dollars to ensure that no one site 
will take a large portion of incentive dollars. 
 
John Reynolds noted that the $500,000 cap was a larger percentage of the budget when it was proposed, and that 
that is no longer the case. Steve Weiss noted that $1,000,000 seemed a more appropriate number at this point. Mat 
Northway said that it makes administrative sense to do this. 
 
Steve asked if there is any concern or desire to re-visit this in the future. Dan said that his concerns were that one 
project wouldn’t kill several smaller ones, and that the money would go towards highly efficient projects rather than 
moderately efficient projects, but that it seems we have controls in place to address those issues. Fred confirmed 
that we did. 
 
All were in agreement to proceed with the raising of the cap to $1,000,000 from $500,000. 
 
 
 
Meeting adjourned at 3:30 pm. Next meeting is December 3, 2008. 
 
 








 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on September 17, 2008 


 
Attending from the Council: 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Carel DeWinkel, Oregon Department of Energy 
Robert Grott, Northwest Environmental Business Council 
Thor Hinckley, Portland General Electric 
Jeff King, NW Power and Conservation Council 
Lori Koho, Oregon Public Utility Commission 
Suzanne Leta Liou, Renewable Northwest Project 
Debra Malin, Bonneville Power Administration 
BJ Moghadam, PacifiCorp 
Frank Vignola, University of Oregon 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Kacia Brockman 
Pete Catching 
Fred Gordon 
Margie Harris 
Ben Huntington 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Debbie Menashe 
Pati Presnail 
Brian Thornton 
John Volkman 
Virginia Weeks 
Peter West 


 
 
 
 
 
Attending from the Board: 
none 
 
Others attending: 
Collin Whitehead, EnXco 
Mark Olson, Dynalectric 
Len Ralston, Dynalectric 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter West convened the meeting at 9:33am. Everyone in attendance introduced themselves. The 
agenda for the meeting was adopted without change.  


2.  Program Updates  


The managers of the Biopower, Open Solicitation, Solar and Wind Programs summarized their 2008 
accomplishments and identified budget themes for 2009 
 
Biopower Program 
Program manager Thad Roth explained that the overarching goal of the program is to get projects 
operating. In 2008 Biopower had two new projects go into operation and recently authorized another, 
the Stahlbush Island Farms anaerobic digester.  
 
In looking back at last few years, a lot of hard work was put into creating procedures, market 
development and outreach activities. Now the program can built on this foundation and go find new 
projects. Thad proposes to be more active in recruiting specific projects. To do this he proposes 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


2 


identifying projects by co-funding feasibility studies. He hopes that additional outreach to supportive 
industry groups will help Energy Trust get in on the ground floor of new projects. When that happens 
Energy Trust will be in a better position to understand a project’s technology requirements, the 
project’s appropriateness, and will get to know the project team. Having a good project team is 
especially important when projects are using early stage technology. 
 
Once the program has identified and recruited projects it will actively participate in the project’s 
development. There are lots of places for projects to go wrong: fuel supply sourcing issues, financial 
planning, interconnection; all are key areas that need hand holding to go from concept to completion.  
 
Market opportunities haven’t changed a whole lot in the past few years. The program is still interested 
in waste water treatment plants, the agricultural sector, and woody biomass.  
 
There are 3,500 waste water treatment plants in the US generating methane from digestion 
technologies. The technology is mature. In Oregon there are 28 plants using digesters, nine of which are 
generating electricity (the others are producing thermal energy). There is an opportunity to build up 
that number of plants, but the better opportunity is to take advantage of plants that have excess digester 
capacity. These facilities can take in additional waste streams for digestion to produce more electricity.  
 
The cities of Salem and Medford are both looking at introducing agricultural wastes to their digester. 
The City of Salem currently generates 600kW at their plant but they think the output can be increased 
by 50 percent. Energy Trust is in the loop on those projects because of our help co-funding feasibility 
studies.  
 
There are other opportunities to look at smaller applications at the same plants through the use of 
micro turbines, fuel cells, and sterling engines. These are small generation opportunities but they can be 
useful in reducing the cost of operation at these plants. 
 
Energy Trust is also still working on woody biomass projects using mill and forest residues. In 2005 
Oregon generated 130MWa using residuals from mill waste. A lot more waste was used to generate 
thermal needs.  
 
The program is currently doing a study to identify potential customers that can generate additional 
electricity at their facilities or that might be able to take advantage of unique waste streams in their area. 
The work will identify a list of potential customers and identify any barriers that need to be overcome 
for them to move forward. These are the biggest opportunities right now in this market.  
 
With the housing market in bad shape the lumber industry is not in strong position, but it is faced with 
high energy prices and these prices will encourage project development.  
 
The most exciting opportunity right now is in the field of agricultural digesters. Energy Trust developed 
a program for dairies in 2007. That program is still available but the market is expanding to include 
additional feed-stocks, such as animal mortality and butcher wastes, and rye grass that would normally 
be burned on the field in the Willamette Valley. Right now there is no facility to process animal 
carcasses in Oregon. They are all shipped out of state. That represents a big opportunity.  The 
technology is there to support co-digestion of these feed-stocks, creating bio-refineries. The proposals 
that Energy Trust is now seeing are for larger applications, in the15-20MW range, as opposed to 1MW 
or less for most dairy digesters. Energy Trust will be flexible to changing market conditions such as 
these.  
 
The first digester Energy Trust has helped with, outside of waste water treatment plants is the new 
Stahlbush project. The owner indicated that he wasn’t getting enough value out of the waste stream 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


3 


through the current practice of tilling some wastes and selling some wastes to others. He can realize 
more value through a digester because he can capture thermal energy for process steam, it generates 
electricity, and the byproduct is fertilizer. Funding this kind of project can help transform the market in 
Oregon. 
 
Biomass Questions: 
Len Ralston asked if there are any cost estimates of biomass projects on a kWh basis. 
 
Thad responded that project costs are dependent on the cost of the fuel supply or waste stream. The 
cheapest waste streams are created and used on site. Some resources are external but can be acquired 
for free or very little, such as yard debris drop off locations. That keeps those prices low as well. Higher 
costs and more uncertainty are found when the resource has to be gathered from the forest. For the 
projects that already exist, the total cost per kWh was incredibly low. Now there is more competition 
for resources and so costs of fuel are going up. This is holding projects back. 
 
Len replied that he saw something saying biomass projects cost16 cents per kWh.  
 
Thad says he is seeing things for significantly less than that. Peter added that, in order of costs, waste 
water treatment plants are cheapest, followed by woody biomass, then agricultural wastes. In general, 
biomass can be cheap but it’s very spotty and projects take a long time to come to completion. It may 
be the cheapest right now, but has the longest development time of any Energy Trust program. 
 
Robert Grott asked about bio-refineries. Can they go different directions, such as creating liquid fuels or 
burning the gas for electricity? What kind of projects will Energy Trust see?  
 
Thad replied that both kinds of bio-refinery projects will happen, but that Energy Trust will only support 
projects that generate electricity. In fact, Energy Trust has seen plans for plants that include fuels. There 
is also the potential option for projects to inject methane into pipelines. NW Natural is interested in 
setting standards to do that. Energy Trust supports these technologies conceptually but the needs of the 
individual developer will determine the direction our program goes.  
 
Suzanne Leta asked how Energy Trust’s co-funding of feasibility studies interacts with ODOE’s CREF 
Fund. 
 
Thad responded that Energy Trust will pay up to 50% of a feasibility study, with a cost cap, but we can 
also help people apply to the CREF Fund. At the end of the day, we want to make sure the developer 
makes an investment in the project to show they are committed. 
 
Frank Vignola asked if any of the feasibility studies we have completed are available to the public. 
 
Thad replied that they are available, but that they are not online and Energy Trust might have to hold 
back some information that would be considered proprietary to the project developer. For 2009 Thad 
hopes to separate out the costs that are consistent across various studies so that we can share that 
information with the development community.  
 
Thor Hinckley asked what the Stahlbush project is expecting in terms of a payback period? 
 
Thad replied that the payback time will be four years. This is off the shelf technology in Europe, but it is 
not here. Energy Trust is helping to develop local resources by developing this project in Oregon.  
 
Peter added that there are certain budget themes that you will see reflected in the numbers of all of our 
programs. Tax credits and the economy will be the wild cards for everyone for next year. In the 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


4 


Biomass Program there will be lots of emphasis on waste water treatment plants and digesters. We still 
hope to see the Warm Springs project come through. We will need to continue doing feasibility and 
interconnection studies for wood waste projects. We will also need to expand our work with 
municipalities, on new technologies like Stahlbush, and on small technologies for waste water treatment 
plants. 
 
Open Solicitation Program 
Program Manager Betsy Kauffman explained that the Open Solicitation Program (OSP) traditionally 
received applications for projects that didn’t fit into any other program, or for technologies that have 
now been split off into their own programs, such as solar and wind. Until the beginning of 2008 OSP was 
also the place where large scale solar developments came in. Now those projects have moved to the 
Solar Program, leaving hydroelectricity, geothermal power and new technologies within the program’s 
purview.  
 
In 2008 OSP put a lot of effort into developing a pipeline of urban hydro projects as well as completing 
some of the large solar projects that carried over from past years. The following projects were 
completed or are scheduled for completion this year: East Portland Community Center Solar, Portland 
Habilitation Center Solar, Bugni Hydro, and Albany Hydro. The Pro-Logis Solar project and a small 
hydro installation in West Linn’s water system were committed this year and construction is scheduled 
to begin in 2009 for both projects. The Swalley and Central Oregon Irrigation District hydro projects 
are scheduled for completion in 2009 and 2010 respectively.  
 
In working to build the OSP hydro project pipeline the program noticed that most existing applications 
to the state’s Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund were coming from PacifiCorp territory. To feed more 
projects from PGE service territory OSP staff called all the municipalities in the service territory with 
the offer to pay for a consultant to prepare applications to the Fund.  Five cities applied, all looking for 
studies on hydropower within their water systems. If they get funding from state Energy Trust will have 
spent only $3,000 per city to leverage 75% of their studies’ funding. Energy Trust may consider stepping 
in to offer co-funding of some of the feasibility studies. 
 
In addition to the REF Fund work, hydro feasibility studies are in the works for the City of Gresham’s 
Wastewater Treatment Plant, the Crystal Springs Water District, and the City of Pendleton. The 
program is also co-funding studies on irrigation system hydro projects for three ranches in Wallowa 
County and for Eastern Oregon Power and Light, an organization involved in restoring an old water 
wheel with modern electrical components. 
  
Due to the high level of interest in hydroelectricity the program has engaged Summit Blue consultants to 
do a full assessment of the non-stream hydro resources available in PGE and PacifiCorp territories. The 
assessment will both describe and quantify these resources. In addition, the program has hired a GIS 
consultant to perform an assessment of the run-of-river resources outside of protected areas. To test 
the usefulness and capability of this approach a trial is being performed only in Clackamas County. 
Reports from both of these assessments should be available in January. 
 
OSP also commissioned a study of the state of development of the wave power industry in Oregon 
which will be presented later in the meeting. 
 
Another role of OSP is to provide outreach on behalf of the Renewables Department. To this end, the 
program provided funding to help seven solar participants apply for USDA 9006 grants. All were 
successful, leveraging about $15,000 in Energy Trust funding to bring home about $125,000 in federal 
money. In March, OSP organized a workshop for municipalities interested in solar. There is a follow up 
workshop set for October 29 to address both solar and efficiency. 
 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


5 


For 2009, the OSP budget will focus on seeing what needs to be done to encourage communities to 
move from feasibility studies to project implementation. The program has seen a high rate of feasibility 
studies that do not convert into projects and would like to understand and address the barriers to 
project development. OSP will also be reviewing the results of the hydro resource assessment to see 
about creating a targeted, structured outreach approach. OSP expects to see six or seven hydro project 
applications, two geothermal project applications, and will continue working to build the project pipeline 
through co-funding feasibility studies. The program will also open the cost-share of REF Fund 
applications to PacifiCorp territory to see if more communities will apply. 
 
Open Solicitation Questions: 
Len Ralston asked if there is a publically available list of feasibility studies. Peter replied that all studies 
conducted with municipalities are public information but that Energy Trust would need to check on the 
confidentiality of other studies. 
 
Debra Malin asked where cogeneration fits into the Open Solicitation Program. She elaborated that she 
has seen proposals for developers to update a host’s cogen system to create additional generation while 
using the same amount of fuel. Peter replied that if the system is fossil fuel based the Renewables 
Department can’t help, but if it is a renewable fuel then there might be something to talk about. If the 
host would be saving natural gas it might be something the Energy Efficiency department would be 
interested in. 
  
Collin Whitehead asked if there was not going to be support for utility scale solar anymore. Betsy 
replied that any support that might exist would be handled through the Solar Program, not the Open 
Solicitation Program. 
  
Jeff King asked if OSP has seen any interest in larger scale binary geothermal plants. He says that his 
organization has seen interest in plants around 13MW in size in Nevada and other places. Betsy replied 
that when plants in Oregon get up to that size they tend to want to sell their power to California, since 
most are located in Southern Oregon. She said that the phone has been ringing on this subject though, 
and she is going to a geothermal conference in Nevada in October to learn more. Peter added that if 
geothermal projects come in at the costs he has typically seen published Energy Trust will not be able to 
support them without cutting a program. Jeff responded that he has seen some plants coming in at costs 
closer to what he would expect to see for Community Wind, but that Betsy’s point about selling to 
California is valid. 
 
Carel DeWinkel mentioned that in addition to the Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund operated through 
OECDD, the Community Renewable Energy Feasibility Fund operated through ODOE is available for 
communities looking for funding for feasibility studies.   
 
Solar Program 
Program Manager Kacia Brockman described the growth of the Solar Program, the hiring of additional 
staff to support the commercial solar sector, and the research and outreach efforts which have 
promoted the program’s expansion.  
 
Residential program activity in 2008 has acted on recommendations from market research performed by 
Smart Power in 2007. A pilot of solar home reviews, in which auditors go on site at locations where 
homeowner have pre-qualified and assess the homes’ solar potential, is underway. About 100 
assessments have been completed and a number of them have converted into projects. Staff is currently 
evaluating the pilot to determine whether it should continue in 2009. A contractor has been hired to 
appraise homes with solar systems that have sold since 2005 to better understand the value that solar 
adds to a property. Interestingly, staff has found only nine homes that have sold, indicating that owners 
who pursue solar probably see it as a long-term commitment to their home.  Despite the small sample 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


6 


size staff is moving forward with the research to see if it is possible to draw any conclusions about the 
added value to the home. 
 
Staff is contracting with a local bank to offer low-interest loans into the marketplace for renewable 
energy and efficiency projects. Smart Power’s focus group research identified a need for low interest, 
unsecured financing for solar projects. With the current market conditions, lending momentum has 
shifted to home equity loans as opposed to unsecured loans..  
 
Solar Now! has also moved forward. This effort is a branding campaign which combines the interests of 
Energy Trust, Solar Oregon, Oregon Department of Energy, and the City of Portland Office of 
Sustainable Development. At the 2008 NW Solar Expo all of these groups shared booth space under the 
heading of Solar Now! and were successful in helping people learn how to quickly move through various 
parts of the permitting, tax credits, and Energy Trust incentives. The free workshops put on by Solar 
Oregon continue to be very strongly attended. In general, there is a lot of interest. The shifting 
economy means that installations in 2008 haven’t grown as fast as they were projected to, but Energy 
Trust is still building the project pipeline. 
 
At the beginning of the year the Solar Program’s goal was to leverage the new 50% BETC and the 
interest that it developed into new projects. At the same time the program needed to strike a balance 
with respect to funding. The Solar Program’s 2008 budget was larger than in previous years, but the 
large number of early BETC reservations indicated that Energy Trust may have insufficient funds.  In 
addition, there has been a great deal of uncertainty created by the potential expiration of federal tax 
credits. Because of the apparent potential for a large number of small scale projects, the program has 
opted not to invest in very large solar projects.  
 
In June the Trsut shifted $2.5 million of unspent Community Wind program funds to the standard Solar 
program tos upport demand. The third-party ownership model is driving the increased demand in 2008, 
but projects were delayed as the PUC considered the appropriate treatment of third party system 
owners. Some projects are now being delayed due to potentially expiring tax credits, difficulty securing 
investors with in the current poor financial market and lack of investors with Oregon tax liability. These 
projects are being shifted to 2009.  As a result, the Solar Program probably will not hit its 2008 high 
goals, despite all the activity. Overall, the program has installed 1 MW this year and there are about 
6MW in pipeline that are committed for next year. 
 
The solar water heating program is chugging along, mostly at the residential scale. Several solar water 
contractors shifted their business focus to take advantage of opportunities in the PV market.  
 
In 2009 Solar plans for a lot of uncertainty. On the positive side, increased media attention has raised 
general awareness of solar opportunities. Rising energy prices may encourage investment in solar and 
equipment costs should start to decline. The learning curve for third party projects has been overcome, 
so those should move faster in the future.  It’s also likely that a third-party residential solar lease 
program will come to Oregon with an attractive offer to the residential market. On the negative side, 
the likely expiration of the federal tax credits will slow things down, as well as the poor economy. 
 
When the budget was developed for 2009, staff planned for no extension of the federal tax credit in this 
year, but expects that it will happen in the spring of 2009.  The 2009 solar budget will be similar to 2008 
but then will decline steeply in 2010 as the renewable programs spend the monies that have carried 
forward from previous years. 
 
The solar water heating program will promote more commercial hot water and solar pool heating. Staff 
will look at expanding the standard incentive for commercial solar electric projects beyond 100kW to 
reduce transaction costs for contracts and appeal to investors. 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


7 


Solar Questions: 
Len asked how high the new standard incentive will go. Kacia replied that staff is not sure yet, but that it 
might be 200-300kW. 
 
Carel asked if the money moved from the Wind Program will carry forward in the Solar budget. Kacia 
responded that the program has committed projects against that money. If those projects are not 
completed by end of 2008, that money carries forward to pay for them when they are built. 
 
Len asked if Solar will coordinate with ODOE when it is considering easing the cap on commercial solar 
arrays, to take into account sliding caps on ODOE’s maximum eligible cost. Kacia replied that program 
staff will coordinate with ODOE and industry stakeholders when the time comes, but that the budget is 
only in its first round, so nothing is set in stone yet. 
 
Suzanne asked if Kacia could give an estimate of the kW that will be installed by the end of year. She 
added that she has heard that financing troubles are causing some projects to stagnate. Brian replied that 
permitting has been a problem in some jurisdictions, but that due to the timing of the tax credit 
expiration all projects are highly motivated to come to completion this year. Peter added that it will be 
easier to give an estimate of the total installed kW next month because many projects are still in flux 
right now. 
 
Collin asked if any money will be earmarked for large scale solar in 2009. Kacia replied that nothing is 
earmarked beyond 1 MW combined multi-site projects.  
 
Carel mentioned that ODOE had a booth at State Fair and there was a lot of interest from the public 
about renewables and High Performance Homes. Kacia responded that in 2009 Energy Trust’s New 
Homes program will shift from promoting the current ENERGY STAR specification toward rewarding 
measures that achieve deeper energy savings, potential all the way to net zero. 
 
Wind Program 
Project Manager Erin Johnston gave a report on behalf of the Small and Community Wind programs. 
 
Small Wind was launched in late 2007 for projects up to 50kW in size. The market is still fairly 
undeveloped, so staff has spent a lot of time marketing to potential participants and trade allies. The 
outreach has generated an immense amount of participant interest but there are still not very many 
experienced installers. Growing the installer base is something staff will be working on in the next year. 
 
Two small wind projects have already been installed this year, and two more have funds committed to 
them and will be installed in 2008.   These projects consist of 3 10kW systems and one 1.8kW system.  
In addition two other projects were installed that carried over from previous years. One is a 5kW 
system in Independence, the other is 42kW system in the Willamette Valley that was developed in 
Oregon and is undergoing AWEA testing. Through these installations, staff has learned that the systems 
are more expensive than expected and that more installers are necessary to meet the market demand. 
 
As a demonstration, staff is also supporting a project which will install four Skystream turbines on a roof 
in downtown Portland. The installation will be at 12th and Washington. It is worth noting that this is not 
normally a good application for wind systems. In this case, the developer did extensive modeling and 
testing in the wind tunnel at Oregon State to find the best roof locations. It will be interesting to see 
what the results are. 
 
The Community Wind Program has continued its anemometer loan and expanded it to taller towers. 
These loans help prove projects feasibility. The biggest problem, beyond the shortage of turbines, has 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


8 


been interconnection. Staff provided support by participating in the PUC interconnection rulemaking 
workshops and hearings. 
  
In 2009 the Small Wind program will continue to focus on marketing to potential participants and 
installers. Through the solar program, we have learned that it takes about a year for a participant to go 
from being interested to getting a project installed. Staff currently receive one or more calls from 
potential participants each day. At this level of interest, that could mean a lot of new project applications 
in 2009. To help qualify customers staff purchased a wind map, but currently only Erin can use it. Staff is 
working to get a good-quality wind map online to relieve some of the pressure on Erin and the small 
installer base.  
 
To help the existing installers ramp up their operations Erin will hold a technical training series on 
installation, maintenance, and project sitting, for example. She is also working with NW Sustainable 
Energy for Economic Development to put together a turn-key wind system that would qualify for 
financing though the BETC and USDA REAP (aka Section 9006) programs. REAP grants reduce the value 
of the BETC but also reduce up front costs for participants that may not have tax credit appetite. 
 
To lower system costs staff is working with potential tower manufacturers to encourage in-state wind 
tower production. At present, no towers are made in Oregon and shipping expenses add to project 
costs. One in-state cell phone tower manufacturer is seriously considering building wind towers and 
another manufacturer is also thinking about going into local production. 
 
Staff are also considering expanding the Small Wind Program above 50kW to take advantage of 
refurbished machines that are coming on the market. Energy Trust would like to do a few 
demonstration projects using these machines.  
 
In the Community Wind Program, the worldwide turbine shortage will not be solved in 2009. Staff will 
continue with the anemometer loan program and continue assisting projects with interconnection 
issues. 
 
Wind Questions: 
Len asked if refurbished wind turbines carry the same or a reduced warranty from new machines. Erin 
responded that she believes the warranty is reduced but that once the systems are proven the warranty 
periods may get longer. Mark Olson added that no European manufacturers carry a five year warranty 
on their wind systems so his company is trying to encourage them to make the warranty period longer.  
 
Carel asked if the wind map, once it is online, will have data state wide. Erin replied that it will.  
 
Deb asked what the resolution on the map will be and wondered how much it will cost to make the 
data public. Erin responded that the Energy Trust’s internal map uses 200m wind data. To make this data 
public would be very expensive, requiring an approximately $60,000 up front purchase and about an 
$8,000 yearly licensing fee. Energy Trust also purchased 400m wind data for much less, approximately 
$700. That purchased data is not confirmed as being public, and the available public 400m data is not 
verified. Erin is working to confirm that the 400m data is public, and, if it is not, find out how much it 
would cost to make the data public. 
 
2. Roles and Risk Review 
Peter gave an overview of the need to do this analysis – Energy Trust has limited its role in project 
financing, and is looking to see if there are opportunities to accelerate renewable markets through 
taking different roles.   
 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


9 


Fred Gordon gave a summary of the roles that Summit Blue suggests Energy Trust might take on within 
its existing Renewable Energy programs.  He noted that anything new would require either new money, 
supplant existing program activities or require more staff. At present, Energy Trust does not have any 
new money. The process, then, is to try to determine the most important things to do. In places where 
a market is stuck, what can Energy Trust do to help it move along faster? 
  
The Summit Blue findings were presented in four columns. The first column represented things that 
Energy Trust currently does that could be done a little differently. The second column included new 
things that could be done within the organization’s current mandate. The third column represented 
things that could be done that are somewhat outside of Energy Trust’s current mandate. The last 
column included things that need to be done that may be the role of someone other than the Energy 
Trust (e.g., state and Federal government) 
 
Fred explained that the report’s findings were shared with peer organizations in  Vermont, 
Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania respectively. Energy Trust used their feedback and experiences to 
narrow down the potential options. 
 


• Community Wind –  Energy Trust could take a more active role in helping communities pull 
together the technical, financial, and administrative resources to make projects go, without 
actually taking on the role of developer. . Energy Trust aggregating orders to buy turbines is not 
feasible within the current Energy Trust renewables budget, and may (unrealistically) require 
synchronizing projects that may be on different timelines.   Prior experiments in aggregating 
turbine orders were not encouraging. 


 
• Small Wind – Marketing and targeting are the most important things. Energy Trust needs to get 


information out to the market. This is essentially more of what the program is currently doing.  
 
• Small PV – The small PV market would benefit from  a better idea of  Energy Trust’s funding 


plans over the next several years.   Ideally they would want a locked-in commitment but creating 
such a plan isn’t without risks- the appropriate funding level depends on many external variables 
such as prices, tax credits, and market response. Energy Trust is trying to figure out how to give 
more clarity while being honest with commitments and using funds wisely. 


 
• Larger PV – Energy Trust has limited its role in the large PV market to projects under 100 KW, 


multi-site project aggregating small sites, and possibly projects coming in through utility RFPs. 
The market wants predictability and the commitment of money. Developers are also nervous 
about turning over green tags since they don’t know what they’re worth.  To address  
developer concerns about green tag value in all renewable markets, Energy Trust is looking at 
buy-back clauses in the event that RECs become more valuable. In general, the REC market is 
highly speculative. Energy Trust has to figure out its long-term role in the large solar market 
before this becomes relevant to large solar 


 
• Biomass – The market wants to know the long-term price of fuels, but this is dependent on 


factors like the impact of the price of transport fuel on the Chinese recycled fibre market.   The 
Energy Trust can’t help much with this.  Energy Trust can try to help pull together potential fuel 
supply assessments at the local and regional levels or coordinate fuel access for multiple local 
projects if such an opportunity arises. In general, the market is convoluted, so it may be helpful if 
the Energy Trust provides more informational services. Energy Trust should also help interested 
parties develop financial pro-formas in a way that avoids legal liability issues. A lot of the 
questions in the Biomass sector back up into a bigger sets of questions about how Energy Trust 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


10 


should spend its money over the short and long terms with respect to meeting the new RPS 
requirements.  


 
• Geothermal – Energy Trust should help to demonstrate low temperature technologies. Energy 


Trust won’t be able to afford to help with exploration as test wells each cost a significant share 
of Energy Trusts budget. 


 
• Small Hydro – These projects tend to spend a long time in the pre-construction phase while 


getting financed. If Energy Trust could help with preconstruction financing it might accelerate 
things by a year or two. Some hydro projects also need help putting their financial and 
development teams together. Energy Trust can provide development assistance or advice in this 
regard. The advisory committee says Energy Trust shouldn’t take on development risk, but 
could help be a matchmaker between developers and financers. 


 
Questions: 
Suzanne noted that, with regard to Community Wind, it seems like the issue isn’t that Energy Trust 
should buy turbines but that the organization should try to aggregate orders.  
 
Fred responded that to aggregate turbine orders you have to have multiple projects on the same 
timeline. That has never happened in Oregon. This idea has been tried in other places and it created 
distrust with regard to the community’s sense of ownership of the project 
 
Peter added that Energy Trust got close to doing this once but the turbine supplier needed a single 
order. Someone had to put deposit money down. The cheapest way Energy Trust could think to do it 
was five percent down as an option, where Energy Trust would lose the money if the projects fell 
though. That deposit added up to millions of dollars, and in the end it was too much to risk. Yet, in the 
current market options are the only way to do this. 
 
Carel asked if anyone has done this. Peter replied that Massachusetts did that for three projects but that 
the results were mixed. Fred said that Massachusetts recommends against this practice because the local 
developers don’t welcome the help. These projects are difficult to move forward because you are trying 
to get community people who really have other jobs and capabilities to act like developers in a 
synchronized way. 
 
Carel asked what “facilitating development” means.  
 
Fred explained this is essentially adding more labor to the activities we are already doing. Peter added 
that it includes activities such as the Community Wind Guidebook, encouraging people, going out and 
prospecting projects yourself, and actually taking the lead for a while for communities.  
 
Carel noted that he and Erin were at a NW Seed wind meeting where a lot of landowners showed up 
who had been approached by wind developers who want them to sign on the dotted line. Maybe Energy 
Trust could help guide landowners or provide legal assistance? He noted that there will be other 
workshops like this in the near future. 
 
Erin replied that helping a landowner get involved in a utility scale project will not help Energy Trust 
meet its current goals because the savings will not come through Energy Trust’s program.   Carel 
replied that it could help the landowners to understand the different scales of development and might 
get some interested in community scale projects that way.  
 
Fred noted that large developers are starting to mine smaller niches.   Is Energy Trust’s help really 
needed? 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


11 


Peter replied that Erin’s concern is that Energy Trust won’t get credit. He questioned whether Energy 
Trust should care about the credit if the project ends up on the balance sheet of the RPS. 
  
Frank Vignola noted that right now Energy Trust pays its incentive upfront. He asked if Energy Trust 
should be paying on production instead. Frank also questioned if it would be possible to split things up 
and let a developer choose either an up-front incentive or payment on production?  
 
Fred replied that the market is stuck in the formation of capital. Paying less up front isn’t a barrier, it 
addresses a barrier. Paying more up front is the way to make more things happen. 
 
Carel said he believes feed-in tariffs could help. 
 
Fred said that paying by production means paying a lot more money. He noted that sales to utility are a 
form of pay-for-performance, so developers have a strong incentive to maintain production from their 
projects.   However, within the frame of what Energy Trust can do this would probably be worse 
financially in the long term. 
 
Peter noted that it is not cheaper for the Energy Trust because the organization would have to put the 
money in the bank to escrow it. Developers seeking project financing can go to the bank with a net 
meter or QF agreement, but Energy Trust revenues have to be escrowed to be real for the banks. That 
means that the budget impact for the Energy Trust is significant. For a developer, the time value of 
money is at a premium over money you can borrow from the bank because there is risk. It’s been 
cheaper for Energy Trust to take a risk on production.  
 
Frank responded that Energy Trust needs to make developers care that their systems are operating well 
over time. He believes the organization should start to move towards a production incentive and needs 
to find ways to do that. He acknowledged that solar installers all want the incentive up front, but thinks 
Energy Trust should find a way to move towards paying on production. 
 
Peter replied that doing so shifts risk for the organization. Energy Trust would be saying that it isn’t 
trying to develop a market at that point. The organization would also have to recognize that it will be 
paying more over time as a result. 
 
Carel said that he has worked for quite some time on production based payments. He does not believe 
that Energy Trust’s role would end with regard to market development if the organization switched to 
production payments. 
 
Peter agreed that the market development role may not go away initially, but that there must be 
recognition that Energy Trust would have to shift whatever it does. Production incentives have some 
good qualities, but there are some hidden issues that must also be recognized. 
 
Carel said he is a little concerned that people think production payments would mean that the Energy 
Trust would no longer be necessary. He said this is not true. 
 
Robert Grott said that from a developer perspective, these are just different ways to get things done.  
 
Fred sad that Energy Trust is adding the “last dollar” to utility purchase payments and tax credits to 
make a project go, , so the organization’s goal has been to get the most from the little amount we are 
paying. 
 
Peter asked that the conversation move on to other topics, recognizing that a great deal of time could 
be spent discussing production based incentives. 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


12 


Suzanne pointed out that the the consultants didn’t give advice on things to stop doing.  Fred said that 
Energy Trust asked Summit Blue to survey the market and provide advice on what more should be 
done.  We need to address what is not done to make way for the new. 
 
Robert noted that having Energy Trust staff on a project team would be a great leveraging activity, 
especially for smaller players in the renewables arena. 
 
Fred responded that participants like it if Energy Trust can provides expertise at pulling projects 
together, but expertise is at a premium. It means that the Energy Trust has to work at keeping its 
existing staff and continue recruiting more expert FTE. 
 
Carel looked over the sheet and asked if there are there things that might need to go to the legislature 
next year that aren’t obvious. 
 
Fred said that the Energy Efficiency Working Group is looking at letting a local improvement districts do 
property tax financing. This could be a way to provide capital for efficiency and on-site renewable 
projects whereby the loan is attached to the property and the local government can use the property 
tax collection process as security.   This reduces qualification requirements and simplifies the loan 
process, which could make loans available and attractive to many more people, including those of limited 
means.   The capital could come from local bonds or State bonds.  M municipalities could use this 
financing to get more projects happening. He noted that either the Energy Trust needs hundreds of 
millions of dollars in new rebates, or loans like these to get things moving. 
 
Peter added that there is also a proposal to allow SELP to do bonds for pre-construction financing.  
 
Jeff King noted that in the Biomass section, one of the key roles for others is to get a more sustainable 
woody biomass supply. He would like to see others working towards improved state and federal 
policies for forest management. 
 
Peter finished the conversation by noting that there is going to be an Innovation Workshop for the 
board on this subject on October 8th for both efficiency and renewables. If anyone has comments they 
should be sent to Peter or Fred. Energy Trust staff are trying to work towards a final set of 
recommendations for the board. There will also be one last memo and a final report from the 
consultants. 
 
3. Wave Power Report  
Betsy Kauffman gave an overview of a report on the Wave Industry prepared by Virinder Singh of Hat 
Trick Consulting.  
 
Energy Trust’s board President was concerned that Energy Trust might be missing an opportunity to 
participate in the development of the wave power industry in Oregon. Energy Trust commissioned 
Virinder to investigate the state of the wave industry and any potential roles for Energy Trust. 
  
The first part of the report examined the status of current projects in Oregon. The report notes that 
activity has slowed considerably. Looking back, it appears that most of the initial activity in the market 
was really site banking. 
 
Oceanlinx withdrew its project application. Lincoln County is no longer pursing its revised application. In 
Bandon, Finavera has a 2MW phase of a 100MW project that is still under development, but the 
company is facing financial challenges. Douglas County has a preliminary permit but is not moving 
forward quickly.  
 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


13 


The only projects that appear to have any activity or momentum to them are those being developed by 
Ocean Power Technologies. OPT has applications in for a test buoy and a 2 MW project in Reedsport, 
and a 100 MW project in Coos Bay.  
 
The report also analyzed the barriers to wave power projects. These were summarized as follows: 


• Lack of federal incentives. Wave power has no PTC or ITC, making it hard for the projects to 
pencil out. 


• Lack of experience in the technology and on the part of the developers. 
• Stakeholder concerns, mainly from the fishing and environmental communities. 
• Financial markets think these projects are risky. 
• The Governor has requested that only demonstration projects be approved until the state’s 


territorial sea plan is completed. He has asked FERC to not process OPT’s larger application 
until an amendment is made to the state’s coastal zone management plan. 


• FERC has a fast track licensing program but other agencies do not. Projects can only move as 
fast as the slowest agency. 


 
All of these barriers are in addition to the usual barriers of transmission, interconnection, financing etc. 
No project has even gotten to the point of discussing these issues yet. 
 
The report also asked what is needed to help the industry move forward. In general, streamlining and 
clarification of the permitting processing would be of assistance. In addition, there needs to be outreach 
to stakeholders and environmental impact studies need to be completed to understand these projects 
impacts. Overall, there needs to be more data and more experience with equipment in the water. 
Energy Trust staff do not believe these are things we are well equipped to help with. 
  
Take away points: 
The wave industry is in its infancy.  Right now, other technologies compare more favorably. Eventually 
additional data will come in and Energy Trust will reassess at that time. In the meantime, the Oregon 
Wave Energy Trust is in a good position to help the industry deal with the issues it faces and was set up 
specifically to do so.  
 
Staff members do not see a role for Energy Trust at this time, but are staying active and up to date on 
activities. Energy Trust is participating in and sponsoring conferences for the industry but we don’t have 
a role with specific projects yet. 
 
Questions: 
Carel asked if the Wave Energy Trust received a grant from the US DOE. Maybe $5 mil?  Betsy said she 
is not sure about the source or the total of the grant, but believes they are set up to help the industry 
out at this time. 
 
Fred said the Hat Trick Consulting report makes sense but wondered why these projects appear to be 
happening in other places, such as off the coast of Spain.  Betsy replied that there may be regulatory 
reasons or financial reasons that help the projects makes more sense in those places right now.  Carel 
DeWinkle said that European feed-in tariffs improve the projects’ economics overseas.   
 
Betsy reiterated that the Energy Trust does not need to worry about missing an opportunity with the 
wave industry in Oregon. 
 
4. Public Comments. 
Robert Grott notes that the Renewable Energy Working Group is working with the Oregon Insurance 
Commission to identify the inherent barriers to renewable energy projects through insurance and 







RAC notes – 9/17/2008 


14 


bonding. The group is looking for examples of projects that were delayed, blocked, or became cost 
ineffective as a result of insurance issues. Sandra Walden will be in contact about this.  
 
He also noted that the REWG has brought an idea to the Governor’s office with regard to the BETC. 
The idea would allow a pass-through partner pool to solve some of the problems of finding a 1:1 match. 
 
5. Meeting adjournment. 
Peter adjourned the meeting at 11:57am. He noted that the next RAC meeting will be on October 22, 
2008. 








 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on October 22, 2008 


 
Attending from the Council: 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Carel DeWinkel, Oregon Department of Energy 
Kari Greer for Kyle Davis of PacifiCorp 
Suzanne Leta Liou, Renewable Northwest Project 
Frank Vignola, University of Oregon 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Kacia Brockman 
Pete Catching 
Fred Gordon 
Ben Huntington 
Erin Johnston 
Jed Jorgensen 
Betsy Kauffman 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Pati Presnail 
Thad Roth 
Lizzie Rubado 
Brian Thornton 
John Volkman 
Peter West 


Attending from the Board: 
John Reynolds 
 
Others attending: 
Heather Beusse, EnXco 
Jon Miller, EnXco 
Mark Hughey, Green Energy 
Management, Inc.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter West convened the meeting at 9:40am. Everyone in attendance introduced themselves. The 
minutes for the previous meeting and the agenda for the current meeting were adopted without change.  


2. Renewable Energy Working Group Report 


Cylvia Hayes, co-chair of Oregon’s Renewable Energy Working Group (REWG), gave a phone presentation on a 
report the REWG recently submitted to the governor relating to the implementation of Oregon’s Renewable 
Energy Action Plan. 


Cylvia explained that the REWG is body appointed by the governor. The REWG had about 35 members 
when it first met for the 2007 legislative session. The group is now up to about 50 members and it is co-
chaired by her and Mike McCarthy. This year the group split into the REWG and an Energy Efficiency 
Working Group (EEWG). Clark Brockman chairs the EEWG. Cylvia feels that some big concepts for the 
2009 legislature are likely to involve efficiency, such as trying to get additional energy efficiency 
technologies to qualify for the BETC. 


Because of the state’s fiscal situation she feels it is unlikely any legislative concepts with budget 
consequences will go through. 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


2 


The REWG worked in subcommittees to build its list of legislative concepts. Then the group did an 
informal poll of its members to rank the nine concepts that resulted. The order represents both 
popularity and lack of controversy. 


1. Oregon Green Jobs Initiative. This is still a nebulous proposal. Lots of people want to get on the 
green jobs bandwagon, but there aren’t any specific, substantive proposals at this time. The REWG 
wasn’t sure they were the right group to develop the initiative but saw no one else leading, so they took 
up the charge. Cylvia is trying to get stakeholders such as Brad Avakian and the governor to meet to get 
everyone on board and create a substantive proposal with desired outcomes. 


2. Renewable Energy Research & Development, Commercialization, and Manufacturing. 
This concept is focused on supporting the development and improvement of renewable energy 
technologies in Oregon; above and beyond what is currently available via the Business Energy Tax 
Credit. The concept would establish a corporate income and excise tax credit for certain facility costs of 
business firms within the renewable energy sector.  It would be to help construct facilities and engage in 
business operations in which average annual gross payroll and increase in number of employees meet 
specified requirements.  


3. Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) Transferability. This is essentially a cleanup of the BETC 
program. It would clarify that a facility tax credit may be transferred to a partnership, corporation, 
limited liability company, trust or other entity. It would also permit the transferee of a facility tax credit 
to further transfer the credit to another person or entity, including a shareholder, member or partner 
of the transferee. 


4. Renewable Energy Research & Development, Commercialization, and Manufacturing. 
This concept is related to Number 2, but was less popular among REWG members. The concept would 
establish a grant program to incent new investment and job creation for renewable energy firms 
conducting research, development, commercialization and manufacturing of products used in the 
generation of renewable energy. This concept requires a whole new pocket of money be found, so it 
may not get anywhere. 


5. Third-Party Ownership of Net Metering Facilities. This concept is a response to the concerns 
raised by PacifiCorp earlier this year about applicability of certain regulations. The concept supports the 
OPUC position and makes the law clearer.  


Betsy asked why there wasn’t universal support for this proposal. Cylvia said that the REWG is not a 
love fest. It includes a broad spectrum of stakeholders. 


Carel asked how this would affect consumer owned utilities. Cylvia said this was a great question, but 
wasn’t sure what the answer was.  She said that would have to be asked at the next REWG meeting on 
October 29th. Frank said that net metering has mainly been dealing with private IOUs and that COUs 
have been on a different path. 


6. Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) Energy Fund. This concept addresses the concern that 
companies without a tax liability can’t find BETC pass-through partners. This proposal would create a 
fund to take the place of a pass-though partner. Individuals or corporation would make a contribution to 
the fund and then projects would withdraw from fund. The concept should be revenue neutral. 


Peter said this is modeled after another state program that works well. It should make things easy for 
small and medium sized projects, lowering transaction costs.  







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


3 


Suzanne said there are obviously limits to corporate tax credit appetite, but there are lots of individuals 
with taxes that we can’t tap into at current time. This is less about corporate taxes and more about 
expanding the pool to individual tax payers. 


7. Insurance for Renewable Energy Projects. This concept could take the form of a government-
supported program to assist renewable energy projects that have difficulty obtaining affordable 
insurance. The concept has lots of support from entrepreneurs on the REWG. Others need more 
information, especially about potential fiscal impacts. 


Peter said this comes out of the growth of the industry. As a projects approach an insurance company, if 
company doesn’t have a risk-pool, all the insurance contracts become one-offs, The insurance 
companies don’t know the risks involved, so they don’t know how to price insurance. If the state can 
step in and get something going, the insurance companies will get to benefit from that experience. This 
concept is only being explored in solar right now, but could get to biomass and small wind. Robert 
Grott has been spearheading this for NEBC.  


Cylvia said there are questions about costs and risk to the state. 


8. Production-Based Incentive Pilot. This concept would authorize the OPUC to establish a pilot 
production based incentive program for solar.   Also known as a feed-in tariff, the ides is to set a price 
for solar electricity that is high enough to motivate customers to install system and sell the electricity to 
the utility.  Rather ten being paid and incentive up-front, the customer will get paid over time for the 
amount generated.  Cylvia said this was the most controversial concept put forward. The idea is to try a 
pilot feed-in tariff over five years to see if it produces better effects than the current system. 


Peter mentioned that Suzanne proposed a legislative concept on the issue and asked her to describe it. 


Suzanne said the legislative concept in the REWG packet is not up to date. The separate concept given 
to RAC members was the correct document. Her document describes the purpose of the pilot and 
what the program boundaries would be. There is not much detail yet as a committee is till trying to 
figure out costs and other issues. The committee started out trying to get a sense of the program scope. 
That scope was given as 2MW for residential, 5MW for commercial, and 10MW for utility scale 
projects. If you ran the program until 2025 the peak cost would be $50 million annually. The governor’s 
office supports this, but thinks it will need to be financially supported in part by the state, either through 
utility bills, through the BETC, or some other mechanism. Suzanne thinks this will be difficult to achieve 
given the state budget. She doesn’t think it is off the table, but it would be difficult to run the program 
based solely on rates.  


Suzanne said she wants to refocus the scope of program to determine final costs. The utilities want to 
see lots of projects if they are going to ask for rate payer dollars, so they may want to focus on 
residential installs versus commercial or utility scale. If the program was just residential it would cost 
more like $20 million annually. But how much of that cost is actually a benefit to rate payers? What are 
the values of RECs, offsets, the energy value, and the distribution cost savings? They have asked utilities 
to analyze what the benefits are if the program will be in-part or wholly rate-payer supported. The 
OPUC and utilities will need to know benefits and there will have to be a new authority to do this in 
statute. It is unclear where OSEIA is on this bill. If something is going to be moved forward that will have 
to change. 


Frank said the OSEIA board is going to retreat in November and this will be discussed there. There is a 
new executive director who will be soliciting feedback from members. There is disagreement within the 
organization between feed-in tariffs and quotas.  







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


4 


Suzanne said she sits on an OSEIA subcommittee which has never expressed concern about this idea, 
but it is unclear where leadership is.  Peter noted the previous executive director of OSEIA supported 
the concept and a member of the OSEIA board has advocated for it in the REWG subcommittee that 
was asked to flesh out the details 


Peter asked Suzanne why the one sector that needs the least help, residential, is the one that is being 
explored? Energy Trust can’t meet commercial need and demand right now. Why is the group exploring 
residential?  Heather echoed this question.  Lizzie said the number one barrier to residential projects is 
still up-front costs.  


Suzanne said the utilities have asked Energy Trust for more data. They are struggling with the limited 
funding issue. They want to work with something that is getting traction in the legislature. 


Suzanne says the pilot incentive would be in addition to other state incentives. If you are a customer you 
could choose to work with existing Energy Trust and RETC incentives or you could go with the feed-in 
tariff plus the RETC. If you are a commercial customer the tariff would be high enough that you 
wouldn’t need a BETC. It is difficult to discuss details like this without making decisions about the 
project’s scope. 


Carel asked what the goal of the pilot is in the residential sector, where other programs are already 
working very well? We might find that feed-in doesn’t work for this sector where it might work better 
for other sectors. Some people have talked about increasing the PPC to pay for this. At $20 million that 
is twice the annual revenue of renewable energy programs at Energy Trust. Energy Trust is not a pilot 
project, so this is a shocking amount of money. 


Frank said the concept is still under development. The level where rates are paid has to be worked out, 
as well as whether it is a substitute for the RETC, etc. 


Jon Miller said he has been dealing with tariffs in Ontario and said he’ll contact Suzanne about things that 
have work and not-worked. 


9. Business Energy Tax Credit (BETC) Changes for Fuel Cells. This concept would amend 
BETC standards to provide for a 50% tax credit for all fuel cell systems. Renewable energy fuels already 
qualify, but the industry wants all fuel cells to qualify. Cylvia thinks this is more of a conservation issue 
but the EEWG group didn’t want it so it came back to REWG. It is last in terms of current support. 


Other REWG Issues. Beyond the above issues, Cylvia said she has been contacted about having the 
REWG add solar thermal to the RPS, as has been done in other states. There is concern about opening 
up the RPS, but the idea is being considered. She’s also been contacted about difficulties developing 
renewable energy projects on state lands. There was a bill passed last session that should have 
addressed this, but perhaps there is more work that needs to be done. 


John Reynolds asked if she meant thermal electric. Cylvia replied she was referring to hot water and 
adding it as a renewable. 


Peter noted next REWG meeting is OCT 29th in Cascade Locks. 


3. Draft Budgets 2009 - 2010  
Peter introduced staff’s first crack at the budget. He said the process has been similar the last two years, 
but the numbers have changed. He asked if anyone sees errors to please point them out. 
 
In 2008 we’ll have almost 35 aMW, 31 of which is Goodnoe Hills. It is the most we’ve done in any one 
year. Our cumulative goal is now at 66% of the program’s original goal. He recalled many people 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


5 


thinking the original goal was pie in the sky. He is proud of the accomplishments and the work of the 
staff. We partner with ODEO and they deserve credit as well. 
 
Now the program has refocused on 20MW and less, phasing out the utility scale program. We have 
provided a lot of feasibility and technical assistance studies, as well as resource assessments, and have 
helped with applications to the USDA, CREFF, and REFF. A lot has been active work with municipalities. 
 
From 2003-2008 ETO’s spending has been fairly balanced in terms of programs, but when you look at 
resources 45% of the funds have gone to Solar. The reason is that OSP incubated many of the new 
elements of the solar program.  
 
Suzanne asked when the 150 MWa was to be achieved. Peter said original mandate was through the end 
of 2011. 
 
Carel asked what the difference was between the resource and program basis in terms of Open 
Solicitation. Peter said that OSP has done many kinds of solar, plus hydro, geothermal, and one small 
wind project. Now OSP is really small hydro, a lot of outreach and feasibility work to municipalities and 
preliminary work on geothermal.  The resource basis looks at our programs not by what the program 
paid for, but what resources were acquired regardless of which program paid for it.   
 
2008 was a busy year, launching the small wind program and a small hydro initiative, plus working on 
three geothermal projects. We increased the size of solar program, created new incentives for multiple 
sites, and third-party financed system. We began to co-market with the efficiency department on site 
assessments. We struck a deal with Umpqua Bank to offer loans for residential and small commercial 
customers for solar and energy efficiency. 
 
We are also doing an extensive market review for biomass. It is not complete, but some results are 
starting to come in. This has been the best year yet for biomass but we’re not seeing results in wood 
debris or CHP and so we are asking what we can do differently. 
 
There has been extensive work with governments, trying to move folks to projects faster. The dominant 
number of projects with municipalities is in solar, but the capacity is in everything else. Now that we are 
out of large wind there will be more small projects in the 3-5 MW capacity that take longer to get. 
There are 57 solar systems that have been delayed due to resolving the PacifiCorp concern and the 
current state of the financial system.  
 
John asked if the delayed projects would be eligible for Umpqua financing. Peter said they are mostly 
large commercial projects and not the targets of the loan program.  
 
Suzanne asked a clarifying question about when the 57 projects would be installed. Peter responded 
likely in 2009.  
 
For 2009 and 2010 the budget themes have large uncertainties. Financial disruptions have cause credit to 
tighten, leading to higher standards and higher financing rates. The economic slowdown may have 
impacts as well but it is not clear yet. The tax credit extensions are positive and substantial for solar and 
small wind, modest for biomass and hydro, but disappointing for community wind. As projects get 
canceled due to economics turbines will become available, but community wind projects will have a 
harder time getting financing. There has never been a year with tax credits where we haven’t been 
uncertain. 
 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


6 


We are proposing only modest change for our programs. The main driver is that there is less carryover 
from year to year. There will be no new program offerings, which would only make budgets tighter. 
There will be limited support for community wind and slow the expansion of the solar program. 
 
We think we have a good range of successful programs. Biomass, hydro, municipal, solar and small wind 
efforts are working. There has been a positive reception for niche applications in small geothermal. In 
2009 we will provide a deeper reach for dairies and wastewater treatment plants.  We will respond in 
incremental ways to the market in solar. This includes residential loans, 3rd party ownership, Energy 
Performance Score incentives. We will help to structure small commercial loans, provide a larger cap on 
the standard incentive, and will examine shorter terms for contracts. We propose to re-structure OSP 
to focus on small and niche markets, and de-emphasize new technologies. We may even change the 
name of the program. We will focus innovation on new ways to deploy incentives. 
 
There will be some expansion in project development support, adding financial reviews, interconnection 
studies, doing more matchmaking, and more cross-promotion with energy efficiency.  
 
Carel asked what the Energy Performance Score is. Lizzie said the EPS comes out of the new homes 
program. This will provide incentives and support for a spectrum of projects which range from code all 
the way up to a net-zero home. The idea is to try and drive people to minimize energy consumption. 
Solar will be a big part of the program.  
 
New revenues will total as follows: 


• New Revenues for 2009 
– Pacific Power : $  5.2 million 
– PGE:  $  8.7 million 


 
• Non-contracted funds from prior years 


– Pacific Power: $  5.2  million 
– PGE:  $ 11.2 million 


 
• Total budgets for 2009 


– Pacific:  $   8.4 million 
– PGE:   $ 14.8 million 


 
The PacifiCorp non-contracted funds come from projects that were committed but have timed out. The 
same is true for PGE but also includes money that was never spent in PGE’s utility scale program. 
 
Expenditures will total as follows: 


• Expenditures as a share of total budgets 
– Incentives   78 % 
– Delivery & Management      5 % 
– Planning & Evaluation    2 % 
– Other costs   15 %  


 
About half of the 15% “Other” is actually program delivery. 
 
We are proposing to not spend all that we could in 2009 so that the 2009 and 2010 budgets are similar 
in size. The carryover would be the following: 


• Proposed carryover from 2009 to bolster 2010 
– Pacific:  $ 2.0 million 
– PGE:   $ 5.1 million 


 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


7 


With the rollover, 2010 will be 8% smaller than 2009. If we don’t rollover the funds there will be a 38% 
drop in 2010. Under this scenario the significant fall-off in funding will be postponed to in 2011. 
 
The 2010 budget is as follows: 


• New Revenues for 2010 
– Pacific Power : $  5.4 million 
– PGE:  $  9.0 million 


 
• Non-contracted funds from prior years 


– Pacific Power: $  2.0  million 
– PGE:  $  5.1 million 


 
• Total budgets for 2010 


– Pacific:  $     7.4 million 
– PGE:   $   14.1 million 


 
2009 Program costs are allocated as follows: 
Programs Total costs Range in aMW 


  $ million % Total Conservative Best Case 


Biopower $ 4.9 21 % 5.87 13.65 


Open Solicitation 3.6 15 % .45 .69 


Solar Electric 10.2 44 % .56 .75 


Utility Scale .1 1 %     


Wind 4.4 19 % .71 1.01 


Total Renewable 
Energy 


$ 23.2 100 % 7.58 16.09 


 
The bulk of the average megawatts come from Biopower. We think we will land one large biomass 
project, which is driving the energy forecasts.  
 
John asked what kind of project it would be. Thad replied that it would be a woody biomass project. 
Peter said that in downturns wood product manufactures sometimes re-invest in their facilities and we 
hope to capture such and opportunity. 
 
In 2010, costs in terms of average megawatts will go up if there is no woody biomass project, instead 
the average megawatts will come from dairies and waste water treatment plants. 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


8 


 
Programs Total costs Range in aMW 


  $ million % Total Conservative Best Case 


Biopower $ 4.8 23 % 2.23 6.57 


Open Solicitation 3.4 16 % .68 1.05 


Solar Electric 10.9 51 % .59 .79 


Utility Scale   0 %     


Wind 2.3 11 % .23 .33 


Total Renewable 
Energy 


$ 21.4 100 % 3.74 8.74 


 
Between PacifiCorp and PGE, biopower has more opportunities in PacifiCorp territory.   In PGE the 
biggest resource is solar. PacifiCorp has many other resources so the solar program is constrained so 
we can do those other projects. 
 
We’ll have to innovate how we use incentives. Perhaps doing equity investment, perhaps through 
purchasing equipment, but we can make our budget smarter. We can look to examples from other 
areas and are having discussions about this at the board level. 
 
We will continue to take a bigger role in project development in biomass, hydro, small wind, and 
geothermal. In solar, the industry does this effectively, but the other sectors need a more hands on 
approach to move projects more quickly. The issue is how far down the road do you go? We have 
defined the need but have to determine how much to help. 
 
This is the first crack at the budget, so we expect questions and revisions. Please send questions and 
concerns so that we can continue to refine. If you have comments let us know. The RAC’s comments 
will be incorporated and shown to the board on November 12th. 
 
Carel asked about companies working on community wind projects with refurbished machines. If small 
developers are successful will they be able to get help from Wind Program? 
 
Peter replied that there is room in the budget to help with these kinds of installations. The advantages 
to this kind of installation are low capital and good energy production, but there are no commissioning 
standards right now. If we can come up with these standards, then there is a bankable resource, 
something people can borrow money off of. Energy Trust thinks there is potential and we have left 
room in the budget for it, but if it explodes we won’t be able to handle it all of the market demand. 
 
Fred noted that in terms of project development help, Spencer Moersfelder will start a demonstration 
program to get a handful of net-zero buildings. Some solar projects may happen through the Efficiency 
program and the Solar program working together. 
 
Suzanne said the budget makes sense to avoid a sharp drop in 2010, especially since we know what ITC 
is doing. The question she has is for community scale wind. Does the one year tax extension impact 
wind program?  Peter replied that the program is shrinking in 2010. A one-year extension is not enough 
to change fortunes for this part of the market. 
 







RAC notes – 10/22/2008 


9 


Carel said everyone is in favor of the PTC but it wasn’t packaged properly in federal legislation.  
 
John Reynolds noted that he thinks there is a bright future for community wind from a political 
perspective. Peter said Energy Trust will need more money in that case. To be clear, Energy Trust will 
support activities related to helping projects get ready, such as anemometer loans and other project 
development work, but the budget for actual projects is low.  
 
The RAC was supportive of the overall budget, themes and proposed directions. 
 
The final budget proposal will be presented to the RAC on December third, and for final approval to the 
board on December 19th. 


4. Public Comments 


There were no further public comments. 
 
Peter adjourned the meeting at 11:40am. 








2009-10 Draft Budget & Action Plan 
Board of Directors


 
November 12, 2008







2


2008 Forecasted Savings/Generation 


•
 


Projected year-end electric savings of 33.8 aMW
–


 
95% of our best case goal of 35.6 aMW


•
 


Forecasted year-end gas savings efficiency of 2.5M 
annual therms
–


 
Exceeds both our conservative and best case goals of 1.7M 
and 2.3M, respectively


•
 


Renewable energy programs expected to generate  
34.8 aMW
–


 
A dramatic increase over prior years and well over our 
best case annual goal







3


General Observations


•
 


Financial market downturns and credit crisis
•


 
Volatile energy prices continue


•
 


New administration and prospect of carbon 
regulation


•
 


How will such changes impact consumer behavior 
and program participation?


•
 


Energy efficiency and renewable energy remain 
centerpiece solutions 


•
 


We’re “riding the green wave”
•


 
Will the resources we may need be available in 2010 
for efficiency and 2011 for renewables?







4


2009 Budget Themes


•
 
Acquire more results per customer 


•
 
Provide financing 


•
 
Collaborate with utilities and other partners


•
 
Launch more community energy projects


•
 
Enhance the website 


•
 
Explore service to NW Natural in Washington State 


•
 
Participate in regional activities 


•
 
Begin Enterprise Resource Plan


•
 
Prepare Management Audit 


•
 
Update 5-year Strategic Plan







5


2009 Spending by Division


 $76.5 mil
 61% $16.8 mil 


13%


 $28.8 mil
23%


 $2.8 mil
 2%


 $1.3 mil
 1%


Energy Efficiency-Electric Energy Efficiency-Gas Renewable Energy
Administration Communications and Outreach







6


2009 Renewable Budget Themes


•


 
Continue the full range of successful programs
–


 


Solar, biomass, small wind, hydro and municipal projects


•


 
Respond incrementally and in new ways to both the residential 
and commercial solar markets


•


 
Reach deeper to serve dairies and wastewater treatment plants


•


 
Re-structure the Open Solicitation Program


–


 


Focus on small and niche markets rather than new technologies


•


 
Continue small geothermal niche projects 


•


 
Concentrate on innovative ways to offer incentives


•


 
Provide expanded project development support


–


 


Add financial reviews, interconnection studies and “matchmaking”


•


 
Continue cross-promotions with energy efficiency







7


2009 RE Draft Activity Budget & Generation


Programs Total costs Range in aMW


$ million % Total Conservative Best Case


Biopower $ 4.9 21 % 5.87 13.65


Open Solicitation 3.6 15 % .45 .69


Solar Electric 10.2 44 % .56 .75


Utility Scale .1 1 %


Wind 4.4 19 % .71 1.01


Total Renewable Energy $ 23.2 100 % 7.58 16.09







8


2010 RE Draft Activity Budget & Generation


Programs Total costs Range in aMW


$ million % Total Conservative Best Case


Biopower $ 4.8 23 % 2.23 6.57


Open Solicitation 3.4 16 % .68 1.05


Solar Electric 10.9 51 % .59 .79


Utility Scale 0 %


Wind 2.3 11 % .23 .33


Total Renewable Energy $ 21.4 100 % 3.74 8.74







9


2009-2010 Renewables Challenges


•
 
Remain flexible to best manage market uncertainties


•
 
Assume a larger role in biopower, hydro, small wind 
and geothermal project development 


•
 
Consider other innovative ways to use incentives 


•
 
Absent new revenues by 2011, reduce program 
offerings and optimize available resources  


–
 


Unable to sustain or meet growing solar demand, 
especially for commercial PV and especially in 
Pacific Power service territory







10


2009 Energy Efficiency Budget Themes


•


 
Greater penetration within existing markets, especially the 
commercial sector


-


 
More emphasis on marketing and outreach to existing 
small business and new commercial construction


-


 
More customer focus


•


 
Introduce more new efficient gas and electric technologies


•


 
Further integrate joint renewable and efficiency program 
delivery


•


 
Continue capacity building to capture expanded opportunities


•


 
Expand Trade Ally network


•


 
Participate in and leverage regional initiatives







11


2009 Efficiency Program Sector Emphases


Residential -
 


Existing Homes
•


 
Expand Home Performance with Energy Star


•
 


Implement near-low income outreach strategy
•


 
Integrate solar hot water efforts into home assessments


•
 


Pursue behavior change strategies such as Energy 
Performance Score (EPS) and more Blueline


 
energy 


monitors


New Homes and Products
•


 
Increase Energy Star new homes market share


•
 


Promote high performance home construction and 
specialty CFLs


•
 


Increase refrigerator recycling initiative penetration







12


2009 Efficiency Program Emphases


New Commercial Buildings
•


 
Develop small to medium construction design-build market


•


 
Expand Energy Star track 


•


 
Initiate net-zero pilot


Existing Commercial Buildings
•


 
Concentrate on food services, lodging, office and healthcare


•


 
Add laundries and data centers


•


 
Integrate solar


Industrial/Production Efficiency
•


 
Expand outreach and small/medium customer offerings through 
Program Delivery Contractors and trade allies


•


 
Develop semi-prescriptive analysis tools for small industrials







13


2009 EE Program Budget -
 


Stretch
Electric


2008 aMW  -
plan 2009 aMW 2009 kWh 


2009 Electric 
cost Measure Life


 2009 
levelized cost 


2008 levelized  
cost - plan 


Existing Buildings 5.28 9.49         83,112,992   $15,562,804 13.0 0.020         0.024             
New Buildings 3.14 7.83         68,629,248   $15,752,612 17.9 0.020         0.026             
NEEA - commercial 0.26 0.25         2,201,253     $1,563,126 15.0 0.069         0.069             
Production Efficiency 9.72 10.53       92,262,871   $19,959,582 11.2 0.026         0.021             
NEEA - Industrial 1.07 1.07         9,399,083     $953,821 10.0 0.013         0.013             
Existing Homes 3.08 2.30         20,173,917   $8,761,087 22.7 0.033         0.027             
New Homes and Products 7.53 5.92         51,823,213   $15,709,705 7.6 0.049         0.030             
NEEA - residential 5.47 4.64         40,635,487   $880,304 8.0 0.003         0.003             
NEEA  - combined 6.80 5.96         52,235,823   $3,397,251 8.7 0.009         0.009             


Program 35.56              42.04       368,238,065 $79,143,041 12.6 0.024         0.022             


Gas
2008 Therms - 


plan 2009 Therms Gas Cost Measure Life
 2009 levelized 


cost 5.2% 
 2008 levelized  


cost - plan 
Existing Buildings 570,757              857,992                 $2,803,708 15.2 0.316                    0.280                  
New Buildings 369,600              484,104                 $1,825,512 17.4 0.335                    0.331                  
Production Efficiency 38,903                111,000                 $517,142 12.0 0.532                    0.786                  
Existing Homes 948,293              983,871                 $9,726,996 29.7 0.661                    0.485                  
New Homes and Products 385,165              137,282                 $2,484,581 24.4 1.326                    0.430                  


Program 2,312,718           2,574,250              $17,357,939 21.5 0.528                    0.407                  







14


Anticipated 2010 Efficiency Activity 


•
 
Maintain momentum and achieve continued results


•
 
Introduce new efficient gas and electric technologies 


•
 
Support new home market transformation efforts 


•
 
Build services to lower income homes and green 
communities


•
 
Continue commercial sector emphasis 


•
 
Complete integration of renewable and efficiency 
program delivery


•
 
Further expand Trade Ally network 


•
 
Launch interactive web-based features for 
customers


•
 
Leverage future NW Energy Efficiency Alliance 
activities







15


Marketing and Communication Themes


•


 
Apply customer focused 
marketing strategy


•


 
Utilize market research 
findings


•


 
Pursue cross-program initiatives 
Green Street Lending
–


 


Energy Performance Score


–


 


Better Living Shows


–


 


Strategic, leveraged ad buys 


–


 


Continue website improvements


•


 
Explore additional Community 
Energy projects



http://www.gettyimages.com/Search/Search.aspx?query=z.i.H4sIAAAAAAAEAO29B2AcSZYlJi9tynt_SvVK1-B0oQiAYBMk2JBAEOzBiM3mkuwdaUcjKasqgcplVmVdZhZAzO2dvPfee--999577733ujudTif33_8_XGZkAWz2zkrayZ4hgKrIHz9-fB8_In7dfLn91etf49f4NX6PX_dskV3kvyb9mtD_f7N8mdcX1-m6ydP5elHVv-b_Tc-vsfH5Nc3PpK6q9mVWZ4vGfPZr4f-7Oz9GP369d6-vm9N35o1fU_9GCzxo8ms_2Nnzfr_HELJzbfFr_Jr6O175tbPzqe3Y_-PXxgc73O-idW8u2l9Xf_8tfg1Gyf6653695369737d519_HeqjtPDsX-ju16U_6oXFJvzz18dHu_jr1-PPJxZG529-7TyEYv9kKDsWynkHivubX6tDKPZPhrJnodQdKO5vImhuYeCPX1v_YOru4rff0LT9jc3nRJN8ZT79NYO_fq3cdeX9_mvljfex_f3Xblb2zV_T_-PXupy69pdTg9Rvib937G_79jdG9Nepao_r7F_81ST3v8JfBiaz4MOdHe_3Xe93ZtNfe3a1NKB-TfPHr4P_N-uJG1nw16-dZ24M_h_0-8r_wv7x6zYBtPDPX_vds-duorw_flv6_69fLKflepZzw6z2cPX--NHzo-dHz8-35_8BsVgHuQAIAAA.





16


Management & General Themes


•
 


Continue process improvements to better serve both 
internal and external customers


–


 
Simplify participation


–


 
Automate more on-line forms 


•
 


Solidify IT staffing plan 
•


 
Finalize RFP for Enterprise Resource Plan


–


 
Includes contact management, project tracking, contract 
administration, accounting, etc.


–


 
Prepare to implement new systems, if needed


•
 


2009 Management Audit







17


Minimum OPUC Targets and Budget Goals


Category Measures 2009 Draft Budget


Energy Efficiency Obtain at least 31aMW computed on three-


 
year rolling average
Levelized cost not to exceed 35 cents/kWh


31.5 –


 


42.1 aMW


3.2 cents –


 


2.4 cents//kWh


Natural Gas Obtain at least 1.8 million annual therms 
computed on a three-year rolling average
Levelized cost not to exceed 60 cents/therm 


1.9-2.5 million annual 
therms
70 –


 


54 cents/annual therm


Renewable Energy Secure at least 9 aMW computed on a three-


 
year rolling average from small scale projects


7.6 –


 


16.1


 


aMW


Financial Integrity Receive an Unqualified financial opinion from 
independent auditor on annual financial 
statements


Accounting conforms with 
Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles


Administrative/Pro-


 
gram Support Costs


Keep below 11% of annual revenue 8.1%


Customer 
Satisfaction


Achieve reasonable rates Customer satisfaction 
research results


Benefit/Cost Ratios Report both utility system and societal 
perspective on an annual basis


Incremental Electric 
Efficiency Funding


Report annually energy savings achieved as a 
result of SB 838







18


OPUC Performance Measures-Program 
Support & Administration


Actual 2006 6.5%


Actual 2007 6.0%


Forecasted 2008 5.6%


Budgeted 2009 8.1%


Projected 2010 8.1%


OPUC Benchmark 11.0%


Stretch Goal 9.0%







19


Projected Carryover by 2010


•
 


Aggressive plans for 2009 savings and generation 
acquisition


•
 


Projections to spend carryover down significantly by 
2010


•
 


Additional revenues may be warranted
•


 
Revisit savings and revenue requirements under SB 
838 agreements with electric utilities (August 2009)


•
 


Understanding with gas utilities to do the same
•


 
No such mechanism for renewable program support







20


Total Gas Carryover


(8,000,000)


(6,000,000)


(4,000,000)


(2,000,000)


-


2,000,000


4,000,000


6,000,000


8,000,000


10,000,000


20
02


20
03


20
04


20
05


20
06


20
07


20
08


 Fo
rec


as
t


20
09


 B
ud


get
20


10
 Pro


jec
tio


nCa
rr


yo
ve


r


Carryover by year Cumulative Carryover







21


Carryover Balances


Carryover Inception to 2010


(30,000,000)


(20,000,000)


(10,000,000)


-


10,000,000


20,000,000


30,000,000


40,000,000


50,000,000


2001 2002 SY2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010


Electric Gas Renewable Energy Renewable-Activity Basis Electric 2010 Potential Gas 2010 Potential







22


Carryover Balances Absent Potential


Carryover Inception to 2010


(5,000,000)


-


5,000,000


10,000,000


15,000,000


20,000,000


25,000,000


30,000,000


35,000,000


40,000,000


2001 2002 SY2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010


Electric Gas Renewable Energy Renewable-Activity Basis







23


Next Steps


•
 


Final draft budget distributed next week
•


 
Board meets November 12


•
 


Outreach continues through early December
•


 
Complete draft final budget presented at 
December 19th


 
Board meeting


•
 


Coordination and collaboration with regional and 
statewide partners continues


•
 


Monitor state and federal legislative activity







24


Board Back-Up Slides


Following four slides show Efficiency investment and 
savings by sector







25


Electric Efficiency Spending


30%36%37% 27% 28% 26%


42% 
38% 


44%13% 38% 
46% 


42% 34% 
29% 


26% 
26% 


26% 


41%


50% 
26%


27%


30% 40%


32% 


36% 


30% 


-


10


20


30


40


50


60


70


80


90


100


2007
Revenue


2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 FC 2009 2010
Balanced


2010
Potential


$
M


Commercial Industrial Residential







26


Electric Efficiency Savings in aMW


8.2 7.0 6.1


17.6
11.8


18.8


19.9


9.4
16.3 12.2


11.6


10.0


13.4


11.6


10.0


12.8
13.1 12.9


14.3


8.5


12.8


0.0


5.0


10.0


15.0


20.0


25.0


30.0


35.0


40.0


45.0


50.0


2005 2006 2007 2008 FC 2009 Best
Case


2010 Best
Balanced


2010 Best
Potential


Commercial Industrial Residential







27


Gas Efficiency Expenditures


-


-
-


- 27% 33%


16%


21% 25% 24% 25% 25% 


34% 
1%


3% 


2% 


4% 


70%


67%


84%


79%


75% 75%


74%
73% 


62%


0


2


4


6


8


10


12


14


16


18


20


2007
Revenue


2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 FC 2009 2010
Balanced


2010
Potential


$M


Commercial Industrial Residential







28


Gas Efficiency Savings-Annual Therms


438,469


1,334,172
1,108,175 1,022,041


1,342,096


834,000


1,897,836
3,102


111,000


49,000


166,500


855,672


1,051,260
1,136,951


1,442,505
1,121,154


751,000


931,564


69,884


-


500,000


1,000,000


1,500,000


2,000,000


2,500,000


3,000,000


3,500,000


2005 2006 2007 2008 FC 2009 Best
Case


2010 Best
Balanced


2010 Best
Potential


Commercial Industrial Residential







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL Budget
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs Total Difference


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $32,438,087 $23,082,767 $9,476,179 $1,014,516 ($99,339) $65,912,211 $7,714,495 $4,940,881 $12,655,375 $78,567,586 $77,832,082 $735,504
Revenue from Investments 1,749,976 1,749,976 1,842,528 (92,552)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 32,438,087 23,082,767 9,476,179 1,014,516 (99,339) 65,912,211 7,714,495 4,940,881 12,655,375 1,749,976 80,317,562 79,674,610 642,952


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,382,247 746,987 673,758 79,547 5,337 2,887,876 530,494 316,511 847,005 3,734,881 5,886,050 (2,151,166)
  Program Delivery 9,527,914 5,455,532 2,488,086 325,562 25,059 17,822,153 70,898 62,133 133,031 17,955,184 19,493,530 (1,538,347)
  Incentives 16,699,572 10,656,605 6,215,223 464,753 45,231 34,081,384 5,987,858 4,898,322 10,886,180 44,967,564 63,818,936 (18,851,372)
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,178,374 601,994 494,390 32,147 1,611 2,308,515 248,868 123,725 372,593 2,681,108 3,203,246 (522,139)
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,728,596 845,355 700,972 98,666 6,600 3,380,188 142,280 135,580 277,860 3,658,048 4,432,259 (774,213)
  Program Legal Services 227 112 129 12 1 480 8,898 4,043 12,941 13,421 149,750 (136,329)
  Program Quality Assurance 66,409 28,435 44,000 2,844 69 141,758 3,292 6,298 9,590 151,348 189,600 (38,251)
  Outsourced  Services 355,824 179,762 90,680 8,530 221 635,018 415,529 193,804 609,333 1,244,351 2,023,936 (779,587)
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 227,323 98,657 193,579 12,360 398 532,317 34,669 23,012 57,681 589,998 842,634 (252,637)
  IT Services 517,643 275,688 240,608 22,094 1,828 1,057,861 97,696 54,873 152,569 1,210,430 1,944,425 (733,994)
  Other Program Expenses 150,388 82,241 63,212 5,102 289 301,231 106,085 64,651 170,736 471,967 1,145,665 (673,700)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 31,834,517 18,971,367 11,204,637 1,051,615 86,644 63,148,779 7,646,566 5,882,953 13,529,518 76,678,297 103,130,032 (26,451,734)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 733,982 437,407 258,336 24,246 1,998 1,455,969 176,301 135,638 311,939 1,767,907
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 399,908 238,320 140,754 13,210 1,088 793,280 96,057 73,902 169,959 963,238


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,133,890 675,727 399,089 37,457 3,086 2,249,249 272,358 209,540 481,898 2,731,145


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 32,968,407 19,647,094 11,603,726 1,089,072 89,730 65,398,028 7,918,923 6,092,494 14,011,416 79,409,442 103,130,032 (26,451,734)


---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ---------------- ----------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (530,320) 3,435,673 (2,127,547) (74,556) (189,069) 514,183 (204,428) (1,151,613) (1,356,041) 1,749,976 908,120 (23,455,422) 27,094,686


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 15,777,584 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,238 59,619,238
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 16,368,760 (2,834,073) 5,285,446 371,632 (0) 19,191,767 23,893,084 12,746,241 36,639,325 4,696,264 60,527,358 36,163,816 27,094,686


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Forecast Prepared Q4 2008 2008-F-06







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $5,489,214 $2,211,540 $7,700,754 $1,987,928 $152,149 $2,140,077 $9,840,831 $11,880,167 $2,039,336
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 4,606,414 2,101,062 6,707,476 915,526 58,629 974,155 7,681,631 9,673,070 1,991,439
Market Transformation (NEEA) 894,063 674,469 1,568,532 -              1,568,532 1,582,620 14,088


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
  Total Commercial 10,989,691 4,987,071 15,976,762 2,903,454 210,778 3,114,232 19,090,994 23,135,857 4,044,863


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 7,390,061 6,808,517 14,198,578 156,719 18,031 174,750       14,373,328 16,087,116 1,713,788
Market Transformation (NEEA) 496,916 374,867 871,783 -              871,783 949,483 77,700


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
  Total Industrial 7,886,977 7,183,384 15,070,361 156,719 18,031 174,750 15,245,111 17,036,599 1,791,488


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 6,489,025 2,576,985 9,066,010 6,780,486 362,922 7,143,408 16,209,418 16,905,123 695,705
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 7,138,356 4,549,350 11,687,706 1,763,069 497,339 89,730 2,350,138 14,037,844 14,142,089 104,245
Market Transformation (NEEA) 464,358 350,304 814,662 -              814,662 1,029,650 214,988


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
  Total Residential 14,091,739 7,476,639 21,568,378 8,543,555 860,261 89,730 9,493,546 31,061,924 32,076,862 1,014,938


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 32,968,407 19,647,094 52,615,501 11,603,728 1,089,070 89,730 12,782,528 65,398,028 72,249,318 6,851,289


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------


Renewables


Biopower 708,299 1,625,464 2,333,763 -              2,333,763 2,048,992 (284,771)
Open Solicitation 3,188,493 276,376 3,464,869 -              3,464,869 9,224,799 5,759,930
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 3,562,368 2,364,617 5,926,985 -              5,926,985 9,092,038 3,165,053
Utility Scale Projects 21,682 1,674,359 1,696,041 -              1,696,041 4,595,365 2,899,324
Wind 438,084 151,675 589,759 -              589,759 5,919,518 5,329,759


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 7,918,926 6,092,491 14,011,417 -              14,011,416 30,880,712 16,869,295


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========
  Cost Grand Total 40,887,333 25,739,585 66,626,918 11,603,728 1,089,070 89,730 12,782,528 79,409,442 103,130,030 23,720,584


========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ==========


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Forecast Prepared Q4 2008 2008-F-06







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 55,799,314 11,019,211 66,818,525 -                        66,818,525
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,205,988 847,006 2,052,994 1,143,234 341,502 1,484,736 3,537,730
Outsourced Services 3,255,204 1,054,306 4,309,510 229,514 413,080 642,594 4,952,104
Planning and Evaluation 996,863 228,011 1,224,874 15,876 1,505 17,381 1,242,255
Customer Service Management 532,316 57,681 589,997 -                        589,997


-------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- --------------------------
Total Program Expenses 61,789,686 13,206,215 74,995,901 1,388,624 756,086 2,144,710 77,140,611


Program Support Costs


Supplies 9,408 6,370 15,778 8,526 3,747 12,273 28,051
Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,818 1,922 6,740 4,062 8,570 12,632 19,372
Telephone 5,836 3,902 9,738 3,404 753 4,157 13,895
Printing and Publications 101,847 32,561 134,408 3,146 50,279 53,425 187,833
Occupancy Expenses 50,208 34,852 85,060 43,012 15,960 58,972 144,032
Insurance 10,588 7,350 17,938 9,071 3,366 12,437 30,375
Equipment 5,501 30,068 35,569 4,609 2,910 7,519 43,088
Travel 42,550 28,553 71,103 25,395 7,401 32,796 103,899
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 38,424 15,717 54,141 76,619 11,032 87,651 141,792
Depreciation & Amortization 2,395 7,719 10,114 2,052 761 2,813 12,927
Dues, Licenses and Fees 28,114 1,596 29,710 8,498 3,584 12,082 41,792
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,540 126 1,666 129 29 158 1,824
IT Services 1,057,863 152,569 1,210,432 190,762 98,760 289,522 1,499,954


-------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- --------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,359,093 323,303 1,682,396 379,283 207,152 586,435 2,268,831


-------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- -------------------------- --------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 63,148,779 13,529,518 76,678,297 1,767,907 963,238 2,731,145 79,409,442


============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


puc performance measure 5.6%


Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expense


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2008
Forecast Prepared Q4 2008 2008-F-06







 







2009 Budget Recap - Round 1: DRAFT
BUDGET ($M) ELECTRIC SAVINGS1 GAS SAVINGS1


GOALS COST GOALS COST


ELECTRIC GAS TOTAL Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal


ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Commercial


Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings 15.6 2.8 18.4 7.12 9.49 0.027 0.020          643,494          857,992 0.421 0.316


Business Energy Solutions  – New Buildings 15.8 1.8 17.6 5.88 7.83 0.027 0.020          363,078          484,104 0.446 0.335


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 1.6 0.0 1.6 0.19 0.25 0.092 0.069  NA 


Total Commercial 32.9 4.6 37.5 13.2 17.6 0.028 0.021      1,006,572      1,342,096 0.430 0.323


Industrial


Production Efficiency 20.0 0.5 20.5 7.90 10.53 0.035 0.026           83,250          111,000 0.709 0.532


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.80 1.07 0.018 0.013  NA 


Total Industrial 20.9 0.5 21.4 8.7 11.6 0.033 0.025          83,250        111,000 0.709 0.532


Residential


Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes 8.8 9.7 18.5 1.73 2.30 0.044 0.033          737,904          983,871 0.881 0.661


Home Energy Solutions   –  New Homes & Products 15.7 2.5 18.2 4.44 5.92 0.065 0.049          102,962          137,282 1.768 1.326


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 0.9 0.0 0.9 3.48 4.64 0.005 0.003  NA 


Total Residential 25.4 12.2 37.6 9.6 12.9 0.038 0.028        840,865      1,121,154 0.980 0.735


Total Energy Efficiency $79.1 $17.4 $96.5 31.5 42.0 0.032 0.024      1,930,688      2,574,250 0.704 0.528


BUDGET ($M) ELECTRIC GENERATION1


GOALS COST
($mils/ aMW)


ELECTRIC GAS TOTAL Conservative Best Case Conservative Best Case


RENEWABLE RESOURCES2


Biopower 4.9 4.9 5.87 13.65 0.83 0.36


Open Solicitation 3.6 3.6 0.45 0.69 8.04 5.23


Solar Electric 10.3 10.3 0.56 0.75 18.29 13.72


Utility-Scale 0.1 0.1 0.00 0.00 na na


Wind 4.4 4.4 0.71 1.01 6.29 4.40


Total Renewable Resources $23.2 $23.2 7.6 16.1 3.07 1.44


Evaluation schedule can now be viewed on the Planning & Evaluation One-Pager under "Other Programs."
1 some columns may not add due to rounding
2 Budget amounts for Renewable Resources are activity based and include dedicated funds


Levelized ($/Therm)


aMW


PROGRAM
aMW Levelized  ($/kWh) Annual Therms







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL 2008
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs Forecast Difference


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $42,833,098 $25,429,864 $10,679,827 $1,083,161 $80,025,950 $8,732,009 $5,237,334 $13,969,342 $93,995,292 $7,248,577 $86,746,715
Revenue from Investments 1,135,972 1,135,972 108,303 1,027,669


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 42,833,098 25,429,864 10,679,827 1,083,161 80,025,950 8,732,009 5,237,334 13,969,342 1,135,972 95,131,265 7,356,880 87,774,384


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,903,525 1,042,707 827,057 82,228 3,855,517 624,394 365,745 990,139 -              4,845,656 412,627 4,433,023
  Program Delivery 13,199,453 7,533,225 3,839,150 364,490 24,936,318 77,900 42,100 120,000 -              25,056,318 1,667,611 23,388,705
  Incentives 26,137,831 16,559,811 7,789,739 663,958 51,151,339 14,333,960 10,199,506 24,533,466 -              75,684,805 13,473,309 62,211,496
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,796,992 1,038,971 736,459 62,136 3,634,557 370,578 201,869 572,447 -              4,207,004 348,639 3,858,367
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,409,439 1,205,070 1,012,460 99,955 4,726,924 368,794 133,316 502,110 -              5,229,034 536,698 4,692,338
  Program Legal Services -              -              -              -              -              25,285 9,717 35,002 -              35,002 3,667 31,333
  Program Quality Assurance 80,491 40,925 64,297 4,287 190,000 71,600 46,400 118,000 -              308,000 16,257 291,743
  Outsourced  Services 541,278 353,635 155,079 13,466 1,063,458 922,931 382,969 1,305,900 -              2,369,358 193,165 2,176,194
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 300,211 135,841 342,511 21,500 800,062 51,220 16,659 67,879 -              867,941 55,223 812,719
  IT Services 1,253,351 716,438 567,988 48,156 2,585,933 180,595 102,342 282,937 -              2,868,870 178,425 2,690,447
  Other Program Expenses 214,800 125,796 95,285 7,750 443,631 163,997 80,349 244,346 -              687,977 82,719 605,260


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 47,837,371 28,752,420 15,430,023 1,367,925 93,387,739 17,191,254 11,580,972 28,772,226 -              122,159,965 16,968,341 105,191,624


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 1,084,503 651,835 349,808 31,012 2,117,157 389,737 262,547 652,284 -              2,769,441 2,769,441
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 510,239 306,676 164,578 14,590 996,084 183,363 123,524 306,887 -              1,302,971 1,302,971


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 1,594,742 958,511 514,386 45,602 3,113,241 573,100 386,071 959,171 -              4,072,412 4,072,411


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 49,432,113 29,710,930 15,944,409 1,413,527 96,500,980 17,764,354 11,967,043 29,731,397 -              126,232,377 16,968,341 109,264,035


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (6,599,015) (4,281,066) (5,264,582) (330,366) (16,475,030) (9,032,345) (6,729,709) (15,762,055) 1,135,972 (31,101,112) (9,611,460) (21,489,651)


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/08 14,628,761 (3,994,073) 5,285,446 371,633 16,291,767 23,893,083 11,046,242 34,939,325 9,296,264 60,527,356 60,527,356
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 9,769,746 (7,115,139) 20,864 41,267 2,716,737 14,860,738 6,016,533 20,877,270 5,832,236 29,426,244 (9,611,460) 39,037,705


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
By Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Budget 2009-B-01 Draft







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal 2008
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Gas Providers Total Forecast Difference


ENERGY EFFICIENCY


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $12,440,187 $3,122,618 $15,562,805 $2,625,491 $178,218 $2,803,709 $18,366,514 $9,840,830 $8,525,684
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 7,868,202 7,884,410 15,752,612 1,655,629 169,884 1,825,513 17,578,125 7,681,632 $9,896,493
Market Transformation (NEEA) 890,981 672,144 1,563,125 -                 1,563,125 1,568,532 ($5,407)


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  Total Commercial 21,199,370 11,679,172 32,878,542 4,281,120 348,102 4,629,222 37,507,764 19,090,994 18,416,770


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 11,442,254 8,517,326 19,959,580 517,142 517,142 20,476,722 14,373,328 $6,103,394
Market Transformation (NEEA) 543,677 410,143 953,820 -                 953,820 871,783 $82,037


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  Total Industrial 11,985,931 8,927,469 20,913,400 517,142 517,142 21,430,542 15,245,111 6,185,431


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 6,111,317 2,649,773 8,761,090 9,206,840 520,152 9,726,992 18,488,082 16,209,418 $2,278,664
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 9,633,721 6,075,985 15,709,706 1,939,307 545,273 2,484,580 18,194,286 14,037,843 $4,156,443
Market Transformation (NEEA) 501,774 378,531 880,305 -                 880,305 814,661 $65,644


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  Total Residential 16,246,812 9,104,289 25,351,101 11,146,147 1,065,425 12,211,572 37,562,673 31,061,922 6,500,751


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM COST 49,432,113 29,710,930 79,143,043 15,944,409 1,413,527 17,357,936 96,500,980 65,398,027 31,102,952


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


RENEWABLES


Biopower 1,876,310 1,716,801 3,593,111 -                 3,593,111 2,333,763 $1,259,348
Open Solicitation 3,280,700 2,733,193 6,013,893 -                 6,013,893 3,464,869 $2,549,024
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 9,490,766 3,086,777 12,577,543 -                 12,577,543 5,926,985 $6,650,558
Utility Scale Projects 14,028 3,040,515 3,054,543 -                 3,054,543 1,696,041 $1,358,502
Wind 3,102,550 1,389,757 4,492,307 -                 4,492,307 589,758 $3,902,549


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------
  RENEWABLES PROGRAM COST 17,764,354 11,967,043 29,731,397 -                 29,731,397 14,011,416 15,719,981


-------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ---------------------- -------------------- -------------------- --------------------


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============ =========== =========== ===========
  COST GRAND TOTAL 67,196,467 41,677,973 108,874,440 15,944,409 1,413,527 17,357,936 126,232,377 79,409,443 46,822,933


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ============ =========== =========== ===========


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Budget 2009-B-01 Draft







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 81,416,951 24,653,466 106,070,417 -                          106,070,417
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,576,803 990,139 2,566,942 1,504,476 566,862 2,071,338 4,638,280
Outsourced Services 4,767,546 2,111,010 6,878,556 502,860 360,600 863,460 7,742,016
Planning and Evaluation 1,796,809 422,447 2,219,256 28,163 2,816 30,979 2,250,235
Customer Service Management 800,063 67,879 867,942 -                          867,942


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 90,358,172 28,244,941 118,603,113 2,035,499 930,278 2,965,777 121,568,890


Program Support Costs


Supplies 11,425 5,890 17,315 12,958 5,216 18,174 35,489
Postage and Shipping Expenses 4,771 2,765 7,536 7,688 21,745 29,433 36,969
Telephone 2,490 4,327 6,817 5,293 837 6,130 12,947
Printing and Publications 150,954 46,825 197,779 6,478 29,392 35,870 233,649
Occupancy Expenses 85,794 49,730 135,524 67,187 31,375 98,562 234,086
Insurance 19,917 11,545 31,462 15,598 7,284 22,882 54,344
Equipment 6,458 3,744 10,202 11,058 3,362 14,420 24,622
Travel 66,648 75,928 142,576 56,447 17,517 73,964 216,540
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 52,600 39,300 91,900 157,800 12,000 169,800 261,700
Depreciation & Amortization 1,562 905 2,467 1,223 571 1,794 4,261
Dues, Licenses and Fees 40,417 3,042 43,459 9,367 5,153 14,520 57,979
Miscellaneous Expenses 596 346 942 567 218 785 1,727
IT Services 2,585,934 282,938 2,868,872 382,279 238,022 620,301 3,489,173


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 3,029,567 527,285 3,556,852 733,942 372,693 1,106,635 4,663,487


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 93,387,739 28,772,226 122,159,965 2,769,441 1,302,971 4,072,412 126,232,377


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


OPUC Performance Measure 8.1%


Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expense


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2009
Budget 2009-B-01 Draft







 
 


 
 
Draft 2009-2010 Action Plan 
November 12, 2008 
 
I.  INTRODUCTION  
 
The world is reeling from financial crises and economic market woes, the likes of which has not 
been experienced since the 1930's. Like Wall Street stocks, energy costs soar upward one day 
and down the next, remaining both volatile and unpredictable and sending mixed signals to 
consumers. The new federal administration is expected to address climate change through some 
sort of carbon regulation, be it cap and trade or a carbon tax. In the midst of these changes and 
concerns, energy efficiency and renewable energy emerge as centerpiece solutions. Both provide 
sound investment, translate into more stable energy costs and dramatically reduce carbon 
emissions. 
 
In over six years running, Energy Trust has built an organization that every year serves more 
Oregonians who are increasingly motivated to manage their energy costs. All told, our 
cumulative efforts to generate clean electricity have added almost 100 aMW using wind, solar 
and other renewables, enough to supply the needs of 76,437 Northwest homes. Cumulatively 
since 2002, the electricity and gas saved from our programs is enough to provide electricity to 
149,749 homes and heat 18,279 gas homes.  
 
As of mid-year 2008, over 125,000 projects have been completed in Energy Trust programs to 
reduce energy consumption, use energy more efficiently, and tap into renewable energy. 
Demand for services is at an all-time high, with the volume of activity for residential, commercial 
and industrial customers surpassing our predictions and our best hopes. We predict adding new 
renewable energy generation of nearly 35 aMW by the end of this year and anticipate saving 
nearly 34 aMW of electricity and 2.5 million annual therms.  
 
These annual results mark our best results, ever. And, we are after more. Looking forward, our 
full attention is focused on further growing markets to acquire all the cost-effective energy 
efficiency available and all the renewable projects our resources can buy. This two-year action 
plan builds upon the momentum we have already established and keeps our foot firmly on the 
accelerator. We are moving aggressively forward to further penetrate markets and best serve 
customers, aiming to acquire more results per participant. 
 
In 2009 and into 2010, our renewable energy investments perpetuate the full range of successful 
programs across diverse technologies. Residential and commercial solar installations are at the 
heart of renewable programs, with nearly half of the budget dedicated for this purpose over the 
next two years. 2009 marks the first full year of supplemental electric energy efficiency funding 
from PGE and Pacific Power, spurring investment capability for residential and commercial 
consumers. Consistent with our market assessments, existing commercial buildings are the main 
source of savings in 2009 and 2010. The plan goes deeper into spending down gas revenue 
reserves, leveraging natural gas investments and electric efficiency to gain more savings across 
both fuels. 
 
If all goes as we predict and hope, we will be well on our way to exhausting available efficiency 
and renewable program resources by the end of 2009.  We will then face a time when new 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 2


funding may be necessary if we are to fully deliver what is expected of us and realize our full 
potential. The necessary mechanisms are already in place with the utilities and the Oregon 
Public Utility Commission to revisit funding levels and determine if additional investment is 
warranted. We have chosen this path because we are optimistic about the continued role and 
benefit energy efficiency and renewable energy will play in Oregon and the nation. 
 
There is one major unknown: the economy. What impacts will the current credit crisis have on 
the decision-making of Energy Trust program participants? Will the uncertainty of energy costs 
be seen as an opportunity and additional rationale for more people to invest in energy 
improvements that help manage their costs? Will businesses and industry representatives have 
the motivation and sufficient capital to pay their portion of a project's cost? Will our newly 
launched Green Street lending program with Umpqua Bank attract small businesses and 
homeowners to a new way of financing their energy efficiency and solar project improvements? 
Or will we see an economic downturn so severe that would-be participants wait out these 
uncertain times while declining opportunities to invest in energy savings and renewables? Given 
the level of uncertainty on so many fronts, our action plan simply calls for us to be flexible and 
responsive as the next two years unfold. 
 
The following sections describe our 2009-2010 action plan, starting with a description of our 
emphasis and strategies (section II), with detailed program/department descriptions and 
corresponding budgets provided afterward (section III). The draft 2009 budget allocates 
resources to achieve these strategies and results. Anticipated 2010 actions are described at the 
end (section IV).  
 
II. 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN HIGHLIGHTS  
 
The 2009-2010 action plan anticipates continued high demand and growth for Energy Trust 
products and services. It is marked by new tools and strategies that better serve customers and 
a deeper understanding of how to best serve them. The following items represent the specific 
themes we plan to emphasize over the next two years: 
 


1. Acquire more results per customer - There is a shared understanding that Energy Trust 
efforts have resulted in successfully "picking the low-hanging fruit." It is generally agreed 
that to capture more results, we have to "go further up the tree" and that the next 
increment of savings and generation will likely cost more. The most efficient approach is 
to acquire as much savings and generation per customer or per project as we can, all at 
once. To do so means we have to combine our experience and our market potential 
studies with a greater understanding of different customer needs. It also means we have 
to package and offer up tools to best serve those needs. Toward these ends, Energy 
Trust will continue our market research efforts - including segmentation, attitude and 
awareness and focus group message testing - to better understand what customers need 
to move forward and take action. These outcomes will drive how we design our 
marketing efforts, improve our website design, deliver our products and provide 
customer assistance and service, helping us achieve greater results for every participant 
we serve.  
 


2. Remove a barrier by providing financing - Energy Trust has a partner in Umpqua Bank and 
the new Green Street Lending program being unveiled in November 2008. Designed for 
both residential homeowners and small businesses, the loans are intended to attract 
those interested in comprehensive energy efficiency and solar energy project 
investments. This attractive financing offer is expected to serve the market of 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 3


committed homeowners and businesses motivated to take action who up until now, 
have needed to produce up-front capital. This simple program is intended to remove a 
major barrier to making significant energy investments, allowing deeper savings and 
generation to be acquired sooner than would otherwise be possible.  


 
3. New emphases for energy efficiency programs - The coming year builds upon the 


investment made in 2008 to ramp up activity using supplemental electric energy funds 
and maintains the successful momentum established to acquire more gas savings. The 
emphasis remains within the commercial sector, with additional marketing and outreach 
for existing small business and new commercial construction. New efficient gas and 
electric technologies will be introduced, including high efficiency gas fireplaces and 
tankless water heaters; new ductless mini-split heat pumps for both commercial and 
residential customers, and field testing of select LED niche applications. To better serve 
customer interests in being "green" and reducing their carbon footprint, delivery of 
efficiency and renewable programs will be further integrated. Additional activities are 
listed below:  


 
• Expand Home Performance with Energy Star for existing homes 
• Implement near-low income outreach strategy 
• Integrate solar hot water efforts into home assessments 
• Pursue behavior change strategies such as Living Wise boxes, Energy Performance 


Score (EPS) and more Blueline energy monitors 
• Increase Energy Star new homes market share 
• Promote high performance home construction and specialty CFLs 
• Increase refrigerator recycling initiative penetration 
• Concentrate on food services, lodging, office and healthcare within commercial 


buildings 
• Add commercial scale laundries, datacenters, and integrate solar 
• Develop small to medium construction design-build market for new commercial 


construction 
• Expand Energy Star track for new commercial buildings 
• Initiate net-zero commercial buildings pilot 
• Expand outreach and small/medium customer offerings through Program Delivery 


Contractors and trade allies for industrial customers 
• Develop semi-prescriptive analysis tools for small industrial customers 
• Remain flexible and responsive to market conditions 


 
4. New emphases for renewable energy programs - The beginning of 2009 completes the 


transition to serving only projects of 20 MW and less. In 2009 and 2010, we will 
continue the range of successful renewable energy programs for solar, biomass, small 
wind, hydro and services to municipal governments. The additional technical assistance 
required to increase the volume and completion rates for smaller projects is also 
included. The extensions of the federal tax credits were positive and uneven: solar and 
small wind received the largest benefit with eight-year extensions, hydro was given 
three, biomass received two years and large wind was given a one-year extension. Aside 
from large wind, the extensions are helpful to the programs yet may be offset by the 
continuing financial and economic uncertainties we all face. The remaining carryover-
funds stemming from cancelled projects and the transition away from utility-scale 
projects will be used to maintain most programs largely at their current levels.  Specific 
opportunities to be pursued are listed below:  







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 4


 
• Meeting solar demand for both residential and commercial projects remains at the 


heart of the renewable program. We expect only modest, incremental adjustments.   
• Within biopower, services to dairies and wastewater treatment plants will be 


expanded to accelerate new projects while continuing to support biomass combined 
heat and power. The results of the revised biomass market review may suggest new 
approaches for 2010. 


• The community wind program will be adjusted downward due to the lack of 
availability and increased cost of large turbines. The one-year extension of the 
Production Tax Credit for large wind is not sufficient to solve these issues. We 
propose to continue to support small wind projects, co-fund feasibility studies to 
characterize new projects and remain opportunistic if a community wind project 
emerges.   


• The Open Solicitation Program will be restructured to focus on small hydro and 
geothermal markets rather than new technologies. Tighter budgets can more readily 
translate into more projects in these niche markets, where we are having success. 


• The concept of revising incentives to address market needs remains a possibility. 
Additionally staff proposes to explore more innovative ways to restructure our 
project incentives potentially using such methods as equity stakes, equipment 
purchases, support for construction loans or other different payment structures.  


 
5. Collaborate with utilities and other partners - Joint marketing plans and outreach activities 


will continue with all utilities, leveraging resources to best reach customers. Activities 
identified in cooperation with utility staff will lead to a full year of co-branded materials, 
bill stuffers, articles, web links and co-sponsored events. Efforts to offer new financial 
options will continue, including the option of utility bill and other financing opportunities. 
In addition, coordinated market assessments and Integrated Resource Planning will be 
ongoing, with potential interest in smart grid and demand response opportunities 
identified. 


 
 While perpetuating our working relationships with existing organizations such as the 


Oregon Department of Energy, the NW Energy Efficiency Alliance, trade organizations, 
and others, we will initiate expanded partnerships with other like-minded groups. These 
potentially include transportation, land use, solid waste and recycling, and other 
community organizations broadly interested in sustainability. These organizations share a 
common interest with Energy Trust and serve populations who may also be interested 
in what Energy Trust offers and vice versa. 


 
6. Launch more community energy projects - This different and exciting approach to going 


deeper into communities to achieve greater results has resulted in robust activity in 
Corvallis. By concentrating investment over a sustained period of time, there is greater 
visibility and more focus and momentum evident in the city. We believe the principles 
used should be further tested in other locations. In 2009, Energy Trust will identify 
another community to participate in this approach, likely east of the mountains. In 
addition, a second community energy strategy will be undertaken on an urban 
neighborhood scale. All community energy activities will be formally evaluated in the 
future.  


 
7. Enhance our website - As the most common entry point to our programs, the look and 


feel of our website will be enhanced and navigation simplified. More on-line automated 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 5


forms will be created for easy use. Customers will see and hear a variety of video case 
studies featuring real customers describing their first steps, program experiences and 
beneficial results. Building upon interest in and concerns about global warming and 
climate change, a stronger linkage will be made between energy improvements as a way 
to lower one's carbon footprint.  


 
8. Explore service to NW Natural in Washington State - In cooperation with NW Natural, 


Energy Trust will complete Phase II of our plan to analyze the market opportunity of 
delivering residential and commercial programs to Washington customers. Phase II will 
examine the particulars of the market and building stock to assess the opportunity in 
more detail and identify potential savings and effective strategies. A new Advisory Group 
will be convened by NW Natural in Washington state and Energy Trust will be 
represented. By spring 2009, at the completion of Phase II, staff will present findings for 
review and consideration by the Energy Trust board. Assuming a viable opportunity 
exists and the Board supports it, Energy Trust would design programs for early roll-out 
in summer 2009 and full implementation in time for the heating season next year. 


 
9. Participate in regional activities - Energy Trust will remain an active participant in the NW 


Energy Efficiency Alliance as a member of its Board of Directors, participating in their 
strategic and business planning and in their expert committees. In addition, the NW 
Energy Efficiency Task Force, convened by the Bonneville Power Administration will be 
completing its efforts in early 2009. It is expected that there will be new opportunities 
for regional collaboration and investment either through the Alliance or other 
organizations. These efforts are expected to relate to and support Energy Trust 
interests and activities for market research, data collection and workforce development. 
Lastly, there is strong interest in creating a 3-state regional collaborative effort around 
zero net energy commercial buildings. Energy Trust expects to continue work with 
California and Washington states to perpetuate this momentum through coordinated 
activities across state lines. 


 
10. Evaluate Enterprise Resource Plan Options – Work will begin in 2009 around consideration 


of an Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system to provide Energy Trust with a way to 
fully integrate its data and processes potentially into one single system. This project is in 
full alignment with the results of both the Enterprise Architecture study and the internal 
controls evaluation projects previously conducted. Both projects identified the current 
integration points as locations where significant improvement could be made through 
unification of the data and processes for easy access and work flow efficiencies. An RFP 
will be issued early in 2009 for assistance in defining the specific requirements, as the 
first step in the planning process.  


 
11. Prepare Management Audit – The grant agreement with the Oregon Public Utility 


Commission requires Energy Trust to “contract for an independent management review 
and evaluation not less frequently than every five years.” This examination is to be 
designed to review the efficiency and effectiveness of Energy Trust and to make specific 
suggestions for improvement. The next Management Audit is due in 2010. Work will 
begin on the selection of the topics for review and of the auditor early in 2009. The 
audit will likely be conducted later that year.  


 
12. Update 5-year Strategic Plan - Energy Trust 2007-2012 strategic plan was adopted before 


the passage of Senate Bill 838, which authorized energy efficiency funding above the 
three-percent public purpose charge, restricted public purpose renewable energy funds 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 6


to projects of 20 megawatts or less in size, and extended the life of the public purpose 
fund. All three developments will affect Energy Trust programs going forward. The 
Energy Trust board began discussing potential changes in 2008 and will be asked to 
review and consider a revised strategic plan during the first half of 2009. The new 
strategic plan will span the five year period from 2009-2013. 
 


 
III. 2009-2010 PROGRAM/DEPARTMENT SUMMARIES AND CORRESPONDING 


BUDGET DETAIL 
 
The following section includes 1-page, 2-sided descriptions for every program and major 
department including 2009 draft budget details. This information includes brief descriptions of 
the statement of purpose, a list of top strategies and actions anticipated, the proposed 2009 
budget, and where applicable, projected savings/generation. Projections and planned activities for 
2010 are also incorporated. 
 
IV. 2010 PROJECTED HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Energy Efficiency  


• Develop new initiatives to fully utilize any additional revenues made available by utilities 
through the Renewable Energy Act  


• Increase gas marketing, investments and savings acquisition 
• Promote viable new residential technologies such as  non-condensing gas water heaters 


as equipment becomes available 
• Begin promotion of the most advantageous niche applications of LED lighting and next 


generation CFL technologies, assuming new products are tested and proven reliable  
• Continue to develop the capacity of architects, engineers and developers to integrate 


energy efficient practices into new commercial construction 
• In collaboration with NEEA, develop a new ENERGY STAR home specification to 15% 


above the 2008 Oregon residential code 
• Explore strategies to achieve low- to zero net energy homes and green communities 
• Collaborate with Avista to expand Home Performance with ENERGY STAR in southern 


Oregon 
• Continue to seek opportunities with electric utilities to develop transmission and 


distribution deferral projects 
• By supporting NEEA programs, attract more companies to permanently incorporate 


energy management practices and actions  
• Continue to work with the Consortium for Energy Efficiency and manufacturers to 


encourage the development of new gas appliances to fill market gaps, as needed (e.g., 
condensing heat for rooftop commercial space air conditioning systems) 


• Accelerate efforts to identify and quantify when we are transforming markets and how 
much we are consequently saving 


  
Renewable Energy  


• Institute changes in incentives, as appropriate to address market conditions   
• Assess progress in dairy sector and re-frame or re-direct the initiative 
• Utilize funds from 2009 to bolster budgets for 2010 and retain steady budget levels and 


the same program offerings 
• Continue to be flexible to markets, shifting funds among programs to take advantage of 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 7


opportunities as they arise 
• Cap the solar program to near 2009 levels, resulting in a limitation for large-scale PV 
• Assess the low-level support for community wind and its future viability 
• Absent new revenues for 2011, propose program cuts, identifying the key programs to 


be retained  
 
Other 


• Further address any remaining outcomes from the 2009 Oregon legislative activity 
• Submit the completed Management Audit and address findings, recommendations and 


action plans 
• Continue Enterprise Resource plan implementation 
• Evaluate results of market acceleration and more hard-to-reach markets 
• Manage growth in demand without diminishing available resources 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 8


                                                


 


Appendix 1 


Energy Trust of Oregon  
Mission Statement and Strategic Plan Goals  


 


Mission statement: 


 To change how Oregonians produce and use energy by investing in efficient 
technologies and renewable resources that save dollars and protect the environment. 


 


Strategic Plan Goals:  
 


Goal 1: By 2012, deliver programs to help consumers save 300 average 
megawatts (2.6 million annual megawatt hours) of electricity and 21 
million annual therms of natural gas from long-lasting energy efficiency 
measures (a weighted average measure life of 14 years for electric 
savings and 20 years for gas savings).  


Goal 2:  Provide 10% of Oregon’s electric energy from renewable resources by 2012 
(approximately 450 average megawatts for Pacific Power and PGE if Energy 
Trust programs are complemented by state, federal and other policies and 
programs, or 150 average megawatts by Energy Trust effort alone). 1 


Goal 3: Extend energy efficiency and on-site renewable energy programs and benefits to 
underserved consumers.  


Goal 4:  Contribute to the creation of a stable environment in which businesses that  
  promote energy efficiency and renewable energy have the opportunity to  
  succeed and thrive. 


Goal 5: Encourage and support Oregonians to integrate energy efficiency and renewable 
resources into their daily lives. 


 


 


 
1 Goal 2 was adopted before passage of the Oregon Renewable Energy Act, which took effect in January 2008. In the 
course of updating the strategic plan during 2009, Energy Trust will revise this goal to reflect our new and exclusive 
focus on renewable energy projects of 20MW or less. 







2009-2010 Draft Action Plan  November 12, 2008


 


 9


Appendix 2  


2009 Anticipated OPUC Energy Trust of Oregon Performance Measures 
 
 


Category Measures 
 


2009 Draft Budget 
 


Energy Efficiency 
 


Obtain at least 31 aMW 
computed on three year 
rolling average 
 
Levelized cost not to 
exceed $0.035/KWh 
 


31.5 - 42.0 aMW 
 
 
 
$0.024 - $.032/kwh 
 


Natural Gas 
 


Obtain at least 1,800,000  
therms computed on 
three year rolling average 
 
Levelized cost not to 
exceed $0.60/therm  
 


1.9-2.6 million annual 
therms 
 
 
$0.53 - $0.70/therm 
 


Renewable Resources 
Energy 


Secure at least 3 aMW 
computed on a three year 
rolling average from small 
scale projects 
 


7.6 – 16.1 aMW 
 
 
 
 
 


Financial Integrity 
 


Receive an Unqualified 
financial opinion from 
independent auditor on 
annual financial statements
 


Accounting conforms 
with Generally 
Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) 
 


Administrative and 
Program Support 
Costs 
 


Keep below 11% of annual 
revenue 
 


8.1% 
 


Customer Satisfaction 
 


Achieve reasonable rates 
 


Includes customer 
satisfaction research  
 


Benefit/Cost Ratios 
 


Report both utility system 
and societal perspective 
on an annual basis and 
report significant changes, 
if any, on quarterly 
statements 
 


 


Incremental Funding Report annually energy 
savings achieved as result 
of Senate Bill 838 


 


 







 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: 
BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- EXISTING 
BUILDINGS SECTOR: COMMERCIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and natural gas savings by providing technical assistance and financial incentives for high-efficiency 
equipment and energy efficient operating practices in existing commercial facilities. 


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2009 and 2010. 
Core: 


1. Target decision makers of existing commercial renovation projects including owners and installation contractors. 
2. Deliver program to commercial entities by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide comprehensive 


network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 
3. Maintain and expand successful state-wide Trade Ally Network of installation and technical assistance contractors to further deliver 


program services to the public. 
4. Maintain focus on current target initiatives- foodservice, lodging, office, healthcare, auto services, municipal, education and natural 


gas equipment. 
5. Coordinate with ODOE to package program offerings and process Business Energy Tax Credit applications. 
6. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance commercial sector activities. 
7. Continue to enhance outreach and educational program utilizing direct calls and emails, referrals, mass emails, cold calls, news 


releases, direct mailings, case studies, advertisements in trade publications, program seminars, sponsorships of events and 
organizations, web site, articles, bill inserts and partnerships with related organizations. 


Incremental: 
1. Expand target initiatives to include operations and maintenance, congregations, commercial laundry facilities, grocery, 


datacenters/computing, solar thermal and solar electric. 
2. Expand program offerings geographically by engaging subcontractors in central, eastern and southern Oregon. 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  
Core: 


1. Add new targeted equipment incentives, new outreach strategies and marketing materials for current and new target initiatives. 
2. Coordinate program activities across commercial sector to offer comprehensive services by target initiative. 
3. Continue to align with ODOE programs to minimize differences in program requirements (e.g. BETC, SEED, High-Performance 


Schools). 
4. Coordinate with ODOE to streamline BETC pre-certification applications process and integrate it into Energy Trust forms and 


program processes to better leverage BETC. 
5. Continue to improve and streamline program rules, forms and participation steps for Trade Allies and participants. 
6. Integrate renewable project outreach into delivery activities. 


Incremental: 
1. Offer expanded technical and educational resources to trade allies and participants. 
2. Hire additional PMC resources to expand program activity (e.g. technical, operations, business development, IT)  


 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
If additional funds are made available: 


1. Lower acquisition cost of energy savings by streamlining program operations. 
2. Expand into new target markets and target technologies. 


Otherwise continue delivery of established activities commensurate with available funds, employing flexible initiatives to meet savings and 
funding expectations. 


 
TARGETS:   


Annual Expense
Goal Levelized Cost Goal Levelized Cost


($M) aMW ($/kWh) Therms ($/therm)
Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast $7.7 $2.1 $9.8 5.36 $0.021 559,456 $0.334
2009 Proposed Budget $15.6 $2.8 $18.4 7.12 9.49 $0.027 $0.020 643,494 857,992 $0.421 $0.316
2010 Projection $12.7 $1.6 $14.3 5.57 7.42 $0.028 $0.021 360,000 480,000 $0.423 $0.317


Electric Savings Gas Savings


(see budget detail on reverse side) 
 


081003  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget
Existing Buildings


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs


Program Management $179,559 $232,078 $213,758


Program Delivery 1,374,787 3,048,356 1,885,188


Marketing-PMC 533,031 655,608 402,418


Performance Comp 100,000 180,000 180,000


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Total Delivery Costs 2,187,378 4,116,042 2,681,363


Incentives 5,829,658 11,559,133 8,774,345


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Program Mgmt Expenses 8,017,036 15,675,175 11,455,708


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


ETO expenses


Staffing 185,039 317,685 336,746


Marketing 241,592 220,672 304,600


Other Services 625,158 716,771 818,560


General 41,708 49,220 57,730


Allocations 391,839 794,463 789,707


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Sub-Total before Admin Costs 9,502,372 17,773,986 13,763,051


Administrative Costs 338,458 592,526 525,664


=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 9,840,830 18,366,513 14,288,715


=================== =================== =================== 


081003  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: 
BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- NEW 
BUILDINGS  SECTOR: COMMERCIAL 


 
 
PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and natural gas savings by providing technical assistance and financial incentives for high-efficiency 
design and equipment in commercial and industrial new construction and major renovation projects.  


 
 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2009 and 2010. 
Core: 


1. Bolster pipeline for projects to be completed in 2009 and 2010. 
2. Target decision makers in commercial and industrial new construction projects and major renovations of existing buildings. 
3. Target architects and engineers by providing tools and resources to assist them in selling their clients on high efficiency design and 


equipment. 
4. Enroll more projects that follow a “design-build” model. 
5. Deliver program directly to owners and developers by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide 


comprehensive network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 
6. Incorporate solar water heating and photovoltaic measures leveraging outreach and management resources. Rely on delivery 


support from Energy Trust solar program staff. 
7. Coordinate with ODOE to package program offerings with Business Energy Tax Credits (BETC). 
8. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance commercial sector activities to develop projects in targeted markets. 


Incremental: 
1. Achieve deeper penetration in the market for small and medium-sized construction and major renovation projects. 
2. Create enhanced outreach program utilizing direct calls and emails, referrals, mass emails, cold calls, news releases, direct mailings, 


case studies, advertisements in trade publications, program seminars, sponsorships of events and organizations, web site, articles, bill 
inserts and partnerships with related organizations. 


3. Provide incentives to help the market build high-performance buildings in pursuit of a net-zero standard. 
 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  
Core: 


1. Release a targeted small and medium sized project development initiative with focused marketing approach. 
2. Work with design community to showcase/incorporate better analytical tools for building design (e.g. continue to host energy 


modeling meetings, update energy modeling tools with Oregon energy code data, develop and incorporate analytical lighting tools 
for new building design). 


3. Continue to develop materials for architects and engineers to promote the program to their clients. 
4. Continue to align with ODOE programs to minimize differences in program requirements (e.g. BETC, SEED, High-Performance 


Schools). 
5. Provide outreach to encourage contractors that use a design-build approach to leverage program opportunities. 
6. Continue to integrate Green Investment Fund projects with program activities. 
7. Leverage NEEA Better Bricks program for program training and market actor education. 
8. Offer tiered incentives for custom track and consider methods to encourage cooperation between lighting and mechanical 


contractors. 
Incremental: 


1. Increase PMC staff for marketing, outreach and technical support. 
2. Add more equipment to the Standard Track incentive list as new measures become available. 
3. Expand ENERGY STAR® program track. 
4. Design and implement a Net-zero/high performance buildings pilot. 


 
 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
If additional funds are made available: 


1. Continue to be aggressive at recruiting small and medium size projects. 
2. Continue to successfully recruit large projects into the program. 
3. Educate and enable service providers to deliver energy efficient practices in commercial new construction market. 


Otherwise continue delivery of established activities commensurate with available funds, employing flexible initiatives to meet savings and 
funding expectations. 


 
 


(see targets and budget detail on reverse side) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
TARGETS:   


Annual Expense
Goal Levelized Cost Goal Levelized Cost


($M) aMW ($/kWh) Therms ($/therm)
Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast $6.7 $1.0 $7.7 2.83 $0.023 462,585 $0.162
2009 Proposed Budget $15.8 $1.8 $17.6 5.88 7.83 $0.027 $0.020 363,078 484,104 $0.446 $0.335
2010 Projection $12.0 $1.3 $13.3 3.08 4.11 $0.039 $0.029 265,500 354,000 $0.434 $0.325


Gas SavingsElectric Savings


 
 


 
 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


New Buildings


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Management $27,714 $246,995 $246,322
Program Delivery 2,229,252 4,370,659 4,220,659
Marketing-PMC 102,686 353,645 353,645
Performance Comp 74,591 180,000 180,000


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 2,434,243 5,151,299 5,000,626


Incentives 3,630,287 9,629,912 5,510,340
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Program Mgmt Expenses 6,064,530 14,781,211 10,510,966
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


ETO expenses
Staffing 177,469 251,129 266,196
Marketing 212,563 337,500 344,025
Other Services 601,691 916,745 940,606
General 36,790 60,000 61,660
Allocations 324,393 664,448 659,180


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 7,417,436 17,011,033 12,782,633


Administrative Costs 264,196 567,092 488,218
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 7,681,632 17,578,125 13,270,851
=================== =================== =================== 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
PROGRAM: 


MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: COMMERCIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging NEEA regional 
market transformation initiatives in the commercial market sector to acquire cost-effective savings while creating sustainable 
and efficient purchasing patterns among commercial consumers. 
 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Create and refine business cases for investment in energy efficiency as a profit center for vertically integrated real 


estate firms, hospitals, and grocery chains.  Market to executive management through peer consultants. 
2. Support with technical initiatives to enhance new building construction and operations and maintenance services. 
3. Train vendors to provide efficient services and equipment, focusing on the targeted markets described above. 
4. Support code enhancements based on these successes. 
5. Coordinate marketing efforts with NEEA for energy efficiency opportunities that are currently a focus of Energy Trust 


programs (e.g. high efficiency computer power supplies). 
6. Establish the viability of high efficiency building design, operations and maintenance services, and sales of efficient 


equipment as profitable businesses for vendors through intensive “firm focused” technical support. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Continue progress in changing energy related business practices in large hospitals systems and community based 


hospitals by assisting with strategic energy management planning, providing education and training and technical 
assistance. 


2. Initiate energy related business practice change within office real estate by building a strong relationship with the 
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA), providing education and training, and assisting select firms with 
energy management planning activities. 


3. Advance integrated energy design practices with architects and design engineering firms through three or more firm 
focus relationships, technical assistance on 10 or more projects, and broad based education and training. 


4. Promote better building operating performance with building operators and building service providers through three 
or more firm focus relationships, technical assistance on 10 or more projects, and education and training activities. 


5. Continue to promote high efficiency computer power supplies and consider other opportunities to improve plug load 
efficiencies and data centers. 


 
 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• The NEEA commercial initiative is a multiyear venture.  Over time we can expect more firms to participate and the 


participants to evolve from study, to test cases, to incorporating new practices and actions into their organizational 
structure and directives. 


• NOTE: 2010 and beyond initiatives are dependent upon refunding and prioritization within NEEA’s business plan for 2010-
2014. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


Goal Levelized Cost
($M) aMW ($/kWh)


Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast 1.6$    1.6$    0.27 $0.064
2009 Proposed Budget 1.6$    1.6$    0.19 0.25 $0.092 $0.069
2010 Projection 1.6$    1.6$   0.19 0.25 $0.093 $0.070


Electric Savings


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Mkt Transformation (NEEA) - Commercial


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Delivery $1,495,215 $1,478,144 $1,478,144


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 1,495,215 1,478,144 1,478,144


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Program Mgmt Expenses 1,495,215 1,478,144 1,478,144


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 2,845 5,256 5,572
Allocations 16,525 29,297 28,710


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 1,514,585 1,512,698 1,512,427


Administrative Costs 53,947 50,428 57,765
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 1,568,532 1,563,126 1,570,192
=================== =================== ===================  


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: 
BUSINESS ENERGY SOLUTIONS- PRODUCTION 
EFFICIENCY SECTOR: INDUSTRIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric savings through technical assistance and financial incentives for high-efficiency design and 
equipment in existing and new industrial processes and facilities. Although mostly funded through electric public purpose funding, small 
industrial gas customers on specific tariffs are eligible for gas program services and incentives.  


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2009 and 2010. 
Core: 


1. Deliver program to owners, plant engineers and design process engineers through Program Delivery Contractors (PDCs) assigned 
to key sectors and geographic territories. 


2. Develop successful delivery strategies particular to the needs of specific industry markets. 
3. Promote program participation through developing a broad offering of services that include detailed technical analysis studies, 


project management assistance, prescriptive high efficiency equipment incentives, and custom project incentives. 
4. Develop with board approval, large-scale projects that exceed program incentive caps, or combined heat and power projects (CHP) 


to achieve program value through large-scale savings. 
5. Target key decision makers of existing industrial process projects, including owners and senior managers. 
6. Promote regional collaboration by working with neighboring utilities and complementary organizations to leverage our collective 


resources for energy efficiency in industry. 
7. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance industrial sector activities to develop projects in targeted industries. 


Incremental: 
1. Target measure offerings to small/medium industrial market through use of trade ally network and semi-prescriptive technology 


specific, incentive calculation tools. 
2. Support medium/large (< 1 aMW) industrial market in development of continuous improvement of energy management practices. 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  
Core: 


1. Promote service delivery and market penetration for small to medium sized industrial customers, focusing on irrigation, dairy, 
nursery, and manufacturing markets. 


2. Expand project commitment pipeline through concentrated PDC outreach efforts. 
3. Develop and implement successful program delivery strategies for the High Tech industry. 
4. Target O&M opportunities, specifically in compressed air and refrigeration systems. 
5. Begin to integrate continuous improvement for energy management into program offerings 
6. Monitor project commitment level expenditures relative to utility funding territory and SB-838 funds and adjust PDC marketing to 


balance revenue project funding.  
7. Influence growth in technical analysis skills by expanding the ATAC pool of engineering consultants adept at energy savings analysis 


calculations in the production environment.  
8. Streamline program processes by integrating a customer focus approach to program forms, collateral, and marketing. 
9. Work with NEEA industrial staff to provide a coordinated marketing approach to food processors and pulp and paper companies. 


Incremental 
1. Expand marketing and trade ally support for small to medium sized industrial initiative. 
2. Expand training opportunities for participants through collaboration with regional organizations. 
3. Develop additional semi-prescriptive incentive calculation tools for compressed air, boilers, refrigeration, and hydraulic systems to 


support the small industrial initiative. 
 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
If additional funds are made available: 


1. Expand services that will be coordinating efforts with the potential Community Energy and T&D deferral projects. 
2. Implement strategies to reduce program management and delivery costs by optimizing PDC deployment. 


Otherwise continue delivery of established activities commensurate with available funds, employing flexible initiatives to meet savings and 
funding expectations. 


 
TARGETS:   


Annual Expense
Goal Levelized Cost Goal Levelized Cost


($M) aMW ($/kWh) Therms ($/therm)
Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast $14.2 $0.2 $14.4 11.06 $0.018 69,884 $0.177
2009 Proposed Budget $20.0 $0.5 $20.5 7.90 10.53 $0.035 $0.026 83,250 111,000 $0.709 $0.532
2010 Projection $17.0 $0.2 $17.2 6.68 8.90 $0.036 $0.027 36,750 49,000 $0.710 $0.533


Electric Savings Gas Savings


 
 


(see budget detail on reverse side) 
 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
 
 
 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Production Efficiency


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Delivery $2,897,306 $4,160,883 $3,960,883
Performance Comp 58,570 80,800 176,547


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 2,955,876 4,241,683 4,137,429


Incentives 9,917,950 13,903,311 10,492,311
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Program Mgmt Expenses 12,873,827 18,144,994 14,629,740
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


ETO expenses
Staffing 369,289 377,976 400,655
Marketing 119,585 98,850 145,365
Other Services 210,964 452,950 642,952
General 32,686 34,964 37,944
Allocations 272,632 706,384 703,457


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 13,878,983 19,816,118 16,560,114


Administrative Costs 494,345 660,604 632,495
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 14,373,328 20,476,723 17,192,608
=================== =================== ===================  


 
 
 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: 
MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: INDUSTRIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging NEEA regional 
market transformation initiatives in the industrial market sector through NEEA’s industrial initiative to acquire cost-effective 
savings while embedding sustainable and efficient energy management practices among industrial consumers.  


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Focus efforts in the pulp and paper and food processing “vertical” markets. 
2. Solidify broad support for energy efficiency practices through CEO led industry-wide energy roadmaps. 
3. Develop Continuous Energy Improvement (CEI) as the business practice change initiative that leads to self-sustained 


energy management practices. 
4. Leverage and collaborate with Energy Trust, US DOE, and utility resources to improve program delivery and spur 


growth outside the two targeted markets. 
5. Train market actors to deliver energy management to industrial companies throughout the northwest. 
 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Support implementation of the Northwest Food Processors Association’s long-term industry-wide energy efficiency 


roadmap. 
2. Move CEI-engaged companies through the CEI process in a manner that allows them to reach their energy goals and 


become self-sustaining in their energy management practices. 
3. Support, with NEEA’s offerings and resources, the Energy Trust’s energy management pilot. 
4. Begin training market actors on ISO energy management standards and CEI.  


 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• NEEA’s industrial initiative is a multi-year strategic effort.  In the next business cycle, NEEA plans on expanding industry 


roadmap and energy management activities into closely related energy-intensive industrial markets. 
• Transition facility level energy management activities to market actors who can begin charging for energy management 


services. 
• NOTE: 2010 and beyond initiatives are dependent upon refunding and prioritization within NEEA’s business plan for 2010-


2014. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


Goal Levelized Cost
($M) aMW ($/kWh)


Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast 0.9$    0.9$    1.11 $0.012
2009 Proposed Budget 1.0$    1.0$    0.80 1.07 $0.018 $0.013
2010 Projection 1.0$    1.0$    0.80 1.07 $0.018 $0.013


Electric Savings


 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Mkt Transformation (NEEA) - Industrial


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Delivery $824,455 $894,129 $894,129


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 824,455 894,129 894,129


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Program Mgmt Expenses 824,455 894,129 894,129


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 2,843 5,256 5,572
Allocations 14,501 23,664 23,197


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 841,799 923,050 922,898


Administrative Costs 29,983 30,771 35,249
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 871,783 953,821 958,147
=================== =================== ===================  


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 
080310   


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS- EXISTING HOMES  SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Acquire cost-effective electric and gas savings by providing energy efficiency services and incentives for existing single-family, 
multifamily and manufactured homes.  


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2009 and 2010. 
Base: 


1. Deliver program to customers by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide comprehensive network of trade 
allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 


2. Provide market support (e.g., building diagnostics and equipment installation support, market-based verifier oversight, training, co-op 
marketing funds, retailer training, lighting support, and outreach to industry organizations). 


3. Provide incentives for a wide variety of efficiency measures for single-family, multifamily, and manufactured homes. 
4. Conduct marketing to create consumer demand (e.g.,  ads, website, education, trade shows, and school outreach). 
5. Offer an online home energy analyzer to Energy Trust public purpose funding contributors. 
6. Provide free home energy reviews to customers in areas served by the Energy Trust of Oregon. 
7. Work with utility funders to create promotions targeted to their customers. 
8. Integrate renewable product offerings into program outreach. Leverage delivery support from Energy Trust Renewable staff. 
9. Offer a robust training calendar for Trade Ally contractors. 
10. Coordinate with ODOE to provide participants in the State Home Weatherization Program (SHOW) with compact fluorescent bulbs. 
11. Grow Home Performance with ENERGY STAR®, a comprehensive, whole-house approach to single family residential energy efficiency 


that utilizes diagnostic equipment and generates a home analysis assessment.  
Incremental: 


1. Develop an approach to labeling a home with a score indicating its energy usage and carbon impacts. 
2. Integrate strategies to work with low income agencies where there is not enough funding for weatherization. 
3. Offer attractive financing and or an increased incentive structure for median income customers.  
4. Add more services and/or device installations to home energy reviews. 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  
Base: 


1. Expand the number of trade allies participating in the Home Performance program in southern and eastern Oregon. 
2. Effectively leverage utility and manufacturer promotional activities.  
3. Engage in promotional activities with utilities to promote efficient heating systems and other efficient applications. 
4. Conduct solar potential studies on residential homes and process solar hot water applications, with a goal to increase the number of 


solar thermal installations.  
5. Expand the growth of the Real Estate Professional Trade Ally network. 
6. Sponsor events with Oregon Remodeling Association, Affordable Comfort, Building Performance Institute, the Remodelers Council 


and other organizations that support activities of trade allies. 
7. Provide approximately 11,000 CFLs to State Home Oil Weatherization (SHOW) customers. 
8. Pursue more opportunities for gas efficiency measures to address sun setting high efficiency gas furnace incentives. 
9. Complete Blue Line electric monitor pilot for consideration as a behavior element in the program. 
10. Evolve multifamily program services to focus on high value measures such as common area lighting, appliances and HVAC. 
11. Develop and conduct a pilot that focuses on linking energy efficiency with greenhouse gas reduction through an energy performance 


score (EPS) and carbon labels that communicate how homeowners can reduce their homes’ carbon footprint through energy 
efficiency improvements. 


12. Work with OR Housing & Community Services to complete low income solar assistance to low income homes  
13. Implement near-low income (60-80% median) outreach strategy. 
14. Conduct a pilot to assess the energy savings from ductless heat pumps and implement, with a goal of 200 units in single family site 


built electric resistance heated homes and 100 units in multifamily properties. 
Incremental:  


1. Deploy smart power strips into homes during Home Energy Reviews. 
2. Continue refrigerator replacement pilot efforts to other areas with incremental funds including Roseburg and Corvallis.  
3. Deploy a second round of heat pump commissioning to improve on first pilot effort.  
4. Fund educational “living wise” materials for student initiated efficiency measure installations using elementary school curricula.  


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
If additional funds are made available: 


1. Behavioral feedback device demonstrations.  
2. Heat pump water heater field test of 100 units. 
3. Expansion of targeted 60-80% median income program to reach more customers. 


Otherwise continue delivery of established activities commensurate with available funds, employing flexible initiatives to meet savings and 
funding expectations.  


(see targets and budget detail on reverse side) 







    


Budget Template Form 
080310   


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
TARGETS:   


Annual Expense
Goal Levelized Cost Goal Levelized Cost


($M) aMW ($/kWh) Therms ($/therm)
Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast $9.1 $7.1 $16.2 3.08 $0.025 1,037,509 $0.461
2009 Proposed Budget $8.8 $9.7 $18.5 1.73 2.30 $0.044 $0.033 737,904 983,871 $0.881 $0.661
2010 Projection $9.7 $6.1 $15.8 1.88 2.51 $0.045 $0.033 473,250 631,000 $0.868 $0.651


Electric Savings Gas Savings


 
 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Existing Homes


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Management $498,581 $512,227 $512,227
Program Delivery 3,606,470 4,622,642 4,284,691
Marketing-PMC 560,163 730,375 1,192,075
Performance Comp 100,000 180,000 180,000


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 4,765,215 6,045,244 6,168,994


Incentives 8,550,361 8,262,183 5,602,921
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Program Mgmt Expenses 13,315,576 14,307,427 11,771,915
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


ETO expenses
Staffing 276,844 314,106 332,952
Marketing 298,579 515,284 542,317
Other Services 651,542 722,550 573,590
General 75,414 104,100 71,128
Allocations 1,033,969 1,928,166 1,926,282


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 15,651,925 17,891,633 15,218,185


Administrative Costs 557,494 596,448 581,241
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 16,209,418 18,488,081 15,799,426
=================== =================== ===================  







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: HOME ENERGY SOLUTIONS- NEW 
HOMES/PRODUCTS 


SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL 


 
PURPOSE:  Program targets lost energy efficiency opportunities in the residential sector. Provide the residential new home market with 
services and incentives, reaching home buyers, builders, multifamily developers, and manufacturers of pre-fabricated homes. Overcome market 
barriers to the purchase of energy efficient products through product incentives, consumer awareness and education, focusing on ENERGY 
STAR label and corresponding benefits of products and services that display it.  


 
PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
In consideration of incremental funding stemming from the passage of the Renewable Energy Act and subsequent electric utility rate filing 
approvals, the following strategies are contemplated in this program for 2009 and 2010. 
Core: 


1. Deliver program to customers and builders by utilizing Program Management Contractor (PMC) and a statewide comprehensive 
network of trade allies, leveraging existing market relationships and professional service channels. 


2. Provide market support (e.g., building diagnostics and equipment installation support, market-based verifier oversight, training, co-op 
marketing funds, retailer training, lighting support, and outreach to industry organizations). 


3. Develop and implement elements to overcome barriers (e.g., education, lighting, HVAC, solar). 
4. Provide incentives (e.g., homes based on their energy performance, clothes washers, refrigerators (new and recycled), specialty light 


bulbs, other consumer electronics). 
5. Conduct marketing to create consumer demand (e.g., Energy Performance Score, ads, website, education, trade shows, and school 


outreach). 
6. Move the market preparedness for the next generation of high performance homes.  
7. Integrate renewable product offerings into program outreach. Leverage delivery support from Energy Trust Renewable staff. 
8. Leverage Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) residential sector activities.  
9. Leverage other related programs and organizations (e.g., Earth Advantage, NEEM, home builder associations). 
10. Collaborate with regional and national market actors to introduce and incent new energy efficient products.  


Incremental: 
1. Increase number of consumer products incented in the marketplace. 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  
Core: 


1. Increase market share of homes built more energy efficient than code requires and ENERGY STAR consumer products and lighting. 
2. Provide incentives for energy efficient single and multi-family homes based on the energy performance above what code requires. 
3. Provide technical guidance, training, incentives, and promotions to support high performance homes (e.g., design training and 


assistance, solar integration, community specs). 
4. Provide performance testing and duct sealing training to HVAC installers. 
5. Promote energy efficient lighting through the spring and fall BPA specialty bulb buy down and the school fundraiser. 
6. Continue technical school outreach initiative. 
7. Provide training to PV and solar water system installers through a partnership with Solar Oregon and OSEIA. 


Incremental: 
1. Increase participation in refrigerator and freezer recycling initiative. 
2. Provide incentives for new consumer product categories: televisions, monitors, room air conditioners, power strips, etc. 


 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
If additional funds are made available: 


1. Maintain new home market transformation efforts while increasing focus on alternative strategies toward achieving low-energy 
homes and green communities. 


2. Begin promoting LED lighting options and next generation CFL technologies. 
3. Upstream marketing for residential and commercial electronics. 
4. Promote new viable technologies (e.g., heat pump water heaters, non-condensing gas water heaters). 


Otherwise continue delivery of established activities commensurate with available funds, employing flexible initiatives to meet savings and 
funding expectations. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


Goal Levelized Cost Goal Levelized Cost
($M) aMW ($/kWh) Therms ($/therm)


Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast $11.7 $2.4 $14.0 4.43 $0.044 404,996 $0.430
2009 Proposed Budget $15.7 $2.5 $18.2 4.44 5.92 $0.065 $0.049 102,962 137,282 $1.768 $1.326
2010 Projection $14.8 $2.1 $16.9 4.28 5.71 $0.063 $0.047 90,000 120,000 $1.740 $1.305


Electric Savings Gas Savings


(see budget detail on reverse side) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


New Homes & Products


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Management $547,040 $486,608 $535,269
Program Delivery 4,637,195 5,557,559 4,326,506
Marketing-PMC 1,018,008 1,310,960 1,120,422
Performance Comp 95,833 180,000 180,000


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 6,298,076 7,535,127 6,162,197


Incentives 6,153,128 7,796,800 7,818,814
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Program Mgmt Expenses 12,451,204 15,331,927 13,981,011
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


ETO expenses
Staffing 188,624 298,386 316,289
Marketing 173,343 364,074 363,999
Other Services 120,187 422,150 413,033
General 30,223 55,700 66,675
Allocations 591,456 1,135,078 1,128,952


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 13,555,037 17,607,316 16,269,959


Administrative Costs 482,806 586,970 621,413
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 14,037,843 18,194,286 16,891,372
=================== =================== ===================  


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: 
MARKET TRANSFORMATION NORTHWEST ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY ALLIANCE (NEEA) SECTOR: RESIDENTIAL


PURPOSE: NEEA funds regional market transformation initiatives in the Northwest region across commercial, industrial and 
residential sectors working in coordination with Energy Trust programs. This budget contemplates leveraging NEEA regional 
market transformation initiatives in the residential market sector to acquire cost-effective savings while creating sustainable 
and efficient purchasing patterns among consumers.  


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Leverage Energy Trust and NEEA programs to increase delivery support and program incentive offerings. 
2. Coordinate marketing efforts in areas where there are complementary NEEA and Energy Trust initiatives, in 


particular, ENERGY STAR New Homes. 
3. Work with residential program staff to develop new residential initiatives that provide cost-effective market 


transformation results. 
4. Continue the expansion of the market share of ENERGY STAR Northwest Homes, while exploring possibilities for 


more advanced efficient homes. 


 
2009 ACTIONS:  


1. Run regional promotions of ENERGY STAR New Homes in coordination with utility and public purpose provider 
(including Energy Trust) rebates. 


2. NEEA will conduct a pilot project to evaluate market acceptance and energy savings from ductless heat pumps retrofit 
and homes with electric resistance heat.  NEEA will coordinate with ETO and other regional utilities on contractor 
training, manufacturer promotions, customer information, and a range of evaluation activities to assess market 
barriers and opportunities as well as technical performance 


3. Initiate an impact evaluation that will provide an analysis of actual realized savings per ENERGY STAR new home, 
based on homes constructed in 2006-2007. It is assumed that residential new construction building characteristics 
study will serve as a baseline for this impact evaluation. (Energy Trust will leverage their evaluation on this effort.) 


4. Work with residential program staff to identify new opportunities in residential market transformation efforts. 
5. Coordinate Energy Trust program operations with NEEA regional initiatives to maximize overall program 


effectiveness. 


 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Continue efforts to drive regional progress toward adoption of homes certified to the Northwest ENERGY STAR 
standards.  2009 activities will likely involve raising the Energy Star spec to 15% above the 2008 Oregon code and 
continuing high performance homes efforts. 


2. Continue to invest in the new residential market transformation opportunities identified in late 2007/early 2008. 
3. NOTE: 2010 and beyond initiatives are dependent upon refunding and prioritization within NEEA’s business plan for 


2010-2014. 


TARGETS:   
Annual Expense


Goal Levelized Cost
($M) aMW ($/kWh)


Year Electric Gas Total Conserv Stretch Conserv Stretch


2008 Full-Year Forecast 0.8$    0.8$    5.62 $0.003
2009 Proposed Budget 0.9$    0.9$    3.48 4.64 $0.005 $0.003
2010 Projection 0.9$    0.9$   3.48 4.64 $0.005 $0.003


Electric Savings


 
 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Mkt Transformation (NEEA) - Residential


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Delivery Costs
Program Delivery $757,471 $803,944 $803,944


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Delivery Costs 757,471 803,944 803,944


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Program Mgmt Expenses 757,471 803,944 803,944


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 3,035 7,009 7,429
Allocations 26,136 40,953 40,131


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 786,642 851,905 851,504


Administrative Costs 28,019 28,400 32,522
=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE 814,661 880,305 884,026
=================== =================== ===================  


080310 







 November 2008 
    


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET 
PROGRAM: BIOPOWER     


PURPOSE:  Acquisition of significant amounts of renewable energy from wood-fired and other biomass 
generation; and development of markets for less mature energy resources such as dairy manure and forest 
biomass.   


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Perform targeted market analyses where necessary to fill in knowledge gaps. 
2. Increase generation at waste water treatment plants by supporting initiatives to utilize excess digester 


capacity. 
3. Expand the Dairy Initiative to include anaerobic digestion of all agricultural residues with particular focus 


on projects that address existing environmental challenges. 
4.  Focus on long term opportunities in wood products industries to replace natural gas usage with local 


wood waste resources to expand renewable generation. 
5. Target feasibility funding to projects that expand fuel supply, support innovative waste management 


solutions and address current environmental issues. 
6. Remain engaged in forest biomass development, participating in state and regional initiatives that support 


expanding this resource. 
7. Expand technical and financial support for the utility interconnection process. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Begin commercial operation of Warm Springs Biomass project. 
2. Develop expanded generation capacity at two waste water treatment plants utilizing co-digestion of 


multiple waste streams. 
3. Target project opportunities in the wood products and pulp and paper industries identified in the woody 


biomass study being completed. 
4. Continue to develop the pipeline of future projects that can be ready when markets improve. 
5. Support the developing market trend toward co-digestion of agricultural wastes and third party ownership 


models to develop agriculture and dairy projects.  Prioritize projects that provide significant environmental 
and economic benefits to the state (grass seed, animal mortality).    


6. Direct resources to aid project developers in navigating the interconnection process. This process is highly 
technical, expensive and time consuming part of the project development process.   


7. Commit funding for up to 6 projects and 12 feasibility studies. 


2010 ACTIONS:  
1. Develop roles to support expanding the access to forest biomass through stewardship contracts, forest 


health initiatives and fuel reduction strategies. 
2. Support expanded applications of anaerobic digestion to including the feasibility of Integrated Bioenergy 


Business Parks.  


TARGETS:  


Year
2008 Full-Year Forecast $9.3 10.74 94,079
2009 Proposed Budget $4.9 5.87 - 13.65 51,421 - 119,583 $0.83 - $0.36
2010 Projection $4.8 2.23 - 6.57 19,534 - 57,528 $2.17 - $0.74


$0.87


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M
aMW MWh $M/aMW


 


Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds  
 


(see budget details on reverse) 


Budget Template Form 
080310  







 November 2008 
    


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Biopower


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Mgmt Expenses
Incentives $1,698,925 $2,463,800 $11,300,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Program Mgmt Expenses 1,698,925 2,463,800 11,300,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffin


 


g 148,340 236,332 250,512
Marketing 22,163 120,000 160,825
Other Services 264,304 450,050 302,845
General 15,268 21,500 19,575
Allocations 104,497 185,509 183,638


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 2,253,497 3,477,192 12,217,395


Administrative Costs 80,266 115,918 466,630
=============== =============== ===============


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 2,333,763 3,593,110 12,684,024
=============== =============== ===============


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future yrs 7,013,800 1,261,199 (7,850,000)


=============== =============== ===============
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 9,347,563 4,854,309 4,834,024


=============== =============== ===============  


Budget Template Form 
080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: OPEN SOLICITATION 


PURPOSE: Develop a portfolio of market-defining installations, each element of which demonstrates a new application, 
technology, market or business model not otherwise covered by Energy Trust programs, provides insight on whether and how 
to launch new, technology-specific Energy Trust programs, and/or secures a low-cost renewable energy resource. Contributes 
to Energy Trust strategic goals 2, 3 and 5. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Focus on outreach and lead generation, particularly for municipal hydro projects. 
2. Make funds available for feasibility studies to develop future projects.  When possible, help customer’s access 


feasibility funds available from other sources, including the State of Oregon and USDA. 
3. Complete an assessment of hydropower resources with the goal of determining the desirability of creating a stand-


alone hydro program. 
4. Assist selected applicants in further developing proposals. 
5. Offer a program to help ensure that eligible good ideas do not “fall through the cracks.” 
6. Provide opportunities for small-scale geothermal. 


 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Complete the 4 approved projects. 
2. Evaluate project applications. 
3. Provide assistance to municipalities in the PGE service territory in applying for state feasibility study funding, targeting 


five communities. Expand program to include PAC communities. 
4. Examine barriers that get in the way of completed feasibility studies leading to project applications.  Examine the 


possibility of changing the OSP application process. 
5. Use results of hydropower resource assessment to determine the feasibility and desirability of creating a stand-alone 


hydro program and to refine outreach efforts. 
6. Continue outreach and communication work to municipalities to build the pipeline and to make sure we are aware of 


projects that may be coming in.  Link efforts with EE programs to develop joint energy ‘packages.’ 
7. Conduct workshops for rural small businesses to assist them in applying for USDA renewable energy project funding. 
8. Provide assistance to potential project developers where project idea shows promise. 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Fund projects that result from feasibility studies conducted in 2008 and 2009. 
2. Provide assistance to municipalities in applying for state feasibility study funding. Make a determination as to whether 


the initiative will be useful in 2011. 
3. Continue outreach and communication work to municipalities to build the pipeline and to make sure we are aware of 


projects that may be coming in. 
4. Provide assistance to potential project developers where project idea shows promise. 


 


TARGETS:   


Year
2008 Full-Year Forecast $11.4 2.22 19,440
2009 Proposed Budget $3.6 0.45 - 0.69 3,905 - 6,007 $8.04 - $5.23
2010 Projection $3.4 0.68 - 1.05 5,979 - 9,198 $5.00 - $3.25


$5.13
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M


 


Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 
 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget
Open Solicitation


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Mgmt Expenses
Program Delivery $5,000 $40,000 $20,000
Incentives 2,801,869 4,871,386 6,852,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Program Mgmt Expenses 2,806,869 4,911,386 6,872,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 171,412 262,194 277,926
Marketing 15,042 22,600 23,278
Other Services 237,205 367,250 207,928
General 11,493 52,500 40,150
Allocations 103,680 203,947 202,638


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 3,345,701 5,819,877 7,623,920


Administrative Costs 119,168 194,016 291,187
=============== =============== ===============


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 3,464,869 6,013,892 7,915,107
=============== =============== ===============


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future yrs 7,929,386 (2,429,386) (4,500,000)


=============== =============== ===============
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 11,394,255 3,584,506 3,415,107


=============== =============== ===============  


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: SOLAR ELECTRIC (PHOTOVOLTAIC) 


PURPOSE:  Develop the solar electric market for all sectors in Oregon by expanding participation, providing quality standards 
and ensuring there is a strong qualified installer base for consumers. Contributes to Energy Trust goals 2, 3 and 5. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Balance opportunities and risks presented by the many uncertainties in the PV market. 
2. Be flexible between residential and commercial opportunities as tax policies evolve. 
3. Plan for ITC to expire in 2008 and be renewed mid-2009, creating a push in the second part of the year and a need to 


have potential projects fully ready in the first part of the year. 
4. Meet similar level of activity of 2008 in 2009. 
5. Prepare for budget decline in 2010. 
6. Continue to support 3rd party ownership models for commercial, government and residential systems. 
7. Foster continuous improvement in installation quality. 
8. Encourage solar in new residential and commercial construction. 
 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Adjust incentives to manage market uncertainties: 


a) Design multi-site incentive structure to drive or limit demand as needed. 
b) Expand cap for standard commercial incentive beyond 100 kW to attract more investors and streamline the 


approval process for larger projects. 
c) Offer temporary bridge incentive for residential systems to fill gap of lost ITC. 


2. Cross-promote solar with energy efficiency programs: 
a) Promote low-interest loans for EE and solar measures. 
b) Offer residential solar home reviews in addition to EE’s home energy audits. 
c) Align solar incentives with EE incentives for new homes based on Energy Performance Score and ODOE’s High 


Performance Homes tax credits for homebuilders. 
d) Align solar incentives with EE incentives for Net Zero Energy commercial buildings pilot. 


3. Foster development and delivery of solar installation training opportunities for new entrants.  
4. Support municipalities issuing solar RFPs, leverage the high visibility of those projects. 
5. Facilitate incentives for 3rd party-owned residential systems. 


 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Lower incentive rate to manage demand for a small budget. 
2. Leverage declining PV costs and rising energy prices. 
3. Encourage project models that don’t require Energy Trust incentives. 
4. Help projects apply for federal grants. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2008 Full-Year Forecast $8.3 0.61 5,340
2009 Proposed Budget $10.3 0.56 - 0.75 4,909 - 6,545 $18.29 - $13.72
2010 Projection $10.9 0.59 - 0.79 5,205 - 6,940 $18.31 - $13.73


$13.54
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M


Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 
 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Solar Electric (Photovaltaic)


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Mgmt Expenses
Program Delivery $64,427 $70,000 $70,000
Incentives 4,650,312 10,782,680 9,337,500


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Program Mgmt Expenses 4,714,738 10,852,680 9,407,500


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 343,264 288,122 305,410
Marketing 214,715 278,509 303,874
Other Services 184,761 387,851 104,079
General 73,342 61,900 54,827
Allocations 192,317 302,715 301,789


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 5,723,137 12,171,777 10,477,480


Administrative Costs 203,848 405,767 400,175
=============== =============== ===============


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 5,926,985 12,577,544 10,877,655
=============== =============== ===============


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future yrs 2,326,000 (2,326,000) -                        


=============== =============== ===============
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 8,252,985 10,251,544 10,877,655


=============== =============== ===============  
 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: UTILITY-SCALE PROJECTS 


PURPOSE:    Large-scale acquisition 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:  
1. Phase out the program per SB 838 and focus on projects of 20 MW and less. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Finish out current funding for GoodNoe Hills wind project including reporting, review and inspection obligations. 
2. Monitor Combine Hills, Biglow Canyon and GoodNoe Hills wind projects over time. 
3. Fulfill ongoing reporting responsibilities.   


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Monitor projects over time. 
2. Fulfill ongoing reporting responsibilities. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2008 Full-Year Forecast $4.6 30.10 263,676
2009 Proposed Budget $0.1 0.00 - 0.00 - - - - - -
2010 Projection $0.0 0.00 - 0.00 - - - - - -


$0.15
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M


Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 
 


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Mgmt Expenses
Incentives $1,586,030 $2,932,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Total Program Mgmt Expenses 1,586,030 2,932,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
ETO expenses
Staffing 20,894
Other Services 29,081 22,000 11,750
General 475 2,000 2,000
Allocations 1,230


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------
Sub-Total before Admin Costs 1,637,709 2,956,000 13,750


Administrative Costs 58,332 98,543 525
=============== =============== ===============


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 1,696,041 3,054,543 14,275
=============== =============== ===============


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future yrs 2,932,000 (2,932,000) -                        


=============== =============== ===============
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 4,628,041 122,543 14,275


=============== =============== ===============  


080310 







 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


PROGRAM: WIND 


PURPOSE:  Expansion of the opportunities for wind from the current market models, expanding markets to bring 
development and construction of distributed generation and projects of varying, smaller sizes and alternative ownership models. 
Contributes to Strategic Plan goals 3, 4, 5 & 6. 


PROGRAM STRATEGY:   
1. Confirm sufficient wind resources through anemometer loans and support for Oregon State University’s wind 


monitoring lab. 
2. Provide simplified wind resource tool for easier evaluation of small wind opportunities. 
3. Continue a standard incentive offer for small wind to seed market development. 
4. Build the pipeline of future projects, partnering with USDA on feasibility grants and analyses. 
5. Break down knowledge barriers by providing consolidated, Oregon-specific information for project sponsors. 
6. Expand the technology choices for wind to better match equipment to the resource and circumstance 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Provide incentives for 5-10 small wind projects. 
2. Test opportunities to deploy re-conditioned turbines.  
3. Evaluate the effectiveness of using wind map data for evaluating wind resources for small wind. 
4. Expand the number of small wind contractors participating in the Small Wind Trade Ally network. 
5. Evaluate the new, small wind turbines to see if more types can meet program requirements 
6. Hold 2-3 Small Wind Trade Ally training sessions. 
7. Hold 2-3 Small Wind Trade Ally technical training sessions. 
8. Hold 2-3 Small Wind Workshops to give information for interested participants 
9. Be open to a community wind projects that can secure turbines and financing. 
10. Continue the expanded anemometer loan program to support community wind with data analysis and taller 


anemometers for the tier-two projects from the 2006 RFP. 
11. Provide support for additional feasibility studies to continue building the pipeline of potential Community Wind 


projects. 
12. Continue to partner with ODOE to gain federal co-funding of projects and studies. 
13. Partner with Oregon farm groups and state agencies to co-promote the program. 
14. Address transmission and distribution barriers to bring BPA and Co-op wind resources to PGE. 
15. Continue providing the industry with support to address interconnection issues. 


 
2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  


1. Continue to grow the small-scale, on-site generation program. 
2. Implement program revisions based on 2008/2009 experience. 
3. Continue a low level of support for community wind projects until turbine markets are more advantageous. 
4. Bring projects to fruition that were proposals in 2008 and 2009. 


TARGETS:   


Year
2008 Full-Year Forecast $0.6 0.01 87
2009 Proposed Budget $4.4 0.71 - 1.01 6,178 - 8,825 $6.29 - $4.40
2010 Projection $2.3 0.23 - 0.33 2,015 - 2,879 $10.06 - $7.04


$64.89
aMW MWh $M/aMW


Energy Generation
Annual Electric 


Activity $M


Note: Budget figures include dedicated funds 
 


(see budget details on reverse) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


RENEWABLE ENERGY 2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
 
 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Wind


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Mgmt Expenses


Program Delivery $63,604 $10,000


Incentives 149,045 3,483,600 1,461,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------


Total Program Mgmt Expenses 212,649 3,493,600 1,461,000


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------


ETO expenses


Staffing 163,095 203,490 215,700


Marketing 10,400 19,500 20,085


Other Services 76,635 443,250 347,000


General 11,565 25,500 24,020


Allocations 95,131 162,040 160,720


--------------------------- --------------------------- ---------------------------


Sub-Total before Admin Costs 569,474 4,347,380 2,228,525


Administrative Costs 20,284 144,927 85,116


=============== =============== ===============


TOTAL EXPENSE, Accounting Perspective 589,758 4,492,308 2,313,641


=============== =============== ===============


Plus/minus Dedicated Funds committed for future yrs 57,600 (57,600) -                         


=============== =============== ===============
TOTAL EXPENSE, Action Plan Perspective 647,358 4,434,708 2,313,641


=============== =============== ===============  


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 
080310  


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


DEPARTMENT: PLANNING AND EVALUATION ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE:  To provide strategic and quantitative planning, reporting, and evaluation for Energy Efficiency and Renewable 
Resources. Contributes to all Energy Trust Strategy goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Assess and prioritize new ideas and directions for meeting the evolving efficiency and renewable energy missions. 
2. Increase program success by developing and coordinating enhanced market research capabilities. 
3. Provide program design staff with expert feedback to enhance programs from evaluations and market studies. 
4. Expand the list of qualifying prescriptive measures, including an increasing number of technology field tests. 
5. Develop innovative initiatives that will bring new opportunity in 5-20 years. 
6. Work closely with utilities, BPA and others on regional initiatives that increase delivered savings in areas served by the 


Energy Trust. 
7. Support utility resource assessment and integrated resource planning to align Energy Trust activities with utility resource 


plans and funding. 
8. With utilities, explore and coordinate community-based efficiency opportunities and EE/RE options to defer transmission 


and distribution investments. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Work with utilities to streamline access to customer information. 
2. Refine and apply market intelligence and demographic data sets for help target programs. 
3. Develop customer preference data that can be linked to demographics to improve sales effectiveness. 
4. Support and coordinate program-initiated market research focused on refining customer offerings and messaging. 
5. Refine understanding of renewable markets, resource potential, and program influence. 
6. Continue to use evaluations as pivotal market intelligence assets and to report accomplishments and refine programs. 
7. Work regionally and nationally to harmonize approaches to markets and bring important new technologies forward. 
8. Complete market transformation analyses for additional markets to assess the relationship between Energy Trust actions 


and market transformation savings.  
9. Enhance cost-effectiveness framework to incorporate more current avoided costs and a better understanding of energy 


efficiency influence on peak loads, and the hedge value of natural gas savings in reducing costs and volatility.   


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• Focus on market acceleration and more hard-to-reach markets. 


SCHEDULED EVALUATIONS:  
 


 IMPACT PROCESS MARKET 
ASSESSMENT 


ENERGY EFFICIENCY    
  Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings Q4-2008 & Q2-2009 Q4-2008  
  Business Energy Solutions – New Buildings Q4-2008 & Q2-2009 Q4-2008  
  Production Efficiency Q2-2009 


Q2-2010 
Q2-2009  


  Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes Q3-2009 Q3-2009  
  Home Energy Solutions – New Homes & Products    
      New Homes  Q4-2009  
      Products  Q4-2009  
    
RENEWABLES    
  Biopower    
  Open Solicitation    
  Solar Electric    
  Utility-Scale    
  Wind  Q3-2009   







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


 
TARGETS:  
Year Annual Expense ($M)
2008 Full-Year Forecast 2.7$                                                  
2009 Proposed Budget 4.2$                                                  
2010 Projection 4.4$                                                   


 
 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Planning & Evaluation


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Program Specific P&E
Evaluation Services $1,106,666 $1,630,000 $1,775,000
Planning Services 349,566 357,750 395,500
Other 1,896


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Program Specific P&E 1,458,129 1,987,750 2,170,500


Non Program Specific P&E
Evaluation Services 198,704 773,000 673,000
Planning Services 87,622 208,000 173,000
Staffing 706,408 825,463 874,991
Other Services 23,794
General 36,707 102,285 137,285
Allocations 190,527 344,303 347,111


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Non Program Specific P&E 1,243,761 2,253,051 2,205,387


=================== =================== ===================
GRAND TOTAL 2,701,890 4,240,802 4,375,887


=================== =================== ===================  
 
 
 
  


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


DEPARTMENT: COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH   


PURPOSE:  Outreach and communications activities support general and cross-program Energy Trust needs. Program-specific 
activities are reflected in program budgets. The 2008 budget provides for staff, services and materials necessary for general 
outreach and communications. These activities contribute to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Expand utility collaboration to reach their customers with Energy Trust program messages. 
2. Leverage resources and impacts by sponsoring outreach events in cooperation with peer and stakeholder organizations. 
3. Position Energy Trust as a trusted energy resource through story placements and advertising in Oregon media outlets. 
4. Leverage relationships with associations representing niche market groups to reach prospective customers. 
5. Accelerate communication support to meet growing demands with new contractors. 
6. Upgrade website design, content and usability and implement e-mail customer relationship management based on 


findings of 2008 web usability study.  
7. Control website and publication costs by supplementing staff resources with free-lance contractors. 
8. Facilitate development of comprehensive program communication plans to ensure integrated outreach. 
9. Offer excellent customer service through call centers and email. 
10. Sustain Energy Trust trade ally network and improve both efficiency and service. 
11. Build community relationships by developing community energy project(s) with utilities, cities and other stakeholders. 
12. Apply market research results to refine strategies for program outreach to prospective participants. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Design, review, approve and track Energy Trust communication and marketing activities across all programs. 
2. Promote cross-program communications and outreach strategies such as Better Living Show, Energy Performance Score. 
3. Manage Energy Trust media relations on behalf of all programs; produce or support media events. 
4. Continue “Solutions” media campaign launched in fall 2008 and plan new campaign (or collaborate on regional campaign) 


for fall/winter 2009-10. 
5. Provide non-PMC programs (renewables and production efficiency) with all marketing and communication services. 
6. Manage upgrade of architecture, content and look, and ensure accuracy and usability of www.energytrust.org. 
7. Expand and maintain image library and quotation data base of representative Energy Trust projects. 
8. Produce and disseminate public annual report; help prepare quarterly reports and other special reports. 
9. Initiate ongoing communications with customers (“customer relationship management”) through e-channels, including 


web, monthly e-newsletter SYNERGY (general audience) and bimonthly INSIDER (trade allies). 
10. Support annual publications such as Green + Solar Building Oregon and Green Living. 
11. Sustain and further develop cooperative relationships with utilities, Oregon Department of Energy and other stakeholder 


and peer groups, coordinating development of co-branded materials and joint outreach/communications initiatives. 
12. Participate in community activities and organizations through sponsorships and other collaborations. 
13. Complete and begin evaluating Corvallis Energy Challenge; plan and launch 1-2 additional community energy pilots. 
14. Coordinate stakeholder and special group outreach by all programs and PMCs.  
15. Manage services provided by contracted creative and public relations professionals to programs. 
16. Update marketing and communications guidelines to ensure consistent look and feel in all Energy Trust material. 
17. Support trade allies through training; coordinate with PMC TA managers; apply findings from annual trade ally survey. 
18. Provide customer support through oversight of call center operations; work with utilities on service enhancements. 
19. Team with evaluation group to conduct market research and focus groups to refine market segmentation and messaging. 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• No major changes planned for 2010 


TARGETS:  
Year Annual Expense ($M)
2008 Full-Year Forecast 1.0$                                                  
2009 Proposed Budget 1.3$                                                  
2010 Projection 1.4$                                                   


(see budget on reverse side of page) 


080310  



http://www.energytrust.org/





    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Communications & Outreach


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Staffing $341,501 $566,862 $600,873


Marketing
Public Rel/Creative 18,882 30,000 30,900
Creative Services 43,000 50,750 52,272
Media Advertising 59,012 53,050 54,642
Events Co-Sponsor 20,026 16,000 16,480


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Marketing 140,919 149,800 154,294


Services
Evaluation and Planning Services 1,505 2,816 2,757
Website Design & Maintenance 161,920 125,500 129,265
Other Professional Services 110,240 85,300 87,859


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total Other Services 273,665 213,616 219,881


General
General Program Support Costs 81,560 83,600 86,108
Shared 26,832 51,070 52,632
IT Services 98,760 238,022 238,436


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------
Total General 207,152 372,693 377,176


=================== =================== ===================
TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 963,238 1,302,971 1,352,224


=================== =================== ===================


Note 1 - 100% of these expenses are allocated to programs, located towards the bottom of each report on the line "Administrative Costs."  


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


DEPARTMENT:   MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL   ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE:  To provide overall management, direction and resources in support of ETO strategies and 
operations. Contributes to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Create and maintain a highly efficient internal organization that provides excellent guidance, resources and operational 


processes for the Energy Trust board, staff and stakeholders. 
2. Enhance internal and external reporting processes to provide all stakeholders with timely and transparent information 


relating to Energy Trust activities. 
3. Ensure that all financial data and operational systems are operating effectively and securely and are producing highly 


reliable and timely information. 
4. Ensure that all contracts, employee relations and general operations are conducted in compliance with all applicable 


laws and regulations. 
5. Ensure Energy Trust staff receives training and resources to foster continued maximum performance and career 


development goals. 
6. Provide infrastructure to allow for adaptive management at all levels. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
1. Achieve unqualified audit opinion for 2007 from independent CPA firm 
2. Continue to enhance systems via process improvements, designed with flexibility and transparency in mind 


o Re-evaluate potential “fixes” for Great Plains accounting software 
o Evaluate alternative accounting packages, if needed 
o Evaluate alternative budgeting/forecasting tools 
o Evaluate alternative contract management systems 
o Develop and initiate implementation plans for changes to systems 


3. Improve internal financial systems by investing in software development to improve reporting and monitoring 
capabilities, especially for external financial reporting and internal contract tracking. 


4. Implement new staffing plan and incorporate corresponding regulation changes 
5. Assess and analyze all the internal control processes of the Energy Trust and its data integration points with 


contractors.  
6. Invest in employee leadership and management training, reinforcing behaviors consistent with ETO values, improving 


communication and maintaining desirable culture and positive morale. 
7. Enhance the performance review and work plan process for 2007 to reward individual performance and encourage 


teamwork.   
8. Develop training plan based on needs and career goals identified during performance review process. 
9. Achieve both PUC and JLAC/PUC performance measures for Administrative plus Program Support Costs. 


 


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
• Manage growth in demand with leveling of resources 
• Facilitate completion of the five-year Management Audit 


TARGETS:   
Year Annual Expense ($M)
2008 Full-Year Forecast 1.8$                                                  
2009 Proposed Budget 2.8$                                                  
2010 Projection 2.9$                                                   


(see budget on reverse side of page) 


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Management and General


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Staffing $1,143,234 $1,504,476 $1,588,768


Services


Evaluation and Planning Services 15,876 28,163 27,567


Legal Services 18,530 35,000 36,050


Accounting Services 119,204 46,000 47,380


Other Professional Services 91,780 421,860 430,821
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Total Services 245,389 531,023 541,818


General


General Program Support Costs 116,211 242,302 239,741


Shared 72,310 109,361 112,706


IT Services 190,762 382,279 382,943
--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Total General 379,283 733,942 735,390


================== ================== ==================


TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 1,767,907 2,769,441 2,865,976


================== ================== ==================


Note 1 - 100% of these expenses are allocated to programs, located at the bottom of each report on the line "Administrative Costs."  


080310 







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


DEPARTMENT:   INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY   ALL PROGRAMS 


PURPOSE: To deliver value to the Energy Trust organization and our end customers through reliable and efficient 
information technology applications, effective project management practices and efficient and effective business processes 
helping strengthen Energy Trust program management contributing to all strategic goals. 


STRATEGY:   
1. Improve customer service to and enhance the experience of our internal clients and external customers. 
2. Strengthen and streamline core business applications. 
3. Ensure a stable, reliable, and secure technology environment. 
4. Enhance the effectiveness of technology investments. 


2009 ACTIONS:  
Improve customer service 
1. Enhance the end customer experience by simplifying and evolving ETO participant forms, web versions and application 


processes.  
2. Enhance the end user experience with self service reporting and analysis capabilities both internally and on the web.  
3. Improve IT transparency by implementing customer service and performance metrics, improving status reporting and 


continuing to establish service level agreements (SLAs).  
4. Start implementation of improved IT service management best practices using the Information Technology 


Infrastructure Library (ITIL) framework. 
5. Facilitate the IT Advisory Committee as a forum to foster innovative ideas and strategic direction.  
Strengthen and streamline core business applications 
1. Streamline core business and systems processes by analyzing gaps and implementing changes in the key business 


processes and applications. 
2. Evolve systems to meet changing business requirements and to make them more flexible, usable, re-usability and 


enabling web-based user access.   
3. Enhance systems to improve efficiency and integration, automate data capture, and meet changing business 


requirements. 
Ensure a stable, reliable, and secure environment 
1. Develop a Technical Architecture Roadmap to ensure as technology evolves that systems continue to meet the 


business needs, are easily maintainable and are technically up to date.   
2. Evolve the security of our systems to provide more sophisticated protection of confidential information.  
3. Evolve automated system monitoring and alerts to improve systems reliability and up time. 
4. Improve technology refresh cycles to assure efficient and reliable operation of equipment and software. 
5. Ensure that systems can be recovered in event of a disaster.   
6. Strengthen IT change management, policies and procedures,  
Enhance the effectiveness of technology investments 
1. Evolve project management practices to improve the quality and on time, on budget delivery of projects.   
2. Strengthen the alignment of IT to the Energy Trust business strategies and long term needs and evolve the IT strategic 


plan.   
3. Evolve the IT Steering Committee and governance processes to ensure appropriate alignment of IT resources with 


the key business strategies and objectives. 
4. Strengthen the IT organizational structure through investments in professional development and training.   


2010 PLANNED ACTIVITIES:  
1. Complete implementation of an enterprise information system selected in 2009. 
2. Continued roll out of Incentive applications on the web. 
3. Continued roll out of data marts for business intelligence.  


TARGETS:   
Year Annual Expense ($M)
2008 Full-Year Forecast 1.7$                                                  
2009 Proposed Budget 3.8$                                                  
2010 Projection 3.8$                                                   


(see budget on reverse side of page) 


080310  







    


Budget Template Form 


2009-2010 DRAFT ACTION PLAN/BUDGET


November 2008 


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
2009 Draft Budget


Informational Technology


2008 2009 2010
Forecast Budget Projection


Staffing $807,281 $1,140,266 $1,208,682


Services


Other Professional Services 567,286 1,818,340 1,540,270


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Total Services 567,286 1,818,340 1,540,270


General


General Program Support Costs 271,766 750,810 963,733


Shared 70,959 109,942 113,305


--------------------------------- --------------------------------- ---------------------------------


Total General 342,725 860,752 1,077,038


=================== =================== ===================


TOTAL EXPENSE (Note 1) 1,717,292 3,819,358 3,825,990


=================== =================== ===================


Note 1 - 100% of these costs are allocated to programs and other support functions.  


080310  







The Energy Trust of Oregon
Capital Purchases


Technology Refresh
Server upgrades and replacement
Network Switch Replacement
Firewall Replacement


Accounting/CRM/ERP Software 
CRM Software 
Server for Address Normalization
Servers for growth
Business Objects upgrade (no charge)
New storage solution - NAS/SAN/EMC
Metadata Software
Disaster Recovery - Hardware and Software
Infrastructure change monitoring software (Trip Wire)
Development environment improvements (hardware and software)


Total capital purchases


2008 2009 2010
budget budget projection


60,000         66,000         72,000      
10,000         -              -           
10,000         -              -           


200,000       1,250,000     -           
75,000         -              -           


-              7,000           -           
-              28,000         30,000      
-              -              -           
-              20,000         -           
-              80,000         -           
-              7,000           10,000      
-              7,000           -           
-              9,500           -           


355,000       1,474,500     112,000    







 







2010 Projection Recap - Round 1: BALANCED
BUDGET ($M) ELECTRIC SAVINGS1 GAS SAVINGS1


GOALS COST GOALS COST


ELECTRIC GAS TOTAL Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal Conservative Stretch Goal


ENERGY EFFICIENCY
Commercial


Business Energy Solutions – Existing Buildings 12.7 1.6 14.3 5.57 7.42 0.028 0.021          360,000          480,000 0.423 0.317


Business Energy Solutions  – New Buildings 12.0 1.3 13.3 3.08 4.11 0.039 0.029          265,500          354,000 0.434 0.325


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 1.6 0.0 1.6 0.19 0.25 0.093 0.070  NA 


Total Commercial 26.3 2.9 29.1 8.8 11.8 0.033 0.025        625,500        834,000 0.426 0.319


Industrial


Production Efficiency 17.0 0.2 17.2 6.68 8.90 0.036 0.027           36,750           49,000 0.710 0.533


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.80 1.07 0.018 0.013  NA 


Total Industrial 17.9 0.2 18.2 7.5 10.0 0.034 0.026          36,750          49,000 0.710 0.533


Residential


Home Energy Solutions – Existing Homes 9.7 6.1 15.8 1.88 2.51 0.045 0.033          473,250          631,000 0.868 0.651


Home Energy Solutions   –  New Homes & Products 14.8 2.1 16.9 4.28 5.71 0.063 0.047           90,000          120,000 1.740 1.305


Mkt Transformation (Alliance) 0.9 0.0 0.9 3.48 4.64 0.005 0.003  NA 


Total Residential 25.3 8.3 33.6 9.6 12.9 0.037 0.028        563,250        751,000 0.994 0.746


Total Energy Efficiency $69.5 $11.4 $80.9 26.0 34.6 0.035 0.026      1,225,500      1,634,000 0.751 0.541


BUDGET ($M) ELECTRIC GENERATION1


GOALS COST
($mils/ aMW)


ELECTRIC GAS TOTAL Conservative Best Case Conservative Best Case


RENEWABLE RESOURCES2


Biopower 4.8 4.8 2.23 6.57 2.17 0.74


Open Solicitation 3.4 3.4 0.68 1.05 5.00 3.25


Solar Electric 10.9 10.9 0.59 0.79 18.31 13.73


Utility-Scale 0.0 0.0 0.00 0.00 na na


Wind 2.3 2.3 0.23 0.33 10.06 7.04


Total Renewable Resources $21.5 $21.5 3.7 8.7 5.74 2.46


Evaluation schedule can now be viewed on the Planning & Evaluation One-Pager under "Other Programs."
1 some columns may not add due to rounding
2 Budget amounts for Renewable Resources are activity based and include dedicated funds


Levelized ($/Therm)


aMW


PROGRAM
aMW Levelized  ($/kWh) Annual Therms







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $43,701,703 $25,950,652 $10,786,625 $1,358,830 $81,797,811 $8,993,967 $5,394,454 $14,388,421 $96,186,231
Revenue from Investments 300,000 300,000


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 43,701,703 25,950,652 10,786,625 1,358,830 81,797,811 8,993,967 5,394,454 14,388,421 300,000 96,486,231


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 2,125,481 1,205,234 653,148 91,669 4,075,532 701,326 348,222 1,049,548 -              5,125,081
  Program Delivery 11,636,413 7,509,515 2,390,882 317,331 21,854,141 61,100 28,900 90,000 -              21,944,144
  Incentives 21,363,930 11,935,897 4,314,245 584,661 38,198,733 19,979,360 8,971,140 28,950,500 -              67,149,231
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 2,022,429 1,128,961 543,263 69,644 3,764,296 392,956 185,553 578,509 -              4,342,806
  Program Marketing/Outreach 2,585,816 1,340,293 893,592 106,757 4,926,458 428,454 142,952 571,406 -              5,497,865
  Program Legal Services -              -              -              -              -              25,571 9,430 35,001 -              35,000
  Program Quality Assurance 85,477 55,500 44,711 4,312 190,000 64,800 43,200 108,000 -              298,000
  Outsourced  Services 575,873 332,290 112,738 14,751 1,035,651 447,299 154,959 602,258 -              1,637,908
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 342,144 191,959 250,095 22,278 806,476 51,648 16,775 68,423 -              874,900
  IT Services 1,346,708 770,805 421,932 50,980 2,590,425 190,143 93,287 283,430 -              2,873,854
  Other Program Expenses 236,394 133,683 61,099 7,878 439,055 154,446 69,550 223,996 -              663,050


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 42,320,664 24,604,137 9,685,705 1,270,261 77,880,769 22,497,103 10,063,968 32,561,069 -              110,441,839


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 1,098,226 638,480 251,345 32,963 2,021,015 583,802 261,161 844,963 -              2,865,976
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 518,166 301,248 118,590 15,553 953,556 275,449 123,221 398,670 -              1,352,224


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,616,392 939,728 369,935 48,516 2,974,571 859,251 384,382 1,243,633 -              4,218,200


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 43,937,056 25,543,865 10,055,639 1,318,777 80,855,340 23,356,354 10,448,350 33,804,702 -              114,660,038


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -----------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (235,353) 406,787 730,986 40,053 942,471 (14,362,387) (5,053,896) (19,416,281) 300,000 (18,173,807)


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/09 (Note 4) 8,029,748 (8,275,139) 20,863 41,266 (183,262) 14,860,739 4,316,533 19,177,271 10,432,237 29,426,245
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= =========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 9,534,395 (6,708,352) 751,849 81,319 3,659,209 498,352 962,637 1,460,990 6,132,237 11,252,438


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program / Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
Draft Projection 2010-P-01 - "balanced" scenario restricted to available resources







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal 2009
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Gas Providers Total Budget Difference


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings $10,315,674 $2,407,464 $12,723,138 $1,367,166 $198,412 $1,565,578 $14,288,716 $18,366,513 ($4,077,797)
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 6,763,815 5,209,662 11,973,477 1,140,022 157,352 1,297,374 13,270,851 17,578,125 ($4,307,274)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 895,009 675,182 1,570,191 -              1,570,191 1,563,126 $7,065


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
  Total Commercial 17,974,498 8,292,308 26,266,806 2,507,188 355,764 2,862,952 29,129,758 37,507,764 (8,378,006)


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 9,801,533 7,162,238 16,963,771 228,838 228,838 17,192,609 20,476,723 ($3,284,114)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 546,143 412,003 958,146 -              958,146 953,821 $4,325


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
  Total Industrial 10,347,676 7,574,241 17,921,917 228,838 228,838 18,150,755 21,430,544 (3,279,789)


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 6,052,314 3,597,797 9,650,111 5,694,163 455,149 6,149,312 15,799,423 18,488,081 ($2,688,658)
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 9,058,672 5,699,388 14,758,060 1,625,450 507,862 2,133,312 16,891,372 18,194,286 ($1,302,914)
Market Transformation (NEEA) 503,895 380,131 884,026 -              884,026 880,305 $3,721


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
  Total Residential 15,614,881 9,677,316 25,292,197 7,319,613 963,011 8,282,624 33,574,821 37,562,672 (3,987,851)


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 43,937,056 25,543,865 69,480,920 10,055,639 1,318,772 11,374,414 80,855,340 96,500,980 (15,645,646)


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------


Renewables


Biopower 8,769,910 3,914,114 12,684,024 12,684,024 3,593,110 $9,090,914
Open Solicitation 5,094,164 2,820,943 7,915,107 7,915,107 6,013,892 $1,901,215
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 8,210,823 2,666,832 10,877,655 10,877,655 12,577,544 ($1,699,889)
Utility Scale Projects 8,137 6,138 14,275 14,275 3,054,543 ($3,040,268)
Wind 1,273,319 1,040,322 2,313,641 2,313,641 4,492,308 ($2,178,667)


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------------------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 23,356,353 10,448,349 33,804,702 33,804,702 29,731,397 4,073,305


----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ ------------------
========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========== ==========


  Cost Grand Total 67,293,408 35,992,214 103,285,622 10,055,639 1,318,775 11,374,414 114,660,038 126,232,377 (11,572,341)
========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========== ==========


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Budget Expenses by Service Territory


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
Draft Projection 2010-P-01 - "balanced" scenario restricted to available resources







Energy Trust of Oregon
Statement of Functional Expense


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
Draft Projection 2010-P-01 - "balanced" scenario restricted to available resources


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Mgmt & Delivery 65,525,557 29,040,500 94,566,057 -                          94,566,057
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,671,412 1,049,547 2,720,959 1,588,768 600,873 2,189,641 4,910,600
Outsourced Services 5,089,047 1,481,665 6,570,712 514,251 371,418 885,669 7,456,381
Planning and Evaluation 1,758,796 413,510 2,172,306 27,567 2,757 30,324 2,202,630
Customer Service Management 806,477 68,423 874,900 -                          874,900


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 74,851,289 32,053,645 106,904,934 2,130,587 975,048 3,105,635 110,010,569


Program Support Costs


Supplies 12,356 6,429 18,785 13,836 5,601 19,437 38,222
Postage and Shipping Expenses 5,963 3,457 9,420 9,230 22,781 32,011 41,431
Telephone 2,633 4,410 7,043 5,510 890 6,400 13,443
Printing and Publications 176,656 48,097 224,753 6,493 30,189 36,682 261,435
Occupancy Expenses 86,272 50,008 136,280 67,561 31,550 99,111 235,391
Insurance 21,587 12,513 34,100 16,905 7,895 24,800 58,900
Equipment 6,315 3,661 9,976 11,126 3,340 14,466 24,442
Travel 42,098 55,927 98,025 57,978 18,042 76,020 174,045
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 41,100 35,200 76,300 152,433 12,360 164,793 241,093
Depreciation & Amortization 1,562 905 2,467 1,223 571 1,794 4,261
Dues, Licenses and Fees 41,918 3,042 44,960 9,581 5,303 14,884 59,844
Miscellaneous Expenses 596 346 942 570 218 788 1,730
IT Services 2,590,425 283,429 2,873,854 382,943 238,436 621,379 3,495,233


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 3,029,481 507,424 3,536,905 735,390 377,176 1,112,566 4,649,471


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 77,880,769 32,561,069 110,441,838 2,865,976 1,352,224 4,218,200 114,660,038


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ===============


OPUC Performance measure 8.1%





		IS-ST Q4 FORECAST 2008 2008-F-06 10-14.XLS

		FORECAST 2008 Q4 PUC STYLE 2008-F-06 10-14.XLS

		STMNT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 2008-F-06 10-14.XLS

		IS-ST 2009 2009-B-01 10-21-08.XLS

		PUC STYLE 2009-B-01 10-21-08.XLS

		STMNT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 2009-B-01 10-21-08.XLS

		1-2009 Business Energy Solutions-Existing Buildings R1.doc

		2-2009 Business Energy Solutions-New Buildings R1.doc

		3-2009 Market Transformation NEEA (Commercial) R1.doc

		4-2009 Business Energy Solutions-Production Efficiency R1.doc

		5-2009 Market Transformation NEEA (Industrial) R1.doc

		6-2009 Home Energy Solutions-Existing Homes R1.doc

		7-2009 Home Energy Solutions-New Homes and Products R1.doc

		8-2009 Market Transformation NEEA (Residential) R1.doc

		2009 Biopower R1.doc

		2009 Open Solicitation R1.doc

		2009 Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) R1.doc

		2009 Utility Scale Projects R1.doc

		2009 Wind R1.doc

		1-2009 Planning and Evaluation R1.doc

		2-2009 Comm & Outreach R1.doc

		3-2009 Management and General R1.doc

		4-2009 Information Technology R1.doc

		IS-ST 2010-P-01 10-21-08.XLS

		PUC STYLE 2010-P-01 10-21-08.XLS

		STMNT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE 2010-P-01 10-21-08.XLS

		09 10  Draft AP and Budget Presentation board ppt.pdf

		�2009-10 Draft Budget & Action Plan �Board of Directors��November 12, 2008

		2008 Forecasted Savings/Generation 

		General Observations

		2009 Budget Themes

		2009 Spending by Division

		2009 Renewable Budget Themes

		2009 RE Draft Activity Budget & Generation

		2010 RE Draft Activity Budget & Generation

		2009-2010 Renewables Challenges

		2009 Energy Efficiency Budget Themes

		2009 Efficiency Program Sector Emphases

		2009 Efficiency Program Emphases

		2009 EE Program Budget - Stretch

		Anticipated 2010 Efficiency Activity 

		Marketing and Communication Themes

		Management & General Themes

		Minimum OPUC Targets and Budget Goals

		OPUC Performance Measures-Program Support & Administration

		Projected Carryover by 2010

		Total Gas Carryover

		Carryover Balances

		Carryover Balances Absent Potential

		Next Steps

		Board Back-Up Slides

		Electric Efficiency Spending

		Electric Efficiency Savings in aMW

		Gas Efficiency Expenditures

		Gas Efficiency Savings-Annual Therms









